
For the best experience, open this PDF portfolio in
 
Acrobat X or Adobe Reader X, or later.
 

Get Adobe Reader Now! 

http://www.adobe.com/go/reader




 


Meetings of:       COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STOUGHTON  
Date//Time:       Tuesday, December 28, 2021, 7:00 p.m. 
Location: The meeting of the Common Council will be conducted virtually due to COVID-19.  
  You can join the meeting from your computer tablet or smartphone via Zoom: 
  https://zoom.us/j/96011273310?pwd=bkpQNWZ1ZmRVMEV5MzVQb0VGVVhrUT09 
   Meeting ID: 960 1127 3310 
   Passcode: 515701 
   One tap mobile 
  +13017158592,,96011273310#,,,,*515701# US (Washington DC)     
  +13126266799,,96011273310#,,,,*515701# US (Chicago)      
  Additional dial in information is located at the bottom of this agenda.                                                                                                                                        
   
  The meeting can also be livestreamed on https://wsto.tv/live and Spectrum  
  Channel 981. 
 
Members:          Mayor Tim Swadley, Phil Caravello, Ozzie Doom, Ben Heili, Regina Hirsch,   
  Fred Hundt, Greg Jenson, Jean Ligocki, Tom Majewski, Lisa Reeves, Brett   
  Schumacher, Joyce Tikalsky, and Rachel Venegas 


ATTENTION COUNCIL MEMBERS: TWO-THIRDS OF MEMBERS NEEDED FOR A QUORUM (EIGHT). 
The Council may only conduct business when a quorum is present. If you are unable to attend the meeting, please 
notify the City Clerk’s office via telephone (608) 873-6677 or via email cchristen@ci.stoughton.wi.us  


 
1.  Roll Call 


 
2.  Minutes and Reports 


 
3.  Public Comment Period: 


• If you would like to speak during public comment period, please fill out the form 
and submit it by 6:30 p.m. on December 28, 2021. http://speak.cityofstoughton.com.  


 
4.  Communications and Presentations  


• Final Housing Affordability Report 
 


5.  Consent Agenda 
A. December 14, 2021 Council Minutes 


      B.  Minutes of the September 20, 2021 Regular Utilities Committee Meeting, Minutes of the         
 December 13, 2021 Regular Utilities Committee Meeting, Stoughton Utilities September     
 Payments Due List Report, Stoughton Utilities October Payments Due List Report, 
 Stoughton Utilities November Payments Due List Report, Stoughton Utilities August 
 Financial Summary, Stoughton Utilities September Financial Summary, Stoughton Utilities 
 October Financial Summary, Stoughton Utilities Statistical Report  


 


 


OFFICIAL NOTICE AND AGENDA  
Notice is hereby given that Common Council of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, will hold a 
regular or special meeting as indicated on the date and at the time and location given below. 


  
 



https://zoom.us/j/96011273310?pwd=bkpQNWZ1ZmRVMEV5MzVQb0VGVVhrUT09

https://wsto.tv/live%20and%20Spectrum%20%09%09%09Channel%20981

https://wsto.tv/live%20and%20Spectrum%20%09%09%09Channel%20981

mailto:cchristen@ci.stoughton.wi.us

http://speak.cityofstoughton.com/





OLD BUSINESS 
 
6.  O-26-2021 Amending Section 70-176 (85) no parking west side N. Madison between W. 
Prospect and Roy Streets       Second Reading 
7.  O-29-2021 Approving a General Development Plan (GDP) for the area known as the 
Stoughton Riverfront Redevelopment (Plan Commission Public Hearing Scheduled for 
December 13, 2021)         Second Reading 
 
       


NEW BUSINESS 
 
8.  R-179-2021 Stoughton Utilities Proposed 2022 Budget and Five Year (2022 – 2026) Capital 
Improvement Projects (CIP) Plan 
 
9.  R-180-2021 Authorizing the Partial Release (From 12’ to 10’) of a Platted Public Utility 
Easement on Lot 157 of Nordic Ridge Plat, recorded as Document No. 4613105, Dane County 
Registry  
 
10.  ***Discussion and possible action regarding revisions to the application by RHD properties, 
LLC for Tax Incremental Financing (“TIF”) for the project known as 51 West*** 


***The City Council may convene in closed session, pursuant to Wis. Stat. 19.85 (1) (e) for the purposes 
of deliberating or negotiating the purchasing of public properties, the investing of public funds, or 
conducting other specified public*** 
 
ADJOURNMENT 


 
Upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate 
aids and services. For information or to request such assistance, please call the City Hall at (608) 873-6677.          
By: Mayor Tim Swadley, Council President Regina Hirsch 


 Dial by your location 
+1 301 715 8592 US (Washington DC) 
+1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago) 
+1 929 205 6099 US (New York) 
+1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma) 
+1 346 248 7799 US (Houston) 
+1 669 900 6833 US (San Jose) 
Meeting ID: 960 1127 3310 
Passcode: 515701 
Find your local number: https://zoom.us/u/a2Nf22AbZ 
  
  
 


 
 



https://zoom.us/u/a2Nf22AbZ





 








 
City of Stoughton | 207 S. Forrest Street | Stoughton, WI 53589 | 608.873.6677 | www.cityofstoughton.com 


City of 


Stoughton 
 


Housing Affordability 


Report 2021 







 


2 


  


 TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 


 


          INTRODUCTION……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………3 


                      RESIDENTIAL UNIT PERMIT DATA……………………………….………………………………………………………………………………….4 


                      RESIDENTIAL PARCEL DATA……………………………………………………………………………………………….……………………………..6 


                      ANALYSIS OF RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS………………………………………………………..8 


                      AFFORDABLE HOUSING DISCUSSION………………………………………………………………………………………….……………..13         


                      SUMMARY……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….……………..16 


          REFERENCES……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….17 


 


          APPENDIX A – UNDEVELOPED PARCELS ZONED FOR RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT….18 


 


                      APPENDIX B - UNDEVELOPED PARCELS SUITABLE FOR BUT NOT ZONED FOR 


                                                RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT…………………………………………………………………………………………..29 


 


                      APPENDIX C – DETAILED LAND USE DESCRIPTIONS AND REGULATIONS………………….…………32 


 


                      APPENDIX D – SUBDIVISION DESIGN STANDARDS……………………………….………………….……………….…………43 


 


                      APPENDIX E – PUBLIC LANDS AND OPEN SPACE REQUIREMENTS FOR RESIDENTIAL 


                                                DEVELOPMENT……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………58 


 


                      APPENDIX F – SITE ASSESSMENT CHECKLIST AND CONCEPT PLAN PROCEDURES.……62 


 


                      APPENDIX G – PRELIMINARY AND FINAL PLAT PROCEDURES………………………………………….……….…66 


 


                      APPENDIX H – NEW HOUSING FEE REPORT……………..………………………………………………………………….……….…77 


 







 
3 


INTRODUCTION 


 


The City of Stoughton 2021 Housing Affordability Report was created and published to comply 


with the requirements outlined in Wisconsin Statute Section 66.10013.  This legislation requires 


that a housing affordability report include the following elements: 


1) The number of subdivision plats, certified survey maps, condominium plats, 


and building permit applications approved in the prior year.  


2) The total number of new residential dwelling units proposed in all subdivision 


plats, certified survey maps, condominium plats, and building permit applications 


that were approved by the municipality in the prior year.  


3) A list and map of undeveloped parcels in the municipality that are zoned for 


residential development.  


4) A list of all undeveloped parcels in the municipality that are suitable for, but not 


zoned for, residential development, including vacant sites and sites that have 


potential for redevelopment. 


5) An analysis of the municipality’s residential development regulations, such as 


land use controls, site improvement requirements, fees and land dedication 


requirements, and permit procedures and the financial impact each regulation 


has on the cost of each new subdivision. 


6) Identification of ways in which the municipality can modify its construction and 


development regulations, lot sizes, approval processes, and related fees to meet 


existing and forecasted housing demand, and reduce the time and cost 


necessary to approve and develop a new residential subdivision in the 


municipality by 20 percent. 


The City of Stoughton 2021 Housing Affordability Report is organized into ten sections 


containing all of the required elements listed above, and is intended to serve as an outline of the 


implementation of the housing element in the City’s Comprehensive Plan, which was last 


updated in 2019.   


  







 
4 


RESIDENTIAL UNIT PERMIT DATA 


 
Reported data required by Wisconsin Statute Sections 66.10013 (2)(a) and 66.10013 (2)(b) 


This section is dedicated to reporting the City’s 2021 residential unit permit data and historical 


trends.  The following permit data is provided by records maintained by the City of Stoughton 


Planning and Development Department, and represents the calendar year of January 1, 2021 – 


December 31, 2021.   


 


Permit Applications in 2021: 


Subdivision Plats: 8 


Certified Survey Maps: 7 


Condominium Plats: 0 


Total Building Permits: 1658* 


*includes new construction, remodeling, and zoning 


Number of New Residential Dwelling Units Approved in Permits Listed Above: 37 


 


As shown above, the City approved permits for 37 new residential dwelling units in 2021.  Of the 


37 units, 17 units were single-family dwellings, 12 units were 2 family dwellings (6 duplexes), 


and 8 units were multifamily apartments.  


Tables 1a, 1b, and Figure 1 demonstrate the City’s housing unit trends from 2000-2021.  The 


City added about 158 new housing units per year from 1990 to 2000. This rate slowed to about 


53 units per year from 2004 to 2007, and it dropped off sharply after the housing market crash, 


with an average of 17 units built per year between 2008 and 2016.   The rate of housing 


development has started to rebound in the last several years, congruent with the forecasted 


demand in the City’s Comprehensive Plan.  There was an average of 71 units built per year 


between 2017 and 2021.  Kettle Park Senior Living contributed to a large increase in units in 


2018.  Kettle Park Senior Living consists of 79 residential care apartments (RCAC) and 21 


community based residential units (CBRF).  


TABLE 1a 


City of Stoughton Housing Development 2000-2009 


DWELLING UNIT TYPE 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 


SINGLE FAMILY UNITS   44 50 13 31 43 40 16 16 5 1 


TWO FAMILY UNITS 16 6 2 10 8 4 12 6 6 0 


MULTI-FAMILY UNITS     14 12 56 13 4 3 51 8 0 0 


TOTAL HOUSING UNITS 74 68 71 54 55 47 79 30 11 1 







 
5 


TABLE 1b 


 


 


FIGURE 1 


 


 


0


20


40


60


80


100


120


140


160


180


Housing Development 2000-2021


SINGLE FAMILY UNITS TWO FAMILY UNITS MULTI-FAMILY UNITS


TOTAL HOUSING UNITS DEMOLITIONS


City of Stoughton Housing Development 2010-2021 


DWELLING UNIT TYPE 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 


 


2019 2020 2021 


SINGLE FAMILY UNITS   7 1 9 17 16 18 20 29 21 


 


14 16 17 


TWO FAMILY UNITS 0 0 0 2 2 2 0 2 4 


 


8 4 12 


MULTI-FAMILY UNITS     0 33 10 0 10 7 14 33 140 


 


37 9 8 


TOTAL HOUSING UNITS 7 34 19 19 28 27 34 64 165 


 


59 29 37 


DEMOLITIONS   3 3 2 5 6 3 1 1 


 


3 1 0 







 
6 


RESIDENTIAL PARCEL DATA 


 
Reported data required by State of Wisconsin Statute 66.10013 (2)(c) and 66.10013 (2)(d) 


This section is dedicated to listing undeveloped parcels zoned for residential development, as well 


as undeveloped parcels suitable for, but not zoned for, residential development in the City.  Tables 


2a and 2b provide a summary of available parcels meeting the criteria above.  Appendix A and B 


provide detailed lists of the corresponding parcels and zoning classes as well as maps of the 


referenced parcels.  The data is current as of December 10, 2021. 


There are a total of 310 undeveloped parcels zoned for residential development in the City of 


Stoughton.  The available parcels represent a wide range of sizes, locations, and zoning 


classifications to allow for moderate residential growth, with a variety of housing types, densities, 


arrangements, and costs.  The available parcels are aligned with the housing goals, objectives 


and policies outlined in the City’s Comprehensive Plan.   


According to the Future Land Use Map in the City’s Comprehensive Plan, there are 17 


undeveloped parcels which may be suitable for but are not zoned for residential development.  


The available parcels are currently zoned for RH-rural holding or PB-planned business.  


Availability of public facilities and services such as water, sewer, gas, and electric are noted in 


Appendix B.  The available parcels provide an opportunity to support infill and new development 


to help diversify the community housing supply, aligning with the housing goals and objectives 


outlined in the City’s Comprehensive Plan.  


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 
7 


TABLE 2a 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


*Not improved means there is no street frontage and/or the land has not been platted. 


 


TABLE 2b 


 


 


 


 


Key:  Single Family Residential Zoning Classes: SR-3, SR-4, SR-5, and SR-6 


Two Family Residential Zoning Class: TR-6 


Multi-Family Residential Zoning Classes: MR-10 and MR-24 


Planned Development Zoning Class: PD 


Rural Holding   Zoning Class: RH 


Planned Business  Zoning Class: PB  


Undeveloped Parcels Zoned for Residential Development 


Grand Total: 310 


Improved 


SR-4 Single Family: 32 


SR-5 Single Family: 29 


SR-6 Single Family: 9 


TR-6 Two Family: 6 


MR-10 Multi-Family: 3 


PD Planned Development: 40 


Not Improved 


SR-4 Single Family: 41 


SR-5 Single Family: 59 


SR-6 Single Family: 5 


TR-6 Two Family: 7 


PD Planned Development: 79 


 


 


Undeveloped Parcels Suitable for but not Zoned for Residential 


Development 


Grand Total: 17 


RH Rural Holding: 15 


PB Planned Business: 2 


 


 


 


 







 
8 


ANALYSIS OF RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 


 


Analysis required by State of Wisconsin Statute 66.10013 (2)(e) 


This section is dedicated to outlining the City’s residential development regulations including 


land use controls, site improvement requirements, fees and land dedication requirements, and 


permit procedures.  Included is an analysis of the financial impact these regulations have on the 


cost of a new subdivision, and identification of possible modifications to better meet forecasted 


housing demand and reduce the time and cost necessary to approve and develop new 


residential subdivisions by twenty percent. 


The City of Stoughton Municipal Code of Ordinances outlines the residential development 


regulations in place, including land use controls, site improvement requirements, fees and land 


dedication requirements, and permit procedures.  While these regulations have a financial 


impact on the cost of a new subdivision, they serve to promote growth that is aligned with the 


housing goals outlined in the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 
9 


Land Use Controls 


Land use controls are implemented to direct the development of property within the City to support 


the housing goals outlined in the City’s Comprehensive Plan.  Section 78-206 (1) of the City of 


Stoughton Municipal Code outlines the residential land uses in the City.  This ordinance section 


is included in Appendix C.  Various housing types and densities are allowable throughout the City.  


As a strategy to increase housing choices and create a diverse housing stock, the City allows 


various housing types and densities. Single family dwellings are permitted in all residential 


districts in the City (SR-4, SR-5, SR-6, TR-6, MR-10, MR-24, PD).  The SR-6 single family lots 


can be as narrow as 40 feet in width and as small as 4,000 square feet in area.  The PD 


Planned Development district offers flexibility with lot sizes.  The City also provides opportunity 


for multi-unit housing including duplexes, two flats, triplexes, quads, townhouses, and boarding 


houses. Two family dwellings are permitted in the following zoning districts, TR-6, MR-10, MR-


24 and PD.  Duplex lots can be as narrow as 80 feet in width and as small as 10,000 sf in 


area.  A zero lot line or twin home is also allowed which splits a duplex lot in half by separate 


parcels.  Two flats are allowable as a conditional use and are common in the historic 


neighborhoods of the City (SR-6 district).    Multifamily dwellings are permitted in three zoning 


districts, MR-10, MR-24 and PD.  The MR-10 and MR-24 districts allow up to 10 and up to 24 


units per acre respectively.  Boarding houses are allowable as a conditional use in the Central 


Business, MR-24 and Neighborhood Business districts.  Several residential developments in the 


City have been developed or are being considered using Planned Development standards.  PDs 


allow the developer to plan a development with more flexibility, efficient site designs, and lower 


costs. 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 
10 


Design Standards and Site Improvement Requirements 


Design standards and site improvement requirements are implemented to ensure any new 
subdivision or condominium plat meets the goals of the City’s Comprehensive Plan.  Sections 
66-701 to 66-904 of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code outline the design standards and site 
improvement requirements for a residential development.  This ordinance section is included in 
Appendix D.   


The City implements improvement requirements and design standards including but not limited to 


street grading and surfacing, street lights, street signs, sidewalks, curbs/gutters, terrace trees, 


parkland, driveway aprons, easements, water supply and sewage disposal systems, utilities, and 


stormwater management. 


The use of tax-increment financing (TIF) for construction of infrastructure such as roads, sewer, 


and water can reduce upfront costs of a new residential development.  The Riverfront 


Redevelopment area near South Fourth Street and East South Street is within a TIF District and 


TIF assistance is planned for that project.  The City is considering a new TIF District for the 51 


West Development. 


As a strategy to diversify housing costs, the City does not require architectural design standards 


for single or two family dwellings.  These design standards are typically implemented in covenants 


imposed by the specific development.  The City does have basic architectural requirements for 


multi-family structures. 


Fees and Land Dedication Requirements 


Park improvement fees, park land fees (monies in lieu of dedication) and park land dedication 


requirements are implemented to acquire and maintain public land suitable for park, recreation 


or open space within the City to support the housing policies outlined in the City’s 


Comprehensive Plan.  Section 66-1101 of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code outlines the 


provision of public lands and open spaces in the City.  This ordinance section was updated in 


December of 2021, and both the original and updated publications are included in Appendix E.  


Table 3 illustrates both the original and updated 2021 park improvement and park land fees 


organized by unit type.  The land dedication requirement is 1,468 square feet of land to be 


dedicated for each residential dwelling unit. 


TABLE 3 


2021 Park Impact Fees Effective January 1, 2021-December 15, 2021 


 


 


 


 
 


 


 







 
11 


2021 Park Impact Fees Effective December 16, 2021-December 31, 2021 


 


 


 


 


 


 


Development Proposal Process and Permit Procedures 


The development proposal process is implemented to review and amend the plans, objectives 


and general program for the proposed development in order to meet the objectives of the City’s 


Municipal Code, Comprehensive Plan, and official map.  Sections 66-201 to 66-207 of the City 


of Stoughton Municipal Code outline the preliminary procedures for a residential development.  


This ordinance section is included in Appendix F. 


Preliminary plats, final plats, plans, and CSMs are reviewed and approved when in congruence 


with the objectives of the City’s Municipal Code, Comprehensive Plan, and official map.  


Sections 66-301 to 66-604 and 66-1001 to 66-1005 of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code 


outline the permit procedures for a residential development.  These ordinance sections are 


included in Appendix G.  The final plat for The Meadows, one of the City’s newest residential 


developments is pictured below. 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 
12 


Financial Impact These Regulations Have on the Cost of a New 


Subdivision: 


To estimate the effect that these regulations have on the cost of a new subdivision, we 


examined three recently developed subdivisions in the City.  Three lots were studied in each 


subdivision.  The average cost per finished square foot of residential land was estimated by 


taking the assessed value (including the home) divided by the lot size for each lot respectively.  


The overall average price per finished square foot of a residential lot was $32.41/sf.  The smaller 


lot sizes in the Carl Avenue development offer the opportunity for a reduced price per square 


foot assessed value compared to the two other developments examined.  Reducing lot sizes 


similar to those found on Carl Avenue is one strategy to reduce the costs associated with new 


residential development.  See the tables 4a, 4b, and 4c below for a breakdown per subdivision.  


TABLE 4a 


Nordic Ridge Sample Cost per Finished Square Foot of Residential Land 


Address Assessed Value Lot Size (sf) $/sf 


908 Hoel Ave $413,200 13,111.56 31.51 


1016 Peterson Dr $355,000 10,715.76 33.13 


1009 Hoel Ave $354,800 10,454.40 33.94 


Average price per square foot: $32.86/sf 


 


TABLE 4b 


Westview Ridge Sample Cost per Finished Square Foot of Residential Land 


Address Assessed Value Lot Size (sf) $/sf 


732 Hilldale Ln $410,100 11,151.36 36.78 


2124 Hilldale Ln $365,600 11,064.24 33.04 


725 Hoel Ave $278,900 10,323.72 27.02 


Average price per square foot: $32.28/sf 


 
TABLE 4c 


Carl Avenue Sample Cost per Finished Square Foot of Residential Land 


Address Assessed Value Lot Size (sf) $/sf 


2009 Carl Ave $315,000 8,581.32 36.71 


2126 Carl Ave $361,400 13,939.20 25.93 


2102 Carl Ave $298,700 8,886.24 33.61 


Average price per square foot: $32.08/sf 


Source: 2021 Access Dane Geographic & Land Information 







 
13 


Modifications to Meet Housing Demand and Reduce Time and Costs 


Related to New Residential Development: 


The City will continue to diversify housing stock to meet current and future housing demand by 


allowing various housing types and densities in multiple zoning districts.  Planned Developments 


(PD’s) will continue to be utilized as a way to offer flexibility with lot sizes, neighborhood 


designs, and ultimately lower costs.  The City will also continue to utilize and offer grants for 


improving older neighborhoods, which make up much of the City’s housing stock.  Local 


landmark mini-grants are awarded on a yearly basis from the City’s Landmarks Commission.  


These grants facilitate reinvestment in the historic neighborhoods of Stoughton.  


There are a few strategies the City currently uses, and will continue to modify, to reduce the time 


and cost to approve and develop a new residential subdivision by twenty percent, as required to 


be addressed in this report according to State of Wisconsin Statute 66.10013 (2)(e).  Smaller lot 


sizes and multi-family units, often included in planned developments, can greatly reduce the costs 


associated with the development.  The Meadows at Kettle Park West was platted in 2020 and 


created many small lot single-family parcels with alleys.  These lots offer a smaller street frontage 


and overall square footage, designed for smaller, more affordable single family homes.  The first 


phase of street construction has been completed opening 36 such lots for building.  TIF is one 


potential incentive the City may consider for some developments. 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 
14 


AFFORDABLE HOUSING DISCUSSION 


 
This section provides a general analysis of the City’s “affordable” housing supply to assess if 


there are enough affordable units available to various household income levels. Housing 


affordability is based on both income of a particular household and the cost of housing. 


Household income is described in terms “area median income” (AMI). In this case, AMI refers to 


the average household income for Dane County, which according to the U.S. Department of 


Housing and Urban Development (HUD) 2019 Income Limits was $100,400.  The City of 


Stoughton’s median income in 2019 was $67,329 according to US Census Bureau 2019 Quick 


Facts.  Different income levels in Dane County are described based on the percent of the AMI 


that a given household earns. For example, a household earning 50% of AMI would earn 


$50,200. 


Whether housing is affordable is also influenced by how much of household income is spent on 
housing. The traditional definition, utilized by HUD is that housing is affordable if housing costs 
comprise no more than 30 percent of household income. For example, a housing unit that costs 
$1255 or less per month would be affordable to a household earning 50% of AMI 
($50,200*30%/12 months). Table 5a shows the percentage of households (rental and ownership) 
at each income level within the City of Stoughton that face a housing cost burden of over 30% of 
the corresponding income level.  Table 5b shows the same data for Dane County.  As shown in 
the tables, the total percentage of households with a housing cost burden of over 30% is lower in 
the City of Stoughton (26%) than at the County wide level (29%).  The housing stock in 
Stoughton is more affordable – for both rental and ownership units – as compared to Dane County 
as a whole.  
 


TABLE 5a 


City of Stoughton Households with a Housing Cost Burden of Greater than 30%  
Household 
Income 
<=30% 
AMI 


Household 
Income 
>30% to 
<=50% 
AMI 


Household 
Income 
>50% to 
<=80% 
AMI 


Household 
Income 
>80% to 
<=100% 
AMI 


Household 
Income 
>100% 
AMI 


All 
Household 
Incomes 


Percentage 
of 
households 
with a cost 
burden 
>30% 
household 
income 


85% 82% 28% 11% 1% 26% 


Source: HUD-CHAS special tabulations based on 2014-2018 American Community Survey (ACS) 


 


 


 







 
15 


TABLE 5b 


Dane County Households with a Housing Cost Burden of Greater than 30%  
Houshold 
Income 
<=30% 
AMI 


Household 
Income 
>30% to 
<=50% 
AMI 


Household 
Income 
>50% to 
<=80% 
AMI 


Household 
Income 
>80% to 
<=100% 
AMI 


Household 
Income 
>100% 
AMI 


All 
Household 
Incomes 


Percentage 
of 
households 
with a cost 
burden >30% 
household 
income 


84% 76% 37% 19% 4% 29% 


Source: HUD-CHAS special tabulations based on 2014-2018 American Community Survey (ACS) 


 


 


Two Examples of Housing Affordability in The City of Stoughton 


To give a more concrete example of current housing affordability within the City, two common 


housing scenarios are explained below. 


According to the 2019 WHEDA Wisconsin Standard Multifamily Tax Subsidy Project Estimated 


Maximum Income and Rent Limits, the 2-bedroom WHEDA rent limit for a family with a household 


income of 50% AMI (Dane County) is $1130.  According to the 2015-2019 American Community 


Survey 5-Year Estimates, the median gross rent for a two-bedroom apartment in Stoughton is 


$943 per month.  A two-bedroom apartment is typically occupied by two to four person families.  


Therefore, we are providing affordable rental housing for two to four person families at the 50% 


of AMI income level. 


According to the 2019 HUD-Area Median Family Income Limits Summary, 80% of AMI for a four-


person household in Dane County is $75,500.  At this income level, the monthly affordable 


housing expenditure is $1888 (30% of monthly income).  For a mortgage loan with a monthly 


payment of $1888, an interest rate of 3.75%, and $45,300 down, an affordable house value would 


be $453,000.  According to the 2015-2019 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, 


greater than 73% of the homes in Stoughton are valued at $299,999 or less, with the median value 


of owner-occupied housing units being $218,100.  Therefore, we are providing affordable owner 


occupied housing units for 4-person families at the 80% of AMI income level. 


 


 


 


 


 







 
16 


SUMMARY 


 


The City of Stoughton is utilizing many avenues to provide a range of housing choices that meet 


the needs of persons of all income levels, age groups, and those with special needs.  By 


carefully controlling neighborhood development through a detailed neighborhood design 


process, the City provides a range of housing types, densities, and costs, while maintaining the 


predominantly single family character of the community.  By supporting infill and redevelopment 


practices in strategic areas, the City continues to diversify the community’s housing supply.  The 


City continues to create attractive and safe neighborhoods that are well-served by essential 


municipal services and facilities, and utilizes phasing in a manner consistent with the availability 


of public facilities and service capacities.  The City continues to require all proposed residential 


developments to dedicate land, or pay a fee in lieu thereof, for public park, recreation, and open 


space acquisition and development.  The City encourages new neighborhoods to match the 


City’s historic housing mix of at least 65 percent single family detached homes, and reserves 


areas that contains particular amenities (e.g. adjacent to environmental corridors, wooded sites) 


for higher-end “estate” type housing on lot sizes ranging from 15,000 to 20,000 square feet.  The 


City promotes affordable housing through smaller lot sizes, appropriately planned and located 


attached and multi-family housing, and continued participation in county and State housing 


programs. 


Providing affordable and diverse housing is one of the City’s top priorities.  Affordable housing 


affects all other facets of our community, contributing to economic success, local purchasing 


power, job creation, improved health, and thriving schools. 


 


 







 
17 


REFERENCES 


 


This report was authored and published by the City of Stoughton Planning and Development 


Department.  The following documents and websites were utilized in the formation of this report. 
 


1. Capital Area Regional Planning Commission. (2015). Stoughton Area Future Urban 
Development Area (FUDA) Planning Study. 
 


2. City of Stoughton. (2019).  City of Stoughton Comprehensive Plan. 
 


3. Dane County Land Information Council (2021). Access Dane. Website: 


https://accessdane.countyofdane.com/ 


 


4. Housing and Urban Development (2021). Consolidated Planning/CHAS Data. Website: 
https://www.huduser.gov/portal/datasets/cp.html 


 


5. United States Census Bureau (2021). Quick Facts City of Stoughton. Website: 
https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/stoughtoncitywisconsin,US 


 


6. United States Census Bureau (2021). Financial Characteristics for Housing Units. 
Website: https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table  


 


7. WHEDA (2019). Wisconsin Standard Multifamily Tax Subsidy Project Estimated 
Maximum Income and Rent Limits. 
 


8. Wisconsin Realtors Association (2019).  Special Report Falling Behind. 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 



https://accessdane.countyofdane.com/





 


 


18 


APPENDIX A 


 


 
Undeveloped Parcels Zoned for Residential Development 


 
Eastwood Addition – 1995 
117 Ashberry Lane – TR-6           


 
Hill-Olson Addition to Hillcrest – 1990 
745 Nottingham Rd. – SR-4       
1659 Erin Hill – SR-4 
769 Nottingham Rd. – SR-4       
 
HOM Addition – 1994 
1500 Margit Court – SR-5 (not improved)     
1508 Margit Court – SR-5 (not improved)   
1509 Margit Court – SR-5 (not improved) 
1516 Margit Court – SR-5 (not improved)     
1517 Margit Court – SR-5 (not improved)   
701 Veterans Road – SR-5 (not improved)  
709 Veterans Road – SR-5 (not improved) 
800/802 Veterans Road – TR-6 
1332/1334 E. Academy Street – TR-6 
1324/1326 E. Academy Street – TR-6   
             
7th Addition to Norse View Heights – 1991 
400 Marie Drive – SR-4 (not improved)   
416 Marie Drive – SR-4 (not improved) 
408 Marie Drive – SR-4 (not improved)   
324 Marie Drive – SR-4 (not improved)   
2125 Carl Avenue – SR-4 (not improved) 


      
Abel Plat - 1990  
1115/1117 Abel Court – SR-4  
1121/1123 Abel Court – TR-6  
1130 Abel Court – MR-10   
1131 Abel Court – MR-10  
 
Stone Crest – 2003  
2432 Stone Crest Road – SR-4  
2325 Autumn Crest (900 Fall Haven) – SR-4     


 
Barberry Fields – 2004 
1600 Oakridge Way – SR-4 
 
Pine Street – Gagnon 
416 Pine Street – SR-6 
424 Pine Street – SR-6 


 
 







 


 


19 


Pine Street – Hardwick 
409 Pine Street – TR-6 
 
Hamilton Street (formerly Thode) 
SR-6 – 3 lots  


 
1110 Overlook Drive – Peterson 
1110 Overlook Drive – SR-4 


 
Lincoln Ave. – Stockstad 
127 Lincoln Avenue – SR-4   
135 Lincoln Avenue – SR-4   
201 Lincoln Avenue – SR-4 
 
916 Lincoln Ave. 
916 Lincoln Avenue - SR-4 


 
Isham Street 
217 Isham Street - SR-6   
201 Isham Street - SR-6  
125 Isham Street - SR-6  
2 lots – SR-6 (not improved)  
6 lots – TR-6 (not improved)  


 
East Street 
532 East Street (Lot 1, Owner: Nelson) - SR-6 (not improved) 
532 East Street (Lot 2, Owner: Nelson)  - SR-6 (not improved) 
Parcel 0511-092-8865-6 (Owner: Drogsvold) - SR-6 (not improved) 


 
Roby/Chapin  
1328 Roby Road - SR-4 
1408 Roby Road – SR-4    
          
Nordic Ridge - 2008 
SR-4 –34 lots (not improved)   
TR-6 – 1 lot (not improved)  
PD – 21 lots (not improved) 
SR-4 – 18 lots   
PD – 6 lots   


 
The Meadows at Kettle Park 
SR-5 –52 lots (not improved)    
PD – 58 lots (not improved) 
SR-5 – 29 lots   
PD – 34 lots 
MR-10 – 1 lot 
 
501 W. Main Street (Kwik Trip) 
501 W. Main Street - SR-6 
 
Rosenbaum Property 
SR-4 – 2 parcels- not platted (not improved) 







 


 


20 


 
 
 
 
 


Maps of Undeveloped Parcels Zoned Residential 
 


City of Stoughton 
 


 
 


 


 


 


 







 


 


21 


North Stoughton 
 


 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


22 


Central Stoughton 
 


 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


23 


East Stoughton 
 


 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


24 


Nordic Ridge 
 


 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


25 


The Meadows at Kettle Park West 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 


 


26 


Margit Court 


 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


27 


Isham Street 
 


 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


28 


Marie Drive 


 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


29 


APPENDIX B 


 


 


Undeveloped Parcels Suitable for, but not Zoned for, Residential 
Development 


Chalet Subdivision – 1973 
1425 Chalet Ct. – RH (not improved)  
1417 Chalet Ct. – RH (not improved)   
1409 Chalet Ct. – RH (not improved)  
1401 Chalet Ct. – RH (not improved)  
1408 Chalet Ct. – RH (not improved)   
1416 Chalet Ct. – RH (not improved) 
1424 Chalet Ct. – RH (not improved) 
 
HOM Addition – 1994 
1500 Margit Court– PB 
 
John Nygaard’s Virgin Lake Estates – 1994 
2301 Wood View Drive – PB 
 
Ehle Property 
RH – Approximately 113 acres- not platted 
*Public facilities and services not readily available 
 
AJ Arnett on end of N. Page 
RH – Approximately 15 acres- not platted 


 
AJ Arnett Property on Williams & Hwy B 
RH – 8 acres- not platted 
*Public facilities and services not readily available 
 
Matson – Highway 51 East 
RH – Approximately 97 acres in 2 areas- not platted 
*Public facilities and services not readily available 
 
AJ Arnett Property on County Hwy N 
RH – Approximately 110 acres in 2 areas- not platted 
*Public facilities and services not readily available 
 
Dvorak (Granrud) Property 
RH – Approximately 70 acres- not platted 
*Public facilities and services not readily available 
 
Linnerud Property 
RH – Approximately 185 acres- not platted 
*Public facilities and services not readily available 
 
Payne and Dolan Property 
RH – Approximately 78 acres- not platted 
*Public facilities and services not readily available 







 


 


30 


 


 


 


 


 


 


Maps of Undeveloped Parcels Suitable For But Not Zoned For Residential 
 


City of Stoughton 


 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


31 


 


Chalet Court 


 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 


 


32 


 


APPENDIX C 
 


 
Sec. 78-206. - Detailed land use descriptions and regulations.  


The land use categories employed by this chapter are defined in this section. Land uses which are 
not listed in this chapter are not necessarily excluded from locating within any given zoning district. 
Section 78-911 empowers the zoning administrator to make interpretations on matters regarding specific 
land use proposals which are not addressed by this chapter.  


(1)  Residential land uses.  


(a)  Conventional residential development.  


Description: This land use includes, but is not limited to, all residential developments which 
do not provide permanently protected green space areas. Property which is under common 
ownership of a property owners' association is permitted, but is not a required component 
of this type of development. Up to ten percent of a conventional residential development's 
gross site area (GSA) can contain natural resource areas which must be protected (or 
other permanently protected green space areas), without a reduction in maximum gross 
density (MGD). (See note (1)(f) below.)  


Conventional residential development can be made up of the following dwelling unit types 
(on the following pages):  


The table below indicates the measurements shown on the dwelling unit type graphics on 
the following pages. See article 0 for district specific regulations. (Note: all letters do not 
appear on all graphics.)  


[A:  Reserved]  


B:  Minimum lot width  


C:  Minimum street frontage  


D:  Front or street side lot line to house  


E:  Front or street side lot line to garage  


F:  Side lot line to house or garage  


[G:  Reserved]  


H:  Rear lot line to house or garage  


I:  Side lot line to accessory structure  


J:  Rear lot line to accessory structure  


[K:  Reserved]  


L:  Minimum paved surface setback  


M:  Minimum dwelling unit separation  


P:  Minimum number of off-street parking spaces required on the lot  


 


 


 


 







 


 


33 


 


1.  Single-family detached.  


Description: A dwelling designed for and occupied by not more than one family and 
having no roof, wall, or floor in common with any other dwelling unit. This dwelling unit 
type consists of a fully detached single-family residence which is located on an 
individual lot or within a group or large development. The dwelling unit must be a site 
built structure built in compliance with the State of Wisconsin Uniform Dwelling Code 
(UDC), or may be a manufactured dwelling (modular home) as permitted by the UDC 
or a manufactured home as permitted by the HUD code. For any of these dwelling 
units, the use of a permanent, continuous UDC foundation is required. This dwelling 
unit type may not be split into two or more residences. Refer to the illustration below 
and to article I for setback requirements labeled in capital letters:  


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


34 


2.  Duplex.  


Description: These dwelling unit types consist of a single-family dwelling which is 
attached on one side to another single-family residence where the entire building is 
under single ownership. A minimum building code required fire rated wall assembly 
division, separating living areas from the lowest level to flush against the underside of 
the roof is required between each dwelling unit. Upon the effective date of this 
ordinance amendment (March 3, 2016), all newly constructed duplexes are required 
to install a sanitary sewer lateral and public water lateral for each individual dwelling 
unit except, a duplex may be constructed on any existing vacant TR-6 parcel with a 
water lateral and a sewer lateral already stubbed to the property. At the time of 
construction of the duplex, the water lateral shall be split to have separate water shut 
off valves within the terrace for each individual unit. The sewer lateral shall also be 
split within the terrace to provide a separate sewer line from the terrace to each 
individual unit. The two residences are located on the same lot. These dwelling unit 
types may not be split into additional residences. Refer to the illustration below and to 
Article I for setback requirements labeled in capital letters:  


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


35 


3.  Twin-house.  


Description: These dwelling unit types consist of a single-family dwelling which is 
attached on one side to another single-family residence. A minimum building code 
required fire rated wall assembly division, separating living areas from the lowest level 
to flush against the underside of the roof is required between each dwelling unit. Upon 
the effective date of this ordinance amendment, all newly constructed twin homes are 
required to have a sanitary sewer lateral to the sanitary main and a public water 
lateral from the water main, for each individual dwelling unit. Separate water and 
sewer laterals, to the respective mains, are required when converting an existing 
duplex to a twin home or when building a new twin home. The two residences are 
located on separate lots. The twin house is distinguished from the duplex house 
merely by having each unit located on an individual lot or within a group or large 
development. These dwelling unit types may not be split into additional residences. A 
mutual maintenance agreement is recommended to be drafted and recorded between 
property owners to address for example; repair and/or replacement of the exterior 
components of the structure. Refer to the illustration on the following page and to 
Article I for setback requirements labeled in capital letters:  


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


36 


 


4.  Two-flat house.  


Description: This dwelling unit type consists of a single-family residence, which is in 
complete compliance with the State of Wisconsin Uniform Dwelling Code (UDC), 
which has been converted into a two-family residence. The two residences are both 
located on the same lot or within the same group or large development. This dwelling 
unit type may not be split into additional residences. Where permitted, this use is a 
conditional use and must be approved through the procedures of section 78-905. 
Refer to the illustration below and to article I for setback requirements labeled in 
capital letters:  


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


37 


5.  Townhouse.  


Description: This dwelling unit type consists of attached, two-story, single-family 
residences, each having a private, individual access. This dwelling unit type is located 
on its own lot or within a group or large development and may not be split into 
additional residences. A minimum building code required fire rated wall assembly 
division, separating living areas from the lowest level through the roof, and individual 
sanitary sewer and public water laterals, are required between each dwelling unit. No 
more than six and no less than three townhouse dwelling units may be attached per 
group. All townhouse units within a development shall be located a minimum of 30 
feet from the boundary of the development. Refer to the illustration below and to 
article I for setback requirements labeled in capital letters:  


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


38 


6.  Multiplex.  


Description: This dwelling unit type consists of an attached, multi-family residence 
which has a private, individual exterior entrance. A minimum building code required 
fire rated wall assembly division, separating living areas from the lowest level through 
the roof, is required between each dwelling unit. No more than eight and no less than 
three multiplex dwelling units may be attached per group. All multiplex units within a 
development shall be located a minimum of 30 feet from the boundary of the 
development. Refer to the illustration below and to article I for setback requirements 
labeled in capital letters:  


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


39 


7.  Apartment.  


Description: This dwelling unit type consists of an attached, multi-family residence 
which takes access from a shared entrance or hallway. A minimum building code 
required fire rated wall assembly division, separating living areas from the lowest level 
to the underside of the roof, is required between each dwelling unit. No less than three 
dwelling units may be located in a building. As part of the conditional use 
requirements for group developments, any development comprised of one or more 
buildings which contain four or more dwelling units shall provide additional site design 
features such as: underground parking, architectural elements, landscaping, and/or 
on-site recreational facilities. Refer to the illustration below and to article I for setback 
requirements labeled in capital letters:  


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


40 


8.  Mobile home.  


Description: This dwelling unit type consists of a fully detached, single-family residence, 
which has not received a Federal Manufactured Housing Certificate and which is located 
on an individual lot or within a group or large development. This dwelling unit type may not 
be split into two or more residences. Within 30 days of occupancy, the owner shall remove 
the axle and install skirting per the requirements of the plan commission. Refer to the 
illustration below and to article I for setback requirements labeled in capital letters:  


 


(b)  Reserved.  


(c)  Reserved.  


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


41 


(d)  Mobile home residential subdivision.  


Description: This land use is a form of residential development which is exclusively 
reserved for individually sold lots containing mobile home units. Each of the lots and mobile 
home units must meet the requirements for mobile homes listed in subsection 78-
206(1)(a)8 of this chapter. Under this development option, approximately ten percent of a 
development's gross site area (GSA) can contain natural resource areas which must be 
protected (or other permanently protected green space areas), without a reduction in 
maximum gross density (MGD). (See note (f) below.)  


1.  Regulations:  


a.  Development shall be located so as to blend with adjacent residentially zoned 
areas to the greatest extent possible.  


b.  Mobile home residential subdivisions shall comply with the same landscaping and 
bufferyard requirements as the Multi-Family (MR-10) District, as specified in 
section 78-610 of this chapter.  


c.  No access shall be permitted to local residential streets.  


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


42 


(e)  Mobile home park residential development (Rental/Condo Park).  


Description: This land use is a form of conventional residential development which is 
exclusively reserved for individually sold or rented air right pads containing mobile home 
units. Each of the lots and mobile home units must meet the requirements for mobile 
homes listed in subsection 78-206(1)(a)8 of this chapter. Under this development option, 
approximately ten percent of a development's gross site area (GSA) can contain natural 
resource areas which must be protected (or other permanently protected green space 
areas), without a reduction in maximum gross density (MGD). (See note (f) below.)  


1.  Regulations:  


a.  Development shall be located so as to blend with adjacent residentially zoned 
areas to the greatest extent possible.  


b.  Mobile home park residential developments shall comply with the same 
landscaping and bufferyard requirements as the Multi-Family (MR-10) District, as 
specified in section 78-610 of this chapter.  


c.  No access shall be permitted to local residential streets.  


 


(f)  Note regarding percentage of green space and maximum density yield. This estimate is 
provided as a general rule of thumb for the convenience of the users of this chapter. Such a 
yield is not to be considered as ensured by the provisions of this chapter.  


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


43 


APPENDIX D 
 


ARTICLE VII. - DESIGN STANDARDS  


Sec. 66-701. - Street arrangement.  


In any new subdivision or condominium plat, the layout of public streets, bikeways, and pedestrian 
paths shall substantially conform to the arrangement and location indicated on the official map, 
comprehensive plan, or component neighborhood development plan. In areas for which such plans have 
not been completed, the street layout shall recognize the functional classification of the various types of 
streets and shall be developed and located in proper relation to existing and proposed streets, the 
topography, such natural features as streams and trees, the future land to be served by such streets, and 
the most advantageous development of adjoining areas. The functional classification of various types of 
streets within and adjacent to subdivision or condominium plat shall be determined by the city based on 
the following criteria:  


(1)  Arterial streets shall be arranged to provide for through traffic and ready access to centers of 
employment, centers of governmental activity, community shopping areas, community recreation 
areas, and points beyond the boundaries of the community. They shall also be properly integrated 
with and related to the existing and proposed system of arterial streets and highways, and shall 
be, insofar as practicable, continuous and in alignment with existing or planned streets with which 
they are to connect.  


(2)  Collector streets shall be arranged to provide ready collection of traffic from residential areas and 
conveyance of this traffic to arterial streets, major collector streets and highways. Collector streets 
should also connect to special traffic generators such as schools, churches, and shopping centers 
and other concentrations of population.  


(3)  Neighborhood connector streets shall be arranged to direct traffic from minor streets within a 
subdivision or condominium plat to the arterial and collector street network. Neighborhood 
connector streets shall also be designed to provide connectivity between adjoining subdivision or 
condominium plats and to neighborhood facilities such as parks and schools. (See Figure 3.)  


(4)  Minor streets shall be arranged to conform to the topography, discourage use by through traffic, 
permit the design of efficient storm and sanitary sewerage systems, and require the minimum 
street area necessary to provide safe and convenient access to abutting property. Not every street 
within a subdivision or condominium plat is necessarily a minor street.  


(5)  Subdividers shall refer to the official map for site-specific standards related to the requirements 
of this section.  







 


 


44 


Figure 3: Conceptual Neighborhood Connector Streets  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-702. - Alleys.  


Alleys may be provided in commercial and industrial districts for off-street loading and service 
access. Dead-end alleys without a proper turn-around shall not be approved, and alleys shall not connect 
to an arterial street. Alleys may be provided in traditional neighborhood development districts to service 
garages and for refuse collection. All alleys must be paved with hard surfacing to the specifications of the 
city.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-703. - Street extensions.  


Proposed street rights-of-way shall extend to the boundary lines of the tract being subdivided or 
developed unless prevented by topography or other physical conditions or unless, in the opinion of the 
plan commission, such extension is not necessary or desirable for the coordination of the layout of the 
subdivision or condominium plat or for the advantageous development of the adjacent tracts.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-704. - Street names.  


Street names shall not duplicate or be similar to existing street names in the City of Stoughton or 
within its emergency response areas, except that streets that are continuations of others already in 
existence and named shall bear the name of the existing street. The city council of the City of Stoughton 
hereby reserves to itself the exclusive right to name all streets within the city limits of the City of 
Stoughton. This authority may not be delegated and shall apply to the naming of new streets, or the 
renaming of existing streets whether in plats, plat amendments or otherwise.  







 


 


45 


(1)  Definitions. "Street" shall mean every highway within the corporate limits of the City of Stoughton, 
including alleys, and shall include without limitation, all public ways and thoroughfares and bridges 
upon said highways, all roads or driveways in municipal parks which have been opened for the 
use of the public for the purpose of vehicular travel, but shall not include private roads or 
driveways as defined in Section 340.01(46), Wisconsin Statutes, as amended from time to time.  


(2)  Prohibitions. No street shall be named except by CSM, plat, or by resolution of the city council 
of the City of Stoughton. No advertisement, representation nor solicitation shall state or imply the 
granting of the right to name or rename a street.  


(3)  Procedures. Any person preparing or amending a plat or otherwise desirous of renaming an 
existing street or naming a new street or a street not previously named shall make application 
therefore to the City of Stoughton. If a preliminary plat is required by this chapter, the application 
for street name approval shall be submitted at the same time as the preliminary plat. The city may 
initiate said application on its own, should the city determine the need to name a street. Said 
applications shall be in written form and be submitted to the director of planning and development 
and shall contain the following:  


a.  The proposed street name.  


b.  A clear and concise map of the street to be named, provided further that the city may require 
an engineering drawing or survey locating the proposed street to be named.  


c.  A narrative statement addressing each of the standards contained in subsection (5) below.  


d.  Any application for the renaming of an existing street shall include proof satisfactory to the 
city that the applicant has made diligent efforts to notify all persons or entities owning or 
having any tenancy interest in the property whose address would change. The applicant may 
provide said proof in the way of affidavit, U.S. postal return receipts or proof of publication 
or combination thereof and may attempt to provide notice by door to door canvassing and 
posting, registered mailings, newspaper publications or any combination thereof or any other 
means likely to provide actual notice. No such application shall be processed until the 
applicant has satisfied the city that at least 90 percent of all the persons or entities affected 
have received actual notice.  


(4)  Determination. The director of planning and development shall review said proposal consistent 
with the standards contained below and shall also make a determination as to whether the 
proposed name or a similar name is already in use, and shall forward its recommendations and 
determinations to the city plan commission. The city plan commission shall set the matter on its 
agenda for public hearing and shall make its recommendations in the form of a report to the city 
council taking into consideration the standards contained in subsection (5) below.  


(5)  Standards. The following matters shall be considered and addressed in regard to the proposed 
naming of any street:  


a.  Any notable geologic, geographic, cultural, biographical, historical, botanical, horticultural, 
scientific or other factors or events associated with the area served by the street.  


b.  The appropriateness of honoring or showing gratitude to a person, group or event deserving 
of recognition within the local community served by the street or the greater Stoughton 
region.  


c.  The desirability of maintaining a single name for the entire length of any particular street.  


d.  The potential impact and inconvenience upon residents of an existing street whose name is 
proposed to be changed.  


e.  Existing street names shall be projected wherever possible.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 







 


 


46 


Sec. 66-705. - Railroads, highways, and arterial street protection.  


Whenever a proposed subdivision or condominium plat contains or is adjacent to an arterial street, 
limited access highway, or railroad right-of-way, the following standards may be applicable at the 
discretion of the plan commission:  


(1)  Where lots within the proposed subdivision or condominium plat back upon the right-of-way of 
an existing or proposed arterial street, limited access highway, or railroad right-of-way, a 
landscape buffer strip of at least 25 feet in depth in addition to the normal depth of the lot required 
in the district shall be provided adjacent to the arterial street, railroad right-of-way, or limited 
access highway. The treatment within this landscape strip shall be unified along the entire 
frontage in accordance with a landscape plan prepared by the subdivider or condominium 
developer and approved by the city. This strip shall be a permanently reserved part of the platted 
lots and shall be designated on the plat as follows:  


"THIS LANDSCAPE BUFFER STRIP IS RESERVED FOR THE PLANTING OF TREES AND 
SHRUBS BY THE SUBDIVIDER OR CONDOMINIUM DEVELOPER. THE PLACEMENT OF 
STRUCTURES HEREON IS PROHIBITED. MAINTENANCE AND ALL LANDSCAPING 
WITHIN THIS BUFFER STRIP SHALL BE THE ONGOING RESPONSIBILITY OF THE 
RESPECTIVE LOT OWNER."  


(2)  To prevent multiple driveway openings onto an arterial street or limited access highway, the plan 
commission, at its discretion may require subdividers within commercial and industrial districts to 
provide marginal access or service streets including those that are approximately parallel to, and 
at a suitable distance from, such arterial streets and highways. Marginal access streets and 
service drives may be required to facilitate the free flow of traffic along arterial streets and 
highways, and to encourage the appropriate use of the land between same. Such streets may be 
required on each side of a limited access arterial street or highway or railroad.  


(3)  Streets parallel to a limited access arterial street or highway, when intersecting another arterial 
street or highway or a collector street which crosses the highway, shall be located at a minimum 
distance of 350 feet from the limited access arterial highway right-of-way. Such distance, where 
desirable and practicable, shall be determined with due consideration of the minimum distance 
required for the future separation of grades by means of appropriate approach gradients. The 
subdivision plat, condominium plat, or CSM shall include a restriction against private driveways 
within this 350-foot area. (See Figure 4.)  


Figure 4: Conceptual Arterial Street Spacing 


 


(4)  Minor streets immediately adjacent to arterial streets and highways shall be avoided in residential 
areas.  







 


 


47 


(5)  Subdividers shall refer to the official map for site-specific standards related to the requirements 
of this section.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-706. - Street designs standards.  


The minimum right-of-way width, roadway width, sidewalk requirements, and parking requirements 
for all proposed public streets shall be as specified in the following Figure 5. If the city's official map or 
components of the city's or metropolitan planning organization's comprehensive plan, transportation plan, 
or bikeways plan, provide for alternative requirements (such as an on-street bicycle lane) the city may 
substitute the alternative requirements for those listed in Figure 5 below. The city may also consider other 
appropriate street design requirements from those shown in Figure 5.  


Figure 5: Minimum Public Street Design Requirements  


Type of Street  
Right-of-way 


width (feet)  


Street width, curb-face 


to curb-face (feet)  


Sidewalks 


Required 1  


On-Street Parking 


Allowed?  


Arterial Street  100  48  
Yes, both 


sides  
No  


Collector Street  80  44  
Yes, both 


sides  


Determined on a case-


by-case basis  


Neighborhood 


Connector Street  
66  38  


Yes, both 


sides  
Yes, both sides  


Minor Street—2 side 


parking  
60  38  


Yes, both 


sides  
Yes, both sides  


Minor Street—1 side 


parking  
60  34  


Yes, both 


sides  
Yes, one side 2  


Minor Street—No 


parking  
60  28  


Yes, both 


sides  
No  


Cul-de-sac  60  
28 if no parking, 34 if 


one side parking  


Yes, both 


sides  
Yes, one side  


Alley  16  12  No  No  


  







 


 


48 


NOTES: 1 All sidewalks shall be concrete and five feet in width. 2 One sided parking shall be located 
on the south and east sides of the street unless otherwise determined by the city.  


(1)  Extension of existing streets (that exceed the above standards) shall be developed to conform 
to the existing street dimension or taper to the dimensions noted in Figure 5, as determined by 
the city.  


(2)  Cross-sections for freeways, expressways, parkways, and boulevard streets shall be based upon 
detailed engineering studies.  


(3)  Cul-de-sac streets designated to have one end permanently closed shall not exceed 600 feet in 
length measured from the centerline of the intersecting street to, but not including, the cul-de-sac 
turn-around. All cul-de-sac streets designated to have one end permanently closed shall 
terminate in a circular turn-around having a minimum right-of-way radius of 50 feet and a minimum 
outside curb radius of 40 feet. All cul-de-sacs shall be designed to accommodate snow storage 
and removal per the direction of the city.  


(4)  Where on-street bike lanes are required, the width of each bike lane shall not be less than five 
feet, not including the gutter section. Such width shall be in addition to the width required by 
Figure 5. Placement of bike lanes shall be in accordance with the AASHTO Guide for the 
Development of Bicycle Facilities.  


(5)  Subdividers shall refer to the official map for site-specific standards related to the requirements 
of this section.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-707. - Street grades.  


Street grades shall be established to avoid excessive grading, the indiscriminate removal of ground 
cover and trees, and general leveling of the topography. All changes in street grades shall be connected 
by vertical curves of minimum length equivalent in feet to 15 times the algebraic difference in the rates of 
grade for an arterial street, and one-half this minimum for all other streets. The minimum centerline grade 
of all streets shall in no case be less than 0.5 percent. Unless necessitated by exceptional topography 
subject to the approval of the city, the maximum centerline grade of any street or public way shall not 
exceed the following:  


(1)  Arterial streets, six percent;  


(2)  Collector and neighborhood connector streets, eight percent;  


(3)  Minor streets, alley and frontage streets, ten percent;  


(4)  Pedestrian ways, 12 percent unless steps of acceptable design are provided;  


(5)  Off-street bicycle lanes, six percent except steeper grades may be allowed for shorter distances.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-708. - Street radii of curvature.  


When a continuous street centerline deflects at any one point by more than ten degrees, a circular 
curve shall be introduced having a radius of curvature on said centerline of not less than 300 feet for 
arterial and collector streets, and 100 feet for minor streets. A tangent of at least 100 feet in length shall 
be provided between reverse curves on arterial and collector streets.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 







 


 


49 


Sec. 66-709. - Half streets.  


Where an existing dedicated or platted half-street is adjacent to the tract being subdivided, the other 
half of the street shall be dedicated by the subdivider or condominium developer. The platting of half-
streets shall be avoided unless absolutely necessary.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-710. - Street intersections.  


(a)  Streets shall intersect each other at as nearly right angles as topography and other limiting factors of 
good design permit.  


(b)  Number of streets converging at one intersection shall be reduced to a minimum, preferably not more 
than two.  


(c)  Number of intersections along arterial streets and highways shall be held to a minimum. The distance 
between such intersections shall not be less than 400 feet, as measured from centerline to centerline.  


(d)  Property lines at street intersections shall approximate a 90 degree angle to the maximum extent 
practicable unless an alternative treatment is considered acceptable by the city.  


(e)  Minor and neighborhood connector streets shall not necessarily continue across arterial or collector 
streets; but if the centerlines of such minor streets approach the major street from opposite sides within 
300 feet of each other as measured along the centerline of the arterial or collector street, then the 
location shall be so adjusted that the adjoinment across the arterial or collector street is continuous 
and a jog is avoided.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-711. - Multi-use paths and walkways.  


(a)  The minimum width of a right-of-way or easement for a multiuse path shall be 20 feet, with a minimum 
pavement width of ten feet. The minimum width of a right-of-way or easement for a pedestrian-only 
walkway shall be ten feet, with a minimum surface width of five feet. The substitution of a multi-use 
path or walkway for a sidewalk, as required in Figure 5, may be approved upon a recommendation by 
the director of planning and development and approved by the city where it can be demonstrated that 
such provision will both better meet the needs of subdivision or condominium plat residents and is 
consistent with the city's park and open space and/or bikeways plans.  


(b)  Subdividers shall refer to the official map for site-specific standards related to the requirements of this 
section.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-712. - Sidewalks.  


All sidewalks shall be at least five feet in width and constructed of concrete. All sidewalks, except for 
those within an approved traditional neighborhood, shall be separated from the paved street surface by a 
minimum six-foot wide grassed terrace. Sidewalks shall be located six to 12 inches inside the right-of-way 
line unless an alternative location is considered appropriate by the city.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-713. - Blocks.  







 


 


50 


(a)  The widths, lengths, and shapes of blocks shall be suited to the planned use of the land, zoning 
requirements, need for convenient access, control and safety of street traffic, and the limitations and 
opportunities of topography.  


(b)  Blocks in residential areas other than traditional neighborhood development districts, shall not be less 
than 400 feet nor more than 1,200 feet in length, unless otherwise dictated by exceptional topography 
or other limiting factors of good design.  


(c)  Mid-block multi-use paths or walkways may be required near the center and entirely across any block 
over 900 feet in length where deemed appropriate by the plan commission to provide adequate 
pedestrian circulation or access to parks, schools, shopping centers, churches or transportation 
facilities.  


(d)  Blocks shall have sufficient width to provide for two tiers of lots of appropriate depth, except where 
otherwise required to separate residential development from through traffic. Width of lots or parcels 
reserved or laid out for commercial or industrial use shall be adequate to provide for off-street service 
and parking required by the use contemplated and the zoning restrictions for such use.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-714. - Lots.  


(a)  The size, shape, and orientation of lots or condominium building sites shall be appropriate for the 
location of the subdivision or condominium plat and for the type and intensity of development and use 
contemplated in the city's comprehensive plan and zoning ordinance. The lots or condominium sites 
should be designed to provide an aesthetically pleasing building site and a proper architectural setting 
for the buildings contemplated.  


(b)  Side lot lines shall be at right angles to straight street lines or radial to curved street lines on which 
the lots face. Lot lines shall follow municipal boundary lines and zoning district boundaries rather than 
cross them.  


(c)  Double frontage and reverse frontage lots shall be prohibited, except where necessary to provide 
separation of residential development from through traffic or to overcome specific disadvantages of 
topography and orientation.  


(d)  Every lot of record shall front or abut for a distance of at least 40 feet on a public street.  


(e)  Area and width of lots shall conform to the requirements of the zoning ordinance. Whenever a tract is 
subdivided into large parcels, such parcels shall be arranged and dimensioned as to allow re-
subdivisions of any such parcels into smaller lots.  


(f)  Lots shall have a minimum average depth of 100 feet. Excessive depth in relation to width shall be 
avoided and a proportion of two to one shall be considered a desirable ratio under normal conditions. 
Depth of lots reserved or laid out for commercial or industrial use shall be adequate to provide for off-
street service and parking required by the use contemplated and zoning.  


(g)  Lands lying between the meander line and the water's edge and any otherwise unplattable lands 
which lie between a proposed subdivision or condominium plat and the water's edge shall be included 
as part of lots, outlots or public dedications in any plat abutting a lake, river or stream.  


(h)  Flag lots shall be prohibited within the city limits and discouraged within the extraterritorial jurisdiction.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-715. - Utility easements.  


The plan commission may require utility easements of a minimum of 12 feet in width where 
necessary or advisable for electric power and communication wires and conduits; storm and sanitary 







 


 


51 


sewers; and gas, water and other utility lines. Where side or rear lot lines within a subdivision or 
condominium plat abut one another, the subdivision or condominium plat may provide easements of six 
feet in width on abutting lot lines to form the 12-foot minimum. The city may require additional easement 
widths depending on location and required underground infrastructure (e.g. a water main between houses 
may require a 20-foot easement).  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-716. - Drainage easements.  


(a)  Where a subdivision or condominium plat is traversed by a watercourse, drainage-way channel or 
stream, an adequate drainage-way easement or dedication shall be provided. The location, width, 
alignment and improvement of such drainage-way easement or dedication shall be subject to the 
approval of the city. Access to drainage easements shall be 20 feet wide and spaced every one-half 
mile. (See also section 66-1108: Access to Waterways).  


(b)  Subdividers shall refer to the official map for site-specific standards related to the requirements of this 
section.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-717. - Public sites and open space.  


(a)  Subdivisions and condominium plats shall include public sites and open spaces as provided for in 
section 66-1101.  


(b)  Subdividers shall refer to the official map for site-specific standards related to the requirements of this 
section.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Secs. 66-718—66-800. - Reserved. 


ARTICLE VIII. - DESIGN STANDARDS FOR CLUSTER DEVELOPMENT  


Sec. 66-801. - Description.  


A cluster development is a residential subdivision or condominium plat in which the lots are allowed 
to be smaller (in area and width) than otherwise required, but in which the overall (gross) density cannot 
exceed the maximum density limits for the underlying zoning district. Under the cluster development 
option, a subdivision or condominium plat can contain no more lots than would otherwise be allowed in a 
conventional subdivision or condominium plat in the same zoning district. Smaller lot sizes within a cluster 
subdivision or condominium plat allow for a corresponding increase in common open space. (See Figure 
6.)  







 


 


52 


Figure 6: Conventional Subdivision (left) as compared to Cluster Subdivision (right).  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-802. - Purpose.  


The intent of a cluster development is to provide for, and in some instances require, a more compact 
residential development pattern that encourages sensitivity toward natural landscape features, preserves 
open space, and offers economies in the provision of utilities and public services.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-803. - Where allowed.  


Cluster developments are allowed in all zoning districts in which residential development is allowed.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-804. - Lot size.  


The minimum and maximum lot sizes within a cluster subdivision shall be 6,000 square feet and 2.5 
acres respectively. The aggregate number and sizes of lots must be adequate to meet all required density 
limits as established in the respective zoning district in which the cluster development is located.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-805. - Approval procedure.  


Approval of cluster subdivision or condominium plat shall follow the general procedures for 
subdivisions described in articles II, III, IV, and V of this chapter except that the plan commission may 
approve waivers and exceptions to such requirements as provided in article XIII of this chapter.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-806. - Open space requirement.  


(a)  Minimum 
requirement. Common 
open space is 
required within a 
cluster development 
to ensure that the 
overall density within 
the development does 
not exceed the 
maximum density 
allowed by the 
underlying zoning 
district. Common open 
space must be 
provided in an amount 







 


 


53 


at least equal to the difference between the actual average lot area per dwelling unit within the cluster 
development and the required lot area per dwelling unit for conventional development within the 
underlying zoning district. Such common open space shall be in addition to the park and open space 
dedication requirements in article XI of this chapter.  


(b)  Use of common open space. Common open space must be set aside and designated as an area 
where no development will occur other than project-related recreational amenities or passive open 
space areas. The city may require that up to 50 percent of required open space must be usable open 
space to ensure adequate recreational amenities for residents of the development.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Secs. 66-807—66-900. - Reserved. 


ARTICLE IX. - REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS[2]  


 


Footnotes:  


--- (2) ---  


Cross reference— Utilities, ch. 74.  


Sec. 66-901. - Determination of adequacy of public facilities and services.  


(a)  A certified survey map, preliminary plat, condominium plat or final plat shall not be approved within 
the city or its extraterritorial jurisdiction unless the appropriate approving body determines that 
adequate public facilities and public services are available to meet the needs of the proposed 
subdivision or condominium plat.  


(b)  With or following the submittal of any preliminary plat, condominium plat, final plat or certified survey 
map, the applicant shall furnish any data requested by the city who shall transmit this information to 
appropriate city commissions, committees, and boards for review and shall act as coordinator for their 
reports to the plan commission and the city council on the adequacy of water, sanitary and storm 
sewers, fire service, police, parks and open space, recreation facilities, and transportation facilities. 
Failure to submit such data as requested may be grounds for denial of the preliminary plat, 
condominium plat, final plat or certified survey map.  


(c)  Public facilities and public services for a proposed subdivision or condominium plat shall be found to 
be adequate by the city when the following conditions exist:  


(1)  That the capacity of the sanitary sewage collection system and treatment system necessary to 
serve the proposed development is available, presently under construction or budgeted for by the 
city and/or developer, as determined by the utilities director.  


(2)  That the capacity of the public water distribution system and treatment system necessary to 
serve the proposed development is available, presently under construction or budgeted for by the 
city and/or developer, as determined by the utilities director.  


(3)  That the capacity of the stormwater management system necessary to serve the proposed 
development is available, presently under construction or budgeted for by the city and/or 
developer, as determined by the director of planning and development and the appropriate 
committee.  


(4)  That the capacity of the public parks, open space, and recreation facilities and services 
necessary to serve the proposed development is available, presently under construction or 
budgeted for by the city and/or developer, as determined by the parks and recreation committee.  







 


 


54 


(5)  That timely and adequate public protection service can be provided to the development as 
determined by the police chief.  


(6)  That timely and adequate fire protection and rescue service can be provided to the development 
as determined by the fire chief.  


(7)  That the proposed land division is accessible by existing publicly maintained, all weather roads 
adequate to accommodate both existing traffic and that traffic to be generated by the proposed 
land division, or necessary additional roads and road improvements are budgeted for construction 
with public or private financing, or public transportation service sufficient to serve the land division 
in combination with the foregoing is available or programmed for the area, as determined by the 
plan commission. The plan commission shall consider the recommendations of other commenting 
agencies and jurisdictions, and such factors as level of service, average and peak use, and any 
other information presented.  


(8)  If the plan commission or the common council determines that one or more public facilities or 
services are not adequate for the proposed development, but that a portion of the area could be 
served adequately, or that careful phasing of the development could result in all public facilities 
and public services being adequate, conditional approval may include only such portions or may 
specify phasing of the development.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-902. - Policies within sewer service area.  


No preliminary plat, condominium plat, final plat or certified survey map shall be approved by the city 
unless the subdivider or condominium developer provides evidence that all proposed parcels within the 
city sanitary sewer service area will be served with city sanitary sewer. The city may allow the phased 
provision of city sanitary sewer to newly created parcels within both the extraterritorial jurisdiction and the 
Stoughton sanitary sewer service area, provided that a binding agreement for phased sewer service is 
executed among the subdivider or condominium developer, property owner, and city at the time of 
subdivision or condominium plat approval and made a condition of approval by the city. The agreement 
and associated utility plans shall demonstrate how and when city sanitary sewer and water service will be 
provided to the newly created parcels. The city shall not extend sanitary sewer service to properties 
located outside of the city's corporate limits.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-903. - Development agreement.  


Before the recording of any final plat located within the corporate limits of the city (and CSMs for 
certain minor subdivisions at the discretion of the city) the subdivider or condominium developer shall be 
required to enter into a contract with the city agreeing to install all required improvements. The following 
shall also be required within or simultaneous to the execution of a development agreement:  


(1)  The subdivider or condominium developer shall file with said agreement, subject to the approval 
of the city attorney, a bond, certificate of deposit, irrevocable letter of credit, certified check or 
other security in an amount equal to 125 percent of the cost of improvements required to serve 
the subdivision or condominium plat, as estimated by the city.  


(2)  All required improvements shall be completed by the subdivider or condominium developer or 
his contractors not later than 24 months from the date of signing the development agreement. 
When a development is separated into phases, all required improvements shall be completed by 
the subdivider or condominium developer or his contractors not later than 24 months from the 
date of signing the development agreement for that phase.  







 


 


55 


(3)  As a further guarantee that all obligations for work on improvements are satisfied, the contractor 
and subcontractors who are selected to construct utilities and street improvements on dedicated 
street rights-of-way shall be identified as qualified for such work by the city.  


(4)  The agreement shall also require the subdivider or condominium developer to pay all outstanding 
assessments for public improvements previously installed and all area charges for sanitary sewer 
and water mains, force mains, pumping stations, and regional stormwater facilities previously 
installed by the city.  


(5)  The agreement shall also establish minimum insurance requirements for the subdivider or 
condominium developer and its subcontractors.  


(6)  All required public improvements shall be constructed to city standards.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-904. - Range of required improvements.  


The following set of improvements shall be constructed within subdivisions or condominium plats 
within the corporate limits of the city, to the specifications provided:  


(1)  Survey monuments. The subdivider or condominium developer shall install survey monuments 
placed in accordance with the requirements of Section 236.15, Wisconsin Statutes, and as the 
director of planning and development may require.  


(2)  Street grading. After the installation of temporary block corner monuments the subdivider or 
condominium developer shall grade all streets proposed to be dedicated in accordance with 
standard specifications approved by the city. The subdivider or condominium developer shall 
grade the roadbeds in the street rights-of-way to subgrade.  


(3)  Street surfacing. After the installation of all utility and stormwater drainage improvements, 
including necessary lateral connections, the subdivider or condominium developer shall surface 
all roadways in streets proposed to be dedicated to the widths prescribed by subsection 66-706. 
The surfacing shall be done in accordance with standard specifications approved by the city.  


(4)  Curb and gutter. Within one year after the installation of all utility and stormwater drainage 
improvements including necessary lateral connections, the subdivider or condominium developer 
shall construct a 30-inch barrier concrete curb and gutter at pavement edges in accordance with 
standard specifications approved by the city. This requirement may be waived at the discretion of 
the city in areas designated for permanent rural use as reflected in the city's comprehensive plan. 
Wherever possible, provisions shall be made at the time of construction for driveway access curb 
cuts. The breaking or cutting of curbs will only be allowed for driveway aprons.  


(5)  Sidewalks and multiuse paths. Concrete sidewalks shall be a minimum of five feet in width, and 
shall be required in accordance with the requirements of section 66-712. The construction of all 
required sidewalks, walkways, and multiuse paths shall be in accordance with standard 
specifications approved by the city.  


Subdividers shall refer to the official map for site-specific standards related to the requirements 
of this section.  


(6)  Public sanitary sewerage systems. The subdivider or condominium developer shall construct 
sanitary sewers in such a manner as to make adequate sanitary sewerage service available to 
each lot within the subdivision or condominium plat. The size, type, depth, minimum grade, and 
installation of all sanitary sewers proposed to be constructed shall be in accordance with standard 
specifications approved by the utilities director. The subdivider shall assume the cost of installing 
all wastewater or sanitary sewers 12 inches in diameter or less in size. Proposed sanitary sewer 
lines shall extend to the boundary lines of the tract being subdivided unless prevented by 
topography or other physical conditions or unless, upon consultation with the city contract 







 


 


56 


engineer, such extension is not necessary or desirable for the coordination of the layout of the 
subdivision or condominium plat or for the advantageous development of the adjacent tracts. The 
minimum depth at the boundary lines shall be as proscribed by the utilities director. The subdivider 
or condominium developer shall install and complete the installation of sewer laterals to the street 
lot line prior to any paving, curbing or sidewalk construction. The subdivider or condominium 
developer shall assume the cost of installing all sanitary sewers  


(7)  Private sewage disposal systems. If public sewer facilities are not available, the subdivider or 
condominium developer shall make provision for adequate private sewage disposal systems. If 
at the time of final platting, sanitary sewer facilities are not available to the subdivision or 
condominium plat, but will become available within a period of five years from the date of 
recording, the subdivider or condominium developer shall install or cause to be installed sanitary 
sewers and sewer laterals to the street lot line in accordance with this section and shall cap all 
laterals as may be specified by standard specifications approved by the utilities director.  


(8)  Stormwater drainage facilities. Whenever in the opinion of the director of planning and 
development upon consultation with the city contract engineer there is within reasonable distance 
a storm sewer main, the subdivision or planned unit development shall be provided with a 
complete stormwater management system which shall connect with such main. If the subdivision 
or planned unit development is traversed by any watercourse or channel, stream or creek, either 
live or dry, the subdivider shall dedicate a right-of-way for storm drainage purposes conforming 
substantially with the lines of such natural watercourse or channel, stream or creek or, at the 
developer's option, subject to the approval of the plan commission and the public works 
committee, provide adequate storm drains or other means for the handling of storm flow from and 
through his property and including the conveyance thereof. In general, the entire stormwater 
management systems and the disposal of stormwater shall be planned and built to meet the 
approval of the director of planning and development upon consultation with the city contract 
engineer.  


The subdivider shall, at its own cost, construct curbs and gutters, catch basins and inlets, storm 
sewers, road ditches and open channel drainageways as may be required by the city. All such facilities 
are to be of adequate size and grade to hydraulically accommodate maximum potential volumes of flow; 
the type of facility required, the design criteria and the sizes and grades to be determined, to present no 
hazard to life or property; and the size, type and installation of all stormwater drains and wastewater or 
sanitary sewers proposed to be constructed, shall be in accordance with the stormwater management 
plan and the plans and standards specifications approved by the director of planning and development 
upon consultation with the city contract engineer. Curb and gutter installation may be delayed pursuant to 
subsection (4). Where such installations are delayed, the stormwater to be conveyed by the curb and 
gutter management system shall be maintained by the city at the expense of the developer.  


Subdividers shall refer to the official map for site-specific standards related to the requirements of 
this section.  


(9)  Public water supply facilities. The subdivider or condominium developer shall construct water 
mains in such a manner as to make adequate water service available to each lot within the 
subdivision or condominium plat. The subdivider shall assume the cost of installing all water 
mains 12 inches in diameter or less in size. Proposed water supply lines shall extend to the 
boundary lines of the tract being subdivided unless prevented by topography or other physical 
conditions or unless, in the opinion of the utilities director, such extension is not necessary or 
desirable for the coordination of the layout of the subdivision or condominium plat or for the 
advantageous development of the adjacent tracts. If public water service is not available, the 
subdivider or condominium developer shall make provision for adequate private water systems 
as specified by the city, state, county and/or town. The subdivider or condominium developer 
shall install and complete the installation of all required water laterals to the street lot line prior to 
any paving, curbing or sidewalk construction.  


(10)  Other utilities. The subdivider or condominium developer shall cause gas, electrical power, 
telephone, cable television, and other telecommunications facilities to be installed in such a 
manner as to make adequate service available to each lot in the subdivision or condominium plat. 







 


 


57 


No such utility service shall be located on overhead poles. All installations must be underground. 
Plans indicating the proposed location of all utilities required to serve the plat shall be approved 
by the city.  


(11)  Street lights. The subdivider shall fund the installation of street lights along all streets proposed 
to be dedicated of a design compatible with the neighborhood, the type of development proposed, 
and city maintenance costs, as approved by the utilities director. Such lights shall be placed at 
each street intersection and at such interior block spacing as may be required by the utilities 
director.  


(12)  Street signs. The city shall install at the intersection of all streets proposed to be dedicated a 
street name sign of a design specified by the city. The city shall also install regulatory signs along 
all streets as necessary. The subdivider or condominium developer shall be responsible for 
reimbursing the city for all costs associated with the purchase and installation of required street 
name and regulatory signs.  


(13)  Terrace trees. The developer shall install or pay a fee to fund the installation of terrace trees. 
The number of required trees shall be determined using the methodology in section 10-2(5) of 
this Code. If the developer elects to install the required terrace trees, such installation shall be 
done in accordance with a tree planting plan approved by the public works director or their 
designee. The tree planting plan shall specify the number, species and location of required trees. 
If the developer elects to pay a fee to fund the installation of terrace trees, the fee shall be 
calculated using the methodology in section 10-2(6) of this Code.  


(14)  Driveways. Where driveways are to be provided, a concrete apron from all property lines to the 
pavement edge of adjacent streets shall be installed and shall otherwise comply with the 
applicable requirements of the city's municipal code.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009; Ord. No. 0-8-2016, 5-24-2016; Ord. No. 0-5-2018, § 2, 2-13-2018) 


Secs. 66-905—66-1000. - Reserved. 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


58 


APPENDIX E 
 


ARTICLE XI. - PUBLIC LANDS AND PUBLIC SPACES  


Sec. 66-1101. - Provision of public lands and open spaces.  


Effective through December 15, 2021 


The subdivider or condominium developer shall provide and dedicate to the public adequate land to 
provide for park, recreation and open space needs of the land development within the city and its 
extraterritorial area. The location of such land to be dedicated shall be determined by the plan 
commission. Where a land dedication is not compatible with the comprehensive plan or the parks and 
open space plan, or for other reasons is not advised by the plan commission, the subdivider or 
condominium developer shall, in lieu thereof, pay a fee to the city to meet this requirement in whole or on 
a pro-rata basis.  


(1)  Land dedication requirement. After consultation with the parks and recreation committee, the 
plan commission shall determine whether the dedication of land for parks or monies in lieu thereof 
will better serve the public interest. Where land is to be dedicated, 1,468 square feet of land shall 
be dedicated for each residential dwelling unit proposed. If no particular number of dwelling units 
is proposed, the requirements shall be based on the number of dwelling units permitted by right 
under the proposed subdivision or condominium plat and the zoning in effect at the time of 
preliminary plat or condominium plat submittal. Lands dedicated for stormwater management 
shall not be credited towards a subdivision or condominium plat's park land dedication 
requirements. Unless otherwise approved by the plan commission, the minimum size of the 
dedicated land shall not be less than one acre. All dedicated lands shall be accompanied by an 
environmental assessment indicating that such lands present no environmental hazard, and that 
they will not require environmental mitigation or remediation measures. Said environmental 
assessment shall be paid for at the subdivider or condominium developer's expense.  


(2)  Monies in lieu of land dedication. The amount of any fee imposed, at the date of adoption of this 
section, shall be $2,805.00 for each single-family residential dwelling unit, $2,104 for each two-
bedroom apartment unit and $1,402 for each studio or one-bedroom apartment unit for park 
acquisition costs. Such fees are based upon the Public Facilities Needs Assessment and Impact 
Fee Study dated January 2009. The fees imposed under this section shall be increased annually 
at a rate equal to the percentage change in the Engineering News Record Construction Cost 
Index for the previous 12 months, with the adjustment effective January 1 of each year. The city 
treasurer or designee shall calculate the adjusted fees and maintain a copy of the calculation and 
the adjusted impact fees in the office of the city clerk.  


(3)  Park improvement fee. Regardless of whether land dedication or monies in lieu of land dedication 
are required, a park improvement fee shall be paid for each dwelling unit proposed. See chapter 
67 Impact fees for the fee schedule.  


(4)  Fees and dedications required for all new developments. In all instances where additional 
residential dwelling units are being created, without the need for land division review and 
approval, all fees and dedications required by this chapter shall apply.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009)  


 


 


 


 







 


 


59 


Sec. 66-1101. - Provision of public lands and open spaces.  


Effective starting December 16, 2021 


The subdivider or condominium developer shall provide and dedicate to the public adequate land to 
provide for park, recreation and open space needs of the land development within the city and its 
extraterritorial area. The location of such land to be dedicated shall be determined by the plan 
commission. Where a land dedication is not compatible with the comprehensive plan or the parks and 
open space plan, or for other reasons is not advised by the plan commission, the subdivider or 
condominium developer shall, in lieu thereof, pay a fee to the city to meet this requirement in whole or on 
a pro-rata basis.  


(1)  Land dedication requirement. After consultation with the parks and recreation committee, the 
plan commission shall determine whether the dedication of land for parks or monies in lieu thereof 
will better serve the public interest. Where land is to be dedicated, 1,468 square feet of land shall 
be dedicated for each single family dwelling, 1,019 square feet of land shall be dedicated for each 
dwelling unit in a two-family or multi-family development, and 528 square feet of land shall be 
dedicated for each dwelling unit in a Group Quarters.  For purposes of this section, “Group 
Quarters” has the meaning set forth in section 67-3.  These dedication requirements are based 
on the Park Impact Fee, Fee in Lieu of Land Dedication and Public Facility Needs Assessment 
dated March 8, 2021 by Baker Tilly US, LLP. 


(2)  Monies in lieu of land dedication. The amount of any fee imposed under this section shall be 
$2,674 for each single-family dwelling, $1,838 for each dwelling unit in a two-family or multi-family 
development, and $952 for each dwelling unit in a Group Quarters.  Such fees are based on the 
Park Impact Fee, Fee in Lieu of Land Dedication and Public Facility Needs Assessment dated 
March 8, 2021 by Baker Tilly US, LLP.  


(3)  Park improvement fee. Regardless of whether land dedication or monies in lieu of land dedication 
are required, a park improvement fee shall be paid for each dwelling unit proposed. See chapter 
67 Impact fees for the fee schedule.  


(4)  Fees and dedications required for all new developments. In all instances where additional 
residential dwelling units are being created, without the need for land division review and 
approval, all fees and dedications required by this chapter shall apply.  


(Ord. No. 0-23-2021, 12/16/2021) 


Sec. 66-1102. - Specifications for dedicated land.  


(a)  Unity. The dedicated land shall form a single parcel of land except where the plan commission 
determines that two parcels or more would be in the public interest.  


(b)  Shape. The shape of the dedicated parcel of land shall be configured to be usable for recreational 
activities planned for the area or the type of park intended.  


(c)  Location. The dedicated land shall be located so as to serve the recreation and open space needs of 
the subdivision or condominium plat from which the dedication was made. Where the amount of land 
dedicated is less than one acre, the plan commission may require that the recreation area be located 
in a suitable place on the edge of the proposed plat area so that additional land may be added at such 
time adjacent land is subdivided.  


(d)  Access. Public access to the dedicated land shall be provided by adjoining street frontage of sufficient 
width to assure safe, comfortable access to the dedicated land with a minimum public street frontage 
as recommended by the planning commission and approved by city council.  


(e)  Usability. The dedicated land shall be usable for recreation, as determined by the parks and recreation 
committee. Wetlands or sloped areas may not be considered usable for recreational purposes. When 







 


 


60 


usable land is dedicated for active recreational use, the subdivider or condominium developer shall 
grade, topsoil, and seed the land for its intended use before it will be accepted by the city. When 
useable land is dedicated for passive recreational use, the balance of the land should be restored to 
a natural state to the extent practicable and necessary.  


(f)  Plans. If specifically designated on the comprehensive plan, comprehensive plan component, official 
map, or park and open space plan, such park areas shall be made a part of the plat to the extent 
allowed under this section. If not so designated, consideration shall be given in the location of such 
sites to the preservation of scenic and historic sites, stands of fine trees, marshes, lakes and ponds, 
watercourses, watersheds, natural prairies and ravines.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-1103. - Allocation of monies in lieu of dedicated land and park improvement fees.  


The city, when receiving monies in lieu of dedicated land and park improvement fees, shall hold 
these monies in separate reserve accounts to be used, respectively, for purchasing land for parks and 
other public open spaces and improving such lands. Where possible, these monies shall be spent to 
directly fill the needs of the subdivision or condominium plat which generated the monies. However, 
where such a practice could result in insufficient funds for any one acquisition or improvement, then a set 
of priorities for improvements shall be established by city council resolution. These priorities shall rank 
order the planned acquisitions and/or improvements. Each improvement and/or acquisition shall be 
identified by the general area it is to serve. Each subdivision or condominium plat contributing to the 
general reserve funds shall be shown as planned to be benefited by one of the projects in the list of 
priorities unless that subdivision or condominium plat is already adequately served.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-1106. - Land reservation.  


Whenever a proposed park or other public open space land designated on the city's official map, 
comprehensive plan, park and open space plan, or components thereof is within a proposed subdivision 
or condominium plat, and the amount of public land suggested by said plan is in excess of the required 
park land dedication requirements set forth in this section, the city may require the reservation of such 
land for a period not exceeding five years from the date of final plat approval, unless extended by mutual 
agreement. Such reserved lands shall be kept in one or more outlots to be held by the subdivider or 
condominium developer. Over that period, the public agency having jurisdiction over said land shall have 
the ability to negotiate the purchase of said land at undeveloped land prices.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-1107. - Park lands within extraterritorial jurisdiction.  


If public dedication is not required by another jurisdiction with authority, proposed public lands 
outside of the corporate limits of the city but within the extraterritorial jurisdiction shall be reserved for 
acquisition by the town, county, or city at undeveloped land costs for a period not exceeding five years.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-1108. - Access to waterways.  


(a)  A subdivision or condominium plat abutting a navigable waterway shall, according to the provisions 
of Wisconsin Statutes, Section 236.16(3), provide access at least 60 feet wide to the low water mark 







 


 


61 


so that there will be public access, connected to public roads, at one-half-mile intervals as measured 
along the lake or stream shore, except where greater intervals or different access is agreed upon by 
the State of Wisconsin, and excluding shore areas where public parks or open space, streets, or roads 
on either side of a stream are provided.  


(b)  The city may require a land dedication or public access easement to and/or along all navigable 
waterways, and in other locations identified by the city, to connect with existing or planned public roads 
and/or pedestrian facilities. Where natural waterways traverse the subdivision or condominium plat, 
the subdivider or condominium developer shall leave such channels in their natural state and shall 
dedicate, or provide public access easements, both to and/or along such waterways as directed by 
the city. Such dedication shall be credited towards meeting the park land dedication requirements 
specified in this section and dedications in excess of those requirements shall be compensated.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009)







 


 


62 


APPENDIX F 
 


ARTICLE II. - PROCEDURE—SITE ASSESSMENT CHECKLIST AND CONCEPT PLAN  


Sec. 66-201. - Preliminary procedure.  


Before filing application for approval of a minor or major subdivision, or condominium plat, the 
subdivider or condominium developer shall prepare the following, unless exempted by other sections of 
this chapter:  


(1)  Except as indicated in subsection (4) below, a site assessment checklist at Appendix 1 per the 
requirements of section 66-204. A site assessment report per the requirements of section 66-205 
may also be required, following city staff review of the site assessment checklist.  


(2)  For all land divisions including condominium plats, a concept plan per the requirements of section 
66-206. Concept plans are not required for Planned Unit Developments (PUDs) or Traditional 
Neighborhood Developments (TNDs). For such projects, an approved TND, or PUD Master Land 
Use Plan shall substitute for a concept plan.  


(3)  A signed statement listing development projects for which the applicant has received city 
approval in the last five years and indicating any outstanding performance or financial obligations 
on such projects. If this statement is found to contain information that is contrary to fact or to omit 
the listing of such projects or obligations on which performance or payment is delinquent, the 
application may be dismissed without prejudice until the application is corrected and/or the 
delinquency is resolved.  


(4)  Minor subdivisions of less than five acres in total size, where no land dedications or new streets 
are proposed, are exempt from the provisions of section 66-201.  







 


 


63 


Figure 1: Conceptual Review Process  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-202. - Pre-application meeting.  


On the completion of the documents specified in section 66-201, a pre-application meeting may be 
required by the director of planning and development and the utility director to assist the subdivider or 
condominium developer is apprised of the objectives of these regulations, the city's comprehensive plan 
and elements thereof, the city's official map and any pertinent ordinances and plans, and to reach 
conclusions regarding the objectives and general program for the proposed development.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-203. - Additional review.  


(a)  Plan commission review. The director of planning and development may require, or the subdivider or 
condominium developer may request, plan commission review and comment on the submitted site 
assessment checklist and/or concept plan. Twenty copies of all documents shall be submitted by the 







 


 


64 


subdivider or condominium developer to the city director of planning and development who shall 
distribute the copies to the plan commission for review and comment. Said copies must be submitted 
at least 60 business days prior to the date of the plan commission meeting at which the matter is to be 
reviewed.  


(b)  Referral to parks and recreation committee. The concept plan may be referred to the parks and 
recreation committee or its staff, for their review and recommendation relative to park and open space 
needs.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-204. - Site assessment checklist requirements.  


(a)  Purpose. The purpose of the site assessment checklist is to provide the basis for an orderly, 
systematic review of the effects of new land divisions, including condominium plats, upon the 
community in accordance with the principles and procedures of Section 236.45(1), Wisconsin Statutes.  


(b)  Coverage. The site assessment checklist requirement shall apply to all minor subdivisions and major 
subdivisions and condominium plats as described in section 66-201. Condominium conversions and 
minor subdivisions of less than five total acres where no dedications or new streets are proposed are 
exempt from this requirement.  


(c)  Site assessment checklist form. The subdivider or condominium developer shall complete the site 
assessment checklist form at Appendix 1 and deliver to the department of planning and development 
office.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009; Ord. No. 0-11-2014, § 2, 5-27-2014) 


Sec. 66-205. - Site assessment report requirements.  


(a)  Determination of need for site assessment report. Prior to accepting a preliminary plat or certified 
survey map for review, the plan commission or city staff may, for reasons stated in a written 
correspondence setting forth specific questions on which it requires research, data and input from the 
subdivider or condominium developer and other affected persons, decide that the site assessment 
checklist raises unusually significant questions on the effects on the environment and/or that review 
by other city committees and commissions is required. The written request shall set a reasonable date 
for the return of the requested data and information from the subdivider, or condominium developer 
and it may specify the format in which the data is to be presented.  


(b)  Hearing on site assessment report. Following response to the written request to the city director of 
planning and development, the city shall distribute the report to all interested persons or agencies. The 
plan commission may schedule and hold a public hearing on the findings of the report. If scheduled, 
the hearing shall be preceded by a Class I notice under Chapter 985, Wisconsin Statutes. Persons 
attending such hearing shall be afforded an opportunity to comment on the report.  


(c)  Review of site assessment report. The plan commission shall review the site assessment report, with 
supporting data, department and committee reviews and any other data required for determining the 
suitability of the land for the proposed development. Within 30 days after submission of the site 
assessment report by the subdivider or condominium developer, the plan commission shall decide 
whether the affected land is suitable for development per section 66-108, Land suitability. If determined 
unsuitable, the plan commission shall provide its reasons in writing, and subdivider or condominium 
developer shall have the opportunity to remedy the reasons before a certified survey map, preliminary 
plat, or condominium plat may be filed.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 







 


 


65 


Sec. 66-206. - Concept plan requirements.  


If required under section 66-201, the subdivider or condominium developer shall prepare a concept 
plan for review by city staff. At its option, city staff may choose to present the concept plan to the plan 
commission and/or parks and recreation committee for their review and comment prior to the filing of a 
preliminary plat or condominium plat.  


(1)  Purpose. The purpose of the concept plan is to depict the general intent of the subdivider or 
condominium developer in terms of general layout of the subdivision or condominium and its 
relationship to nearby properties, roads, utilities and other public facilities. In conjunction with the 
site assessment checklist, the concept plan provides an opportunity to review the general intent 
and impact of the proposed subdivision, or condominium plat, without the need for detailed 
engineering, surveying, and other time consuming and costly processes associated with the 
preparation of a preliminary plat.  


(2)  Coverage. The concept plan shall indicate a proposed subdivision or building placement pattern 
for all lots owned or controlled by the subdivider or condominium developer. The plan commission 
may waive this requirement in the case where the remainder of the area owned or controlled by 
the subdivider or condominium developer is included in a detailed neighborhood development 
plan adopted as a component of the city's comprehensive plan, and the subdivider or 
condominium developer demonstrates an intent to subdivide or develop according to that plan or 
to a concept plan, general development plan, or preliminary plat previously submitted and 
reviewed by the city.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


 


 







 


 


66 


APPENDIX G 
 


ARTICLE III. - PROCEDURE—PRELIMINARY PLAT  


Sec. 66-301. - Applicability.  


The provisions of this section apply only to major subdivisions and condominium plats as defined in 
section 66-401. For the purposes of this section, the requirements applying to subdividers shall apply 
equally to the developers of condominiums.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-302. - Preliminary plat/condominium plat review procedure.  


(a)  Application. Prior to submitting a final plat or condominium plat for approval, the subdivider or 
condominium developer shall prepare a preliminary plat and file a written application for its approval 
with the director of planning and development, along with 20 copies of the preliminary plat. The 
submittal shall include all data required by this section. A preliminary plat shall not be submitted prior 
to city review of the site assessment checklist, the site assessment report when required, or the 
concept plan. The preliminary plat shall be filed at least 60 days prior to the date of the plan commission 
meeting at which action is expected to allow adequate time for review and recommendation by 
appropriate agencies, staff, commissions, consultants, and nearby property owners.  


(b)  Coverage of preliminary plat. The subdivider or condominium developer shall in all cases submit a 
preliminary plat for the lands to be included in the first phase of the final plat. If the concept plan did 
not include all adjacent lands owned or controlled by the subdivider or condominium developer, then 
the preliminary plat shall include the entire adjacent area owned and controlled by the subdivider or 
condominium developer. The plan commission may waive this second requirement in the case where 
the remainder of the area owned or controlled by the subdivider or condominium developer is included 
in a detailed neighborhood development plan adopted as a component of the city's comprehensive 
plan, and the subdivider or condominium developer demonstrates intent to subdivide or develop 
according to that plan.  


(c)  Public notice.  


(1)  Following submittal of the preliminary plat, the director of planning and development shall direct 
the preparation of a written notice containing the following information:  


a.  The date that the subdivider or condominium developer filed a preliminary plat with the plan 
commission.  


b.  A copy of the preliminary plat.  


c.  A map of the area adjacent to the platted land.  


d.  The date, time and location of the plan commission's hearing on the preliminary plat.  


e.  The proposed use of the land to be subdivided.  


f.  Contact information for the director of planning and development, for further inquiry.  


(2)  The director of planning and development shall direct the mailing of the notices to the owners of 
all city property within 300 feet of the proposed major subdivision as derived by city assessor 
records. Such notice shall be sent by first class mail, not less that ten days, nor more than 30 
days prior to the plan commission hearing on the preliminary plat. The notice is intended as a 
courtesy to neighboring property owners. Failure of a neighboring property owner to receive or 
accept the notice shall not invalidate any subsequent action taken by the plan commission with 







 


 


67 


reference to the preliminary plat. The cost of mailing the notice shall be paid by the subdivider or 
developer prior to the hearing on the preliminary plat.  


(d)  Review by agencies. The subdivider shall transmit an adequate number of copies of the preliminary 
plat to all reviewing agencies as required under Chapter 236, Wisconsin Statutes. Agency review is 
not required for condominium plats.  


(e)  Plan commission action. The plan commission shall have a public hearing on the preliminary plat. 
The plan commission, at its earliest available scheduling, but no longer than 90 days from the date of 
filing of a complete preliminary plat with the director of planning and development, shall take action to 
approve, conditionally approve, or reject the preliminary plat. In the case of a rejection, the plan 
commission shall list reasons for said recommendation. The time period within which plan commission 
action is required shall not commence until the city has received all maps, plans, drawings, and related 
data necessary for review of the latest version of the preliminary plat. Failure of the plan commission 
to act within 90 days shall be interpreted as a recommended approval of the preliminary plat except 
where the 90-day period has been extended by written agreement of the subdivider or condominium 
developer.  


(f)  Notification. The director of planning and development shall notify the subdivider or condominium 
developer, in writing, of the plan commission action within ten business days.  


(g)  Effect of preliminary plat approval. Approval or conditional approval of a preliminary plat shall not 
constitute automatic approval of the final plat. If the final plat is submitted within 24 months of 
preliminary plat approval and conforms substantially to the preliminary plat layout as indicated in 
Wisconsin Statutes, Section 236.11(1)(b), the final plat shall be entitled to approval with respect to 
such layout. The preliminary plat shall be deemed an expression of approval or conditional approval 
of the layout submitted as a guide to the preparation of the final plat, which will be subject to further 
consideration by the plan commission and city council at the time of its submission.  


(h)  Copies to utility providers. The subdivider or condominium developer shall provide, via certified mail, 
two copies of the approved preliminary plat to all local utility providers (i.e. natural gas, telephone, 
cable television, telecommunications, water, sanitary sewer, and electric company) so that they may 
identify appropriate locations for facilities and easements.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-303. - Preliminary plat requirements.  


The preliminary plat shall be submitted at a scale of not more than 100 feet to one inch, and shall 
show correctly on its face the information listed below. The city may waive one or more of these 
requirements based on a formal written request from the subdivider or condominium developer. A request 
for an exception or waiver of conditions of the requirements of section 66-303 shall be submitted in writing 
by the subdivider or condominium developer when the preliminary plat is filed. The request shall state 
fully the reasons for the exception or waiver. A ¾ vote of the entire membership of the plan commission 
shall be required to grant any exceptions or waivers to this section except for planned unit developments, 
cluster developments or traditional neighborhood developments for which consent of the regular majority 
of the membership is required.  


(1)  Description.  


a.  Name of the proposed subdivision or condominium plat.  


b.  Name, address and telephone number of the owner, subdivider or condominium developer, 
engineer, land surveyor and land planner.  


c.  Date, graphic scale, and north arrow.  


d.  Location of the proposed subdivision or condominium plat by government lot, quarter section, 
township, range and county.  







 


 


68 


e.  Location map showing the relationship between the preliminary plat and surrounding area.  


f.  Proposed number of lots, number of dwelling units if different, and land use types.  


g.  A vicinity sketch or small scale drawing of the section or government subdivision or 
condominium plat of the section in which the subdivision or condominium plat lies, with its 
approximate location indicated.  


(2)  Existing conditions.  


a.  Contours at verticals of not more than two foot.  


b.  A scaled drawing of the exterior boundaries of the proposed subdivision or condominium plat 
referenced to a corner established by the U.S. Public Land Survey, and the total acreage 
encompassed thereby.  


c.  Location of existing property lines, buildings, drives, streams and watercourses, dry runs, 
lakes, marshes, wetlands, floodplains, shoreland zoning areas, rock outcrops, wooded areas 
(including individual trees with a diameter at breast height of six inches or more), 
environmental corridors, and other similar significant features within the parcel being 
subdivided.  


d.  Location, right-of-way width and names of any easements or rights-of-way for existing 
streets, alleys or other public ways, railroads and utilities within or adjacent to the proposed 
subdivision or condominium plat.  


e.  Type and width of any adjacent existing street pavements, together with any legally 
established centerline elevations for streets located outside the city limits.  


f.  Water elevations of adjoining lakes, streams or drainage-ways at the date of the survey, and 
known or determined high and low water elevations and boundaries of the 100-year flood-
fringe, flood-way, and/or general flood-plain.  


g.  Subsurface soil, rock and water conditions including depth to bedrock and average depth to 
ground water table. Where a subdivider or condominium developer's subsoil investigation 
indicates potential for groundwater less than ten-feet from the proposed street centerline 
elevation, the subdivider or condominium developer shall so note on the face of the plat and 
indicate the lots affected.  


h.  Location, size and invert elevation of any existing sanitary and storm sewers, culverts or 
drain pipes and the location and size of any existing water and gas mains on or adjacent to 
the plat and proposed for use in the development. If sewers and water mains are not present 
on or adjacent to the preliminary plat, the distance to, and the size of those nearest and the 
invert elevations of sewers shall be indicated.  


i.  Location or private wells and electric infrastructure.  


j.  Locations of filling and grading.  


k.  Location and names of adjacent subdivision or condominium plat, parks and cemeteries.  


l.  Names and addresses of adjacent property owners.  


m.  Existing land use and zoning within 300 feet of the proposed subdivision or condominium 
plat.  


(3)  Proposed conditions.  


a.  Location, width, and names of all proposed streets and walkways.  


b.  Layout and scale dimensions of all lots and proposed lot and block numbers.  


c.  Draft of proposed covenants (if any) to be imposed.  


d.  Location and approximate dimensions of any sites to be reserved or dedicated for parks, 
playgrounds, greenways or other public uses.  







 


 


69 


e.  Location and approximate dimensions of any sites reserved for the private use of subdivision 
or condominium plat residents and the conditions and terms of all applicable deed 
restrictions applying to these sites.  


f.  Location and approximate dimensions of any sites that are to be used for group developments 
or planned unit developments as defined in subsections 78-205 (11) and 78-105 (7) of the 
city zoning ordinance, respectively.  


g.  Plans showing the proposed locations for streets, walkways, drainage-ways, and public 
easements, including extensions for reasonable distance beyond the limits of the proposed 
subdivision or condominium plat when requested.  


h.  After consultation with city staff, proposed street tree type, location, and size.  


i.  After consultation with city staff, proposed sanitary sewer, water, and stormwater facilities 
type, location, and size. The submittal shall specifically address in a supplemental memo 
how the proposed sanitary sewer system maximizes the area served by gravity flow or 
otherwise optimizes gravity service.  


j.  Locations of filling and grading.  


k.  Proposed building setback lines.  


l.  Any other information deemed necessary by city staff to assist in the review and evaluation 
of the preliminary plat.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Secs. 66-304—66-400. - Reserved. 


ARTICLE IV. - PROCEDURE—MAJOR SUBDIVISION  


Sec. 66-401. - Final plat review and approval procedure.  


For all major subdivisions and condominium plats, the subdivider or condominium developer shall 
prepare and file a final plat and written application for its approval with the director of planning and 
development, along with 20 copies of the final plat. The submittal shall include all data required by this 
section, along with verification, such as a certified mail receipt, that the subdivider or condominium 
developer submitted the approved preliminary plat to utility providers as required under subsection 66-
302(8). A final plat shall not be submitted prior to city council approval of the preliminary plat. The final 
plat shall be filed at least 30 days prior to the date of the plan commission meeting at which a 
recommendation is expected. In the case of condominium plats that contain over five individual building 
sites, a condominium plat that conforms to Section 703.11 of the Wisconsin Statutes shall substitute for a 
final plat.  


(1)  Coverage of final plat. The final plat shall include the entire area owned or controlled by the 
subdivider, condominium developer or association, within the phase of development for which 
final approval is sought.  


(2)  Submittal of covenants and deed restrictions. The subdivider or condominium developer shall 
submit any protective or restrictive covenants or deed restrictions pertaining to lot and street 
dimensions or other physical design specifications that may attach to the property being 
subdivided.  


(3)  Review by agencies. The plan commission secretary shall transmit an adequate number of 
copies to the plan commission; and copies to all affected city boards, commissions or 
departments, for their review and recommendations concerning matters within their jurisdiction. 
For the final plat, the subdivider shall be responsible for making all written requests for approval 







 


 


70 


and findings of no objections of the final plat to the state of Wisconsin, in accordance with Section 
236.12, Wisconsin Statutes.  


(4)  Plan commission recommendation. Within 60 days of receiving a complete final plat application 
and all associated documents, the plan commission shall recommend approval, denial or 
approval with conditions of the final plat and transmit that recommendation to the city council. 
Such time may be extended by written agreement of the subdivider or condominium developer.  


(5)  City council action. The city council shall, at its earliest available scheduling, but no longer than 
90 days from the date submitted, approve, approve conditionally or reject the final plat based on 
its determination of conformance with the intent and provisions of this chapter, and all related 
plans and ordinances, and recommendations of appropriate city committees and commissions. If 
the final plat meets the requirements of this section, has been submitted within 24 months from 
the approval date of the preliminary plat, substantially conforms to the approved preliminary plat, 
and meets all conditions of preliminary plat approval, the council shall approve the final plat. The 
final plat is considered filed when the city has received all maps, plans, drawings and related data 
necessary for plat review of the latest version of the final plat as outlined herein. Such time may 
be extended by written agreement of the subdivider or condominium developer. If the city council 
fails to act within 90 days, the period of time has not been extended by agreement, and no 
unsatisfied objections have been filed within that period, the plat shall be deemed approved, and 
upon demand, a certificate to that effect shall be made on the face of the plat by the city clerk.  


(6)  Development agreement required. Upon the filing of a final plat with the city, the subdivider or 
condominium developer and city shall begin negotiations on a development agreement specifying 
responsibilities of both parties, as described in greater detail in section 66-903. Prior to approval 
of the final plat by the city council, the subdivider or condominium developer and city shall be in 
substantial agreement as to the terms of the development agreement. City council approval shall 
be conditioned upon the execution of the development agreement. Prior to city signing and 
recording of the final plat, the development agreement shall be signed by both parties and all 
conditions of final plat approval shall be satisfied to the extent possible. Prior to the signing of 
said agreement by the city mayor and the city clerk, the subdivider or condominium developer 
shall pay the city all required fees, charges and deposits, and provide any required performance 
guarantees, except as otherwise provided for in the development agreement.  


(7)  Recording of final plat. The surveyor shall record a copy of the approved final plat with the register 
of deeds, but only after certificates of the State of Wisconsin, city council, surveyors, and others 
required by Section 236.21, Wisconsin Statutes are placed on the face of the plat.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-402. - Final plat requirements.  


The final plat shall meet all technical requirements of Chapter 236, Wisconsin Statutes. In addition, 
the subdivider or condominium developer shall furnish the following information with respect to the 
approved, recorded version of the final plat:  


(1)  If the final plat or condominium plat contains private road(s), the following note shall be added to 
the plat:  


NOTICE OF POSSIBLE LIMITATION  
OF PUBLIC SERVICES  


THIS PLAT, CONTAINS PRIVATE ROAD(S), AND AS A RESULT, CERTAIN PUBLIC 
SERVICES MAY BE LIMITED. THE EXTENT OF THESE LIMITATIONS MAY BE SPELLED 
OUT IN A DOCUMENT CALLED A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT WHICH DIRECTLY 
RELATES TO THIS PLAT AND IS FILED AS A PUBLIC DOCUMENT IN THE OFFICE OF THE 
CITY CLERK FOR THE CITY OF STOUGHTON.  







 


 


71 


(2)  Final plats shall contain the following note regarding utility easements:  


THE FINAL GRADE ESTABLISHED BY THE SUBDIVIDER ON THE UTILITY EASEMENT 
SHOWN SHALL NOT BE ALTERED BY MORE THAN SIX (6) INCHES BY THE SUBDIVIDER, 
HIS AGENT, OR BY SUBSEQUENT OWNERS OF THE LOTS ON WHICH SUCH UTILITY 
EASEMENTS ARE LOCATED, EXCEPT WITH WRITTEN CONSENT OF THE UTILITIES 
INVOLVED.  


(3)  A duplicate reproducible copy of the approved and recorded plat and in a digital format to be 
determined by the city.  


(4)  Proof that all local utility providers have been notified of, and afforded the opportunity to comment 
on, the preliminary plat as required under subsection 66-302 (8).  


(5)  With the submittal of the final plat, the subdivider or condominium developer shall submit 
preliminary engineering design plans to be approved by the city prior to the installation of public 
improvements within the plat area. The plan shall indicate but not be limited to the following: 
elevation of streets, existing and proposed topography, proposed yard swales, proposed finished 
first floor elevation ranges for each lot, areas reserved for stormwater detention/retention, and 
indications of the direction of all drainage including intra-block drainage. Said plans shall also 
show:  


a.  The approximate radii of all curves, length of tangents, and central angles on all streets.  


b.  Preliminary engineering plans for water, stormwater facilities, sanitary sewer, natural gas, 
and other public improvements as required by the city.  


c.  A surface water drainage plan for the plat.  


(6)  Final engineering design plans shall be submitted and approved by the city prior to signing of the 
certificates on the final plat by the city for recording of the final plat.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Secs. 66-403—66-500. - Reserved. 


ARTICLE V. - PROCEDURE—MINOR SUBDIVISION  


Sec. 66-501. - Minor subdivision (certified survey map) procedure.  


(a)  Application. For all subdivisions classified as minor subdivisions under this chapter, the subdivider 
shall file an application for certified survey map approval with the director of planning and development, 
along with 20 copies of the certified survey map. The submittal shall include all data required by this 
section. A certified survey map shall not be approved prior to plan commission review of the site 
assessment checklist, except as exempted under subsections 66-201(4) and 66-204(b). The certified 
survey map shall be filed at least 14 days prior to the date of the plan commission meeting at which a 
recommendation is expected.  


(b)  Plan commission recommendation. The plan commission at its earliest available scheduling, but no 
longer than 60 days from the date submitted, shall recommend to the city council approval, conditional 
approval or rejection of certified survey maps. Such recommendation shall be based on conformance 
with the intent and provisions of this article, all related plans and ordinances, and recommendations of 
appropriate city committees and commissions. All dedicated lands shall be accompanied by an 
environmental assessment indicating that such lands present no environmental hazard, and that they 
will not require environmental mitigation or remediation measures. Said environmental assessment 
shall be produced at the subdivider's expense. In all cases, the time period within which plan 
commission recommendation is required shall not commence until the city has received all maps, 
plans, drawings and related data necessary for review of the latest version of the certified survey map 
as outlined herein. Such time may be extended by written agreement of the subdivider. If the plan 







 


 


72 


commission fails to act within 60 days, or the period of time has not been extended by agreement, it 
shall be interpreted that the plan commission recommends approval of the certified survey map to the 
city council.  


(c)  City council action. The city council shall within 30 days from the date of the plan commission 
recommendation, approve, conditionally approve or reject the certified survey map. If the city council 
fails to act within the 30-day period, the period of time has not been extended by agreement, and no 
unsatisfied objections have been filed within that period, the certified survey map shall be deemed 
approved.  


(d)  Development agreement. Upon a recommendation by the city director of planning and development, 
the city council may require the execution of a development agreement for a certified survey map. 
Prior to the signing of the development agreement by the mayor and city clerk, the subdivider shall 
pay the city all required fees, charges and deposits and provide all required performance guarantees, 
except as otherwise provided in the development agreement.  


(e)  Recording of certified survey map. The subdivider shall record a copy of the approved certified survey 
map with the register of deeds, but only after:  


(1)  Certificates of the city council and/or plan commission, of the surveyors and those certificates 
required by Section 236.21 of the Wisconsin Statutes are placed on the face of the certified survey 
map.  


(2)  All conditions of approval have been satisfied.  


(3)  Upon recordation by the subdivider, two copies of the recorded document shall be furnished to 
the department of planning and development along with a digital copy in the format determined 
by the city.  


(f)  Zero lot line land divisions. Zero lot line land divisions designed to put each dwelling unit of a side by 
side duplex, where the lot line will be placed along the common wall or walls, may be approved by the 
department of planning and zoning without plan commission or city council approval. This process will 
create a "Twin House" as defined in subsection 78-206(1)(a)(3) of the zoning ordinance. This section 
of the zoning ordinance should be reviewed to determine if additional requirements should be imposed 
as conditions of CSM approval.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009; Ord. No. 0-11-2014, § 3, 5-27-2014)  


Sec. 66-502. - Certified survey map requirements.  


(a)  The certified survey map (CSM) shall be prepared by a registered land surveyor and shall comply 
with the provisions of Section 236.34, Wisconsin Statues, and of this section.  


(b)  The certified survey map shall comply with all design standards, required improvements, and general 
provisions of this section and Chapter 236 of the Wisconsin Statutes. Certified survey maps of five 
acres or more shall contain the information, documents, plans and data required by subsections 66-
303(1), (2) and (3) for the preliminary plats, and shall be accompanied by the documents, plans, and 
information required by sub-sections 66-402(2), (3), (4), (5) and (6) for final plats. For certified survey 
maps of five or more acres, or involving the installation of public improvements, final engineering 
design plans shall be submitted to and approved by the city before the city signs the certificates on the 
certified survey map.  


(c)  The certificate of approval shall be placed on the face of the map.  


(d)  If the certified survey map contains private roads, the following note shall be added to the certified 
survey map:  


NOTICE OF POSSIBLE LIMITATION OF  
PUBLIC SERVICES:  







 


 


73 


THIS CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP CONTAINS PRIVATE ROAD(S), AND, AS A RESULT, CERTAIN 
PUBLIC SERVICES MAY BE LIMITED. THE EXTENT OF THESE LIMITATIONS MAY BE 
SPELLED OUT IN A DOCUMENT CALLED A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT WHICH DIRECTLY 
RELATES TO THIS CSM AND IS FILED AS A PUBLIC DOCUMENT IN THE OFFICE OF THE CITY 
CLERK FOR THE CITY OF STOUGHTON.  


(e)  Parkland dedication monies in lieu of parkland dedication and park improvement fees shall not be 
required where the CSM does not result in the addition of any residential unit.  


(f)  Failure to record the CSM within one year of its approval by the city council will result in the voiding of 
the CSM approval.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009; Ord. No. 0-11-2014, §§ 4, 5, 5-27-2014) 


Secs. 66-503—66-600. - Reserved. 


ARTICLE VI. - EXTRATERRITORIAL LAND DIVISIONS AND CONDOMINIUM PLATS  


Sec. 66-601. - Authority.  


The city's authority to approve land division and condominium plats within its extraterritorial 
jurisdiction is granted by Sections 236.45(3), and 703 Wisconsin Statutes.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-602. - Extraterritorial land division and condominium plat policies.  


The following policy shall govern the city's approval and regulation of divisions of land within its 
extraterritorial jurisdiction area in order to promote the intent and those purposes set forth in this chapter:  


(1)  No such land divisions will be permitted, without approval of the city, in accordance with the 
procedures in this chapter as applicable to land divisions within the city.  


(2)  Such land divisions will be permitted if not exceeding an overall density of one dwelling unit for 
35 acres, exclusive of the farmstead demonstrated by the land divider to the satisfaction of the 
city to be existing as of the effective date of this chapter. Lots for non-residential use will be 
handled on a case-by-case basis. The standards used to review these land divisions will be the 
same as the standards contained in the Dane County Exclusive Agricultural Zoning District 
Ordinances that are used for considering rezonings. The only exception to this policy is that areas 
shown for development, and not shown in the "Agriculture/Rural" category, on the Planned Land 
Use Map in the City of Stoughton Comprehensive Plan may be permitted.  


(3)  The minimum lot size within the extraterritorial jurisdiction of the City of Stoughton shall be one 
acre. A smaller lot size may be allowed if also approved by the respective town board. The 
maximum lot size within the extraterritorial jurisdiction of the City of Stoughton shall be two and 
one-half acres. In all instances, the density provisions of subsection (2), immediately above, shall 
also apply.  


(4)  The city will attempt to seek consistency between its plans and locally adopted town plans. To 
the extent that the policies of the city are more restrictive in regard to the protection of the public 
health, safety, welfare, environmental quality, or in terms of implementing the city's 
comprehensive plan or official map, the city's policies shall prevail. All land divisions within the 
extraterritorial limits will be subject to the land reservation or dedication requirements of this 
chapter. This specifically means the following:  


a.  Any public right-of-way area identified in the city's comprehensive plan or official map shall 
be dedicated in conformance with requirements of this chapter.  







 


 


74 


b.  Any waterway or storm water management area identified on the city's comprehensive plan 
or official map shall be dedicated in conformance with requirements of this chapter.  


c.  If any lands within the land division are within the limits of an environmental corridor, as 
mapped by the city, Dane County or Regional Plan Commission, the land divider shall record 
a public open space easement specifying that the development within said environmental 
corridor shall be consistent with overlay zoning in the city's zoning code, or shall label and 
designate said area as an undevelopable outlot; at the city's direction.  


(5)  All parklands proposed in adopted elements of the city's comprehensive plan shall be reserved 
or dedicated to the extent allowed under this chapter.  


(6)  Such land divisions shall meet all of the development layout design standards contained in this 
chapter.  


(7)  Such land divisions shall follow the erosion control requirements established by the city.  


(8)  Such land divisions shall pay the required review fees contained in this chapter prior to initial 
placement on the plan commission agenda.  


(9)  The plat, condominium plat, or certified survey map shall include the entire original parcel of land 
from which any new lots or parcels are created, and a note shall be placed on the face of the plat 
or certified survey map indicating areas necessary for compliance with the density standard 
established herein.  


Figure 2: Conceptual ETJ Land Division  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-603. - Extraterritorial land division procedures.  


In addition to the procedures for land divisions within the city limits, land divisions in the city's 
extraterritorial land division jurisdiction shall also following the following requirements:  


(1)  In all cases, the time period within which action is required shall not begin until the town board, 
the staff serving the Dane County Zoning Committee, and the City of Stoughton have received all 
maps, drawings and data required for plat, condominium plat, or certified survey map approval.  


(2)  No person shall divide any land located within the city's extraterritorial jurisdiction without first 
filing an application and paying the city's standard land division review fees. The timing for filing 
the application and paying the city's review fees shall be the same as otherwise required per land 
division within the city.  







 


 


75 


(3)  Submittal requirements for land divisions within the city's extraterritorial land division jurisdiction 
shall be identical to those required for land divisions within the city limits.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-604. - Disclosure.  


No person shall sell any parcel of land of one acre or less in size within the city's extraterritorial 
jurisdiction, if it abuts a road that has not been accepted as a public road unless the seller informs the 
purchaser of that fact in writing, and it is understood that the town or county are not obligated to maintain 
it.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Secs. 66-605—66-700. - Reserved.  


ARTICLE X. - CONSTRUCTION  


Sec. 66-1001. - Commencement.  


Except for initial site preparation, no construction or installation or improvements shall commence in 
a proposed subdivision or condominium plat until the preliminary plat or condominium plat has been 
approved and the city has given written authorization. Initial site preparation shall meet the applicable 
provisions of this section.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-1002. - Building permits.  


No building permits shall be issued for erection of a structure on any lot of record until all the 
requirements of this section have been met.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-1003. - Plans.  


The following engineering plans and accompanying construction specifications shall be required in 
both hard copy and digital format by the city director of planning and development and utilities director 
before authorization of construction or installation of improvements:  


(1)  Street plans and profiles showing existing and proposed grades, elevations and cross-sections 
of required improvements including: curb and gutter, sidewalks, walkways, and multi-use paths;  


(2)  Sanitary sewer plans and profiles showing the locations, grades, sizes, elevations and materials 
of required facilities;  


(3)  Storm water management plans and profiles showing the locations, grades, sizes, cross-
sections, elevations and materials of required storm-sewer and other facilities;  


(4)  Water main plans and profiles showing the locations, sizes, elevations and materials of required 
facilities;  


(5)  Street lighting plans showing all proposed locations and specifications;  







 


 


76 


(6)  Planting plans showing the locations, age, size and species of any trees and landscaping within 
the right-of-way;  


(7)  Temporary fencing plans pursuant to section 78-718 of the city zoning ordinance showing the 
location and fencing of all existing vegetation to be preserved and protected during and after 
construction;  


(8)  Additional special plans or information as required.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-1004. - Inspection.  


The subdivider or condominium developer, prior to commencing any work within the subdivision or 
condominium plat, shall make arrangements with the city to provide for adequate inspection. At the 
expense of the subdivider or condominium developer, the city, or their designee, shall inspect and 
approve all completed work prior to release of the performance guarantees.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Sec. 66-1005. - Submittal of "as built" plans.  


Following construction of improvements, the subdivider or condominium developer shall submit to 
the city an "as built" set of plans showing all public improvements for the plat, including quantities and unit 
costs, both in digital and reproducible hard copy format.  


(Ord. No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009) 


Secs. 66-1006—66-1100. – Reserved.







 


 


77 


APPENDIX H 
 


 
City of Stoughton New Housing Fee Report 


For The Year Ending December 31, 2021 


  


Posted: December 31, 2021 


 


The City of Stoughton 2021 City of Stoughton New Housing Fee Report was created and 


published to comply with the requirements outlined in Wisconsin Statute Section 66.10014.  This 


legislation requires that a new housing fee report include the following elements: 


 


1) Fees (including amount) or other requirements imposed for purposes related to 


residential construction, remodeling, or development including the following: 


a. Building permit fee 


b. Impact fee 


c. Park fee 


d. Land dedication or fee in lieu of land dedication requirement 


e. Plat approval fee 


f. Storm water management fee 


g. Water or sewer hook-up fee 


 


2) The total amount of fees listed above that were imposed in the prior year 


 


3) The quotient of total amount of fees imposed in the prior year by number of 


new residential dwelling units approved in the prior year  


 


This report satisfies the requirement of § 66.11004 for the calendar year ending December 31, 


2021.  This report has been posted on the City’s website (https://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us) on a 


web page dedicated solely to the report and titled “New Housing Fee Report” not later than January 


1, 2022. §§ 66.10014(2), 66.10014(3)(a).  A copy of this report has been provided to each member 


of the City Common Council. § 66.10014(3)(b) 


 


The City of Stoughton 2021 New Housing Fee Report is organized into two sections containing 


all of the required elements listed above.  This report was authored and prepared by the City of 


Stoughton Department of Planning and Development using the adopted City of Stoughton Fee 


Schedule, permit and development records maintained by the City of Stoughton, and adopted 


City of Stoughton ordinances.  For record keeping purposes, projects are reported in the year in 


which they were permitted or approved.  Projects approved in prior calendar years but completed 


and occupied in 2021 are not included in this report. 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


78 


Fees Imposed on New Residential Construction, Remodeling, or 


Development: 
 


*Updates to the City of Stoughton Fee Schedule are made annually in mid-January 


*All fees are non-refundable.  Fees will be doubled for failure to obtain a permit and city approval prior to 


construction activities.  Additionally, a citation may be issued for failure to obtain a permit and city 


approval prior to construction activities. 
 


RESIDENTIAL BUILDING PERMITS (1 & 2 FAMILY) 
 


1. RESIDENTIAL NEW STRUCTURE: 
  Plan Review and Inspections:             $.16 per sq. ft. for all areas.  $75 min. 


  DILHR Insignia: $40 


  Occupancy Permit: $40 


  Erosion Control: $135 (For land disturbing activities of 1 acre or 


less) 
 


2. RESIDENTIAL ADDITIONS, including decks: 
  Plan Review and Inspections:      $.16 per sq. ft. for all areas.  $75 min. 


  Erosion Control:             $40 (For land disturbing activities of 1 acre or  


                less) 
 


3. RESIDENTIAL REMODEL & REPAIR: 
  Plan Review and Inspection: $8 per $1000 in cost.  $75 min. 


  (No fee if cost is under $500)      Kitchens: Max. $100 


   


4. RESIDENTIAL OTHER: (No fee if cost including labor is under $500)   


  Reroofing: $40 


  Residing: $40 


  Window Replacement: $40 


  Exterior Door Replacement: $40  
   


5. NO PERMIT OR FEE REQUIRED: 
  Storm Windows; Storm Doors; Overhead Garage Doors and Gutters/Downspouts. 


 


6. RESIDENTIAL RAZINGS, DEMOLITIONS & MOVING STRUCTURES: $75  


  A WDNR permit may also be necessary for razings and demolitions. 
 


7. RESIDENTIAL PLUMBING PERMITS: 


  New Structures/Additions: $.05 per sq. ft. all areas. Min. $50    


   Remodel/Repair/Misc: $50 


   (No fee if cost including labor is under $500) 


   Sprinkler/Alarm: $190 plus $.01 per sq. ft. 
 


8.  RESIDENTIAL ELECTRICAL PERMITS: 


  New Structures/Additions: $.05 per sq. ft. all areas. Min. $50 


  Rewire/Remodel/Misc: $50 


  (No fee if cost including labor is under $500) 
 


9. RESIDENTIAL HVAC PERMITS: 


  New Structures/Additions: $.05 per sq. ft. all areas. Min $50 


  Remodel/Replace/Misc: $50 


  (No fee if cost including labor is under $500) 







 


 


79 


 


COMMERCIAL BUILDING PERMITS 


 


1. COMMERCIAL NEW STRUCTURES: 
  Plan Review and Inspections: $.16 per sq. ft. all areas. Min. $355 


  Erosion Control: $170 (For land disturbing activities less  


             than 4,000 sq. ft.) 


  Zoning Review and Inspections: $465 


 


2. COMMERCIAL ADDITIONS:  
  Plan Review and Inspections: $.16 per sq. ft. for addition. Min $355 


  Erosion Control: $85 (For land disturbing activity less than  


      4,000 sq. ft.) 


  Zoning Review and Inspections: $335 


 


3. COMMERCIAL REMODEL & REPAIR: (No fee if cost including labor is under $500) 


  Plan Review and Inspections: $8 per $1000 in cost. Min. $85 


   


 


4. COMMERCIAL EARLY START PERMIT:  $170 


  Site and erosion control plans must be submitted and approved by the City, including 


providing Department of Commerce early start letter prior to excavation. 


 


5. COMMERCIAL RAZINGS, DEMOLITIONS & MOVING STRUCTURES: $100 


  A WDNR permit may also be necessary for razings and demolitions. 


 


6. SIGNAGE: $75 per application 


  (Commercial Electric permit is required if necessary) 


 


7. COMMERCIAL OTHER: (No fee if cost including labor is under $500)   


  Reroofing: $50 


  Residing: $50 


  Window Replacement: $50 


  Exterior Door Replacement: $50    


 


8. NO PERMIT OR FEE REQUIRED: 
  Storm windows; storm doors; garage doors; and gutters/downspouts. 


 


9. COMMERCIAL PLUMBING PERMITS:  


  New Structures/Additions: $.06 per sq. ft. all areas. Min. $85 


  Remodel/Repair/Misc: $85 


  Sprinkler/Alarm: $190 plus $.01 per sq. ft. 


 


10.  COMMERCIAL ELECTRICAL PERMITS:  


  New Structures/Additions: $.10 per sq. ft. all areas. Min. $85 


  Rewire/Remodel/Misc: $155 


 


11.  COMMERCIAL HVAC PERMITS: 


  New Structures/Additions: $.06 per sq. ft. all areas. Min $85 


  Remodel/Replace/Misc: $85 







 


 


80 


ZONING APPLICATIONS 
 


1. VARIANCES/APPEALS: $415 


 


2. CONDITIONAL USE: $415 plus $40 - document recording fee. 


  


3. REZONING or GENERAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN: $415 


 


4.   PLANNING COMMISSION SITE PLAN OR SPECIFIC IMPLEMENTATION PLAN  


      REVIEW FEE: $310 


 


5. RESIDENTIAL ZONING REVIEW FEE: $75, individually. 


  A zoning review is required for: Sheds; Fencing; Pools; Detached Garages; New  


  Residential Homes; Accessory Structures, Pergola and any Additions including decks.  


  (N/A for trellises, arbors, swing sets, and clothes lines)  


 


6.   COMMERCIAL ZONING REVIEW FEE: $100, individually 


       A zoning review is required for: Small storage sheds, fencing and temporary uses   


 


 


 


CSM AND PLATS 
 


1.   CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP: $165 & $40/ Lot* 


 


2. PRELIMINARY PLAT FEE: $425 & $40/ Lot* 


 


         3. FINAL PLAT FEE: $255 & $40/ Lot* 


       *plus reimbursement of any additional costs incurred over the permit fee. 


 


 


STORMWATER MANAGEMENT AND EROSION CONTROL  


 


1. STORMWATER MANAGEMENT FEES:   


 $415 plus $.020 per sq. ft. of impervious area and $.020 per sq. ft. of redeveloped  


       impervious area.   


      * Any additional cost incurred over the permit fee amount will be billed to the property  


      owner and/or responsible party. 


 


2. EROSION CONTROL:  


$205 plus $.008 per sq. ft. of disturbed area.  (For commercial; industrial and multi-


family residential land disturbing activities of 4,000 sq. ft. and greater and disturbed 


   areas >1 acre for one and two family residential) 


    * Any additional cost incurred over the permit fee amount will be billed to the  


     property owner and/or responsible party. 


 


 


 


 







 


 


81 


IMPACT FEES 
 


1.   SINGLE FAMILY AND TWO FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT:  


                    Park Facility Fees per Unit:  $1,243.01 


                    Parkland Fees per Unit in  


                    Lieu of Land Dedication:  $3,823.11 


 


2.    MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL UNITS OF TWO BEDROOMS OR MORE: 


                    Park Facility Fees per Unit:  $932.23 


                    Parkland Fees per Unit in 


                    Lieu of Land Dedication:  $2,867.66 


 


3.     MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL UNITS OF ONE BEDROOM OR LESS: 


                     Park Facility Fees per Unit:  $621.49 


                     Parkland Fees per Unit in 


                     Lieu of Land Dedication:  $1,910.86  


 


                   *Land Dedication: 1,468 square feet per dwelling unit  


 


MISCELLANEOUS 
 


1. COMMUNICATION TOWER/STRUCTURE:  


 A conditional use permit (CUP) is required plus total cost of professional review if 


     deemed necessary. 


 


         2. PRIVATE DRIVEWAY REPLACEMENT OR EXPANSION: $30 


               (Not affecting right-of-way) 


 


         3. DRIVEWAY APRON/PUBLIC SIDEWALK PERMIT TO EXCAVATE IN PUBLIC 


 RIGHT-OF-WAY: $50 


 


         4. ZONING LETTERS: $50 


 


         5. DOWNTOWN DESIGN OVERLAY ZONING DISTRICT REVIEWS: $100 


                (N/A for signage, structural project or demolition requests) 


 


6. DOWNTOWN DESIGN OVERLAY ZONING DISTRICT STRUCTURAL PROJECT 


OR DEMOLITION APPLICATIONS: $415 


 


7. TERRACE TREE FEES: $300/Tree 


   Terrace tree calculation based off of terrace width and property frontage. 


 


8.   STREET ENCUMBRANCE PERMIT: $25 


 


9. TEMPORARY ELECTRIC CONNECTION FEE: $275 


 


10. WATER AND SEWER MAIN CONNECTION FEE: $250 Plus excavation fees 


 *There is no fee for water or sewer hook-up to existing lateral 


 







 


 


82 


11. GARBAGE AND RECYCLING FEE: $165 


 


RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT FEES COLLECTED IN 2021 


 


 
Fee Type Number of 


Permits 
Total Fee 
Amount 
Collected 


Fee Amount 
per Permit 


New Single Family Residential Dwelling 17 $28,646 $1,685 


New Single Family Residential Building (other 
than dwelling, ex: detached garage) 


3 $1800 $600 


New Two Family Residential Dwelling 12 (Units) $11,928 $994 (per 
unit) 


Single and Two Family Residential Addition 38 $7,457 $196 


Single and Two Residential Remodel 1198 $76,642 $64 


New Multi-Family Building 8 (Units) $4,163 $520 (per 
unit) 


Multi-Family Addition 0 $0 $0 


Multi-Family Remodel 44 $7,599 $173 


Park Impact 14 (Units) $27,718 $1,980 (per 
unit) 


In Lieu of Parkland Dedication 0 (Units) $0 $0 (per unit) 


Plats (Prelim, ETJ, Condo, Final) 8 $10,430 $1,304 


CSM (includes ETJ) 7 $2,055 $294 


Stormwater Management/Erosion Control 8 $30,982 $3,873 


Water or sewer hook-up - 0 0 


 


 
Total permit fees imposed in 2021: $265,256 


 


Number of new residential dwelling units permitted in 2021: 37 


 


Quotient (Fees/Units): $7,169/Unit 


 


Average fee cost of single family home in 2021 (Total single family dwelling 


permit fees in 2021/total single family dwelling permits in 2021):  $1,685/Unit 
 


 


 


The City of Stoughton had 17 new single-family units, 12 duplex units, and 8 multi-family units 


permitted in 2021.  The eight multi-family units are housed in two 4-unit residential buildings 


located at 314 W. Main Street.   


 





		housing affordability report 2021 numbers

		Appendices 2021






1 | P a g e  
 


 


 


 


 


207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 Phone: (608) 873-6677 


 


City of Stoughton New Housing Fee Report 
For The Year Ending December 31, 2021 


  


Posted: December 31, 2021 


 


The City of Stoughton 2021 City of Stoughton New Housing Fee Report was created and 


published to comply with the requirements outlined in Wisconsin Statute Section 66.10014.  This 


legislation requires that a new housing fee report include the following elements: 


 


1) Fees (including amount) or other requirements imposed for purposes related to 


residential construction, remodeling, or development including the following: 


a. Building permit fee 


b. Impact fee 


c. Park fee 


d. Land dedication or fee in lieu of land dedication requirement 


e. Plat approval fee 


f. Storm water management fee 


g. Water or sewer hook-up fee 


 


2) The total amount of fees listed above that were imposed in the prior year 


 


3) The quotient of total amount of fees imposed in the prior year by number of 


new residential dwelling units approved in the prior year  


 


This report satisfies the requirement of § 66.11004 for the calendar year ending December 31, 


2021.  This report has been posted on the City’s website (https://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us) on a 


web page dedicated solely to the report and titled “New Housing Fee Report” not later than January 


1, 2022. §§ 66.10014(2), 66.10014(3)(a).  A copy of this report has been provided to each member 


of the City Common Council. § 66.10014(3)(b) 


 


The City of Stoughton 2021 New Housing Fee Report is organized into two sections containing 


all of the required elements listed above.  This report was authored and prepared by the City of 


Stoughton Department of Planning and Development using the adopted City of Stoughton Fee 


Schedule, permit and development records maintained by the City of Stoughton, and adopted 


City of Stoughton ordinances.  For record keeping purposes, projects are reported in the year in 


which they were permitted or approved.  Projects approved in prior calendar years but completed 


and occupied in 2021 are not included in this report. 


 


 


 


 


 







2 | P a g e  
 


Fees Imposed on New Residential Construction, Remodeling, or 


Development: 
 


*Updates to the City of Stoughton Fee Schedule are made annually in mid-January 


*All fees are non-refundable.  Fees will be doubled for failure to obtain a permit and city approval prior to 


construction activities.  Additionally, a citation may be issued for failure to obtain a permit and city 


approval prior to construction activities. 
 


RESIDENTIAL BUILDING PERMITS (1 & 2 FAMILY) 
 


1. RESIDENTIAL NEW STRUCTURE: 
  Plan Review and Inspections:             $.16 per sq. ft. for all areas.  $75 min. 


  DILHR Insignia: $40 


  Occupancy Permit: $40 


  Erosion Control: $135 (For land disturbing activities of 1 acre or 


less) 
 


2. RESIDENTIAL ADDITIONS, including decks: 
  Plan Review and Inspections:      $.16 per sq. ft. for all areas.  $75 min. 


  Erosion Control:             $40 (For land disturbing activities of 1 acre or  


                less) 
 


3. RESIDENTIAL REMODEL & REPAIR: 
  Plan Review and Inspection: $8 per $1000 in cost.  $75 min. 


  (No fee if cost is under $500)      Kitchens: Max. $100 


   


4. RESIDENTIAL OTHER: (No fee if cost including labor is under $500)   


  Reroofing: $40 


  Residing: $40 


  Window Replacement: $40 


  Exterior Door Replacement: $40  
   


5. NO PERMIT OR FEE REQUIRED: 
  Storm Windows; Storm Doors; Overhead Garage Doors and Gutters/Downspouts. 


 


6. RESIDENTIAL RAZINGS, DEMOLITIONS & MOVING STRUCTURES: $75  


  A WDNR permit may also be necessary for razings and demolitions. 
 


7. RESIDENTIAL PLUMBING PERMITS: 


  New Structures/Additions: $.05 per sq. ft. all areas. Min. $50    


   Remodel/Repair/Misc: $50 


   (No fee if cost including labor is under $500) 


   Sprinkler/Alarm: $190 plus $.01 per sq. ft. 
 


8.  RESIDENTIAL ELECTRICAL PERMITS: 


  New Structures/Additions: $.05 per sq. ft. all areas. Min. $50 


  Rewire/Remodel/Misc: $50 


  (No fee if cost including labor is under $500) 
 


9. RESIDENTIAL HVAC PERMITS: 


  New Structures/Additions: $.05 per sq. ft. all areas. Min $50 


  Remodel/Replace/Misc: $50 


  (No fee if cost including labor is under $500) 
 







3 | P a g e  
 


COMMERCIAL BUILDING PERMITS 


 
1. COMMERCIAL NEW STRUCTURES: 
  Plan Review and Inspections: $.16 per sq. ft. all areas. Min. $355 


  Erosion Control: $170 (For land disturbing activities less  


             than 4,000 sq. ft.) 


  Zoning Review and Inspections: $465 


 


2. COMMERCIAL ADDITIONS:  
  Plan Review and Inspections: $.16 per sq. ft. for addition. Min $355 


  Erosion Control: $85 (For land disturbing activity less than  


      4,000 sq. ft.) 


  Zoning Review and Inspections: $335 


 


3. COMMERCIAL REMODEL & REPAIR: (No fee if cost including labor is under $500) 


  Plan Review and Inspections: $8 per $1000 in cost. Min. $85 


   


 


4. COMMERCIAL EARLY START PERMIT:  $170 


  Site and erosion control plans must be submitted and approved by the City, including 


providing Department of Commerce early start letter prior to excavation. 


 


5. COMMERCIAL RAZINGS, DEMOLITIONS & MOVING STRUCTURES: $100 


  A WDNR permit may also be necessary for razings and demolitions. 


 


6. SIGNAGE: $75 per application 


  (Commercial Electric permit is required if necessary) 


 


7. COMMERCIAL OTHER: (No fee if cost including labor is under $500)   


  Reroofing: $50 


  Residing: $50 


  Window Replacement: $50 


  Exterior Door Replacement: $50    


 


8. NO PERMIT OR FEE REQUIRED: 
  Storm windows; storm doors; garage doors; and gutters/downspouts. 


 


9. COMMERCIAL PLUMBING PERMITS:  


  New Structures/Additions: $.06 per sq. ft. all areas. Min. $85 


  Remodel/Repair/Misc: $85 


  Sprinkler/Alarm: $190 plus $.01 per sq. ft. 


 


10.  COMMERCIAL ELECTRICAL PERMITS:  


  New Structures/Additions: $.10 per sq. ft. all areas. Min. $85 


  Rewire/Remodel/Misc: $155 


 


11.  COMMERCIAL HVAC PERMITS: 


  New Structures/Additions: $.06 per sq. ft. all areas. Min $85 


  Remodel/Replace/Misc: $85 


 


 







4 | P a g e  
 


 


ZONING APPLICATIONS 
 


1. VARIANCES/APPEALS: $415 


 


2. CONDITIONAL USE: $415 plus $40 - document recording fee. 


  


3. REZONING or GENERAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN: $415 


 


4.   PLANNING COMMISSION SITE PLAN OR SPECIFIC IMPLEMENTATION PLAN  


      REVIEW FEE: $310 


 


5. RESIDENTIAL ZONING REVIEW FEE: $75, individually. 


  A zoning review is required for: Sheds; Fencing; Pools; Detached Garages; New  


  Residential Homes; Accessory Structures, Pergola and any Additions including decks.  


  (N/A for trellises, arbors, swing sets, and clothes lines)  


 


6.   COMMERCIAL ZONING REVIEW FEE: $100, individually 


       A zoning review is required for: Small storage sheds, fencing and temporary uses   


 


 


 


CSM AND PLATS 
 


1.   CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP: $165 & $40/ Lot* 


 


2. PRELIMINARY PLAT FEE: $425 & $40/ Lot* 


 


         3. FINAL PLAT FEE: $255 & $40/ Lot* 


       *plus reimbursement of any additional costs incurred over the permit fee. 


 


 


STORMWATER MANAGEMENT AND EROSION CONTROL  


 


1. STORMWATER MANAGEMENT FEES:   


 $415 plus $.020 per sq. ft. of impervious area and $.020 per sq. ft. of redeveloped  


       impervious area.   


      * Any additional cost incurred over the permit fee amount will be billed to the property  


      owner and/or responsible party. 


 


2. EROSION CONTROL:  


$205 plus $.008 per sq. ft. of disturbed area.  (For commercial; industrial and multi-


family residential land disturbing activities of 4,000 sq. ft. and greater and disturbed 


   areas >1 acre for one and two family residential) 


    * Any additional cost incurred over the permit fee amount will be billed to the  


     property owner and/or responsible party. 


 


 


 


 







5 | P a g e  
 


IMPACT FEES 
 


1.   SINGLE FAMILY AND TWO FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT:  


                    Park Facility Fees per Unit:  $1,243.01 


                    Parkland Fees per Unit in  


                    Lieu of Land Dedication:  $3,823.11 


 


2.    MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL UNITS OF TWO BEDROOMS OR MORE: 


                    Park Facility Fees per Unit:  $932.23 


                    Parkland Fees per Unit in 


                    Lieu of Land Dedication:  $2,867.66 


 


3.     MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL UNITS OF ONE BEDROOM OR LESS: 


                     Park Facility Fees per Unit:  $621.49 


                     Parkland Fees per Unit in 


                     Lieu of Land Dedication:  $1,910.86  


 


                   *Land Dedication: 1,468 square feet per dwelling unit  


 


MISCELLANEOUS 
 


1. COMMUNICATION TOWER/STRUCTURE:  


 A conditional use permit (CUP) is required plus total cost of professional review if 


     deemed necessary. 


 


         2. PRIVATE DRIVEWAY REPLACEMENT OR EXPANSION: $30 


               (Not affecting right-of-way) 


 


         3. DRIVEWAY APRON/PUBLIC SIDEWALK PERMIT TO EXCAVATE IN PUBLIC 


 RIGHT-OF-WAY: $50 


 


         4. ZONING LETTERS: $50 


 


         5. DOWNTOWN DESIGN OVERLAY ZONING DISTRICT REVIEWS: $100 


                (N/A for signage, structural project or demolition requests) 


 


6. DOWNTOWN DESIGN OVERLAY ZONING DISTRICT STRUCTURAL PROJECT 


OR DEMOLITION APPLICATIONS: $415 


 


7. TERRACE TREE FEES: $300/Tree 


   Terrace tree calculation based off of terrace width and property frontage. 


 


8.   STREET ENCUMBRANCE PERMIT: $25 


 


9. TEMPORARY ELECTRIC CONNECTION FEE: $275 


 


10. WATER AND SEWER MAIN CONNECTION FEE: $250 Plus excavation fees 


 *There is no fee for water or sewer hook-up to existing lateral 


 


11. GARBAGE AND RECYCLING FEE: $165 







6 | P a g e  
 


 


RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT FEES COLLECTED IN 2021 


 


 
Fee Type Number of 


Permits 
Total Fee 
Amount 
Collected 


Fee Amount 
per Permit 


New Single Family Residential Dwelling 17 $28,646 $1,685 


New Single Family Residential Building (other 
than dwelling, ex: detached garage) 


3 $1800 $600 


New Two Family Residential Dwelling 12 (Units) $11,928 $994 (per 
unit) 


Single and Two Family Residential Addition 38 $7,457 $196 


Single and Two Residential Remodel 1198 $76,642 $64 


New Multi-Family Building 8 (Units) $4,163 $520 (per 
unit) 


Multi-Family Addition 0 $0 $0 


Multi-Family Remodel 44 $7,599 $173 


Park Impact 14 (Units) $27,718 $1,980 (per 
unit) 


In Lieu of Parkland Dedication 0 (Units) $0 $0 (per unit) 


Plats (Prelim, ETJ, Condo, Final) 8 $10,430 $1,304 


CSM (includes ETJ) 7 $2,055 $294 


Stormwater Management/Erosion Control 8 $30,982 $3,873 


Water or sewer hook-up - 0 0 


 


 
Total permit fees imposed in 2021: $265,256 


 


Number of new residential dwelling units permitted in 2021: 37 


 


Quotient (Fees/Units): $7,169/Unit 


 


Average fee cost of single family home in 2021 (Total single family dwelling 


permit fees in 2021/total single family dwelling permits in 2021):  $1,685/Unit 
 


 


 


The City of Stoughton had 17 new single-family units, 12 duplex units, and 8 multi-family units 


permitted in 2021.  The eight multi-family units are housed in two 4-unit residential buildings 


located at 314 W. Main Street.   


 


 


 
 








Meetings of:       COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STOUGHTON  
Date//Time:       Tuesday, December 14, 2021, 7:00 p.m. 
Location: The meeting of the Common Council will be conducted virtually due to COVID-19.  
  You can join the meeting from your computer tablet or smartphone via Zoom: 
             https://zoom.us/j/99683293684?pwd=NW5CeWhqNGVuQS9VQUM2WURkeW4wUT09 
  Meeting ID: 996 8329 3684 
  Passcode: 812571                                                                                                                                       
  The meeting can also be livestreamed on https://wsto.tv/live and Spectrum  
  Channel 981. 
 
Members:          Mayor Tim Swadley, Phil Caravello, Ozzie Doom, Ben Heili, Regina Hirsch,   
  Fred Hundt, Greg Jenson, Jean Ligocki, Tom Majewski, Lisa Reeves, Brett   
  Schumacher, Joyce Tikalsky, and Rachel Venegas 


ATTENTION COUNCIL MEMBERS: TWO-THIRDS OF MEMBERS NEEDED FOR A QUORUM (EIGHT). 
The Council may only conduct business when a quorum is present. If you are unable to attend the meeting, please 
notify the City Clerk’s office via telephone (608) 873-6677 or via email cchristen@ci.stoughton.wi.us  


 
Call to order 
Mayor Swadley called the meeting to order at 7:05 p.m. 
 
Roll Call 
Clerk Christen called roll, 10 alders present.  Venegas and Ligocki absent and excused. 
 
Minutes and Reports: The following minutes were entered into the record 


Public Works (09/16/21); Sustainability (10/25/21); Finance (11/9/21); Landmarks (11/11/21); Tree 
Commission (11/11/21) 
 


Public Comment Period: 
• Kristen Freidel, 324 N. Madison St., registered in opposition and spoke of O-26-


2021.  
 
Communications and Presentations  


• Brett Hebert, Public Works Director – Winter Snow and Ice Operations in the City 
• Depot Hill – Historical Registry – Mayor Swadley acknowledged the addition to the 


National Historical Registry 
 


5.  Consent Agenda 
A. November 23, 2021 Council Minutes 
B.  R-171-2021 Resolution Appointing Election Inspectors for the 2022-2023 term 
C.  R-172-2021 Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to issue Operator 
Licenses to various applicants. 
D.  R-173-2021 Resolution confirming the Mayor's Committee Appointment 
 
Motion by Heili, second by Reeves to approve the consent agenda.  Motion carried 10-0. 


 


  
 



https://zoom.us/j/99683293684?pwd=NW5CeWhqNGVuQS9VQUM2WURkeW4wUT09

https://wsto.tv/live%20and%20Spectrum%20%09%09%09Channel%20981

https://wsto.tv/live%20and%20Spectrum%20%09%09%09Channel%20981

mailto:cchristen@ci.stoughton.wi.us





OLD BUSINESS 
 
O-23-2021 Ordinance re park impact fees and fees in lieu of land dedication. 


Motion by Schumacher, second by Hundt to approve O-23-2021 Motion carried 10-0. 


O-24-2021 Discussion and possible action on amending Section 70-176 (50) regarding No 
Parking on portions of Ridge Street. 


Motion by Jenson, second by Reeves to approve O-24-2021 70-176 (50) Motion carried 10-0. 


O-25-2021 Discussion and possible action on amending Section 70-176 (84) regarding No Parking on 
portions of Ridge Street. 


Motion by Jenson, second by Doom to approve O-25-2021.  Motion carried 10-0. 


 O-26-2021 Discussion and possible action on amending Section 70-176 (85) regarding No 
Parking on portions of N. Madison Street.  


Motion by Jenson, second by Tikalsky to approve O-26-2021 amending Section 70-176 (85) 
regarding No Parking on portions of N. Madison Street.  


Motion to approve the Amendment of Section 70-176 (85) regarding No Parking on portions 
of N. Madison Street restricting parking from the West side to the East side of the street year 
round. Amendment approved 10-0. 


Motion by Jenson to table the amendment to O-26-2021 until December 28, 2021 Council 
meeting to allow comment, second by Reeves.  Motion to table carried 10-0. 


O-27-2021 Discussion and possible action on amending Section 70-176 (86) regarding No 
Parking on portions of Hill Street.  


Motion by Jenson, second by Doom.   Motion carried 10-0. 


O-28-2021 Discussion and possible action on amending Section 70-176 (87) regarding No 
Parking on portions of Hill Street.  


Motion by Jenson, second by Hundt to approve O-28-2021 amending Section 70-176 (87). 
Motion carried 10-0. 


NEW BUSINESS 
 
Discussion and possible action regarding whether or not to continue processing Dane County 
Dog Park permit requests. 


Motion by Schumacher, second by Reeves to approve the discontinuance of processing Dane 
County Dog Park permit requests.  Motion carried 10-0. 


R-174-2021 Acceptance of a Sidewalk Easement located 125 Veterans Rd.  


Motion by Majewski, second by Hundt to approve R-174-2021 Motion carried 10-0. 


R-175-2021 Grant Agreement with the Wisconsin DNR for the Mandt Park Pedestrian Bridge 







Motion by Hirsch, second by Caravello to approve R-175-2021 Motion carried 10-0 


O-29-2021 Approving a General Development Plan (GDP) for the area known as the Stoughton 
Riverfront Redevelopment. 


Motion by Caravello, second by Doom to approve a General Development Plan (GDP) for the 
area known as the Stoughton Riverfront Redevelopment. Update of % year solar in place of 10 
year solar install necessary throughout the agreement.  Motion carried 10-0. 


R-176-2021 Resolution by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton Approving First 
Amendment to Master Development Agreement – Meadows at Kettle Park West  


No action  


R-177-2021 Resolution by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton Approving an 
Agreement for Subdivision Improvements—Kettle Park West- Phase A  


No action 


Discuss and possible action regarding virtual/hybrid meetings  


Jenson motion to request Attorney Dregne to research mask and vaccination requirement of 
Council meetings and hybrid use, second by Hirsch.  Motion carried 10-0..  


 R-178-2021 ACCEPTING THE TERMS OF THE DISTRIBUTORS AND 
MANUFACTURERS NATIONAL OPIOID SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND TO 
AUTHORIZE DESIGNEE TO EXECUTE PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT 


Motion by Tikalsky, second by Hirsch to approve R-178-2021 National Opioid Settlement 
agreement and to authorize designee to execute participation agreement.  Motion carried 10-0. 


ADJOURNMENT 
Motion to adjourn by Jenson, second by Hundt to adjourn at 8:42 p.m.  Motion carried 10-0. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 


Candee J. Christen, City Clerk 


 








DRAFT STOUGHTON UTILITIES COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, December 20, 2021 – 5:00 p.m. 
Stoughton, WI  
Page No.  1 


Location:   Online Attendance: GoToMeeting ID 604-644-797 


Members Present: Citizen Member David Erdman (Chair), Alderperson Ben Heili, Alderperson Regina 


Hirsch, Citizen Member John Kallas (Vice-Chair), Mayor Tim Swadley, Citizen 


Member Dustin Thoren 


Excused: Alderperson Rachel Venegas 


Absent: None 


Others Present: Stoughton Utilities Assistant Director Brian Hoops, Stoughton Utilities Finance 


Manager Shannon Statz, WPPI Energy Services Manager Amy Wanek, Stoughton 


Utilities Director Jill Weiss 


Call to Order:  Chairperson Erdman called the regular Stoughton Utilities Committee Meeting to order at 5:00 


p.m.   


The chair introduced Stoughton Utilities Finance Manager Shannon Statz to the committee.   


Utilities Committee Consent Agenda:  Stoughton Utilities staff presented and discussed the Stoughton Utilities 


Committee consent agenda items. 


Staff highlighted several thank you letters that were received from customers following the replacement of their 


lead service lines, SU’s designation as a Smart Energy Provider by the American Public Power Association for 


its commitments to energy efficiency and sustainability, and SU’s ranking in the top 10 electric utilities in the 


nation for its green power program customer participation rate. 


Motion by Heili, the motion seconded by Hirsch to approve the following consent agenda items as presented:  


a. Draft Minutes of the September 20, 2021 Regular Utilities Committee Meeting 


b. Draft Minutes of the December 13, 2021 Regular Utilities Committee Meeting 


c. Stoughton Utilities September Payments Due List Report 


d. Stoughton Utilities October Payments Due List Report 


e. Stoughton Utilities November Payments Due List Report 


f. Stoughton Utilities August Financial Summary 


g. Stoughton Utilities September Financial Summary 


h. Stoughton Utilities October Financial Summary 


i. Stoughton Utilities Statistical Report 


j. Stoughton Utilities Activities Report 


k. Communications 


The motion carried unanimously 6 to 0. 


Status of the Utilities Committee recommendation(s) to the Stoughton Common Council:  Stoughton 


Utilities staff presented and discussed the following items from the Stoughton Utilities Committee that were 


approved and/or placed on file by the Stoughton Common Council: 


Consent Agenda:  


1. Minutes of the August 16, 2021 Regular Utilities Committee Meeting 



bhoops

Highlight







STOUGHTON UTILITIES COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, September 20, 2021 – 5:30 p.m. 
Stoughton, WI  
Page No.  1 


Location:   Online Attendance: GoToMeeting ID 532-275-957 


Members Present: Citizen Member David Erdman (Chair), Alderperson Ben Heili, Alderperson Regina 


Hirsch, Citizen Member John Kallas (Vice-Chair), Mayor Tim Swadley, Citizen 


Member Dustin Thoren, Alderperson Rachel Venegas 


Excused: None 


Absent: None 


Others Present: Director of Finance & Comptroller Jamin Friedl, Stoughton Utilities Assistant 


Director Brian Hoops, Stoughton Utilities Director Jill Weiss 


Call to Order:  Chairperson Erdman called the regular Stoughton Utilities Committee Meeting to order at 5:30 


p.m.   


Utilities Committee Consent Agenda:  Stoughton Utilities staff presented and discussed the Stoughton Utilities 


Committee consent agenda items. 


Staff highlighted the updated Choose Renewable pricing that went into effect on September 1, and noted that 


Stoughton Utilities has increased their block purchases to offset 100% of the power purchased by the utility for 


all electric, water, and wastewater operations.  The utility previously offset approximately 63% of it’s power, and 


with the new pricing the increase to 100% came with a cost savings of over $1,400 per year.  


Motion by Kallas, the motion seconded by Thoren, to approve the following consent agenda items as presented:  


a. Draft Minutes of the August 16, 2021 Regular Utilities Committee Meeting 


b. Stoughton Utilities August Payments Due List Report 


c. Stoughton Utilities July Financial Summary 


d. Stoughton Utilities July Statistical Report 


e. Stoughton Utilities August Activities Report 


f. Communications 


The motion carried unanimously 6 to 0. 


Status of the Utilities Committee recommendation(s) to the Stoughton Common Council:  Stoughton 


Utilities staff presented and discussed the following items from the Stoughton Utilities Committee that were 


approved and/or placed on file by the Stoughton Common Council: 


Consent Agenda:  


1. Minutes of the July 26, 2021 Regular Utilities Committee Meeting 


2. Stoughton Utilities July Payments Due List Report 


3. Stoughton Utilities June Financial Summary 


4. Stoughton Utilities June Statistical Report 


Business:  


1. Use of American Rescue Plan Act Funds Received by the City of Stoughton to Fund the Replacement 
of Privately-Owned Lead Service Lines (Private LSL) and Other Costs Associated with Private LSL 
Replacements Not Reimbursed by the DNR Grant 


Discussion followed. 







STOUGHTON UTILITIES COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, September 20, 2021 – 5:30 p.m. 
Stoughton, WI  
Page No.  2 


Mayor Swadley joined the meeting at 5:35 p.m. 


Status Update:  Lead Service Line Replacement Program:  Stoughton Utilities staff presented and discussed 


recent efforts that have occurred as part of the ongoing 2021 citywide lead service line replacement project of 


public and privately-owned lead service lines.  Staff informed the committee that lead service lines have been 


replaced at approximately at approximately 80% of the addresses with lead service lines.  The goal remains to 


be 100% lead free as of the end of the year.  


Staff informed the committee that the contractor has stated they are on pace for an October completion, ahead 


of the November 15 substantial completion and December 15 final completion deadlines.  Staff will be submitting 


the final remaining addresses to the contractor this week, including the non-residential properties that were just 


approved for ARPA funding.  Staff provided information on pending pay requests and grant reimbursement 


applications, ongoing restoration efforts, and restoration plans as we plan for the autumn and winter months.  


Discussion followed.   


Updates regarding the ongoing construction project will be posted to stoughtonutilities.com/lead and 


stoughtonutilities.com/construction as they are made available by the contractor. 


Funding of Private Lead Service Line Replacements Completed by Property Owners in 2019:  Stoughton 


Utilities staff informed the committee that a request had been raised at the September 1, 2021 meeting of the 


Stoughton Committee of the Whole to have the Stoughton Utilities Committee explore the possibility of 


reimbursing property owners who replaced their privately-owned lead service line in 2019 and paid for the 


replacement out of pocket.   


Staff reminded the committee that the section of the water service lateral from the curb stop valve located in the 


public right of way to the water meter located inside the dwelling is privately-owned, and the individual property 


owners are responsible for the costs associated with installation and maintenance.   Staff also reminded the 


committee that as a regulated public utility, Stoughton Utilities is currently prohibited by the Wisconsin Public 


Service Commission from using funds collected through utility rates to perform work on private property.    


Further, the funding grant awarded by the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources does not allow for the 


reimbursement of costs associated with private service line replacements that occurred prior to 2020 and that 


were not included in the grant application.  Discussion followed.  


The consensus of the committee was to not fund replacements that occurred prior to 2020, whether using utility 


or ARPA funding.  The committee directed staff to provide a verbal report of the discussion and the committee’s 


consensus to the Stoughton Finance Committee when the topic is included on their agenda.  


Wastewater Treatment Facility and Sanitary Sewer Collection System 2020 Compliance Maintenance 


Annual Report (CMAR)  – DNR Responses:  Stoughton Utilities staff presented an update to our annual CMAR 


filing, which was approved by the Utilities Committee and Common Council in June.  The Wisconsin Department 


of Natural Resources (DNR) has received and approved our filing, providing favorable comments, and no further 


action is needed until the 2021 CMAR filing to occur in June 2022.  Discussion followed. 


Stoughton Utilities Staffing:  Stoughton Utilities staff presented the current organizational chart and discussed 


recent recruitment and hiring efforts, including the onboarding of a Journeyman Lineman and two Apprentice 


Lineworkers in the Electric System Division, and a recently accepted offer of employment to another Journeyman 


Lineman.  Also discussed was the status of the Utilities Finance Director vacancy and ongoing recruitment and 


advertising for the position.  Staff also informed the committee that strategic planning efforts continue, and staff 


is looking at retention and recruitment strategies, organizational restructuring, updates to current position 



https://stoughtonutilities.com/lead

https://stoughtonutilities.com/construction





STOUGHTON UTILITIES COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, September 20, 2021 – 5:30 p.m. 
Stoughton, WI  
Page No.  3 


descriptions, and the staffing needs of the utility moving forward.  Staff discussed preliminary budgetary figures 


that are planned to be presented to the committee in October as part of the 2022 Stoughton Utilities operating 


budget. 


Citizen Member John Kallas left the meeting at 6:00 p.m. 


Utilities Committee Future Agenda Items:  Stoughton Utilities staff informed the committee that upcoming 


meeting topics include updates on the status of the lead service line replacement program, the 2022 Stoughton 


Utilities operating budget, the 2022-26 Capital Improvement Plan (CIP), and potential modifications to the 


ordinance related to the mandatory replacement of lead service lines and how customers are noticed and costs 


are recovered.  Alderperson Venegas requested an item to discuss the promotion of the Choose Renewable 


program.  Mayor Swadley discussed the new Sustainability Committee and presentations being made by city 


departments.  Discussion followed. 


Adjournment:  Being no further business before the committee, the Chair adjourned the regular Stoughton 


Utilities Committee Meeting at 6:10 p.m.   


Respectfully submitted 


Brian R. Hoops 


Stoughton Utilities Assistant Director 







STOUGHTON UTILITIES COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, December 13, 2021 – 5:30 p.m. 
Stoughton, WI  
Page No.  1 


Location:   Online Attendance: GoToMeeting ID 966-862-917 


Members Present: Citizen Member David Erdman (Chair), Alderperson Ben Heili, Alderperson Regina 


Hirsch, Mayor Tim Swadley 


Excused: Citizen Member John Kallas (Vice-Chair) 


Absent: Citizen Member Dustin Thoren, Alderperson Rachel Venegas 


Others Present: Stoughton Utilities Assistant Director Brian Hoops, Stoughton Utilities Finance 


Manager Shannon Statz, WPPI Energy Services Manager Amy Wanek, Stoughton 


Utilities Director Jill Weiss 


Call to Order:  Chairperson Erdman cancelled the regular Stoughton Utilities Committee Meeting at 5:50 p.m. 


due to a lack of quorum.   


  


Respectfully submitted 


Brian R. Hoops 


Stoughton Utilities Assistant Director 







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


12:34PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


1 of 8


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 10/5/2021


Tuesday, October 05, 2021


Description


7430Company:


VO for check batch: 310579/VO for check batch: 


310579


EP002247 516 WELLS FARGO BANK9/8/2021  16,650.10


WPPI-Renewable Energy/WPPI-Renewable 


Energy/WPPI-Buy Back Solar Credit/WPPI-Buy 


Back Solar Credit/WPPI-Excess Gen 8-8 


Cr/WPPI-Excess Gen 8-8 Cr/WPPI-Large 


Power/WPPI-Large Power/WPPI-Support 


Services/WPPI-Support Services/WPPI-Support 


Services/More...


HC002248 009 WPPI9/8/2021  1,368,988.08


Federal Taxes-Sept Ach/Federal Taxes-Sept 


Ach/Federal Taxes-Sept Ach/Federal Taxes-Sept 


Ach/Federal Taxes-Sept Ach/Federal Taxes-Sept 


Ach/Federal Taxes-Sept Ach/Federal Taxes-Sept 


Ach


HC002249 025 Payroll Federal Taxes- Ach9/30/2021  34,089.21


State Taxes-Sept Ach/State Taxes-Sept Ach/State 


Taxes-Sept Ach/State Taxes-Sept Ach


HC002250 008 Payroll  State Taxes - Ach9/30/2021  6,798.55


Alliant Energy - Sept Ach/Alliant Energy - Sept 


Ach/Alliant Energy - Sept Ach/Alliant Energy - Sept 


Ach/Alliant Energy - Sept Ach/Alliant Energy - Sept 


Ach/Alliant Energy - Sept Ach/Alliant Energy - Sept 


Ach/Alliant Energy - Sept Ach/More...


HC002251 003 Alliant Energy - Ach9/30/2021  265.22


Pitney Bowes-Sept Ach/Pitney Bowes-Sept 


Ach/Pitney Bowes-Sept Ach/Pitney Bowes-Sept 


Ach/Pitney Bowes-Sept Ach/Pitney Bowes-Sept 


Ach/Pitney Bowes-Sept Ach/Pitney Bowes-Sept 


Ach


HC002252 318 PITNEY-BOWES INC-PURCHASE POWER9/30/2021  165.00


First Data - Sept Ach/First Data - Sept Ach/First 


Data - Sept Ach/First Data - Sept Ach/First Data - 


Sept Ach/First Data - Sept Ach/First Data - Sept 


Ach/First Data - Sept Ach


HC002253 421 FIRST DATA CHARGES9/30/2021  30.52


Dept of Rev - Sept Ach/Dept of Rev - Sept 


Ach/Dept of Rev - Sept Ach/Dept of Rev - Sept Ach


HC002254 010 WI Dept. of Revenue Taxpayment-Ach9/30/2021  78,868.17


Charter - Sept Ach/Charter - Sept Ach/Charter - 


Sept Ach/Charter - Sept Ach/Charter - Sept 


Ach/Charter - Sept Ach/Charter - Sept Ach/Charter - 


Sept Ach


HC002255 547 Charter Communications-Ach9/30/2021  429.33







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


12:34PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


2 of 8


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 10/5/2021


Tuesday, October 05, 2021


Description


EBC - Sept Ach/EBC - Sept Ach/EBC - Sept 


Ach/EBC - Sept Ach/EBC - Sept Ach/EBC - Sept 


Ach/EBC - Sept Ach/EBC - Sept Ach


HC002256 002 Employee Benefits Corp - Ach9/30/2021  670.48


Delta Dental - Sept Ach/Delta Dental - Sept 


Ach/Delta Dental - Sept Ach/Delta Dental - Sept 


Ach/Delta Dental - Sept Ach/Delta Dental - Sept 


Ach


HC002257 001 Delta Dental - Ach9/30/2021  2,202.68


Gordon Flesch-Sept Ach/Gordon Flesch-Sept 


Ach/Gordon Flesch-Sept Ach/Gordon Flesch-Sept 


Ach/Gordon Flesch-Sept Ach/Gordon Flesch-Sept 


Ach/Gordon Flesch-Sept Ach/Gordon Flesch-Sept 


Ach


HC002258 856 GORDON FLESCH COMPANY, INC.9/30/2021  54.11


TDS Metrocom - Sept Ach/TDS Metrocom - Sept 


Ach/TDS Metrocom - Sept Ach/TDS Metrocom - 


Sept Ach/TDS Metrocom - Sept Ach/TDS Metrocom 


- Sept Ach/TDS Metrocom - Sept Ach/TDS 


Metrocom - Sept Ach


HC002259 007 TDS Metrocom - Ach9/30/2021  465.51


Us Cellular - Sept Ach/Us Cellular - Sept Ach/Us 


Cellular - Sept Ach/Us Cellular - Sept Ach/Us 


Cellular - Sept Ach/Us Cellular - Sept Ach


HC002260 004 Us Cellular - Ach9/30/2021  1,156.65


AT&T - Sept Ach/AT&T - Sept Ach/AT&T - Sept 


Ach/AT&T - Sept Ach


HC002261 952 AT&T9/30/2021  274.26


Client Analysis-Sept Ach/Client Analysis-Sept 


Ach/Client Analysis-Sept Ach/Client Analysis-Sept 


Ach/Client Analysis-Sept Ach/Client Analysis-Sept 


Ach/Client Analysis-Sept Ach/Client Analysis-Sept 


Ach


HC002262 020 Wells Fargo Bank-Ach9/30/2021  14,298.79


T Bushaw-Customer Refund/T Bushaw-Customer 


Refund


VC025806 586 THOMAS BUSHAW9/9/2021 -22.26


C Riebe-Customer Refund/C Riebe-Customer 


Refund


VC025817 210 CINDY RIEBE9/9/2021 -307.86


Assurity-Customer Refund/Assurity-Customer 


Refund


VC025821 095 ASSURITY INVESTMENTS LLC9/9/2021 -12.35


N Schutte-Customer Refund/N Schutte-Customer 


Refund


VC025845 744 NADIA SCHUTTE9/9/2021 -189.55


B Schoechert-Customer Ref/B 


Schoechert-Customer Ref


VC025880 639 BRITTANY SCHOECHERT & LUCAS MOHR9/9/2021 -175.47







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


12:34PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


3 of 8


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 10/5/2021


Tuesday, October 05, 2021


Description


S Hendrickson-Dep Refund/S Hendrickson-Dep 


Refund


VC025989 933 SARAH HENDRICKSON9/9/2021 -311.41


Stoton Family-Deposit Refund/Stoton 


Family-Deposit Refund


VC025993 429 STOUGHTON FAMILY COUNSELING9/9/2021 -333.65


General Comm-Portable Radio/General 


Comm-Portable Radio


VC027750 377 GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS, INC9/16/2021 -66.80


Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-Tre


nching/Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-Trenching/Midw


est-Trenching


CK027771 290 MID-WEST TREE & EXCAVATION, INC9/2/2021  735.20


Border States-Supplies/Border States-SuppliesCK027772 327 BORDER STATES ELECTRIC SUPPLY9/2/2021  90.25


Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/In


sight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insi


ght-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel


CK027773 451 INSIGHT FS9/2/2021  1,198.54


Harvest Farms-Lot 121/Harvest Farms-Lot 121CK027774 084 HARVEST FARMS, LLC9/2/2021  550.00


City Stoton-Sept A Def Comp/City Stoton-Sept A 


Def Comp


CK027775 131 CITY OF STOUGHTON9/2/2021  1,665.62


Stafford-Legal services/Stafford-Legal 


services/Stafford-Legal services/Stafford-Legal 


services


CK027776 186 STAFFORD ROSENBAUM LLC9/2/2021  290.50


Strand-Scada changes/Strand-Scada changesCK027777 448 STRAND ASSOCIATES INC.9/2/2021  1,076.98


A Nelson-Customer Refund/A Nelson-Customer 


Refund


CK027778 201 AMY OR JEREMIAH NELSON9/2/2021  237.46


A Green-Customer Refund/A Green-Customer 


Refund


CK027779 250 ANGELIQUE GREEN9/2/2021  187.99


Div of Energy-Customer Refund/Div of 


Energy-Customer Refund


CK027780 851 DIVISION OF ENERGY HOUSING AND COMM. RESOURCES9/2/2021  600.00


Obrion-Office Supply/Obrion-Office 


Supply/Obrion-Office Supply/Obrion-Office 


Supply/Obrion-Office Supply/Obrion-Office 


Supply/Obrion-Office Supply/Obrion-Office Supply


CK027781 885 THE O'BRION AGENCY, LLC9/2/2021  170.00


G Fox-Hydrant Rep/G Fox-Hydrant Rep/G Fox-10" 


Valve/G Fox-10" Valve


CK027782 959 G. FOX & SON, INC.9/2/2021  15,750.00







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


12:34PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


4 of 8


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 10/5/2021


Tuesday, October 05, 2021


Description


Hartford-Storm Work/Hartford-Storm WorkCK027783 046 HARTFORD ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE9/2/2021  1,439.69


Midcentral-Transformers/Midcentral-TransformersCK027784 094 MID CENTRAL ELECTRIC CO., INC.9/2/2021  2,865.00


Inkworks-Inserts/Inkworks-Office 


Supply/Inkworks-Office 


Supply/Inkworks-Inserts/Inkworks-Office 


Supply/Inkworks-Office Supply/Inkworks-Office 


Supply/Inkworks-Office Supply


CK027785 166 INKWORKS, INC.9/2/2021  1,204.26


Open Sys-Software Maint/Open Sys-Software MaintCK027786 209 OPEN SYSTEMS INTERNATIONAL, INC.9/2/2021  5,493.00


Resco-Supplies/Resco-SuppliesCK027787 400 RESCO9/2/2021  207.72


N Stankovich-Deposit Refund/N Stankovich-Deposit 


Refund


CK027788 226 NATASHA STANKOVICH9/9/2021  474.88


G Ohara-Water Lateral/G Ohara-Water LateralCK027789 572 GREG OR SUSAN O'HARA9/9/2021  5,462.00


Titan-Deposit Refund/Titan-Deposit RefundCK027790 730 TITAN GARAGE DOORS9/9/2021  89.57


A Moreira-Deposit Refund/A Moreira-Deposit 


Refund


CK027791 773 ALEXIS MOREIRA9/9/2021  117.45


T Kicera-Customer Refund/T Kicera-Customer 


Refund


CK027792 238 TAMARA KICERA9/9/2021  211.00


Martelle-Bulk Supply/Martelle-Bulk SupplyCK027793 487 MARTELLE WATER TREATMENT9/9/2021  1,147.50


Dept of Wis-Public Benefits/Dept of Wis-Public 


Benefits


CK027794 539 DEPT OF ADMIN-WISMART VENDOR #396028867 E9/9/2021  16,567.42


Wodbottom-Customer 


Refund/Wodbottom-Customer Refund


CK027795 663 WODBOTTOM NATHANAEL RUYLE9/9/2021  94.73


B Kahl-Customer Refund/B Kahl-Customer RefundCK027796 928 BRIAN OR AMY KAHL9/9/2021  213.96


L Jewell-Water Lateral/L Jewell-Water LateralCK027797 304 LUKE OR ABBY JEWELL9/9/2021  3,940.00


T Kuehn-Water Lateral/T Kuehn-Water LateralCK027798 721 TOM OR JILL KUEHN9/9/2021  3,268.00


Resco-Transformers/Resco-Supplies/Resco-Suppli


es/Resco-Transformers


CK027799 400 RESCO9/9/2021  26,862.98







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


12:34PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


5 of 8


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 10/5/2021


Tuesday, October 05, 2021


Description


PSC-Tarriff Updates/PSC-Tarriff UpdatesCK027800 491 PUBLIC SVC. COMM. OF WI.9/9/2021  62.45


Wi Hydrant-Repairs/Wi Hydrant-RepairsCK027801 895 WISCONSIN HYDRANT REPAIR LLC9/9/2021  170.00


Assurity-Void ck 025821/Assurity-Void ck 


025821/Assurity-Customer 


Refund/Assurity-Customer Refund


ZC027802 095 ASSURITY INVESTMENTS LLC9/9/2021  0.00


C Riebe-Void ck 025817/C Riebe-Void ck 025817/C 


Riebe-Customer Refund/C Riebe-Customer Refund


ZC027803 210 CINDY RIEBE9/9/2021  0.00


Stoton Family-Void ck 025993/Stoton Family-Void 


ck 025993/Stoton Family-Deposit Refund/Stoton 


Family-Deposit Refund


ZC027804 429 STOUGHTON FAMILY COUNSELING9/9/2021  0.00


T Bushaw-Customer Refund/T Bushaw-Void ck 


025806/T Bushaw-Customer Refund/T 


Bushaw-Void ck 025806


ZC027805 586 THOMAS BUSHAW9/9/2021  0.00


B Schoechert-Void ck 025880/B 


Schoechert-Customer Ref/B Schoechert-Customer 


Ref/B Schoechert-Void ck 025880


ZC027806 639 BRITTANY SCHOECHERT & LUCAS MOHR9/9/2021  0.00


N Schutte-Void ck 025845/N Schutte-Customer 


Refund/N Schutte-Customer Refund/N Schutte-Void 


ck 025845


ZC027807 744 NADIA SCHUTTE9/9/2021  0.00


S Hendrickson-Dep Refund/S Hendrickson-Dep 


Refund/S Hendrickson-Void ck 025989/S 


Hendrickson-Void ck 025989


ZC027808 933 SARAH HENDRICKSON9/9/2021  0.00


City Stoton-Unclaimed funds/City Stoton-Unclaimed 


funds


CK027809 131 CITY OF STOUGHTON9/9/2021  1,352.55


City-Parisi 20 Contract 1 Ret/City-Parisi 20 Contract 


1 Ret/City -Parisi 20 Contract 1 Ret/City -Parisi 20 


Contract 1 Ret/CityStoton-JF Wages/CityStoton-JF 


Wages/CityStoton-JF Wages/CityStoton-JF 


Wages/CityStoton-JF Wages/CityStoton-JF 


Wages/More...


CK027810 131 CITY OF STOUGHTON9/16/2021  51,290.50


Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-TrenchingCK027811 290 MID-WEST TREE & EXCAVATION, INC9/16/2021  1,937.50


Rosenbaum-Dump Fees/Rosenbaum-Dump FeesCK027812 405 ROSENBAUM CRUSHING & EXCAV.9/16/2021  308.25


Asplundh-Tree Trimming/Asplundh-Tree TrimmingCK027813 691 ASPLUNDH TREE EXPERTS CO., INC.9/16/2021  9,409.20







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


12:34PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


6 of 8


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 10/5/2021


Tuesday, October 05, 2021


Description


G Fox-Valve Abandonment/G Fox-Valve 


Abandonment/G Fox-Valve Abandonment/G 


Fox-Valve Abandonment


CK027814 959 G. FOX & SON, INC.9/16/2021  2,950.00


G Slusser-Customer Refund/G Slusser-Customer 


Refund


CK027815 072 GERALD SLUSSER9/16/2021  86.60


J Post-Solar Credit Refund/J Post-Solar Credit 


Refund


CK027816 158 JAMES POST9/16/2021  223.38


Utility-Qtr Tower/Utility-Qtr TowerCK027817 362 UTILITY SERVICE CO., INC9/16/2021  5,533.91


B Andre-Solar Credit Refund/B Andre-Solar Credit 


Refund


CK027818 494 BRUCE ANDRE9/16/2021  116.29


Double Shot-Deposit Refund/Double Shot-Deposit 


Refund


CK027819 558 DOUBLE SHOT CUSTOMERS, LLC9/16/2021  53.23


Dunkirk-Customer Refund/Dunkirk-Customer 


Refund


CK027820 781 DUNKIRK WATER POWER CO LLC9/16/2021  289.84


Div Ener-Customer Refund/Div Ener-Customer 


Refund


CK027821 851 DIVISION OF ENERGY HOUSING AND COMM. RESOURCES9/16/2021  242.99


C Harkins-Solar Credit Refund/C Harkins-Solar 


Credit Refund


CK027822 858 CASEY HARKINS9/16/2021  424.56


S Felio-Solar Credit Refund/S Felio-Solar Credit 


Refund


CK027823 964 STEVE FELIO9/16/2021  274.63


Cr Human-Customer Refund/Cr Human-Customer 


Refund


CK027824 992 CREDIT HUMAN FED CREDIT UNION BEN PHIEFER9/16/2021  62.69


Resco-Supplies/Resco-Supplies.CK027825 400 RESCO9/16/2021  577.37


Wolf Paving-Pavement/Wolf Paving-PavementCK027826 555 WOLF PAVING & EXCAVATING CO.9/16/2021  1,500.00


General Comm-Portable Radio/Gen Comm-To void 


027750/Gen Comm-To void 027750/General 


Comm-Portable Radio


ZC027827 377 GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS, INC9/16/2021  0.00


City Stoton-Sept B Def Comp/City Stoton-Sept B 


Def Comp/City Stoton-Sept Retirement/City 


Stoton-Sept Retirement/City Stoton-Sept 


Retirement/City Stoton-Sept Retirement/City 


Stoton-Sept Retirement/City Stoton-Sept 


Retirement


CK027828 131 CITY OF STOUGHTON9/23/2021  19,375.23







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


12:34PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


7 of 8


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 10/5/2021


Tuesday, October 05, 2021


Description


Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-Tre


nching/Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-Trenching/Midw


est-Trenching


CK027829 290 MID-WEST TREE & EXCAVATION, INC9/23/2021  1,746.00


PDC-Supplies/PDC-Supplies/PDC-Supplies/PDC-S


upplies


CK027830 292 PRECISION DRIVE & CONTROL, INC9/23/2021  576.22


Strand-Wwtp Extras/Strand-Wwtp ExtrasCK027831 448 STRAND ASSOCIATES INC.9/23/2021  722.20


Millennium- Inventory/Millennium- InventoryCK027832 787 MILLENNIUM9/23/2021  572.07


Stoton Schools-Scholarship/Stoton 


Schools-Scholarship


CK027833 286 STOUGHTON AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT9/23/2021  5,000.00


United Paving-Asphalt Paving/United 


Paving-Asphalt Paving/United Paving-Asphalt 


Paving/United Paving-Asphalt Paving/United 


Paving-Asphalt Paving/United Paving-Asphalt 


Paving/United Paving-Asphalt Paving/United 


Paving-Asphalt Paving


CK027834 406 UNITED PAVING COMPANY9/23/2021  8,805.00


City Stoton-Stormwater/City Sloton-GO Debt 


2015/City Sloton-GO Debt 2015/City 


Stoton-Stormwater/City Sloton-GO Debt 2015/City 


Sloton-GO Debt 2015


CK027835 131 CITY OF STOUGHTON9/23/2021  62,140.15


Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/In


sight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insi


ght-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel


CK027836 451 INSIGHT FS9/23/2021  2,398.52


Martelle-Bulk Supply/Martelle-Bulk SupplyCK027837 487 MARTELLE WATER TREATMENT9/23/2021  987.45


Stella Jones-Inventory/Stella Jones-InventoryCK027838 620 STELLA JONES CORPORATION9/23/2021  2,862.67


Forster-Line Design/Forster-Tds Make 


Ready/Forster-Tds Make Ready/Forster-Line 


Design


CK102067 157 FORSTER ELEC. ENG.,INC.9/7/2021  1,280.00


B & H - Mowing/B & H - Mowing/B & H - Mowing/B 


& H - Mowing/B & H - Mowing/B & H - Mowing/B & 


H - Mowing/B & H - Mowing/B & H - Mowing/B & H - 


Mowing/B & H - Mowing/B & H - Mowing/B & H - 


Mowing/B & H - Mowing/B & H - Mowing/B & H - 


Mowing/More...


CK102068 519 B & H LAWN CARE9/7/2021  1,855.00







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


12:34PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


8 of 8


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 10/5/2021


Tuesday, October 05, 2021


Description


N Shore Bk-Sept A Def Comp/N Shore Bk-Sept A 


Def Comp


CK102069 731 NORTH SHORE BANK FSB-DEFERRED COMP.9/7/2021  300.00


Infosend-Billing & Mailing/Infosend-Billing & 


Mailing/Infosend-Billing & Mailing/Infosend-Billing & 


Mailing/Infosend-Billing & Mailing/Infosend-Billing & 


Mailing/Infosend-Billing & Mailing/Infosend-Billing & 


Mailing


CK102070 852 INFOSEND, INC9/7/2021  3,273.71


Itron-Maint/Itron-Maint/Itron-Maint/Itron-Maint/Itron-


Maint/Itron-Maint


CK102071 259 ITRON, INC.9/21/2021  2,248.20


SEERA-CTC Funds/SEERA-CTC FundsCK102072 603 SEERA-WIPFLI LLP9/21/2021  5,730.67


NORTH SHORE BANK FSB-DEFERRED/NORTH 


SHORE BANK FSB-DEFERRED


CK102073 731 NORTH SHORE BANK FSB-DEFERRED COMP.9/21/2021  300.00


Company Total  1,813,238.04







Date:


Time:


User:


Wednesday, September 08, 2021


08:38AM


SGUNSOLUS


Stoughton Utilities


Posting Preview Report


{PSSPurchCard.RefNbr} =  '0000000132'Select By:


Account Sub Amount ProjecMerchantVendor ID Post Date Emp IDCompany Description


Import ID: 009010 Import # : 0000000132


 80.13921 000000  - ADOBE INC096 08/09/2021SaaS - Adobe Cloud for Teams Apps 52507430


 28.84921 000000  - ADOBE INC096 08/09/2021SaaS - Adobe Cloud for Teams Apps 52507450


 38.46851 000000  - ADOBE INC096 08/09/2021SaaS - Adobe Cloud for Teams Apps 52507460


 12.84233 001099  - ADOBE INC096 08/09/2021SaaS - Adobe Cloud for Teams Apps 52507430


 149.85594 000000  - AMAZON.COM 2D4C33VN2 AMZN422 08/23/2021MISC UG SUPPLIES 41007430


 328.69834 000000  - AMAZON.COM 2D66K9BV0422 08/19/2021EFFLUENT SAMPLE FRIDGE 82007460


 28.89920 000000  - AMZN MKTP US 2518R7AH1422 08/30/2021INK CARTRIDGES 41007430


 52.07593 000000  - AMZN MKTP US 2518R7AH1422 08/30/2021SAFETY GLASSES 41007430


 82.60834 000000  - AMZN MKTP US 2553O3FV0422 08/26/2021SOFT WATER LINE TO ICE MAKER 82007460


 382.40833 000000  - AMZN MKTP US 255Q86EE1422 08/30/2021FINAL CLARIFIER SCUM CURTAIN 82007460


 34.97143 000001  - AMZN MKTP US 2D1U75U31422 08/23/2021Donation Presentation Check - WPPI Reimbursed 36807430


 79.53833 000000  - AMZN MKTP US 2D2RU5AG0422 08/16/2021TOOLS FOR PLANT MAINT 82007460


 27.99834 000000  - AMZN MKTP US 2D3UM1XO2422 08/23/2021ICE MAKER CLEANER 82007460


 0.99921 000000  - APPLE.COM/BILL810 08/24/2021STaaS - Apple - Employee Mobile Device - BSime 52507430


 20.47932 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 08/13/2021DOWNSPOUT REPAIRS 52757430


 19.27834 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 08/18/2021ICE AND FILTERS 82007460


 64.95594 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 08/19/2021MISC LINE SUPPLIES 52007430


 60.92107.14 000000 201016UA - 1ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 08/20/2021MISC MATERIALS 52007430


 394.00930 000000  - AWWA.ORG105 08/13/2021Organization Dues - AWWA, WIAWWA 52507450


 69.00934 000000  - CAPITAL EQUIPMENT994 08/13/2021FORK LIFT MAINT 41007430


 157.41921 000000  - CDW GOVT #J458562604 08/19/2021Workstation monitor - Water Supervisor 52507450


 149.94652 000000  - CHEMWORLD994 08/12/2021CHEMICAL INJECTOR PARTS 87007450


 59.73926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 08/02/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257430


 22.86926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 08/02/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257450


 15.24854 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 08/02/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257460


 76.32926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 08/09/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257430


 22.86926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 08/09/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257450


 15.24854 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 08/09/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257460


 59.73926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 08/16/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257430


 22.86926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 08/16/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257450


 15.24854 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 08/16/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257460


 69.23926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 08/23/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257430


 22.86926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 08/23/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257450


 15.24854 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 08/23/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257460


 59.73926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 08/30/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257430


 22.86926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 08/30/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257450


 15.24854 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 08/30/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257460


 2,793.72232 001099  - CRESCENT ELECTRIC 087134 08/25/2021ELECTRIC INVENTORY-CRESCENT 41007430


 80.00850 000000  - CSWEA411 08/11/2021SEMINAR FOR MARK AND PHIL 82007460


 104.50921 000000  - DISCOUNTASP.NET854 08/16/2021Web Hosting - Annual SSL Security Certificate 52507430


 37.62921 000000  - DISCOUNTASP.NET854 08/16/2021Web Hosting - Annual SSL Security Certificate 52507450


 50.16851 000000  - DISCOUNTASP.NET854 08/16/2021Web Hosting - Annual SSL Security Certificate 52507460







Date:


Time:


User:


Wednesday, September 08, 2021


08:38AM


SGUNSOLUS


Stoughton Utilities


Posting Preview Report


{PSSPurchCard.RefNbr} =  '0000000132'Select By:


Account Sub Amount ProjecMerchantVendor ID Post Date Emp IDCompany Description


 16.72233 001099  - DISCOUNTASP.NET854 08/16/2021Web Hosting - Annual SSL Security Certificate 52507430


 190.50921 000000  - DISCOUNTASP.NET854 08/19/2021Web Hosting - Annual web hosting service, storage, backup 52507430


 68.58921 000000  - DISCOUNTASP.NET854 08/19/2021Web Hosting - Annual web hosting service, storage, backup 52507450


 91.44851 000000  - DISCOUNTASP.NET854 08/19/2021Web Hosting - Annual web hosting service, storage, backup 52507460


 30.48233 001099  - DISCOUNTASP.NET854 08/19/2021Web Hosting - Annual web hosting service, storage, backup 52507430


 193.01833 000000  - EMS INDUSTRIAL, INC.795 08/20/2021FAN FOR DAFT BUILDING 82007460


 922.36828 000000  - FARM & FLEET OF MADISON841 08/12/2021SERVICE AND PLANT TRUCK OUTFITTING 82007460


 1,052.75232 001099  - FIRST SUPPLY MADISON550 08/26/2021WATER INVENTORY-FIRST SUPPLY 41007450


 11.60930 000000  - FONTS COM 08/20/2021Font Licensing - Print Materials 52507430


 4.22930 000000  - FONTS COM 08/20/2021Font Licensing - Print Materials 52507450


 5.28930 000000  - FONTS COM 08/20/2021Font Licensing - Print Materials 52507460


 66.80143 000000  - GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS, I377 08/17/2021PAID THROUGH AP-S/B REFUNDED 40007430


 791.00107.14 000000 210905XX - 1HYDRO DESIGNS354 08/13/2021CROSS CONNECTIONS 74007450


 1,186.75833 000000  - IN  L.V. LABORATORIES LLC588 08/10/2021JULY LAB TESTING 82007460


 280.50932 000000  - IN  SUNDANCE BIOCLEAN, IN322 08/13/2021CUSTODIAL 40007430


 102.00932 000000  - IN  SUNDANCE BIOCLEAN, IN322 08/13/2021CUSTODIAL 40007450


 127.50834 000000  - IN  SUNDANCE BIOCLEAN, IN322 08/13/2021CUSTODIAL 40007460


 377.99673 000000  - LINCOLN CONTRACTORS SUPPL818 08/13/2021BLADE FOR ROAD SAW 87007450


 660.10833 000000  - LW ALLEN207 08/04/2021FLOW METER/WASH PRESS REPAIRS 82007460


 86.25833 000000  - LW ALLEN207 08/12/2021MEG MIXER DIAGNOSTIC 82007460


 10.65921 000000  - MICROSOFT#G005171548836 08/19/2021STaaS - Azure - Cold Backup Storage 52507430


 3.87921 000000  - MICROSOFT#G005171548836 08/19/2021STaaS - Azure - Cold Backup Storage 52507450


 4.86851 000000  - MICROSOFT#G005171548836 08/19/2021STaaS - Azure - Cold Backup Storage 52507460


 78.65921 000000  - MSFT   E0400F9QE1836 08/03/2021SaaS - o365 - Skype for Business Online II 52507430


 28.60921 000000  - MSFT   E0400F9QE1836 08/03/2021SaaS - o365 - Skype for Business Online II 52507450


 35.75851 000000  - MSFT   E0400F9QE1836 08/03/2021SaaS - o365 - Skype for Business Online II 52507460


 14.36921 000000  - MSFT   E0400FAQ0O836 08/04/2021SaaS - o365 - Microsoft 365 Apps for Business 52507430


 5.22921 000000  - MSFT   E0400FAQ0O836 08/04/2021SaaS - o365 - Microsoft 365 Apps for Business 52507450


 6.53851 000000  - MSFT   E0400FAQ0O836 08/04/2021SaaS - o365 - Microsoft 365 Apps for Business 52507460


 2.75921 000000  - MSFT   E0400FCK0N836 08/09/2021SaaS - o365 - Visio 52507430


 1.00921 000000  - MSFT   E0400FCK0N836 08/09/2021SaaS - o365 - Visio 52507450


 1.25851 000000  - MSFT   E0400FCK0N836 08/09/2021SaaS - o365 - Visio 52507460


 16.50921 000000  - MSFT   E0400FCNLB836 08/09/2021SaaS - o365 - Project 52507430


 6.00921 000000  - MSFT   E0400FCNLB836 08/09/2021SaaS - o365 - Project 52507450


 7.50851 000000  - MSFT   E0400FCNLB836 08/09/2021SaaS - o365 - Project 52507460


 323.26833 000000  - NORTHERN LAKE SERVICE- IN974 08/31/2021LAB CHARGES 83007460


 89.07903 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 08/03/2021Credit card processing - Desktop and Recurring 52507430


 12.72903 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 08/03/2021Credit card processing - Desktop and Recurring 52507450


 19.08840 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 08/03/2021Credit card processing - Desktop and Recurring 52507460


 6.38233 001099  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 08/03/2021Credit card processing - Desktop and Recurring 52507430


 111.89903 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 08/03/2021Credit card processing - MyAccount Online 52507430


 15.98903 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 08/03/2021Credit card processing - MyAccount Online 52507450


 23.97840 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 08/03/2021Credit card processing - MyAccount Online 52507460


 8.01233 001099  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 08/03/2021Credit card processing - MyAccount Online 52507430







Date:


Time:


User:


Wednesday, September 08, 2021


08:38AM


SGUNSOLUS


Stoughton Utilities


Posting Preview Report


{PSSPurchCard.RefNbr} =  '0000000132'Select By:


Account Sub Amount ProjecMerchantVendor ID Post Date Emp IDCompany Description


 192.50930 000000  - PUBLIC POWER JOBS921 08/20/2021Advertising - Job Posting - Finance Director 52507430


 70.00930 000000  - PUBLIC POWER JOBS921 08/20/2021Advertising - Job Posting - Finance Director 52507450


 87.50850 000000  - PUBLIC POWER JOBS921 08/20/2021Advertising - Job Posting - Finance Director 52507460


 12.07921 000000  - QUICKIDCARD.COM994 08/30/2021Employee ID Card Replacement - SGunsolus 52507430


 4.39921 000000  - QUICKIDCARD.COM994 08/30/2021Employee ID Card Replacement - SGunsolus 52507450


 5.49851 000000  - QUICKIDCARD.COM994 08/30/2021Employee ID Card Replacement - SGunsolus 52507460


 65.00920 000000  - QUIT QUI OC GOLF CLUB RES994 08/26/2021WPPI EC GOLF OUTING 10257430


 278.00593 000000  - RADISSON HOTEL894 08/20/2021HOTEL FOR APPRENTICE SCHOOL 68307430


 278.00594 000000  - RADISSON HOTEL894 08/20/2021HOTEL FOR APPRENTICE SCHOOL 68307430


 883.30833 000000  - SCHAEFFERMANUFACTUR067 08/11/2021GREASE 82007460


 27.67833 000000  - SPEE-DEE DELIVERY SERVICE937 08/23/2021SAMPLE DELIVERY 83007460


 60.05921 000000  - STAPLS7336324451000001352 08/05/2021General office supplies 36807430


 21.61921 000000  - STAPLS7336324451000001352 08/05/2021General office supplies 36807450


 28.82851 000000  - STAPLS7336324451000001352 08/05/2021General office supplies 36807460


 9.62233 001099  - STAPLS7336324451000001352 08/05/2021General office supplies 36807430


 60.58921 000000  - STAPLS7337844733000001352 08/25/2021General office supplies 36807430


 21.81921 000000  - STAPLS7337844733000001352 08/25/2021General office supplies 36807450


 29.08851 000000  - STAPLS7337844733000001352 08/25/2021General office supplies 36807460


 9.70233 001099  - STAPLS7337844733000001352 08/25/2021General office supplies 36807430


 24.24143 000001  - STOUGHTON LUMBER CO436 08/31/2021Materials - Public Power Week - WPPI Reimbursed 36807430


 75.98827 000000  - STOUGHTON LUMBER CO436 08/04/2021SAW HORSES 87407460


 144.75107.14 000000 210067XX - 1STUART C. IRBY COMPANY355 08/23/2021COPPER THEFT 41007430


 17.24107.14 000000 210067XX - 1STUART C. IRBY COMPANY355 08/24/2021COPPER THEFT 41007430


 7.33107.14 000000 210904XX - 1TAPESTRY LAND RECORDS994 08/24/2021EASEMENT SEARCH 10257450


 270.00926 000000  - THE SHOE BOX578 08/09/2021SAFETY BOOTS 52007430


 11.36642 000000  - THE UPS STORE 3617164 08/03/2021SAMPLE SHIPPING 84007450


 49.98834 000000  - TRACTOR SUPPLY #2236994 08/11/2021FLOOR SQUEEGEES 82007460


 25.97833 000000  - TRACTOR SUPPLY #2236994 08/27/2021MISC PLANT SUPPLIES 87407460


 18.99933 000000  - TRACTOR SUPPLY #2236994 08/12/2021PROPANE FOR FORK LIFT 52757430


 16.78642 000000  - UPS 1Z17Y6230398440677824 08/19/2021Shipping of water samples to lab 36807450


 11.14642 000000  - UPS 1Z17Y6230399161459824 08/12/2021Shipping of water samples to lab 36807450


 11.14642 000000  - UPS 1Z17Y6230399371660824 08/19/2021Shipping of water samples to lab 36807450


 453.57652 000000  - USA BLUE BOOK571 08/03/2021CHEMICAL INJECTION PARTS 84007450


 360.75673 000000  - USA BLUE BOOK571 08/03/2021VALVE WRENCHES 84007450


 11.10926 000000  - USPS PO 5679700726824 08/27/2021CLOTHING RETURNS 52007430


 23.46903 000000  - USPS PO 5679700726824 08/31/2021Postage - LSL Replacement Notices 36507450


 26.00642 000000  - WI STATE HYGIENE LAB675 08/06/2021FLUORIDE SAMPLING 74007450


 16,650.10Total:







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


12:44PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


1 of 8


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 11/3/2021


Wednesday, November 03, 2021


Description


7430Company:


VO for check batch: 310648/VO for check batch: 


310648


EP002263 516 WELLS FARGO BANK10/7/2021  39,232.55


WPPI-Renewable Energy/WPPI-Renewable 


Energy/WPPI-Buy Back Solar Credit/WPPI-Buy 


Back Solar Credit/WPPI-Large Power/WPPI-Large 


Power/WPPI-Support Services/WPPI-Support 


Services/WPPI-Support Services/WPPI-Support 


Services/WPPI-Support Services/More...


HC002264 009 WPPI10/12/2021  1,041,618.75


Federal Taxes-Oct Ach/Federal Taxes-Oct 


Ach/Federal Taxes-Oct Ach/Federal Taxes-Oct 


Ach/Federal Taxes-Oct Ach/Federal Taxes-Oct 


Ach/Federal Taxes-Oct Ach/Federal Taxes-Oct Ach


HC002265 025 Payroll Federal Taxes- Ach10/30/2021  52,012.38


State Taxes-Oct Ach/State Taxes-Oct Ach/State 


Taxes-Oct Ach/State Taxes-Oct Ach/State 


Taxes-Oct Ach/State Taxes-Oct Ach


HC002266 008 Payroll  State Taxes - Ach10/30/2021  10,341.69


First Data-Oct Ach/First Data-Oct Ach/First 


Data-Oct Ach/First Data-Oct Ach/First Data-Oct 


Ach/First Data-Oct Ach/First Data-Oct Ach/First 


Data-Oct Ach


HC002267 421 FIRST DATA CHARGES10/30/2021  40.72


AT&T - Oct Ach/AT&T - Oct Ach/AT&T - Oct 


Ach/AT&T - Oct Ach


HC002268 952 AT&T10/30/2021  274.26


Us Cellular - Oct Ach/Us Cellular - Oct Ach/Us 


Cellular - Oct Ach/Us Cellular - Oct Ach/Us Cellular 


- Oct Ach/Us Cellular - Oct Ach


HC002269 004 Us Cellular - Ach10/30/2021  1,167.25


Gordon Flesch-Oct Ach/Gordon Flesch-Oct 


Ach/Gordon Flesch-Oct Ach/Gordon Flesch-Oct 


Ach/Gordon Flesch-Oct Ach/Gordon Flesch-Oct 


Ach/Gordon Flesch-Oct Ach/Gordon Flesch-Oct 


Ach


HC002270 856 GORDON FLESCH COMPANY, INC.10/30/2021  91.14


Dept of Rev-Oct Ach/Dept of Rev-Oct Ach/Dept of 


Rev-Oct Ach/Dept of Rev-Oct Ach


HC002271 010 WI Dept. of Revenue Taxpayment-Ach10/30/2021  76,310.25


EBC - Oct Ach/EBC - Oct Ach/EBC - Oct Ach/EBC - 


Oct Ach/EBC - Oct Ach/EBC - Oct Ach/EBC - Oct 


Ach/EBC - Oct Ach


HC002272 002 Employee Benefits Corp - Ach10/30/2021  990.47







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


12:44PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


2 of 8


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 11/3/2021


Wednesday, November 03, 2021


Description


Client Analysis-Oct Ach/Client Analysis-Oct 


Ach/Client Analysis-Oct Ach/Client Analysis-Oct 


Ach/Client Analysis-Oct Ach/Client Analysis-Oct 


Ach/Client Analysis-Oct Ach/Client Analysis-Oct 


Ach


HC002273 020 Wells Fargo Bank-Ach10/30/2021  15,580.97


Delta Dental - Oct Ach/Delta Dental - Oct Ach/Delta 


Dental - Oct Ach/Delta Dental - Oct Ach/Delta 


Dental - Oct Ach/Delta Dental - Oct Ach


HC002274 001 Delta Dental - Ach10/30/2021  2,913.58


Charter Comm-Oct Ach/Charter Comm-Oct 


Ach/Charter Comm-Oct Ach/Charter Comm-Oct 


Ach/Charter Comm-Oct Ach/Charter Comm-Oct 


Ach/Charter Comm-Oct Ach/Charter Comm-Oct 


Ach


HC002275 547 Charter Communications-Ach10/30/2021  429.33


Pitney Bowes-Oct Ach/Pitney Bowes-Oct 


Ach/Pitney Bowes-Oct Ach/Pitney Bowes-Oct 


Ach/Pitney Bowes-Oct Ach/Pitney Bowes-Oct 


Ach/Pitney Bowes-Oct Ach/Pitney Bowes-Oct Ach


HC002276 318 PITNEY-BOWES INC-PURCHASE POWER10/30/2021  744.96


Alliant Energy - Oct Ach/Alliant Energy - Oct 


Ach/Alliant Energy - Oct Ach/Alliant Energy - Oct 


Ach/Alliant Energy - Oct Ach/Alliant Energy - Oct 


Ach/Alliant Energy - Oct Ach/Alliant Energy - Oct 


Ach/Alliant Energy - Oct Ach/Alliant Energy - Oct 


Ach+


HC002277 003 Alliant Energy - Ach10/30/2021  287.26


TDS Metrocom - Oct Ach/TDS Metrocom - Oct 


Ach/TDS Metrocom - Oct Ach/TDS Metrocom - Oct 


Ach/TDS Metrocom - Oct Ach/TDS Metrocom - Oct 


Ach/TDS Metrocom - Oct Ach/TDS Metrocom - Oct 


Ach


HC002278 007 TDS Metrocom - Ach10/30/2021  468.48


S Gaines-Lead Svc Line Replace/S Gaines-Lead 


Svc Line Replace


CK027839 217 SCOTT GAINES OR BETH AMOS10/4/2021  5,040.00


K Coan-Lead Svc Line Replace/K Coan-Lead Svc 


Line Replace


CK027840 540 KATHERYN COAN10/4/2021  5,350.00


R Erickson-Lead Svc Line Repla/R Erickson-Lead 


Svc Line Repla


CK027841 722 RALPH OR CHRISTINE ERICKSON10/4/2021  3,982.00


J Restivo-Lead Svc Line Replac/J Restivo-Lead Svc 


Line Replac


CK027842 919 JON OR AMANDA RESTIVO10/4/2021  4,410.00


R Shea-Lead Svc Line Replace/R Shea-Lead Svc 


Line Replace


CK027843 136 RICHARD OR CHERYL SHEA10/4/2021  4,250.00







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


12:44PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


3 of 8


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 11/3/2021


Wednesday, November 03, 2021


Description


KW Prop-Lead Svd Line Replace/KW Prop-Lead 


Svd Line Replace


CK027844 203 KW PROPERTIES & INVESTMENTS, LLC10/4/2021  5,354.00


D Fry-Lead Svc Line Replace/D Fry-Lead Svc Line 


Replace


CK027845 680 DONALD & MARY FRY LIVING TRUST10/4/2021  4,250.00


J Rayko-Lead Svd Line Replace/J Rayko-Lead Svd 


Line Replace


CK027846 703 JESSICA OR STEVE RAYKO10/4/2021  4,550.00


N Limpert-Lead Sve Line Replac/N Limpert-Lead 


Sve Line Replac


CK027847 728 NICOLE OR MARK LIMPERT10/4/2021  5,252.00


A Olson-Lead Svc Line Replace/A Olson-Lead Svc 


Line Replace


CK027848 061 ALFRED OLSON10/5/2021  6,342.00


R Murphy-Lead Svc Line Replace/R Murphy-Lead 


Svc Line Replace


CK027849 073 RYAN MURPHY10/5/2021  3,428.75


A Droessler-Lead Svc Line Repl/A Droessler-Lead 


Svc Line Repl


CK027850 338 ALBIN OR PATRICIA DROESSLER10/5/2021  3,898.00


R Diebel-Lead Svc Line Replace/R Diebel-Lead Svc 


Line Replace


CK027851 479 ROBERT DIEBEL10/5/2021  5,150.00


B March-Lead Svc Line Replace/B March-Lead Svc 


Line Replace


CK027852 585 BRUCE MARCH10/5/2021  5,250.00


J Cagle-Lead Svc Line Replace/J Cagle-Lead Svc 


Line Replace


CK027853 668 JESSICA CAGLE10/5/2021  3,075.00


J Bubon-Lead Svc Line Replace/J Bubon-Lead Svc 


Line Replace


CK027854 876 JENNIFER BETTERS-BUBON10/5/2021  5,318.00


Harvest Farms-Lot 38/Harvest Farms-Lot 38CK027855 084 HARVEST FARMS, LLC10/8/2021  550.00


Stafford-Legal Services/Stafford-Legal ServicesCK027856 186 STAFFORD ROSENBAUM LLC10/8/2021  157.50


Resco-Supplies/Resco-Inventory/Resco-Supplies/R


esco-Inventory/Resco-Inventory/Resco-Inventory


CK027857 400 RESCO10/8/2021  19,037.50


Jims-Tree Trimming/Jims-Tree TrimmingCK027858 780 JIMS TREE SERVICE INC10/8/2021  1,200.00


S Hannigan-Customer Refund/S 


Hannigan-Customer Refund


CK027859 231 SUSAN HANNIGAN10/7/2021  234.88







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


12:44PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


4 of 8


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 11/3/2021


Wednesday, November 03, 2021


Description


Phillips-Customer Refund/Phillips-Customer 


Refund/Phillips-Customer Refund/Phillips-Customer 


Refund


VC027860 241 PHILLIPS CONTRACTING LLC10/13/2021  0.00


Stoton Chamber-Annual Memb/Stoton 


Chamber-Annual Memb/Stoton Chamber-Annual 


Memb/Stoton Chamber-Annual Memb/Stoton 


Chamber-Annual Memb/Stoton Chamber-Annual 


Memb/Stoton Chamber-Annual Memb/Stoton 


Chamber-Annual Memb/Stoton Chamber-Annual 


Memb/More...


VC027861 415 STOUGHTON CHAMBER OF COMMERCE10/13/2021  0.00


PSC-Assessments/PSC-Assessments/PSC-Assess


ments/PSC-Assessments/PSC-Assessments/PSC-


Assessments/PSC-Assessments/PSC-Assessment


s


VC027862 491 PUBLIC SVC. COMM. OF WI.10/13/2021  0.00


GLS Utility-Locates/GLS Utility-Locates/GLS 


Utility-Locates/GLS Utility-Locates/GLS 


Utility-Locates/GLS Utility-Locates/GLS 


Utility-Locates/GLS Utility-Locates/GLS 


Utility-Locates/GLS Utility-Locates/GLS 


Utility-Locates/GLS Utility-Locates/More...


VC027863 727 GLS UTILITY LLC10/13/2021  0.00


Five Star-Pay Req #3/Five Star-Pay Req #3/Five 


Star-Pay Req #3/Five Star-Pay Req #3


CK027864 580 FIVE STAR ENERGY SERVICES, LLC10/11/2021  844,452.32


City Stoton-Oct A Def Comp/City Stoton-Oct A Def 


Comp


CK027865 131 CITY OF STOUGHTON10/13/2021  1,698.90


Schmidts-Truck Repairs/Schmidts-Truck RepairsCK027866 271 SCHMIDT'S AUTO, INC10/13/2021  450.00


Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-Tre


nching/Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-Trenching/Midw


est-Trenching/Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-Trenchin


g


CK027867 290 MID-WEST TREE & EXCAVATION, INC10/13/2021  26,123.00


Phillips-Customer Refund/Phillips-Customer RefundCK027868 241 PHILLIPS CONTRACTING LLC10/13/2021  184.20


Stoton Chamber-Annual Memb/Stoton 


Chamber-Annual Memb/Stoton Chamber-Annual 


Memb/Stoton Chamber-Annual Memb/Stoton 


Chamber-Annual Memb/Stoton Chamber-Annual 


Memb


CK027869 415 STOUGHTON CHAMBER OF COMMERCE10/13/2021  600.00


PSC-Assessments/PSC-Assessments/PSC-Assess


ments/PSC-Assessments


CK027870 491 PUBLIC SVC. COMM. OF WI.10/13/2021  19,649.32







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


12:44PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


5 of 8


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 11/3/2021


Wednesday, November 03, 2021


Description


GLS Utility-Locates/GLS Utility-Locates/GLS 


Utility-Locates/GLS Utility-Locates/GLS 


Utility-Locates/GLS Utility-Locates/GLS 


Utility-Locates/GLS Utility-Locates


CK027871 727 GLS UTILITY LLC10/13/2021  22,329.75


E Curran-Deposit Refund/E Curran-Deposit RefundCK027872 185 ELLEN CURRAN10/13/2021  133.17


Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-Tre


nching/Midwest-Glacier Moraine Dr/Midwest-St Lite 


Repair/Midwest-St Lite 


Repair/Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-Trenching/Midw


est-Glacier Moraine 


Dr/Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-


Trenching


CK027873 290 MID-WEST TREE & EXCAVATION, INC10/13/2021  2,076.50


P Parisi-Deposit Refund/P Parisi-Deposit RefundCK027874 658 PAUL PARISI10/13/2021  199.02


Inkworks-Billing inserts/Inkworks-Billing 


inserts/Inkworks-Supplies/Inkworks-Supplies/Inkwor


ks-Supplies/Inkworks-Supplies/Inkworks-Billing 


inserts/Inkworks-Billing 


inserts/Inkworks-Supplies/Inkworks-Supplies/Inkwor


ks-Supplies/Inkworks-Supplies


CK027875 166 INKWORKS, INC.10/13/2021  1,855.52


Midwest-Meter tests/Midwest-Meter testsCK027876 232 MIDWEST TESTING LLC10/13/2021  982.50


S Frisch-Customer Refund/S Frisch-Customer 


Refund


CK027877 375 SIERRA FRISCH C/O SHARON FRISCH10/13/2021  9.10


Resco-Inventory/Resco-InventoryCK027878 400 RESCO10/13/2021  173.50


Mad Retriever-Dep Refund/Mad Retriever-Dep 


Refund


CK027879 614 MADISON RETRIEVER CLUB10/13/2021  384.32


A Knipfer-Deposit Refund/A Knipfer-Deposit RefundCK027880 635 AMBER KNIPFER10/13/2021  156.21


Carousel-Subscription/Carousel-Subscription/Carou


sel-Subscription/Carousel-Subscription/Carousel-Su


bscription/Carousel-Subscription


CK027881 866 CAROUSEL DIGITAL SIGNAGE10/13/2021  3,520.00


City Stoton-Stormwater/City Stoton-StormwaterCK027882 131 CITY OF STOUGHTON10/21/2021  58,886.21


Border States-Supplies/Border 


States-Supplies/Border States-Supplies/Border 


States-Supplies/Border States-Supplies/Border 


States-Supplies


CK027883 327 BORDER STATES ELECTRIC SUPPLY10/21/2021  3,856.09







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


12:44PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


6 of 8


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 11/3/2021


Wednesday, November 03, 2021


Description


Utility-Qtr Tower/Utility-Qtr TowerCK027884 362 UTILITY SERVICE CO., INC10/21/2021  8,104.85


Boardman-Legal Services/Boardman-Legal 


Services


CK027885 865 BOARDMAN & CLARK LLP10/21/2021  102.88


Rosenbaum-Manhole Repairs/Rosenbaum-Manhole 


Repairs


CK027886 405 ROSENBAUM CRUSHING & EXCAV.10/22/2021  633.89


Strand-General Eng/Strand-Public 


LSL/Strand-Isham St Wa/Strand-Public 


LSL/Strand-General Eng/Strand-Lateral 


Obs/Strand-Wa Main Design/Strand-Wa Main 


Design/Strand-Isham St Wa/Strand-Public 


LSL/Strand-Public LSL/Strand-Lateral Obs/More...


CK027887 448 STRAND ASSOCIATES INC.10/22/2021  63,190.22


Martelle-Bulk Treatment/Martelle-Bulk TreatmentCK027888 487 MARTELLE WATER TREATMENT10/22/2021  721.50


United Liquid-Sludge Hauling/United Liquid-Sludge 


Hauling


CK027889 593 UNITED LIQUID WASTE RECYCLING, INC10/22/2021  18,564.45


City Stoton-Oct B Def Comp/City Stoton-Oct B Def 


Comp


CK027890 131 CITY OF STOUGHTON10/22/2021  1,767.69


Resco-Supplies/Resco-Supplies/Resco-Inventory/R


esco-Supplies/Resco-Supplies/Resco-Inventory/Re


sco-Supplies/Resco-Supplies


CK027891 400 RESCO10/22/2021  2,188.39


Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/In


sight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel


CK027892 451 INSIGHT FS10/22/2021  200.24


N Garcia-Lead Svc Replace/N Garcia-Lead Svc 


Replace


CK027893 562 NANCY GARCIA10/22/2021  3,742.00


Augusta-Lead Svc Replace/Augusta-Lead Svc 


Replace


CK027894 640 AUGUSTA REALTY, INC.10/22/2021  4,250.00


GLS - Sept Locates/GLS - Sept Locates/GLS - Sept 


Locates/GLS - Sept Locates/GLS - Sept 


Locates/GLS - Sept Locates/GLS - Sept 


Locates/GLS - Sept Locates


CK027895 727 GLS UTILITY LLC10/28/2021  16,603.13


R Ragainis-Customer Refund/R Ragainis-Customer 


Refund/R Ragainis-Customer Refund/R 


Ragainis-Customer Refund/R Ragainis-Customer 


Refund/R Ragainis-Customer Refund/R 


Ragainis-Customer Refund/R Ragainis-Customer 


Refund


CK027896 048 RON OR ALISHA RAGAINIS10/28/2021  175.08







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


12:44PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


7 of 8


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 11/3/2021


Wednesday, November 03, 2021


Description


Harvest Farms-Lot 123/Harvest Farms-Lot 123CK027897 084 HARVEST FARMS, LLC10/28/2021  550.00


Border States-Supplies/Border States-SuppliesCK027898 327 BORDER STATES ELECTRIC SUPPLY10/28/2021  39.89


TWTH - Customer Refund/TWTH - Customer 


Refund


CK027899 602 TWTH HOLDINGS, INC.10/28/2021  217.83


D Bormett-Customer Refund/D Bormett-Customer 


Refund


CK027900 621 DAVID OR JENNIFER BORMETT10/28/2021  115.55


WI DNR - Operator certif/WI DNR - Operator certifCK027901 956 WI DNR - OPERATOR CERTIFICATION EA/710/28/2021  45.00


Zoho Corp-Software License/Zoho Corp-Software 


License/Zoho Corp-Software License/Zoho 


Corp-Software License/Zoho Corp-Software 


License/Zoho Corp-Software License


CK027902 155 ZOHO CORPORATION10/28/2021  6,786.00


Strand-Eng Services/Strand-Eng ServicesCK027903 448 STRAND ASSOCIATES INC.10/28/2021  1,763.24


PSC - Assessments/PSC - AssessmentsCK027904 491 PUBLIC SVC. COMM. OF WI.10/28/2021  2,179.48


Buckys-Event Rental/Buckys-Event RentalCK027905 771 BUCKYS DUMPSTERS & RESTROOMS INC10/28/2021  200.00


Div Ener-Customer Refund/Div Ener-Customer 


Refund


CK027906 851 DIVISION OF ENERGY HOUSING AND COMM. RESOURCES10/28/2021  62.35


Solenis-Supplies/Solenis-SuppliesCK027907 090 SOLENIS LLC10/28/2021  5,015.10


Resco- Inventory/Resco- 


Inventory/Resco-Inventory/Resco-Supplies/Resco-S


upplies/Resco-Inventory


CK027908 400 RESCO10/28/2021  843.58


Martelle-Bulk Supplies/Martelle-Bulk SuppliesCK027909 487 MARTELLE WATER TREATMENT10/28/2021  1,297.40


R Totz-Customer Refund/R Totz-Customer RefundCK027910 582 ROBERT TOTZ10/28/2021  109.45


Core & Main-Supplies/Core & Main-SuppliesCK027911 816 CORE & MAIN LP10/28/2021  700.00


N Shore Bk-Oct A Def Comp/N Shore Bk-Oct A Def 


Comp


CK102074 731 NORTH SHORE BANK FSB-DEFERRED COMP.10/6/2021  300.00







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


12:44PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


8 of 8


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 11/3/2021


Wednesday, November 03, 2021


Description


Infosend-Invoicing & Billing/Infosend-Invoicing & 


Billing/Infosend-Archiving/Infosend-Archiving/Infose


nd-Invoicing & Billing/Infosend-Invoicing & 


Billing/Infosend-Invoicing & 


Billing/Infosend-Invoicing & 


Billing/Infosend-Invoicing & Billing/More...


CK102075 852 INFOSEND, INC10/6/2021  3,262.92


N Shore Bk-Oct B Def Comp/N Shore Bk-Oct B Def 


Comp


CK102076 731 NORTH SHORE BANK FSB-DEFERRED COMP.10/15/2021  300.00


Infosend-Billing & Mailing/Infosend-Billing & 


Mailing/Infosend-Billing & Mailing/Infosend-Billing & 


Mailing/Infosend-Billing & Mailing/Infosend-Billing & 


Mailing/Infosend-Billing & Mailing/Infosend-Billing & 


Mailing


CK102077 852 INFOSEND, INC10/15/2021  3,610.16


Company Total  2,473,945.57







Date:


Time:


User:


Thursday, October 07, 2021


12:50PM


SGUNSOLUS


Stoughton Utilities


Posting Preview Report


{PSSPurchCard.RefNbr} =  '0000000133'Select By:


Account Sub Amount ProjecMerchantVendor ID Post Date Emp IDCompany Description


Import ID: 009010 Import # : 0000000133


 80.13921 000000  - ADOBE INC096 09/07/2021SaaS - Adobe Cloud for Teams Apps 52507430


 28.84921 000000  - ADOBE INC096 09/07/2021SaaS - Adobe Cloud for Teams Apps 52507450


 38.46851 000000  - ADOBE INC096 09/07/2021SaaS - Adobe Cloud for Teams Apps 52507460


 12.84233 001099  - ADOBE INC096 09/07/2021SaaS - Adobe Cloud for Teams Apps 52507430


 2,995.66921 000000  - AMZN MKTP US 2C0445Z92422 09/29/2021Employee Workstations - x6 - BSime, CCushing, MSeffens, Reception x2, KThompson 52507430


 1,843.48921 000000  - AMZN MKTP US 2C0445Z92422 09/29/2021Employee Workstations - x6 - BSime, CCushing, MSeffens, Reception x2, KThompson 52507450


 691.30851 000000  - AMZN MKTP US 2C0445Z92422 09/29/2021Employee Workstations - x6 - BSime, CCushing, MSeffens, Reception x2, KThompson 52507460


 3,357.00921 000000  - AMZN MKTP US 2C8X05N80422 09/27/2021Employee Workstations - x4 - BHoops, SOGrady, SSGrady, Vacant GIS 52507430


 559.50921 000000  - AMZN MKTP US 2C8X05N80422 09/27/2021Employee Workstations - x4 - BHoops, SOGrady, SSGrady, Vacant GIS 52507450


 559.50851 000000  - AMZN MKTP US 2C8X05N80422 09/27/2021Employee Workstations - x4 - BHoops, SOGrady, SSGrady, Vacant GIS 52507460


 0.99921 000000  - APPLE.COM/BILL810 09/24/2021STaaS - Apple - Employee Mobile Device - BSime 52507430


 3.10593 000000  - ARBY'S 8750894 09/23/2021LUNCH-APPRENTICE SCHOOL 87307430


 3.10594 000000  - ARBY'S 8750894 09/23/2021LUNCH-APPRENTICE SCHOOL 87307430


 20.00675 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 09/02/2021CURB STOP REPAIR 84007450


 39.56833 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 09/01/2021PLUMBING SUPPLIES FOR PLANT 82007460


 18.99932 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 09/09/2021VESTIBULE DOWNSPOUT REPAIR 52757430


 6.44107.14 000000 201016UA - 1ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 09/21/2021CONDUIT SUPPLIES 52007430


 37.00675 000000  - BADGER WELDING SUPPLIES,968 09/20/2021GAS TO FREEZE WATER SERVICES 87007450


 69.00934 000000  - CAPITAL EQUIPMENT994 09/10/2021FORK LIFT MAINT 41007430


 1,240.55921 000000  - CDW GOVT #L402824604 09/29/2021Digital Signage Players - x15 52507430


 451.11921 000000  - CDW GOVT #L402824604 09/29/2021Digital Signage Players - x15 52507450


 563.89851 000000  - CDW GOVT #L402824604 09/29/2021Digital Signage Players - x15 52507460


 76.32926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 09/06/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257430


 22.86926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 09/06/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257450


 15.24854 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 09/06/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257460


 59.73926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 09/13/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257430


 22.86926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 09/13/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257450


 15.24854 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 09/13/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257460


 69.23926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 09/20/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257430


 22.86926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 09/20/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257450


 15.24854 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 09/20/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257460


 59.73926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 09/27/2021LUNCH DURING STORM DAMAGE REPAIR 10257430


 22.86926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 09/27/2021LUNCH DURING STORM DAMAGE REPAIR 10257450


 15.24854 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 09/27/2021LUNCH DURING STORM DAMAGE REPAIR 10257460


 115.00834 000000  - CLASS 1 AIR INC800 09/30/2021ANNUAL FUME HOOD INSPECTION 82007460


 2,950.00232 001099  - CORE & MAIN - WI007816 09/22/2021WATER INVENTORY-CORE AND MAIN 41007450


 1,680.00833 000000  - CRANE ENGINEERING SALES855 09/28/2021WEST SCREW GREASER REPAIR PARTS 82007460


 40.00840 000000  - CSWEA411 09/14/2021WW COLLECTIONS SEMINAR 84007460


 4.59593 000000  - CULVERS OF EAU CLAIRE W894 09/21/2021LUNCH-APPRENTICE SCHOOL 87307430


 4.60594 000000  - CULVERS OF EAU CLAIRE W894 09/21/2021LUNCH-APPRENTICE SCHOOL 87307430


 67.23593 000000  - FASTENAL COMPANY 01WISTG148 09/16/2021MISC LINE SUPPLIES 68107430


-80.00926 000000  - FRSAFETY.COM994 09/13/2021CLOTHING FOR NEW HIRES-RETURN 52007430







Date:


Time:


User:


Thursday, October 07, 2021


12:50PM


SGUNSOLUS


Stoughton Utilities


Posting Preview Report


{PSSPurchCard.RefNbr} =  '0000000133'Select By:


Account Sub Amount ProjecMerchantVendor ID Post Date Emp IDCompany Description


 314.93593 000000  - HOLIDAY INN EXP & SUITES894 09/27/2021HOTEL-APPRENTICE SCHOOL 87307430


 314.93594 000000  - HOLIDAY INN EXP & SUITES894 09/27/2021HOTEL-APPRENTICE SCHOOL 87307430


 791.00107.14 000000 210905XX - 1HYDRO DESIGNS354 09/14/2021CROSS CONNECTIONS 74007450


 985.25833 000000  - IN  L.V. LABORATORIES LLC588 09/10/2021AUGUST LAB TESTING 82007460


 280.50932 000000  - IN  SUNDANCE BIOCLEAN, IN322 09/14/2021JANITORIAL 40007430


 102.00932 000000  - IN  SUNDANCE BIOCLEAN, IN322 09/14/2021JANITORIAL 40007450


 127.50834 000000  - IN  SUNDANCE BIOCLEAN, IN322 09/14/2021JANITORIAL 40007460


 129.61920 000000  - JIMMY JOHNS - 1959 - E994 09/21/2021STAFF LUNCH 10257430


 47.13920 000000  - JIMMY JOHNS - 1959 - E994 09/21/2021STAFF LUNCH 10257450


 58.93850 000000  - JIMMY JOHNS - 1959 - E994 09/21/2021STAFF LUNCH 10257460


 21.50593 000000  - KWIK TRIP  47200004721994 09/27/2021GAS-APPRENTICE SCHOOL 87307430


 21.50594 000000  - KWIK TRIP  47200004721994 09/27/2021GAS-APPRENTICE SCHOOL 87307430


 28.62920 000000  - LA CANTINA LLC894 09/21/2021INTERVIEWEE LUNCH 10257430


 58.11673 000000  - LINCOLN CONTRACTORS SUPPL818 09/20/2021UTILITY MARKING PAINT 87007450


 58.11831 000000  - LINCOLN CONTRACTORS SUPPL818 09/20/2021UTILITY MARKING PAINT 87007460


 3.44593 000000  - MCDONALD'S F10771894 09/22/2021LUNCH-APPRENTICE SCHOOL 87307430


 3.44594 000000  - MCDONALD'S F10771894 09/22/2021LUNCH-APPRENTICE SCHOOL 87307430


 3.32593 000000  - MCDONALD'S F10771894 09/27/2021LUNCH-APPRENTICE SCHOOL 87307430


 3.32594 000000  - MCDONALD'S F10771894 09/27/2021LUNCH-APPRENTICE SCHOOL 87307430


 5.24593 000000  - MCDONALD'S F3903894 09/22/2021DINNER-APPRENTICE SCHOOL 87307430


 5.24594 000000  - MCDONALD'S F3903894 09/22/2021DINNER-APPRENTICE SCHOOL 87307430


 3.14593 000000  - MCDONALD'S F3903894 09/21/2021DINNER-APPRENTICE SCHOOL 87307430


 3.15594 000000  - MCDONALD'S F3903894 09/21/2021DINNER-APPRENTICE SCHOOL 87307430


 42.99932 000000  - MENARDS JOHNSON CREEK WI652 09/01/2021PLEXIGLASS FOR CSR AREA 10257430


 109.18675 000000  - MENARDS MONONA WI652 09/20/2021MISC SUPPLIES FOR REPAIRS 87007450


 109.18631 000000  - MENARDS MONONA WI652 09/20/2021MISC SUPPLIES FOR REPAIRS 87007450


 109.18678 000000  - MENARDS MONONA WI652 09/20/2021MISC SUPPLIES FOR REPAIRS 87007450


 2.99921 000000  - MICROSOFT#G005475445836 09/20/2021STaaS - Azure - Cold Backup Storage 52507430


 1.09921 000000  - MICROSOFT#G005475445836 09/20/2021STaaS - Azure - Cold Backup Storage 52507450


 1.37851 000000  - MICROSOFT#G005475445836 09/20/2021STaaS - Azure - Cold Backup Storage 52507460


 2,284.90346 000000  - MIDWEST METER - JACKSON165 09/21/2021WATER METERS 74007450


 820.48346 000000  - MIDWEST METER - JACKSON165 09/10/20212 INCH METER BODY 74007450


 78.65921 000000  - MSFT   E0400FLSMZ836 09/03/2021SaaS - o365 - Skype for Business Online II 52507430


 28.60921 000000  - MSFT   E0400FLSMZ836 09/03/2021SaaS - o365 - Skype for Business Online II 52507450


 35.75851 000000  - MSFT   E0400FLSMZ836 09/03/2021SaaS - o365 - Skype for Business Online II 52507460


 14.36921 000000  - MSFT   E0400FMNVC836 09/06/2021SaaS - o365 - Microsoft 365 Apps for Business 52507430


 5.22921 000000  - MSFT   E0400FMNVC836 09/06/2021SaaS - o365 - Microsoft 365 Apps for Business 52507450


 6.53851 000000  - MSFT   E0400FMNVC836 09/06/2021SaaS - o365 - Microsoft 365 Apps for Business 52507460


 379.00642 000000  - NORTHERN LAKE SERVICE- IN974 09/10/2021SAMPLE ANALYSIS 74007450


 644.90593 000000  - OMEGA TECHNOLOGIES INC267 09/27/2021QUICK CHANGE CHUCK 52007430


 112.80903 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 09/03/2021Credit card processing - MyAccount Online 52507430


 16.11903 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 09/03/2021Credit card processing - MyAccount Online 52507450


 24.17840 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 09/03/2021Credit card processing - MyAccount Online 52507460


 8.07233 001099  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 09/03/2021Credit card processing - MyAccount Online 52507430







Date:


Time:


User:


Thursday, October 07, 2021


12:50PM


SGUNSOLUS


Stoughton Utilities


Posting Preview Report


{PSSPurchCard.RefNbr} =  '0000000133'Select By:


Account Sub Amount ProjecMerchantVendor ID Post Date Emp IDCompany Description


 86.97903 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 09/03/2021Credit card processing - Desktop and Recurring 52507430


 12.42903 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 09/03/2021Credit card processing - Desktop and Recurring 52507450


 18.63840 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 09/03/2021Credit card processing - Desktop and Recurring 52507460


 6.23233 001099  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 09/03/2021Credit card processing - Desktop and Recurring 52507430


 2,218.26926 000000  - SLATEROCKSA994 09/24/2021CLOTHING FOR NEW HIRES 52007430


 167.79921 000000  - STAPLS7338560112000001352 09/03/2021Office supplies - Toner 36807430


 60.40921 000000  - STAPLS7338560112000001352 09/03/2021Office supplies - Toner 36807450


 80.53851 000000  - STAPLS7338560112000001352 09/03/2021Office supplies - Toner 36807460


 26.86233 001099  - STAPLS7338560112000001352 09/03/2021Office supplies - Toner 36807430


 51.77921 000000  - STAPLS7338854089000001352 09/09/2021Reception and meeting room supplies 36807430


 18.82921 000000  - STAPLS7338854089000001352 09/09/2021Reception and meeting room supplies 36807450


 23.54851 000000  - STAPLS7338854089000001352 09/09/2021Reception and meeting room supplies 36807460


 38.36921 000000  - STAPLS7339759636000001352 09/22/2021General office supplies 36807430


 13.80921 000000  - STAPLS7339759636000001352 09/22/2021General office supplies 36807450


 18.41851 000000  - STAPLS7339759636000001352 09/22/2021General office supplies 36807460


 6.15233 001099  - STAPLS7339759636000001352 09/22/2021General office supplies 36807430


 260.00593 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 09/03/2021WASHERS AND BOLT MACH 41007430


 72.00593 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 09/03/2021WASHERS 41007430


 112.00932 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 09/24/2021PACKOUT ROLLING 41007430


 3,963.60232 001099  - STUART C IRBY355 09/30/2021ELECTRIC INVENTORY-IRBY 41007430


 210.00593 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 09/30/2021WASHERS 41007430


 13.40593 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 09/30/2021WASHERS 41007430


 1,545.00593 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 09/30/2021MISC LINE SUPPLIES 41007430


 55.50593 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 09/30/2021MACHINE BOLTS 41007430


 32.99593 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 09/30/2021MISC LINE SUPPLIES 41007430


 627.50593 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 09/30/2021REDUCER AUTO SPLICE 41007430


 54.81593 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 09/10/2021WASHERS AND BOLT MACH 41007430


 850.00593 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 09/21/2021MISC LINE SUPPLIES 41007430


 38.54833 000000  - THE UPS STORE 3617164 09/08/2021SAMPLE DELIVERY 82007460


 16.18833 000000  - TRACTOR SUPPLY #2236994 09/24/2021PAINT FOR LAB AND OIL FOR PUMP 87107460


 24.76933 000000  - TRACTOR SUPPLY #2236994 09/13/2021PROPANE FOR FORK LIFT 52757430


 12.99594 000000  - TRACTOR SUPPLY #2236994 09/01/2021MISC UG SUPPLIES 52007430


 131.42633 000000  - TRACTOR SUPPLY #2236994 09/09/2021WELL 5 GENERATOR REPAIR 87007450


 8.01920 000000  - TST  ROCK N ROLLZ SANDWIC894 09/13/2021LUNCH 69307430


 10.49642 000000  - UPS 1Z17Y6230396832480824 09/13/2021Shipping of water samples 36807450


 11.14642 000000  - UPS 1Z17Y6230399931091824 09/16/2021Shipping of water samples 36807450


 11.14642 000000  - UPS 1ZG194WT0322856690824 09/23/2021Shipping of water samples 36807450


 1,532.76332 000000  - USA BLUE BOOK571 09/14/2021REPLACEMENT CHLORINE PUMP 74007450


 7.38903 000000  - USPS PO 5679700726824 09/06/2021LSL letter certified postage 36507450


 54.93143 000001  - WAL-MART #1176507 09/09/2021Public Power Week event supplies - WPPI Reimbursed. 36807430


 19.68593 000000  - WAL-MART #1669894 09/21/2021SNACKS FOR APPRENTICE SCHOOL 87307430


 19.69594 000000  - WAL-MART #1669894 09/21/2021SNACKS FOR APPRENTICE SCHOOL 87307430


 663.00850 000000  - WISCONSIN WASTEWATER OPER537 09/06/2021WWOA CONFERENCE 82007460







Date:


Time:


User:


Thursday, October 07, 2021


12:50PM


SGUNSOLUS


Stoughton Utilities


Posting Preview Report


{PSSPurchCard.RefNbr} =  '0000000133'Select By:


Account Sub Amount ProjecMerchantVendor ID Post Date Emp IDCompany Description


 39,232.55Total:



































Date:


Time:


User:


Wednesday, November 10, 2021


12:54PM


SGUNSOLUS


Stoughton Utilities


Posting Preview Report


{PSSPurchCard.RefNbr} =  '0000000134'Select By:


Account Sub Amount ProjecMerchantVendor ID Post Date Emp IDCompany Description


Import ID: 009010 Import # : 0000000134


 88.14921 000000  - ADOBE INC096 10/07/2021SaaS - Adobe Cloud for Teams Apps 52507430


 32.05921 000000  - ADOBE INC096 10/07/2021SaaS - Adobe Cloud for Teams Apps 52507450


 40.08851 000000  - ADOBE INC096 10/07/2021SaaS - Adobe Cloud for Teams Apps 52507460


 399.00143 000001  - AMAZON.COM 277Y38WG0422 10/18/2021Public Power Week - WPPI Reimbursed - Customer Daily Grand Prize 36807430


 349.00143 000001  - AMAZON.COM 2C4SZ0YL2 AMZN422 10/08/2021Public Power Week - WPPI Reimbursed - Customer Daily Grand Prize 36807430


 102.81594 000000  - AMAZON.COM 2C7PH26X0 AMZN422 10/04/2021TOWELS AND KLEENGUARD 41007430


 137.49921 000000  - AMAZON.COM R18NS23E3422 10/28/2021Kitchen and conference room supplies - Replacement Keurig 36807430


 49.99921 000000  - AMAZON.COM R18NS23E3422 10/28/2021Kitchen and conference room supplies - Replacement Keurig 36807450


 62.51851 000000  - AMAZON.COM R18NS23E3422 10/28/2021Kitchen and conference room supplies - Replacement Keurig 36807460


 33.76594 000000  - AMZN MKTP US 2702N0O52422 10/11/2021STERN MOUNT THERMAL PHOTOCONTROL 52007430


 436.04143 000001  - AMZN MKTP US 272718NP0422 10/07/2021Public Power Week - WPPI Reimbursed - Customer Daily Grand Prize 36807430


 77.00921 000000  - AMZN MKTP US 272TS9QY0422 10/13/2021Redundant power supply - SUWWTPDR1 52507430


 28.00921 000000  - AMZN MKTP US 272TS9QY0422 10/13/2021Redundant power supply - SUWWTPDR1 52507450


 35.00851 000000  - AMZN MKTP US 272TS9QY0422 10/13/2021Redundant power supply - SUWWTPDR1 52507460


 342.16594 000000  - AMZN MKTP US 277JG3JY0422 10/08/2021ZYKLOP RATCHET 52007430


 68.39921 000000  - AMZN MKTP US 279K08J10422 10/08/2021Mobile device vehicle mount - Electric 52507430


 10.49593 000000  - AMZN MKTP US 279LF7BQ1422 10/11/2021MASKS 52007430


 10.49594 000000  - AMZN MKTP US 279LF7BQ1422 10/11/2021MASKS 52007430


 16.46932 000000  - AMZN MKTP US 279YA4Q12 AM422 10/18/2021AMERICAN FLAG 41007430


 5.98932 000000  - AMZN MKTP US 279YA4Q12 AM422 10/18/2021AMERICAN FLAG 41007450


 7.50834 000000  - AMZN MKTP US 279YA4Q12 AM422 10/18/2021AMERICAN FLAG 41007460


 296.74594 000000  - AMZN MKTP US 2Y4P64OR2422 10/20/2021HYGROUND CONNECTORS 52007430


 0.99921 000000  - APPLE.COM/BILL810 10/25/2021STaaS - Apple - Employee Mobile Device - BSime 52507430


 10.98932 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 10/08/2021CHAIR COVERINGS 74007450


 18.48833 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 10/01/2021MISC 87107460


 23.56834 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 10/21/2021KEROSENE FOR PRESSURE WASHER 87107460


 8.29833 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 10/06/2021HEAT EXCHANGER GASKET 82007460


 26.43833 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 10/14/2021EXHAUST FAN BELTS 82007460


 3.14920 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 10/07/2021MISC 10257430


 34.99834 000000  - ASLESONS TRUE VALUE HARDW108 10/29/2021DRAIN KING TO UNCLOG FLOOR DRAIN 82007460


 5.99932 000000  - ASLESONS TRUE VALUE HARDW108 10/29/2021ROOF REPAIR 74007450


 16.48597 000000  - ASLESONS TRUE VALUE HARDW108 10/29/2021SCREWS AND TIP EXTENSION 52757430


 3,563.59391 000000  - CDW GOVT #L903101604 10/11/2021Storage Server - WWTP DR 52507430


 1,295.85391 000000  - CDW GOVT #L903101604 10/11/2021Storage Server - WWTP DR 52507450


 1,619.83391 000000  - CDW GOVT #L903101604 10/11/2021Storage Server - WWTP DR 52507460


 784.36921 000000  - CDW GOVT #M233650604 10/18/2021Software licensing - Acronis Access - Annual maintenance plus 4 users 52507430


 285.22921 000000  - CDW GOVT #M233650604 10/18/2021Software licensing - Acronis Access - Annual maintenance plus 4 users 52507450


 356.54851 000000  - CDW GOVT #M233650604 10/18/2021Software licensing - Acronis Access - Annual maintenance plus 4 users 52507460


 777.08921 000000  - CDW GOVT #M245910604 10/18/2021Network switch - Tech Ops Staging 52507430


 282.57921 000000  - CDW GOVT #M245910604 10/18/2021Network switch - Tech Ops Staging 52507450


 353.24851 000000  - CDW GOVT #M245910604 10/18/2021Network switch - Tech Ops Staging 52507460


 7.79593 000000  - CHILI'S MASON STREET #17894 10/13/2021APPRENTICE SCHOOL - LUNCH 68307430







Date:


Time:


User:


Wednesday, November 10, 2021


12:54PM


SGUNSOLUS


Stoughton Utilities


Posting Preview Report


{PSSPurchCard.RefNbr} =  '0000000134'Select By:


Account Sub Amount ProjecMerchantVendor ID Post Date Emp IDCompany Description


 7.80594 000000  - CHILI'S MASON STREET #17894 10/13/2021APPRENTICE SCHOOL - LUNCH 68307430


 59.73926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 10/25/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257430


 22.86926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 10/25/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257450


 15.24854 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 10/25/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257460


 76.32926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 10/04/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257430


 22.86926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 10/04/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257450


 15.24854 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 10/04/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257460


 59.73926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 10/11/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257430


 22.86926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 10/11/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257450


 15.24854 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 10/11/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257460


 69.23926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 10/18/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257430


 22.86926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 10/18/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257450


 15.24854 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 10/18/2021UNIFORM CLEANING 10257460


 11,805.00232 001099  - CRESCENT ELECTRIC 087134 10/12/2021ELECTRIC INVENTORY-CRESCENT 41007430


 2,691.04232 001099  - CRESCENT ELECTRIC 087134 10/15/2021ELECTRIC INVENTORY-CRESCENT 41007430


 168.28930 000000  - DRI CRUCIAL 10/14/2021RAM Upgrades - 2021 workstations 52507430


 61.19930 000000  - DRI CRUCIAL 10/14/2021RAM Upgrades - 2021 workstations 52507450


 76.50930 000000  - DRI CRUCIAL 10/14/2021RAM Upgrades - 2021 workstations 52507460


 113.88920 000000  - DUNKIN #356987994 10/22/2021LSL EVENT 10257450


 69.00930 000000  - EQUIPMENT DEPOT MILWAUKE 10/20/2021FORK LIFT MAINT 41007430


 565.44926 000000  - FRSAFETY.COM994 10/06/2021CLOTHING 52007430


-85.39926 000000  - FRSAFETY.COM994 10/11/2021RETURNED CLOTHING 52007430


 192.50593 000000  - GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS, I377 10/21/2021PORTABLE RADIO BATTERIES 40007430


 192.50594 000000  - GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS, I377 10/21/2021PORTABLE RADIO BATTERIES 40007430


 42.19921 000000  - HOBBY LOBBY #394994 10/20/2021Final LSL Ceremony - Supplies 36807450


 0.76921 000000  - HOBBY-LOBBY #598994 10/21/2021Final LSL Ceremony - Supplies 36807450


 791.00107.14 000000 210905XX - 1HYDRO DESIGNS354 10/01/2021CROSS CONNECTIONS 74007450


 1,478.50833 000000  - IN  L.V. LABORATORIES LLC588 10/12/2021SEPT LAB FEES 82007460


 109.24930 000000  - IN  LOCKS AND UNLOCKS, IN 10/05/2021DOOR LOCK REPAIR 82007460


 280.50932 000000  - IN  SUNDANCE BIOCLEAN, IN322 10/14/2021JANITORIAL 40007430


 102.00932 000000  - IN  SUNDANCE BIOCLEAN, IN322 10/14/2021JANITORIAL 40007450


 127.50834 000000  - IN  SUNDANCE BIOCLEAN, IN322 10/14/2021JANITORIAL 40007460


 190.15834 000000  - JEFFERSON FIRE & SAFETY169 10/07/2021FIRE EXTINGUISHER TESTING 82007460


 223.35932 000000  - JEFFERSON FIRE & SAFETY169 10/06/2021FIRE EXTINGUISHER INSPECTION 41007430


 81.22932 000000  - JEFFERSON FIRE & SAFETY169 10/06/2021FIRE EXTINGUISHER INSPECTION 41007450


 101.53834 000000  - JEFFERSON FIRE & SAFETY169 10/06/2021FIRE EXTINGUISHER INSPECTION 41007460


 77.43920 000000  - JIMMY JOHNS - 1959 - E994 10/19/2021WATER-WASTEWATER LUNCH 10257450


 77.43850 000000  - JIMMY JOHNS - 1959 - E994 10/19/2021WATER-WASTEWATER LUNCH 10257460


 17.91593 000000  - KWIK TRIP  73900007393994 10/11/2021GAS FOR CHAINSAW 69307430


 20.02921 000000  - MICHAELS STORES 3761994 10/20/2021Final LSL Ceremony - Supplies 36807450


 1.96921 000000  - MICROSOFT#G006048783836 10/19/2021STaaS - Azure - Cold Backup Storage 52507430


 0.71921 000000  - MICROSOFT#G006048783836 10/19/2021STaaS - Azure - Cold Backup Storage 52507450


 0.91851 000000  - MICROSOFT#G006048783836 10/19/2021STaaS - Azure - Cold Backup Storage 52507460


 78.65921 000000  - MSFT   E0400FXWY4836 10/04/2021SaaS - o365 - Skype for Business Online II 52507430







Date:


Time:


User:


Wednesday, November 10, 2021


12:54PM


SGUNSOLUS


Stoughton Utilities


Posting Preview Report


{PSSPurchCard.RefNbr} =  '0000000134'Select By:


Account Sub Amount ProjecMerchantVendor ID Post Date Emp IDCompany Description


 28.60921 000000  - MSFT   E0400FXWY4836 10/04/2021SaaS - o365 - Skype for Business Online II 52507450


 35.75851 000000  - MSFT   E0400FXWY4836 10/04/2021SaaS - o365 - Skype for Business Online II 52507460


 13.75921 000000  - MSFT   E0400FYHG6836 10/05/2021SaaS - o365 - Visio 52507430


 5.00921 000000  - MSFT   E0400FYHG6836 10/05/2021SaaS - o365 - Visio 52507450


 6.25851 000000  - MSFT   E0400FYHG6836 10/05/2021SaaS - o365 - Visio 52507460


 16.50921 000000  - MSFT   E0400FYIOQ836 10/05/2021SaaS - o365 - Project 52507430


 6.00921 000000  - MSFT   E0400FYIOQ836 10/05/2021SaaS - o365 - Project 52507450


 7.50851 000000  - MSFT   E0400FYIOQ836 10/05/2021SaaS - o365 - Project 52507460


 14.36921 000000  - MSFT   E0400FYS4Q836 10/05/2021SaaS - o365 - Microsoft 365 Apps for Business 52507430


 5.22921 000000  - MSFT   E0400FYS4Q836 10/05/2021SaaS - o365 - Microsoft 365 Apps for Business 52507450


 6.53851 000000  - MSFT   E0400FYS4Q836 10/05/2021SaaS - o365 - Microsoft 365 Apps for Business 52507460


 90.12903 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 10/05/2021Credit card processing - Desktop and Recurring 52507430


 12.87903 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 10/05/2021Credit card processing - Desktop and Recurring 52507450


 19.31840 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 10/05/2021Credit card processing - Desktop and Recurring 52507460


 6.45233 001099  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 10/05/2021Credit card processing - Desktop and Recurring 52507430


 120.64903 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 10/05/2021Credit card processing - MyAccount Online 52507430


 17.23903 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 10/05/2021Credit card processing - MyAccount Online 52507450


 25.85840 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 10/05/2021Credit card processing - MyAccount Online 52507460


 8.63233 001099  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 10/05/2021Credit card processing - MyAccount Online 52507430


 44.91920 000000  - PIZZA PIT - STOUGHTON994 10/05/2021LUNCH 10257430


 318.00593 000000  - RADISSON HOTEL894 10/15/2021APPRENTICE SCHOOL - HOTEL 68307430


 318.00594 000000  - RADISSON HOTEL894 10/15/2021APPRENTICE SCHOOL - HOTEL 68307430


 318.00850 000000  - RADISSON HOTELS894 10/11/2021ROOM FOR WWOA CONFERENCE 82007460


 159.00850 000000  - RADISSON HOTELS894 10/11/2021ROOM FOR WWOA CONFERENCE 82007460


 318.00850 000000  - RADISSON HOTELS894 10/11/2021ROOM FOR WWOA CONFERENCE 82007460


 156.60926 000000  - SHOE BOX578 10/11/2021WORK BOOTS 87007450


 19.09833 000000  - SPEE-DEE DELIVERY SERVICE937 10/25/2021SAMPLE DELIVERY 83007460


 58.50921 000000  - SQ  FOSDAL HOME BAKERY601 10/22/2021Final LSL Ceremony - Supplies 36807450


 48.16921 000000  - STAPLS7340932438000001352 10/07/2021General office supplies 36807430


 17.33921 000000  - STAPLS7340932438000001352 10/07/2021General office supplies 36807450


 23.11851 000000  - STAPLS7340932438000001352 10/07/2021General office supplies 36807460


 7.72233 001099  - STAPLS7340932438000001352 10/07/2021General office supplies 36807430


 20.66921 000000  - STAPLS7340933113000001352 10/07/2021Kitchen and conference room supplies 36807430


 7.51921 000000  - STAPLS7340933113000001352 10/07/2021Kitchen and conference room supplies 36807450


 9.40851 000000  - STAPLS7340933113000001352 10/07/2021Kitchen and conference room supplies 36807460


 123.06593 000000  - STOUGHTON LUMBER CO436 10/04/2021POLE SAW REPAIR 87307430


 56.31633 000000  - STOUGHTON LUMBER CO436 10/19/2021AIR VENT PIPING FOR WELL 4 87007450


 29.00675 000000  - STOUGHTON LUMBER CO436 10/20/2021LATHE FOR NO PARKING SIGNS 87007450


 375.30593 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 10/05/20218 FOOT SLING 41007430


 20.07593 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 10/05/2021REDUCER AUTO SPLICE 41007430


 24.27593 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 10/06/20218 FOOT SLING 41007430


 724.10232 001099  - STUART C IRBY355 10/12/2021ELECTRIC INVENTORY-IRBY 41007430


 394.00932 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 10/14/2021LED LIGHTS, AND FLOOD LIGHTS 41007430


 445.00593 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 10/14/2021PRUNING SAW MATERIALS 41007430







Date:


Time:


User:


Wednesday, November 10, 2021


12:54PM


SGUNSOLUS


Stoughton Utilities


Posting Preview Report


{PSSPurchCard.RefNbr} =  '0000000134'Select By:


Account Sub Amount ProjecMerchantVendor ID Post Date Emp IDCompany Description


 110.00593 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 10/14/2021STAPLE STICK 41007430


 375.00594 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 10/18/2021COMPRESSION TAB CONNECTOR 41007430


 875.00932 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 10/18/2021REMOTE LIGHT KIT 41007430


 86.90232 001099  - STUART C IRBY355 10/21/2021ELECTRIC INVENTORY-IRBY 41007430


 11.23932 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 10/21/2021REMOTE LIGHT KIT 41007430


 8.53594 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 10/21/2021COMPRESSION TAP CONNECTOR 41007430


 7.34232 001099  - STUART C IRBY355 10/28/2021ELECTRIC INVENTORY-IRBY 41007430


 375.00594 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 10/29/20214 INCH BALLS 41007430


 180.00593 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 10/18/2021MISC TOOL 41007430


 180.00594 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 10/18/2021MISC TOOL 41007430


-850.00593 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 10/13/2021RETURN ITEMS 41007430


 423.04833 000000  - SUPPLYHOUSE.COM971 10/01/2021LOW PRESSURE ON-OFF SWITCH 82007460


 26.95933 000000  - TRACTOR SUPPLY #2236994 10/20/2021PROPANE FOR FORK LIFT 52757430


 8.42593 000000  - TST  ANDUZZI'S SPORTS CLU894 10/14/2021APPRENTICE SCHOOL - DINNER 68307430


 8.43594 000000  - TST  ANDUZZI'S SPORTS CLU894 10/14/2021APPRENTICE SCHOOL - DINNER 68307430


 58.30850 000000  - TST  BUZZARD BILLY'S LACR894 10/11/2021WOAA LUNCH 10257460


 11.14642 000000  - UPS 1Z17Y6230393050491824 10/28/2021Shipping of water samples to lab 36807450


 11.14642 000000  - UPS 1Z17Y6230394381284824 10/21/2021Shipping of water samples to lab 36807450


 11.14642 000000  - UPS 1Z17Y6230394973877824 10/14/2021Shipping of water samples to lab 36807450


 11.14642 000000  - UPS 1ZG194WT0337063705824 10/07/2021Shipping of water samples to lab 36807450


 50.00903 000000  - VOICESHOT LLC954 10/21/2021Customer automated outbound calling - Funds refill 36707430


 18.00903 000000  - VOICESHOT LLC954 10/21/2021Customer automated outbound calling - Funds refill 36707450


 24.00840 000000  - VOICESHOT LLC954 10/21/2021Customer automated outbound calling - Funds refill 36707460


 8.00233 001099  - VOICESHOT LLC954 10/21/2021Customer automated outbound calling - Funds refill 36707430


 6.30143 000001  - WAL-MART #1176507 10/04/2021Public Power Week - WPPI Reimbursed - Supplies 36807430


 32.58834 000000  - WAL-MART #1176507 10/28/2021TP AND DETERGENT 82007460


 26.00642 000000  - WI STATE HYGIENE LAB675 10/20/2021FLUORIDE SAMPLING 74007450


 26.00642 000000  - WI STATE HYGIENE LAB675 10/20/2021FLUORIDE SAMPLING 74007450


 38,783.83Total:







Stoughton Utilities 
Financial Summary 


August 2021 YTD 
 
Overall Summary: 
YTD 2021 operating income was $1,149,000, up $322,000 from 2020. Electric accounts 
for 80% of the increase in operating income from 2020, while Water and Wastewater 
account for 3% and 17%, respectively. 
 
Electric Summary: 
2021 operating income was $581,000. 2021 operating revenues were $364,000, or 
3.6% higher than 2020. Kilowatt-hour sales YTD were 2.17% higher than 2020. 
Purchase power costs were up $63,000, or 0.8%, from last year. Non-power operating 
expenses were up $42,000 from the prior year. 
 
The rate of return was 3.91% compared to 2.41% for YTD 2020. Unrestricted cash 
balances were $5.6 million (4.3 months of sales).  
 
Water Summary: 
Operating income YTD was $312,000, up $7,000 from 2020 YTD. Operating revenues 
were up $49,000, or 3.1%, from prior YTD 2020, which was mainly due to total gallons 
sold YTD being 1.5% higher than 2020 as well as the implementation of the simplified 
rate increase on June 1, 2021.  
 
 
The rate of return was 2.75% compared to 2.57% for YTD 2020. Unrestricted cash 
balances are $47,000 (0.2 months of sales). 


 
Wastewater Summary: 
2021 YTD operating income was $255,000, up $56,000 from 2020. 2021 operating 
revenue was up $53,000, or 3.8% from 2020. This is mainly the result of increased 
revenues from the 2020 rate increase and relatively stable sales.  
 
Operating expenses were down $2,000, or 0.2%, from 2020. Unrestricted cash 
balances were $1.0 million (5.7 months of sales).  
 
Submitted by: 
Jamin Friedl 
 







Electric Water Wastewater Combined
Assets
Cash & Investments 6,843,808$         980,038$            2,469,938$         10,293,784$       
Customer A/R 2,086,562           230,801              231,914              2,549,277           
Other A/R 494,346              -                      -                      494,346              
Other Assets 1,241,682           294,475              171,706              1,707,863           
Plant in Service 31,239,814         17,379,943         32,512,907         81,132,665         
Accumulated Depreciation (16,055,087)        (6,106,447)          (13,466,029)        (35,627,563)        
Plant in Service - CIAC 5,995,307           7,962,587           -                      13,957,894         
Accumulated Depreciation-CIAC (2,052,849)          (2,492,383)          -                      (4,545,232)          
Construction Work in Progress 604,019              1,315,744           9,341                   1,929,104           
GASB 68 Deferred Outflow 1,000,371           344,049              412,751              1,757,171           
Total Assets 31,397,973$       19,908,807$       22,342,528$       73,649,308$       


Liabilities + Net Assets
Accounts Payable 1,456,703$         64,689$              45,032$              1,566,424$         
Payable to City of Stoughton 372,315              298,664              -                      670,979              
Interest Accrued 30,365                 24,198                 27,483                 82,046                 
Other Liabilities 603,456              104,908              112,235              820,599              
Long-Term Debt 3,143,098           3,217,973           3,283,295           9,644,366           
Net Assets 24,618,380         15,799,619         18,466,832         58,884,831         
GASB 68 Deferred Inflow 1,173,656           398,757              407,651              1,980,064           
Total Liabilities + Net Assets 31,397,973$       19,908,807$       22,342,528$       73,649,308$       


STOUGHTON UTILITIES
Balance Sheets


 As of August 31, 2021







 Electric  Water  Wastewater  Total 


Operating Revenue:
Sales 10,372,096$            1,567,095$              1,440,917$              13,380,108$            
Other 122,480                    50,032                      24,530                      197,042                    
   Total Operating Revenue: 10,494,577$            1,617,127$              1,465,447$              13,577,151$            


Operating Expense:
Purchased Power 7,623,320                -                             -                             7,623,320                
Expenses (Including Taxes) 1,156,631                669,578                    663,666                    2,489,875                
PILOT 314,000                    298,664                    -                             612,664                    
Depreciation 819,336                    336,496                    546,664                    1,702,496                
   Total Operating Expense: 9,913,287$              1,304,738$              1,210,330$              12,428,355$            


     Operating Income 581,290$                 312,389$                 255,116$                 1,148,795$              


Non-Operating Income 1,856,368                10,956                      40,842                      1,908,166                
Non-Operating Expense (104,720)                  (51,795)                     (58,656)                     (215,171)                  


      Net Income 2,332,938$              271,550$                 237,303$                 2,841,790$              


 Electric  Water  Wastewater  Total 


Operating Revenue:
Sales 10,011,811$            1,521,759$              1,319,216$              12,852,785$            
Other 118,806                    46,191$                    92,825$                    257,822                    
   Total Operating Revenue: 10,130,616$            1,567,950$              1,412,041$              13,110,607$            


Operating Expense:
Purchased Power 7,560,541                -                             -                             7,560,541                
Expenses (Including Taxes) 1,148,014                631,622                    639,441                    2,419,076                
PILOT 306,664                    292,000                    -                             598,664                    
Depreciation 793,200                    339,176                    573,336                    1,705,712                
   Total Operating Expense: 9,808,418$              1,262,798$              1,212,777$              12,283,993$            


     Operating Income 322,198$                 305,152$                 199,264$                 826,615$                 


Non-Operating Income 290,635                    28,174                      115,554                    434,362                    
Non-Operating Expense (102,015)                  (30,664)                     (74,000)                     (206,679)                  


      Net Income 510,818$                 302,662$                 240,818$                 1,054,298$              


August 31, 2020


STOUGHTON UTILITIES
Year-to-Date Combined Income Statement


August 31, 2021


STOUGHTON UTILITIES
Year-to-Date Combined Income Statement







Electric August 2021


Unrestricted (4.3 months sales) 5,575,843$           
Bond Reserve 460,722$              
Redemption Fund (P&I) 317,522$              
Depreciation 25,000$                
Designated 464,721$              
Total 6,843,808$           


Water August 2021


Unrestricted (0.2 months sales) 46,955$                
Bond Reserve 340,710$              
Redemption Fund (P&I) 165,628$              
Depreciation 25,000$                
Construction 4$                         
Designated 401,742$              
Total 980,039$              


Wastewater August 2021


Unrestricted (5.7 months sales) 1,021,450             
DNR Replacement 1,158,946             
Redemption Fund (P&I) 144,023                
Depreciation 33,283                  
Designated 112,235                
Total 2,469,937             


STOUGHTON UTILITIES
Cash and Investments Summary


 As of August 31, 2021


$5,575,843 , 81%


$460,722 , 7%


$317,522 , 5%
$25,000 , 0% $464,721 , 7%


Electric Cash - August 2021 


Unrestricted (4.3 months sales) Bond Reserve Redemption Fund (P&I) Depreciation Designated


$46,955 , 5%


$340,710 , 35%


$165,628 , 17%
$25,00
0 , 2%


$4 , 0%


$401,742 , 41%


Water Cash - August 2021


Unrestricted (0.2 months sales) Bond Reserve Redemption Fund (P&I) Depreciation Construction Designated


1,021,450 , 41%


1,158,946 , 47%


144,023 , 6% 33,28
3 , 1%


112,235 , 5%


Wastewater Cash - August 2021


Unrestricted (5.7 months sales) DNR Replacement
Redemption Fund (P&I) Depreciation
Designated







 
Electric Water


Operating Income (Regulatory) 581,290$            312,389$            


Average Utility Plant in Service 30,743,020         17,264,282         
Average Accumulated Depreciation (15,475,289)        (5,844,860)          
Average Materials and Supplies 422,033              44,409                
Average Regulatory Liability (55,404)               (85,574)               
Average Customer Advances (754,664)             (2,500)                 


Average Net Rate Base 14,879,697$       11,375,757$       


August 2021 Rate of Return 3.91% 2.75%


August 2020 Rate of Return 2.41% 2.57%


December 2020 Rate of Return 5.16% 4.20%


Authorized Rate of Return 4.90% 5.00%


STOUGHTON UTILITIES
Rate of Return


Year-to-Date August 31, 2021







Stoughton Utilities 
Financial Summary 


September 2021 YTD 
 
Overall Summary: 
YTD 2021 operating income was $1,356,000, up $355,000 from 2020. Electric accounts 
for 60% of the increase in operating income from 2020, while Water and Wastewater 
account for 16% and 24%, respectively. 
 
Electric Summary: 
2021 operating income was $669,000. 2021 operating revenues were $559,000, or 
4.9% higher than 2020. Kilowatt-hour sales YTD were 2.8% higher than 2020. Purchase 
power costs were up $400,000, or 4.8%, from last year. Non-power operating expenses 
were down $57,000 from the prior year. 
 
The rate of return was 4.51% compared to 2.86% for YTD 2020. Unrestricted cash 
balances were $5.6 million (4.3 months of sales).  
 
Water Summary: 
Operating income YTD was $369,000, up $56,000 from 2020 YTD. Operating revenues 
were up $51,000, or 2.9%, from prior YTD 2020, which was mainly due to total gallons 
sold YTD being 2.3% higher than 2020 as well as the implementation of the simplified 
rate increase on June 1, 2021.  
 
 
The rate of return was 3.25% compared to 2.83% for YTD 2020. Unrestricted cash 
balances are $42,000 (0.2 months of sales). 


 
Wastewater Summary: 
2021 YTD operating income was $317,000, up $85,000 from 2020. 2021 operating 
revenue was up $20,000, or 1.2% from 2020. This is mainly the result of increased 
revenues from the 2020 rate increase and relatively stable sales.  
 
Operating expenses were down $65,000, or 4.7%, from 2020. Unrestricted cash 
balances were $1.1 million (6.2 months of sales).  
 
Submitted by: 
Jamin Friedl 
 







Electric Water Wastewater Combined
Assets
Cash & Investments 6,998,733$         1,053,805$         2,606,133$         10,658,671$       
Customer A/R 1,712,843           234,435              224,794              2,172,073           
Other A/R 921,542              -                      -                      921,542              
Other Assets 1,222,883           297,449              171,706              1,692,038           
Plant in Service 31,268,220         17,384,581         32,512,907         81,165,709         
Accumulated Depreciation (16,162,589)        (6,149,189)          (13,534,362)        (35,846,140)        
Plant in Service - CIAC 6,070,551           7,962,587           -                      14,033,139         
Accumulated Depreciation-CIAC (2,052,849)          (2,492,383)          -                      (4,545,232)          
Construction Work in Progress 594,843              1,365,238           9,341                   1,969,422           
GASB 68 Deferred Outflow 1,000,371           344,049              412,751              1,757,171           
Total Assets 31,574,549$       20,000,573$       22,403,270$       73,978,392$       


Liabilities + Net Assets
Accounts Payable 1,096,324$         64,689$              45,032$              1,206,045$         
Payable to City of Stoughton 412,136              335,997              -                      748,133              
Interest Accrued 36,970                 30,661                 34,815                 102,446              
Other Liabilities 562,630              104,908              112,235              779,773              
Long-Term Debt 3,143,098           3,217,973           3,283,295           9,644,366           
Net Assets 25,149,735         15,847,589         18,520,243         59,517,566         
GASB 68 Deferred Inflow 1,173,656           398,757              407,651              1,980,064           
Total Liabilities + Net Assets 31,574,549$       20,000,573$       22,403,270$       73,978,392$       


STOUGHTON UTILITIES
Balance Sheets


 As of September 30, 2021







 Electric  Water  Wastewater  Total 


Operating Revenue:
Sales 11,745,260$            1,769,543$              1,625,064$              15,139,868$            
Other 124,258                    57,352                      27,750                      209,359                    
   Total Operating Revenue: 11,869,518$            1,826,895$              1,652,813$              15,349,226$            


Operating Expense:
Purchased Power 8,660,593                -                             -                             8,660,593                
Expenses (Including Taxes) 1,264,768                743,253                    720,489                    2,728,509                
PILOT 353,250                    335,997                    -                             689,247                    
Depreciation 921,753                    378,558                    614,997                    1,915,308                
   Total Operating Expense: 11,200,364$            1,457,808$              1,335,486$              13,993,657$            


     Operating Income 669,154$                 369,087$                 317,327$                 1,355,569$              


Non-Operating Income 2,344,320                10,985                      40,904                      2,396,209                
Non-Operating Expense (149,182)                  (60,553)                     (67,518)                     (277,253)                  


      Net Income 2,864,293$              319,519$                 290,713$                 3,474,525$              


 Electric  Water  Wastewater  Total 


Operating Revenue:
Sales 11,176,494$            1,726,979$              1,595,189$              14,498,661$            
Other 133,843                    48,826$                    37,916$                    220,584                    
   Total Operating Revenue: 11,310,336$            1,775,804$              1,633,105$              14,719,245$            


Operating Expense:
Purchased Power 8,260,898                -                             -                             8,260,898                
Expenses (Including Taxes) 1,322,161                746,250                    748,278                    2,816,689                
PILOT 353,250                    333,000                    -                             686,250                    
Depreciation 919,053                    383,805                    652,500                    1,955,358                
   Total Operating Expense: 10,855,362$            1,463,055$              1,400,778$              13,719,194$            


     Operating Income 454,974$                 312,749$                 232,327$                 1,000,051$              


Non-Operating Income 237,139                    14,143                      21,941                      273,223                    
Non-Operating Expense (73,841)                     (65,214)                     (73,728)                     (212,784)                  


      Net Income 618,272$                 261,678$                 180,540$                 1,060,490$              


September 30, 2020


STOUGHTON UTILITIES
Year-to-Date Combined Income Statement


September 30, 2021


STOUGHTON UTILITIES
Year-to-Date Combined Income Statement







Electric September 2021


Unrestricted (4.3 months sales) 5,666,009$           
Bond Reserve 460,722$              
Redemption Fund (P&I) 343,031$              
Depreciation 25,000$                
Designated 503,971$              
Total 6,998,733$           


Water September 2021


Unrestricted (0.2 months sales) 41,980$                
Bond Reserve 340,710$              
Redemption Fund (P&I) 207,036$              
Depreciation 25,000$                
Construction 4$                         
Designated 439,075$              
Total 1,053,805$           


Wastewater September 2021


Unrestricted (6.2 months sales) 1,121,648             
DNR Replacement 1,158,936             
Redemption Fund (P&I) 180,031                
Depreciation 33,283                  
Designated 112,235                
Total 2,606,133             


STOUGHTON UTILITIES
Cash and Investments Summary


 As of september 30, 2021


$5,666,009 , 81%


$460,722 , 7%


$343,031 , 5%
$25,000 , 0% $503,971 , 7%


Electric Cash - September 2021 


Unrestricted (4.3 months sales) Bond Reserve Redemption Fund (P&I) Depreciation Designated


$41,980 , 4%


$340,710 , 32%


$207,036 , 20%


$25,000 , 2%
$4 , 0%


$439,075 , 42%


Water Cash - September 2021


Unrestricted (0.2 months sales) Bond Reserve Redemption Fund (P&I) Depreciation Construction Designated


1,121,648 , 43%


1,158,936 , 45%


180,031 , 7%


33,283 , 
1%


112,235 , 4%


Wastewater Cash - September 2021


Unrestricted (6.2 months sales) DNR Replacement
Redemption Fund (P&I) Depreciation
Designated







 
Electric Water


Operating Income (Regulatory) 669,154$            369,087$            


Average Utility Plant in Service 30,757,223         17,266,601         
Average Accumulated Depreciation (15,529,040)        (5,866,231)          
Average Materials and Supplies 412,432              45,852                
Average Regulatory Liability (55,404)               (85,574)               
Average Customer Advances (740,584)             (2,500)                 


Average Net Rate Base 14,844,627$       11,358,148$       


September 2021 Rate of Return 4.51% 3.25%


September 2020 Rate of Return 2.86% 2.83%


December 2020 Rate of Return 5.16% 4.20%


Authorized Rate of Return 4.90% 5.00%


STOUGHTON UTILITIES
Rate of Return


Year-to-Date September 30, 2021







Stoughton Utilities 
Financial Summary 


October 2021 YTD 
 
Overall Summary: 
YTD 2021 operating income was $1,428,000, up $319,000 from 2020. Electric accounts 
for 61% of the increase in operating income from 2020, while Water and Wastewater 
account for 24% and 15%, respectively. 
 
Electric Summary: 
2021 operating income was $715,000. 2021 operating revenues were $670,000, or 
5.4% higher than 2020. Kilowatt-hour sales YTD were 2.7% higher than 2020. Purchase 
power costs were up $509,000, or 5.7%, from last year. Non-power operating expenses 
were down $34,000 from the prior year. 
 
The rate of return was 4.82% compared to 3.17% for YTD 2020. Unrestricted cash 
balances were $5.7 million (4.4 months of sales).  
 
Water Summary: 
Operating income YTD was $398,000, up $75,000 from 2020 YTD. Operating revenues 
were up $54,000, or 2.7%, from prior YTD 2020, which was mainly due to the 
implementation of the simplified rate increase on June 1, 2021.  
 
The rate of return was 3.51% compared to 2.92% for YTD 2020. Unrestricted cash 
balances are $591,000 (3.0 months of sales). 


 
Wastewater Summary: 
2021 YTD operating income was $316,000, up $49,000 from 2020. 2021 operating 
revenue was up $2,900, or 0.2% from 2020. This is mainly the result of a 1.8% 
decrease in sales volume.  
 
Operating expenses were down $46,000, or 3.0%, from 2020. Unrestricted cash 
balances were $1.1 million (6.4 months of sales).  
 
Submitted by: 
Jamin Friedl 
 







Electric Water Wastewater Combined
Assets
Cash & Investments 7,119,213$         1,646,545$         2,629,854$         11,395,612$       
Customer A/R 1,531,552           246,730              223,973              2,002,255           
Other A/R 978,654              -                      -                      978,654              
Other Assets 1,257,117           297,990              171,706              1,726,814           
Plant in Service 31,385,735         17,385,877         32,514,527         81,286,140         
Accumulated Depreciation (16,268,128)        (6,191,931)          (13,602,695)        (36,062,754)        
Plant in Service - CIAC 6,088,479           7,962,587           -                      14,051,066         
Accumulated Depreciation-CIAC (2,052,849)          (2,492,383)          -                      (4,545,232)          
Construction Work in Progress 546,935              2,339,712           10,404                 2,897,051           
GASB 68 Deferred Outflow 1,000,371           344,049              412,751              1,757,171           
Total Assets 31,587,080$       21,539,177$       22,360,520$       75,486,776$       


Liabilities + Net Assets
Accounts Payable 926,967$            64,631$              44,882$              1,036,480$         
Payable to City of Stoughton 451,385              373,330              -                      824,715              
Interest Accrued 5,719                   2,166                   1,261                   9,146                   
Other Liabilities 591,259              104,908              112,235              808,402              
Long-Term Debt 3,143,098           3,217,973           3,283,295           9,644,366           
Net Assets 25,294,996         17,377,412         18,511,196         61,183,605         
GASB 68 Deferred Inflow 1,173,656           398,757              407,651              1,980,064           
Total Liabilities + Net Assets 31,587,080$       21,539,177$       22,360,520$       75,486,776$       


STOUGHTON UTILITIES
Balance Sheets


 As of October 31, 2021







 Electric  Water  Wastewater  Total 


Operating Revenue:
Sales 12,915,277$            1,964,341$              1,805,078$              16,684,696$            
Other 123,895                    62,973                      30,827                      217,694                    
   Total Operating Revenue: 13,039,172$            2,027,314$              1,835,905$              16,902,391$            


Operating Expense:
Purchased Power 9,505,335                -                             -                             9,505,335                
Expenses (Including Taxes) 1,402,525                835,459                    837,032                    3,075,017                
PILOT 392,500                    373,330                    -                             765,830                    
Depreciation 1,024,170                420,620                    683,330                    2,128,120                
   Total Operating Expense: 12,324,530$            1,629,409$              1,520,362$              15,474,301$            


     Operating Income 714,642$                 397,905$                 315,542$                 1,428,089$              


Non-Operating Income 2,434,788                1,518,454                40,974                      3,994,216                
Non-Operating Expense (139,876)                  (67,016)                     (74,850)                     (281,742)                  


      Net Income 3,009,554$              1,849,343$              281,667$                 5,140,564$              


 Electric  Water  Wastewater  Total 


Operating Revenue:
Sales 12,230,698$            1,918,210$              1,784,578$              15,933,486$            
Other 138,257                    55,503$                    48,457$                    242,217                    
   Total Operating Revenue: 12,368,955$            1,973,712$              1,833,035$              16,175,703$            


Operating Expense:
Purchased Power 8,995,915                -                             -                             8,995,915                
Expenses (Including Taxes) 1,439,091                854,805                    841,781                    3,135,676                
PILOT 392,500                    370,000                    -                             762,500                    
Depreciation 1,021,170                426,450                    725,000                    2,172,620                
   Total Operating Expense: 11,848,675$            1,651,255$              1,566,781$              15,066,711$            


     Operating Income 520,280$                 322,458$                 266,254$                 1,108,992$              


Non-Operating Income 253,116                    14,234                      22,041                      289,391                    
Non-Operating Expense (81,648)                     (72,458)                     (81,920)                     (236,026)                  


      Net Income 691,748$                 264,233$                 206,375$                 1,162,357$              


October 31, 2020


STOUGHTON UTILITIES
Year-to-Date Combined Income Statement


October 31, 2021


STOUGHTON UTILITIES
Year-to-Date Combined Income Statement







Electric October 2021


Unrestricted (4.4 months sales) 5,683,871$           
Bond Reserve 460,722$              
Redemption Fund (P&I) 406,399$              
Depreciation 25,000$                
Designated 543,221$              
Total 7,119,213$           


Water October 2021


Unrestricted (3.0 months sales) 590,934$              
Bond Reserve 340,710$              
Redemption Fund (P&I) 213,489$              
Depreciation 25,000$                
Construction 4$                         
Designated 476,408$              
Total 1,646,545$           


Wastewater October 2021


Unrestricted (6.4 months sales) 1,150,184             
DNR Replacement 1,158,998             
Redemption Fund (P&I) 175,154                
Depreciation 33,283                  
Designated 112,235                
Total 2,629,854             


STOUGHTON UTILITIES
Cash and Investments Summary


 As of October 31, 2021


$5,683,871 , 80%


$460,722 , 6%


$406,399 , 6%
$25,000 , 0% $543,221 , 8%


Electric Cash - October 2021 


Unrestricted (4.4 months sales) Bond Reserve Redemption Fund (P&I) Depreciation Designated


$590,934 , 36%


$340,710 , 21%


$213,489 , 13%
$25,000 , 1%


$4 , 0%


$476,408 , 29%


Water Cash - October 2021


Unrestricted (3.0 months sales) Bond Reserve Redemption Fund (P&I) Depreciation Construction Designated


1,150,184 , 44%


1,158,998 , 44%


175,154 , 7%


33,283 , 1%
112,23
5 , 4%


Wastewater Cash - October 2021


Unrestricted (6.4 months sales) DNR Replacement
Redemption Fund (P&I) Depreciation
Designated







 
Electric Water


Operating Income (Regulatory) 714,642$            397,905$            


Average Utility Plant in Service 30,815,981         17,267,249         
Average Accumulated Depreciation (15,581,809)        (5,887,602)          
Average Materials and Supplies 430,470              45,856                
Average Regulatory Liability (55,404)               (85,574)               
Average Customer Advances (781,083)             (2,500)                 


Average Net Rate Base 14,828,155$       11,337,428$       


October 2021 Rate of Return 4.82% 3.51%


October 2020 Rate of Return 3.17% 2.92%


December 2020 Rate of Return 5.16% 4.20%


Authorized Rate of Return 4.90% 5.00%


STOUGHTON UTILITIES
Rate of Return


Year-to-Date October 31, 2021







Total Sales Total KwH Total Sales Total KwH Demand Demand
2020 KwH Purchased 2020 2021 KwH Purchased 2021 Peak 2020 Peak 2021


January 11,728,250 12,391,530 11,902,372 12,568,526 21,586 21,527


February 11,129,324 11,416,153 11,678,924 11,992,637 21,887 23,755


March 10,906,593 11,186,342 10,949,430 11,170,845 19,372 19,911


April 9,652,850 9,951,790 9,775,372 9,996,551 18,601 18,026


May 10,102,735 10,421,886 10,732,336 10,936,134 26,854 25,030


June 12,748,338 13,073,380 13,723,437 14,050,284 31,260 33,728


July 15,365,712 15,828,753 14,069,902 14,428,986 33,912 33,459


August 13,804,851 14,219,367 14,701,271 15,086,942 33,826 33,284


September 10,274,962 10,576,447 11,137,919 11,406,080 22,659 25,218


October 10,451,354 10,689,295 10,612,914 10,919,602 19,015 22,291


November


December


TOTAL 116,164,969 119,754,943 119,283,877 122,556,587


Total Sales Total Gallons Total Sales Total Gallons Max Daily High Max Daily Highs
2020 Gallons Pumped 2020 2021 Gallons Pumped 2021 2020 2021


January 34,224,000 40,776,000 34,519,000 38,064,000 1,719,000 1,435,000


February 34,338,000 36,978,000 33,979,000 38,757,000 1,424,000 1,602,000


March 37,037,000 41,146,000 37,062,000 39,926,000 1,468,000 1,460,000


April 34,367,000 39,015,000 34,267,000 36,988,000 1,513,000 1,548,000


May 34,896,000 39,801,000 37,609,000 40,476,000 1,533,000 1,520,000


June 36,384,000 44,175,000 42,668,000 47,500,000 1,818,000 2,039,000


July 40,745,000 47,721,000 40,284,000 44,611,000 2,226,000 1,987,000


August 44,598,000 51,115,000 40,772,000 43,154,000 2,246,000 1,712,000


September 35,795,000 41,605,000 38,889,000 41,894,000 1,721,000 2,048,000


October 37,051,000 45,181,000 35,923,000 40,067,000 1,802,000 1,546,000


November


December


TOTAL 369,435,000 427,513,000 375,972,000 411,437,000


Total Sales Total Treated Total Sales Total Treated Precipitation Precipitation
2020 Gallons Gallons 2020 2021 Gallons Gallons 2021 2020 2021


January 25,995,000 33,824,000 23,932,000 28,478,000 1.92 1.69


February 25,176,000 30,702,000 23,214,000 26,865,000 1.18 0.90


March 26,467,000 39,457,000 25,573,000 30,877,000 3.00 0.83


April 26,172,000 35,649,000 25,383,000 26,955,000 3.25 1.67


May 26,697,000 38,376,000 27,372,000 26,654,000 4.50 2.97


June 26,867,000 33,801,000 30,200,000 25,612,000 4.34 5.11


July 29,145,000 33,822,000 28,324,000 29,828,000 3.23 1.98


August 31,489,000 29,654,000 30,217,000 38,082,000 0.85 5.09


September 26,732,000 29,324,000 27,569,000 33,711,000 4.72 1.63


October 28,587,000 30,942,000 26,664,000 35,591,000 2.67 4.64


November


December


TOTAL 273,327,000 335,551,000 268,448,000 302,653,000 29.66 26.51


2021 Statistical Worksheet


STOUGHTON  UTILITIES


Electic


Water


Wastewater





		CA-6 Financials - August.pdf

		2021.08 Financial Summary 2

		August 2021 Financial Statements Version

		Balance Sheets

		Inc Statement Combined

		Cash & Investments

		ROR





		CA-7 Financials - September.pdf

		2021.09 Financial Summary

		September 2021 Financial Statements Version

		Balance Sheets

		Inc Statement Combined

		Cash & Investments

		ROR





		CA-8 Financials - October.pdf

		2021.10 Financial Summary

		October 2021 Financial Statements Version

		Balance Sheets

		Inc Statement Combined

		Cash & Investments

		ROR










CITY OF STOUGHTON, 381 E. Main Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 


ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


Amending Chapter 70-176 of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code; by creating subsection (85) relating to 


No Parking Anytime on the west east side of N. Madison Street between W. Prospect north to Roy Streets. 


Committee Action:   Public Safety committee recommends 


Fiscal Impact:       N/A 


File Number: O- 26-2021 Date 


Introduced: 


The Common Council of the City of Stoughton do ordain as follows: 


Section 1. Sec. 70-176 (82) of the City of Stoughton Code of Ordinances is created as follows: 


         Sec. 70-176. - Parking prohibited at all times. 


No person shall park, stop or leave standing any vehicle, except temporarily for the purpose of and while actually 


engaged in loading or unloading or in receiving or discharging passengers and while the vehicle is attended by a 


licensed operator so that it may be moved promptly in case of an emergency or to avoid obstruction of traffic, upon 


any of the following highways or parts of highways:  


(85) On the west east side of N. Madison Street between W. Prospect north to Roy Street.


Section 2. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its date of publication. 


Dates 


Council Adopted: 


Mayor Approved: 


Timothy Swadley, Mayor 


Published: 


Attest:  


Candee Christen, City Clerk 


November 23, 2021
December 14, 2021


5-0



cchristen

Cross-Out



cchristen

Cross-Out







N. Madison St. 


Proposed Language: Parking prohibited at all times on the east side of N. Madison St, between 
W. Prospect north to McKinley St. 


Reasoning: Due to the narrow 28’ roadway width, when there are cars parked across from each 
other, especially during the winter months when there is snow along the curb line, it makes it 
nearly impossible for emergency vehicles and plow trucks to get through.  The east side of the 
road was recommended for no parking because there are fewer impacted residences on the 
east side of the street and input from residents wanting access to their carriage walk on the 
west side of the street.  The east side of the street only has one carriage walk access at 333. N. 
Madison St. 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 





		06 O-26-2021 Amending Section 70-176 (85) no parking west side N. Madison between W.Prospect and Roy Streets

		06a No Parking Ordinance Overview










T:\PACKETS\PLAN COMMISSION\2021\121321\PC Info\Riverfront GDP Memo.doc 


 
 


CITY OF STOUGHTON  RODNEY J. SCHEEL 
DEPARTMENT OF    DIRECTOR 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
381 East Main Street, Stoughton, WI. 53589 


 
(608) 873-6619     www.ci.stoughton.wi.us 


 
 
 


 
 
Date:  December 2, 2021 
 
To:  Plan Commissioners and Common Council   
   
From:  Rodney J. Scheel 
  Director of Planning & Development 
 
  Michael P. Stacey 
  Zoning Administrator/Assistant Planner 
 
Subject: Agenda Item for the December 13, 2021 Plan Commission Meeting and Common 


Council meetings of December 14 and 28, 2021. 
 
Planned Development - General Development Plan (GDP) to rezone the property at the 
Stoughton Riverfront Redevelopment project area. 
The proposed use is for multi-family residential with an underlying zoning of MR-24 Multi-Family 
Residential.  The PD-GDP allows applicant’s flexibility from standard zoning requirements by the 
allowance of exceptions to certain zoning code requirements.  Those requested exceptions are 
outlined within the application information, staff review and ordinance.  A public hearing and 
recommendation to Council is necessary.  The ordinance, application information, and staff review 
are provided.   
 


 



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/





\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Ordinances\Rezonings\Riverfront-GDP Ordinance Atty Approved.docx 


CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 


ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 
Approving a General Development Plan (GDP) for the area known as the  Stoughton Riverfront 


Redevelopment, Stoughton, Wisconsin 


Committee Action:   Plan Commission recommends Council approval   – 0 
Fiscal Impact:       
File Number: O -29- 2021 Date Introduced: 


Re-Introduced: 


RECITALS 


1. The City of Stoughton (the “City”) and the City of Stoughton Redevelopment Authority (the
“RDA”) have requested general development plan (GDP) approval for the area known as the
Stoughton Riverfront Redevelopment, described on Exhibit A.


2. The Planned Development District is intended to provide a voluntary regulatory framework
designed to encourage and promote improved environmental and aesthetic design in the City by
allowing for greater design freedom, imagination and flexibility in the development of land while
insuring substantial compliance with the basic intent of the City’s Zoning Ordinance and
Comprehensive Plan.  The comparable zoning district for the land proposed to be zoned PD-
Planned Development – General Development Plan, used for establishing base-line zoning
requirements and identifying needed flexibility, is MR -24 Multi-Family Residential.


3. The Applicant has submitted a General Development Plan (“GDP”) dated November 8, 2021for
the area known as the Stoughton Riverfront Redevelopment.  The GDP and Narrative are attached
as Exhibit B to this Ordinance.


4. On December 13, 2021, the City of Stoughton Plan Commission held a public hearing regarding
the Applicant’s proposed zoning amendment.  The public hearing was preceded by the publication
of a class 2 notice, and other notice as required by law.


5. The Plan Commission found that the proposed zoning amendment is consistent with the City of
Stoughton Comprehensive Plan, and recommends approval of the proposed General Development
Plan, subject to certain conditions.


6. The Common Council has considered the Plan Commission’s recommendation, and finds that,
subject to certain conditions, the proposed General Development Plan is consistent with the City
of Stoughton Comprehensive Plan, and has the potential for enhancing the use of the lands and
increasing the City’s tax base.


December 14, 2021







\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Ordinances\Rezonings\Riverfront-GDP Ordinance Atty Approved.docx 


ORDINANCE 


The Common Council of the City of Stoughton, Dane County, Wisconsin do ordain as follows: 


1. The recitals set forth above are material to and are incorporated in this ordinance as if set forth
in full.


2. Subject to the conditions set forth in Section 6 below, the lands described on Exhibit A are
zoned PD - Planned Development, with an underlying zoning classification of MR-24, and the
GDP attached as Exhibit B is approved.


3. No part of the lands zoned PD - Planned Development may be developed until a Specific
Implementation Plan (SIP) has been approved by the City Plan Commission.


4. The following exceptions to the otherwise applicable requirements in the MR-24 District are
approved:


1) Exemptions Requested from Zoning Standards: Based on Multi-family Residential-24
(MR-24)


The following list outlines the proposed written exemptions the plan is proposing.
Landscape Exemptions are covered in item 2.


a. Exemptions Proposed:
a) Maximum Gross Density exceeds the maximum 24 dwelling units per acre


on lots 1 and 2. We propose an exception to allow 45 units per acre on lot 1
and 32 units per acre on 2. Lot 3 meets the requirements and has 20.3 units
per acre.(Sec. 78-105(2)(h)1)


b) Minimum Lot Area: the minimum lot area requirement is 1,815 square feet
per dwelling unit. We propose an exception to allow the minimum lot area to
be 980 square feet per dwelling unit on Lot 1 and 1,376 square feet on Lot 2,
Lot 3 meets the requirements and has 2,149 square feet per dwelling unit.
(Sec.78-105(2)(h)76A


c) Exceeds the number of dwelling units allowed per building. 12 per Sec. 78-
105(2)(h)2a. We propose an exception to allow up to 50 dwelling units per
building. Currently the GDP shows a maximum of 48 dwelling units per
building.


d) Exceeds Minimum Setbacks (Sec. 78-105(2)(h)7b)
i. D – Front yard requirement: 25’ The setbacks vary, we are proposing to


base the exception on the smallest of the front yard setbacks which is 4’-10,
this occurs at a  balcony on building number 2 along River Road.


ii. F – Side Lot line requirement to apartment building is 20’. We are
proposing an exception to allow the side yard to 12’. Currently the smallest
side yard in the GDP is 12’-9”.







\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Ordinances\Rezonings\Riverfront-GDP Ordinance Atty Approved.docx 


e) H – Rear yard requirement: 50’. The rear yard setbacks vary. We propose to
base the exception on the smallest rear yard currently shown as 8’-4” at the
southernmost building next to the storm water out-lot. We would propose for
the rear yard to be set at 8 feet.


f) Maximum height 40’, currently the first building with its pitched roof and
sloping site is 54’ tall.


(Sec.78-105(2)(h)76N)
g) Minimum number of off-street parking spaces required on the lot by the


zoning code is 434. This calculates to approximately 2.02 stalls per unit and
.89 stalls per bedroom based on the current mix of units in the GDP which
has 484 bedrooms. (Sec. 78-105(2)(h)7b-P) Proposed parking totals in the
GDP for dwelling units is 372 stalls or 1.73 stalls per unit or .78 parking stalls
per bedroom. We propose an exception that reduces the required parking
stalls for the project to the following stalls as shown on the plans.
i. Lot 1 119 stalls 78 units 1.53 stalls/unit  .85 stalls/bedroom
ii. Lot 2 189 stalls 98 units 1.93 stalls/unit .78 stalls/bedroom
iii. Lot 3 64 stalls 39 units 1.64 stalls/unit .69 stalls/bedroom
iv. Total 379 stalls 215 units 1.73 stalls/unit .77 stalls/bedroom


h) Landscape Surface Ratio requirement is 50% (Sec. 78-105(2)(h)7a). We
propose an exemption to reduce the required Landscape Surface Ratio on each
lot. The LSR is lower on each individual lot but the out-lots for the project
increase the Landscape Area to approximately meet the requirements. The
LSR for each lot:
i. Lot 1 LSR .30
ii. Lot 2 LSR .35
iii. Lot 3 LSR .44
iv. Outlot LSR .90


b. Meeting / Exceeding
a) Meets the allowable uses within the zoning district. Multiplex or Apartment


(Sec. 78- 105(2)(h)2a)
b) Meets and exceed the 50’ building setback from high-water mark of Yahara


River. (Sec. 32- 34(a)(1))
c) This proposal maintains and improves the 35’ vegetative buffer zone along


the River. (Sec. 32- 41(1-3))


c. Landscape Exemptions
The Riverfront Redevelopment PD is seeking exemptions from some of the current
City of Stoughton landscaping and buffer yard regulations. A summary of current
codes that apply to this project outlined in this section. Those codes that the project
intends to fully comply with are indicated. If the project is requesting a code
exemption, a description of the current code, requested exemption, and rationale for







\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Ordinances\Rezonings\Riverfront-GDP Ordinance Atty Approved.docx 
 


the variance request is provided. For the purposes of quantifying landscape points, 
the City has directed the design team to follow the most comparable zoning district; 
therefore, the MR-24 (multi-family residential) zoning requirements are assumed to 
be the zoning type most closely matching the proposed PD development and are used 
in the baseline calculations and description of current codes below. 


a) Section 10-2(d) Terrace Trees 


Description of current code: The City requires terrace trees for projects that 
include new buildings on previously undeveloped lots or parcels and/or where 
a development does not have terrace trees conforming to the requirements of 
this Section. 


No Exception Taken: While there is no exception taken to this standard, the 
project’s boundary along Fourth Street and South Street and including the 
extension of 7th Street and creation of a new, public street (currently named 
“River Street” in plan drawings) will require between 70 – 80 new City terrace 
trees. Based on the required deposit of $300 per right-of-way tree, this 
represents an investment of $21,000 - $24,000 by the project in new street 
trees. 


b) Section 78-604(1) Landscaping Requirements for Regular Development: 
Building Foundations  


Description of current code: For each 100 linear feet of building foundation, 
60 points of landscape plantings are required. The dripline of those plants must 
be within 10’ of the building foundation. Climax and tall trees cannot be used 
to meet this requirement. 


Requested Exemption: The project is requesting a reduction in points by 25%, 
resulting in a reduction from 60 points per 100 linear feet of building 
foundation to 45 points. 


Rationale for Exemption Request: The PD Landscape Plan exhibit indicates a 
building design for Building 1 and Building 2 (both Phase 1 buildings) that 
provides direct access from ground-floor units to adjacent public sidewalks. 
Providing these ‘front door’ access points helps to articulate the historic 
aesthetic of the building and enlivens the social space between the building 
and the public sidewalks; however, it also reduces the amount of foundation 
available for placing plants and landscape materials. 


In addition, the design team would like to craft a planting plan that blends 
evergreen and deciduous shrub materials and small-statured ornamental trees 
as the structure of the planting design but also includes accents of ornamental 
grasses and perennials to provide a layered, textured and seasonally changing 
overall planting design. Flowering perennials and ornamental grasses are 







 
\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Ordinances\Rezonings\Riverfront-GDP Ordinance Atty Approved.docx 


considered non-contributory plants from a points calculation basis and do not 
provide any point value. 


The 25% requested reduction takes into consideration the reduced lineal foot 
of foundation available for planting and the desire to include appropriately 
scaled non-contributory planting material to support the overall aesthetic of 
the project and to blend in with the adjacent Yahara River landscape and 
proposed Riverwalk area. 


c) Section 78-604(2) Landscaping Requirements for Regular Development: 
Street Frontages  


Description of current code: For each 100 linear feet of street frontage, 60 
points of landscape plantings are required. The trees must be placed within 10’ 
of the public right-of-way. A minimum of 50% of points shall be devoted to 
climax/tall trees and 30% to medium trees; shrubs are not allowed. 


Requested Exemption: The project is requesting to eliminate this requirement 
where buildings are placed adjacent to existing or proposed public streets. 


Rationale for Exemption Request: The PD Overall Site Plan illustrates 
building setbacks of as little as 8’-6” to as much as 15’-1”. These setbacks 
facilitate an appropriate building-sidewalk-terrace-roadway relationship that 
results in higher density development and supports an active, vibrant, and 
pedestrian- oriented overall development; however, the setbacks do not allow 
for the physical placement of street frontage trees in addition to building 
foundation plantings and new street terrace tree plantings. 


The GDP Landscape Plan represents a significant investment in The 
Community Commons, a linear open space that connects the riverfront and 
future bridge crossing to the downtown; there is no code requirement for 
plantings within this space and the development team sees this as an 
opportunity to re-allocate street frontage requirements to this significant open 
space feature and a highlight of the plan. 


d) Section 78-604(3) Landscaping Requirements for Regular Development: 
Paved Areas 


Description of current code: For each 20 parking stalls or 10,000 square feet 
of parking lot paving (whichever is greater), 100 points of landscape plantings 
are required. A minimum of 30% of points shall be devoted to climax/tall trees 
and 40% to shrubs. 


No Exemption Taken: The PD landscape plan illustrates the placement of 
climax/tall trees and shrub plantings in parking lot islands that comply with 
this code. 







\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Ordinances\Rezonings\Riverfront-GDP Ordinance Atty Approved.docx 
 


e) Section 78-604(3) Landscaping Requirements for Regular Development: 
Developed Lots  


Description of current code: For each 1,000 square feet of building footprint, 
25 points of landscape plantings are required. Plantings shall be located away 
from other areas that meet other landscape requirements (i.e., away from 
building foundations, street frontages, parking lots, and/or bufferyards). All 
planting categories can be used. 


No Exemption Taken: The PD landscape plan illustrates the placement of 
additional trees and planting areas within the large pedestrian-oriented open 
space that connects the Riverwalk to South Street and also within the open 
space around the stormwater ponds and north of the Riverwalk. 


f) Section 78-610 Landscaping Requirements for Bufferyards 


Description of current code: Bufferyards are required along the outer 
perimeter of (but within) lots that abut parcels with a different zoning 
designation. Adjacent single family home lots are zoned MR24 so the 
bufferyard is not required. But we plan to keep a fence to screen the 
development from the single-family homes. 


No exemption proposed: The fence will be constructed in phases based on 
phasing of parking lots and buildings, and fences may be terminated just 
beyond the point at which building walls do not contain doors or other non-
emergency egress openings or may be continued to align with the front yard 
(South Street) face of Buildings 1 and 3. The proposed location of the fence is 
indicated in the PD Landscape Plan. Utilizing a 6-foot solid fence provides a 
high level of visual screening to adjacent properties. A landscaped buffer or 
“green fence” can be provided in lieu of the wood fence if the neighbors prefer. 


  







 
\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Ordinances\Rezonings\Riverfront-GDP Ordinance Atty Approved.docx 


d. Site Area, Impervious Surface, Landscape Surface, Parking and Density 
Calculations 
 


Site Area Information and Calculations 
    


Building Footprints 
(SF) 


 
Asphalt 
(SF) 


 
Sidewalk 
(SF) 


 
Total 
Impervious    
Area 


 
Total Lot 


Area 
(SF) 


 
Impervious  


Ratio 


 
Landscape  
Surface 


 Ratio(LSR) 
Lot 1 34,016 15,994 3,649 53,659 76,874 0.70 0.30 
Lot 2 48,055 29,419 10,674 88,148 134,861 0.65 0.35 
Lot 3 28,595 15,469 3,076 47,140 83,821 0.56 0.44 
Outlot 1 - - 9,357 9,357 98,017 0.10 0.90 
Roadway - 36,447 9,845 46,292 61,796 0.75 0.25 
        


Total 
without 
Roadway 


 
110,666 


 
60,882 


 
  26,756 


 
198,304 


 
   393,573 


 
0.50 


 
0.50 


 


 


Site Density Calculations 
   


Parking Summary 
  


  
Number of 


Units 


 
Lot 


Acreage 


 
   Units per 
Acre 


Lot Area 
per 


Unit(SF) 


 
Parking 
Stalls 


Provided 


Parking 
Required 
by Zoning 


 
 Parking 
   short 


 
Stalls/Unit     Stalls/Unit 
provided        Required 


Lot 1 78 1.76 44.20 986  119 132 13 1.53 1.69 
Lot 2 98 3.10 31.65 1,376  189 221 18 2.07 2.26 
Lot 3 39 1.92 20.27 2,149  64 81 17 1.64 2.08 
Outlot 1 0 2.25 -        
           
           
 


Total 
 


215 
 


9.04 
 


23.80 
 


1,831 
  


372 
 


434 
 


62 
 


1.73 
 


2.02 
           
   Stalls per Bedroom  0.77 0.88    


 
 
 
5. The lands zoned PD - Planned Development shall be developed and used in full compliance 


with all standards and requirements in Chapter 78 of the City Code that apply to the specific 
comparable zoning district, except as flexibilities are expressly authorized in this ordinance or 
in an approved Specific Implementation Plan.  Chapter 78 of the City Code, this Ordinance 







\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Ordinances\Rezonings\Riverfront-GDP Ordinance Atty Approved.docx 
 


and the approved Specific Implementation Plan will constitute the zoning regulations for the 
property, and may be enforced as any zoning regulation in the City of Stoughton.  A copy of 
this Ordinance and the Specific Implementation Plan shall be maintained and kept on file in 
the City of Stoughton Planning Office.  


 
6. The zoning changes and approvals provided for in Section 4 above will not be effective until 


a certified survey map of the lands described in Exhibit A, in the form attached as Exhibit C, 
is approved and recorded. 


 
7. This ordinance shall take effect upon passage and publication pursuant to law.   


 
 


Dates 
 
 
Council Adopted:     
 
Mayor Approved:            
       Tim Swadley, Mayor 
 
Published:     
 
 
Attest:               


        Candee Christen, City Clerk 







Exhibit A 
 
Description 
 
LOTS 2 THROUGH 8, 14, 15 AND PART OF LOTS 1 AND 9 THROUGH 13, BLOCK 35, ORIGINAL PLAT OF THE 
CITY OF STOUGHTON, PARCELS A, B AND PART OF C, CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 1645, ALL BEING PART 
OF THE SE 1/4 AND THE SW 1/4 OF THE NE 1/4 OF SECTION 8, T5N, R11E, IN THE CITY OF STOUGHTON, 
DANE COUNTY, WISCONSIN 
 







1 


Stoughton Riverfront Redevelopment 


General Development Plan 
November 8, 2021  


Submitted by: Stoughton Riverfront Development, LLC - Curt and Matt Brink 


Consultants: Potter Lawson Inc., Saiki Design, Onieda Total Integrated Enterprises 


We are excited to present our General Development Plans for the redevelopment of the Riverfront District. The project 


seeks to redevelop the riverfront site along South Street that has long been used for industrial purposes dating back to 


the era of blacksmiths. The new development will include apartment buildings and a community clubhouse, along with 


outdoor green space, stormwater management features, a large greenway buffer space near the river and a new River 


Path and foot bridge. Stoughton has an ideal site for redevelopment, near the historic and pedestrian friendly downtown 


retail district, as well as adjacent to the Yahara River, the best of both worlds can be had by future residents. Main 


Street amenities are within walking distance and a direct connection to outdoor amenities can be had along the new 


river path and foot bridge to Mandt Park. The proposed renovations to Mandt Park as well as the planned Whitewater 


Park will increase opportunities for recreation and access to outdoor activities.  


The site will have 3 lots, one out-lot for stormwater and a public Right of Way. 


Unit Mix and Density 


The total project area encompasses 9.04 acres and will include approximately 215 apartment units. Buildings will be 


mostly 3 and 4 story apartment buildings with a mix of 1, 2 and 3-bedroom units. The current planned unit mix for the 


master plan is: 46.5% 3-bedrooms, 32.1% 2-bedrooms, and 21.4% 1-bedroom units. The unit mix for future phases of 


the master plan could change as the development progresses based on the feedback from the leasing of Phase One, but 


the developer intends to utilize a mix of 1, 2 and 3 bedrooms. 


Planning and Architecture 


The master plan for the Riverfront District is designed to be an integrated part of the city of Stoughton and not a 


standalone development. The original grid of city streets is extended into the development creating pedestrian and 


vehicle connections and providing city residents with access through the development to utilize the river, the River Trail 


and Mandt Park. The plan places buildings more closely together in order to provide shared green spaces for everyone 


to use. The development focuses on the need for additional housing in the downtown area and does not include retail or 


commercial space. Retail and commercial space would be difficult to fill and would take away from the existing 


commercial areas, mainly the Main Street businesses. The current Main Street area is a draw for new residents that 


desire a small town feel but want amenities that they can walk to. The downtown businesses will benefit from the influx 


of new residents.  


Exhibit B







2 


The architecture of the buildings in Phase One are designed to recall the unique historic nature of the previous 


industrial buildings that inhabited this site, harkening to the heritage of the city. The first building at the corner of South 


Street and South Fourth Street is designed to recall very specifically the historic Blacksmith Shop which was located 


further east on the site and demolished in 2019. The Blacksmith apartments will have a red brick façade with a dark 


metal stepped roof and black steel balconies. The second building to be developed to the south of the Blacksmith Shop 


Apartments, will also recall the historic industrial area but with a lighter brick that relates to the Powerhouse building 


along the river. This building will be three stories in height. The Powerhouse building will remain in place with the hope 


of a future renovation to support the activity on the river especially for the new whitewater park.  The buildings in the 


future phases are anticipated to also be 3 to 4 stories in height with one level of underground parking. A common 


clubhouse building is to be located on a small site adjacent to the river and common green space. The clubhouse will 


house all the shared amenity spaces for the community.  


Site and Parking 


The site is designed with a large green space buffer zone along the river, this allows for the stormwater management for 


the site to filter the runoff water before it reaches the river. The green space also allows ample room for a public walking 


path that will be developed by the city and connect via pedestrian bridge with Mandt Park. The closest structure to the 


river’s edge is the proposed pool at the community club house, which is approximately 140 feet from the river’s bank. 


There is a secondary green space that runs north south on the eastern portion of the site, this green space will provide 


views down to the river from 6th Street, as well as provide connections and pedestrian access to the riverfront and to the 


pedestrian bridge from 6th Street. Parking is intended to be accommodated in three areas; underground parking of 


approximately 1 stall per unit, surface parking lots, and parallel parking in the streets, including the existing South 


Street and South Fourth Street. Underground parking is included under each building to reduce the amount of surface 


parking and reduce impervious areas. Parking for the future use of the Powerhouse will be provided by street parking 


stalls on both sides of 4th Street and along the new River Road. The project is requesting an exemption to reduce the 


required number of parking stalls, but if the street parking stalls are added to the total, the project exceeds the city’s 


requirements for parking by approximately 34 stalls. 


Sustainability 


Creating a sustainable and resilient community, the Riverfront district redevelopment will transform vacant industrial 


land into a neighborhood where residents can live safe, healthy lives, connected to the community with easy access to 


nature and the Yahara River. The compact development will increase density on an underutilized site within the city, 


reducing the need for greenfield development on the periphery thereby preserving natural areas and valuable farmland. 


Developing on this infill site reduces the need to extend utilities and infrastructure further from the center of the city. 


With more people living within walking distance, the economic viability of the existing downtown businesses is 


strengthened. Buildings are placed closely together with minimal setbacks to make efficient use of the existing land 


resource. Most of the parking is located under the buildings to reduce the need for surface parking stalls, which helps 


to reduce stormwater runoff and reduce the heat island effect. On street parking is intended to supply a portion of the 


parking to reduce the need for additional surface lots and costly structured parking areas. The existing and new roads 


are sized to handle parallel parking on both sides of the street, this also helps to create a more comfortable pedestrian 


experience with the parked cars acting as a buffer to moving traffic. The compact development footprint also allows 


green space to be set aside for communal use, creating a resource that everyone in the city has access to, and helping 


to build a more social, healthy, and connected community. The walkability of streets is enhanced with pedestrian and 


residential scale street trees placed 30’ on center, the trees will flower in the spring attracting wildlife and provide 


autumn color accentuating the changing seasons.   







3 


Buildings are arranged around The Community Commons, a large green space designed for passive and active 


recreation for all ages. Aligned with Sixth Street, The Community Commons provides a pedestrian and visual 


connection to the river, the river trail and to the foot bridge over the river that connects to Mandt Park. Green space is 


also set aside along the river to detain and filter stormwater from the development. The stormwater ponds will help 


protect the river by both filtering the urban water runoff and protecting the river during heavy rainstorms leading to 


increased water quality and the protection of wildlife habitat.  The storm water detention out-lot will be planted to create 


a native habitat restoration attracting a diversity of native plants and wildlife.  The Community Commons, River Trail and 


connections to the city’s Main Street amenities encourage residents to get outside and to walk, contributing to the 


physical and social health and vibrancy of the residents and community.  


The redevelopment project aspires to reduce energy use and reduce greenhouse gases by providing well-constructed 


buildings, utilizing quality insulated windows, harnessing renewable energy with solar photovoltaic roof panels, 


providing EV charging stations, specifying energy star appliances, and selecting LED lighting throughout the interiors of 


the buildings and the site. The impact of new construction will be offset by a construction recycling program designed 


and implemented collaboratively across disciplines and contractors. Landscape plant selection will rely on native and 


adaptive species that provide food sources for pollinators and birds, are resilient to the specific microclimate of the site 


and strengthen visual ties to the Yahara River watershed. No irrigation systems are planned for the site. 


Enhanced site design, architectural, sustainability and housing type standards 


1. Open space.
A. The North-South open space area which extends from Sixth Street to Outlot 1 is intended to be open 


and accessible to the public for sidewalk, park and open space uses.  At the time an SIP is approved 
for all or any part of Lot 2 or Lot 3, public access to the North-South open space area shall be secured 
by providing for the reservation by or the conveyance to the City of an easement over that area.


B. Outlot 1 shown on the draft CSM shall  be dedicated to the City of Stoughton for stormwater 
management, open space and recreational uses.


2. Consistency with GDP.  All development and all SIPs shall conform to any of the following elements of the GDP 
submittal, unless deviations are approved by the City during the SIP approval process:
A. Overall Site Plan
B. General Development Plan Landscape
C. General Development Plan Site Signage & lighting
D. Phase 1 Building Perspectives


3. Sustainability Features.
A. Electric Vehicle Charging Station Infrastructure.  All parking facilities shall meet the electric vehicle 


charging station requirements set forth in Section 28.141(8)(e) of the Municipal Code of the City of 
Madison, Wisconsin.


B. Solar power. Buildings A1 (the Blacksmith building) and A2 (the Sawmill building) will be solar


“ready” at occupancy.  Solar panels will be installed no later than  5 years after occupancy is granted. 


Subsequent buildings in Lots 2 and 3 will also be solar “ready” at time of occupancy, with solar 


panels being installed within 5 years of occupancy.  The goal of the solar power is to provide at least 


50% of the common area electrical usage which would include underground parking lighting, EV 


charging stations, and interior common area lighting and power.
C. Indoor as well as exterior bike racks will be provided. Interior bike rack storage will be provided within 


the basement parking area. 1 internal bike stall per unit will be provided. Exterior bike racks will be 
provided for visitors of at least 3 per building.







4 


D. Interior materials with Low to no “VOCs will be specified for the interior units contributing to interior


air quality.


E. Each unit will have its own dedicated HVAC unit along with exhaust fans for the bathrooms.


4. Unit mix in Phase 1 must include not less than 17 three-bedroom units, 28 two-bedroom units, and 33 one-
bedroom units, subject to a 10 % deviation for each unit type (rounded up to next whole number, meaning a
minimum of 15 three-bedroom units and 25 two-bedroom units, and 29 one-bedroom units.  Unit mix in
subsequent phases will be established in the SIP for such phases.


5. The intent of the plantings proposed for Outlot One will include natural and indigenous plantings including a
variety of Native Wisconsin dry prairie mix outside of the stormwater ponds and wet prairie mixes within the
stormwater pond areas, along with native trees and grasses.


6. General Development Plan Site Signage & Lighting
A. The Sixth Street Commons area will be designed in future phases and will include a variety of spaces


for community use and recreation. The history of the area will be highlighted within the community
commons area along with utilizing some of the stockpiled building materials from the original
Blacksmith Shop building.


B. Design team will work with City of Stoughton’s Landmarks Commission to develop appropriate
signage to commemorate the history of the site and the significance of the Blacksmith building.


C. Development of ground signs at the entrance to the development at the corner of 4th and South
Street, 6th and South Street, and 7th and South Street will utilize some of the stockpiled building
materials from the original Blacksmith Shop building (see signage and lighting plan for sign
placement).


D. Design team will work with Stoughton Utilities for suitable light fixtures for street and pedestrian
lighting.


Civil Engineering Site Infrastructure Narrative 


River Street Phase 1 


1. The following public improvements to be constructed for the benefit of the District in accordance with detailed


plans and specifications to be prepared by Developer and approved by the City Planning Director:


a. Utility Relocation:


i. Sewer main to support the current housing development with stub out to connect future


development to it.


ii. Water main to loop between Fourth Street and South Street through Seventh Street


iii. Storm sewer to convey water from Fourth Street and from South Street to the Yahara River.


iv. Storm Sewer to convey current housing development to stormwater management BMPs.


b. Future River Street running parallel to the Yahara River.  Construction 420’ of River Street, from


approximately the East right-of-way line of existing Fourth Street to a point approximately 420’ East


of the east line of Fourth Street. Including sanitary sewer, water main, storm sewer, curb and gutter,


street, sidewalk, and street lighting.


2. Site Grading.  All site grading work the Developer is required to complete in connection with the development


of River Street, pursuant to grading plans to be prepared by Developer and approved by the City Planning


Director in accordance with applicable site grading, erosion control and stormwater management regulations.


River Street Phase 2 


1. The following public improvements to be constructed for the benefit of the District in accordance with detailed


plans and specifications to be prepared by Developer and approved by the City Planning Director:







5 


 


a. Utility Relocation:   


i. Sewer main to support the future housing development.  


ii. Storm Sewer to convey future housing development to stormwater management BMPs. 


b. Future River Street running parallel to the Yahara River.   River Street, from a point approximately 


420’ east of the East right-of-way line of existing Fourth Street to the west line of Seventh Street. 


Including sanitary sewer, water main, storm sewer, curb and gutter, street, sidewalk, and street 


lighting.   


c. Seventh Street from River Street to South Street.   Seventh Street, from future River Street to the 


South right-of-way line of existing South Street. Including sanitary sewer, water main, storm sewer, 


curb and gutter, street, sidewalk, and street lighting.   


2. Site Grading.  All site grading work the Developer is required to complete in connection with the development 


of River Street, pursuant to grading plans to be prepared by Developer and approved by the City Planning 


Director in accordance with applicable site grading, erosion control and stormwater management regulations. 


 


 


Outlot 1 Phase 1 


1. Site Grading.  All site grading work the Developer is required to complete in connection with the current 


development of Outlot 1, pursuant to grading plans to be prepared by Developer and approved by the City 


Planning Director in accordance with applicable site grading, erosion control and stormwater management 


regulations. 


2. Stormwater Management Improvements.  Regional stormwater management improvements supporting current 


development including a regional infiltration basin, a regional water quality basin, to be designed by the 


Developer as part of the stormwater management plan for the Property, and approved by the City Planning 


Director. 


 


Outlot 1 Phase 2 


1. Site Grading.  All site grading work the Developer is required to complete in connection with the future 


development of Outlot 1, pursuant to grading plans to be prepared by Developer and approved by the City 


Planning Director in accordance with applicable site grading, erosion control and stormwater management 


regulations. 


2. Stormwater Management Improvements.  Regional stormwater management improvements supporting future 


development including a regional infiltration basin, a regional water quality basin, to be designed by the 


Developer as part of the stormwater management plan for the Property, and approved by the City Planning 


Director. 


 


Phase 1 Building Sitework 


1. The following public improvements to be constructed for the benefit of the District in accordance with detailed 


plans and specifications to be prepared by Developer and approved by the City Planning Director: 


a. Utility Relocation:   


i. Storm Sewer to convey current housing development to stormwater management BMPs. 


2. Site Grading.  All site grading work the Developer is required to complete in connection with the development 


of two buildings adjacent to Fourth Street, pursuant to grading plans to be prepared by Developer and 


approved by the City Planning Director in accordance with applicable site grading, erosion control and 


stormwater management regulations. 


 







6 


 


Future Phase Building Sitework 


1. The following public improvements to be constructed for the benefit of the District in accordance with detailed 


plans and specifications to be prepared by Developer and approved by the City Planning Director: 


a. Utility Relocation:   


i. Sewer main to support the future housing development to connect to phase 1 development.  


ii. Storm Sewer to convey future housing development to stormwater management BMPs. 


2. Site Grading.  All site grading work the Developer is required to complete in connection with the development 


of seven buildings adjacent to Seventh Street, South Street, and River Street pursuant to grading plans to be 


prepared by Developer and approved by the City Planning Director in accordance with applicable site grading, 


erosion control and stormwater management regulations. 


 


1) Comprehensive Plan 


A review of the Stoughton Comprehensive Plan shows many areas where the proposed project aligns with the 


goals of the city.  


a. Chapter 1: Issues and Opportunities 


i. Meets the top priority of redeveloping vacant downtown buildings. (pg. 11) 


ii. Meets the secondary priority of redeveloping the riverfront. (pg. 11) 


iii. Meets the desire of 47% of residents to redevelop the MillFab site into mixed use 


buildings up to 4 stories. (pg.13) 


iv. The project site is noted as a key redevelopment site for the community. (pg. 14) 


v. Meets the overall project goal of providing safe, affordable, and attractive 


neighborhoods. (pg. 16) 


b. Chapter 3: Land Use 


i. Facilitates in meeting the goal of adding around 100 housing units per year for the next 


20 years. (Table 7 pg. 44) 


ii. This project meets the Comprehensive Plan’s intent for the site’s use to be Planned 


Mixed Use. The Multi-Family Residential Zoning use is an allowable zoning category 


within the plan. This project also aligns with the Planned Mixed Use to create higher-


intensity residential areas and community gathering spot. (pg. 51-53, Map 6a pg. 83) 


iii. This project directly addresses the recommendation for an “aggressive approach to 


redevelop the site” into “a mix or retail, office, and higher density residential 


development” when speaking of the old MillFab site. (pg. 58) 


iv. This plan aligns with the desired design intent for neighborhood development set forth 


by the Plan. (Figure 4 pg. 64) 


v. In congruence with Wisconsin’s Comprehensive Planning Law, this project satisfies the 


preferred attention to Redevelopment & Rehabilitation Areas of the city. (pg. 74, Map 


7) 


vi. Meets the direct desire of the city to clean up the 6-acre riverfront site as part of the 


16-acre riverfront redevelopment as laid out in the Plan. (pg. 75) 


vii. This project meets and elevates the established character of the city set by the historic 


downtown. (pg. 78) 


c. Chapter 4: Transportation 


i. Engages and expands upon the pedestrian/bike paths of the city along the riverfront, 


especially as it relates to the proposed pedestrian bridge across the Yahara River. (Map 


9, pg. 111) 







7 


d. Chapter 6: Housing


i. This development will meet the desire to form groups of smaller buildings with a


historically rich material pallet of brick. It also orients buildings to the street, locates


parking behind or under the buildings, and provides recreational open spaces, which


are all important to the city based on the Plan. (pg. 135


2) Exemptions Requested from Zoning Standards: Based on Multi-family Residential-24 (MR-24)


The following list outlines the proposed written exemptions the plan is proposing. Landscape Exemptions are


covered in item 3.


a. Exemptions Proposed:


a. Maximum Gross Density exceeds the maximum 24 dwelling units per acre on lots 1 and 2. We


propose an exception to allow 45 units per acre on lot 1 and 32 units per acre on 2. Lot 3 meets


the requirements and has 20.3 units per acre.(Sec. 78-105(2)(h)1)


b. Minimum Lot Area: the minimum lot area requirement is 1,815 square feet per dwelling unit. We


propose an exception to allow the minimum lot area to be 980 square feet per dwelling unit on


Lot 1 and 1,376 square feet on Lot 2, Lot 3 meets the requirements and has 2,149 square feet


per dwelling unit. (Sec.78-105(2)(h)76A


c. Exceeds the number of dwelling units allowed per building. 12 per Sec. 78-105(2)(h)2a. We


propose an exception to allow up to 50 dwelling units per building. Currently the GDP shows a


maximum of 48 dwelling units per building.


d. Exceeds Minimum Setbacks (Sec. 78-105(2)(h)7b)


i. D – Front yard requirement: 25’ The setbacks vary, we are proposing to base the


exception on the smallest of the front yard setbacks which is 4’-10, this occurs at a


balcony on building number 2 along River Road.


ii. F – Side Lot line requirement to apartment building is 20’. We are proposing an


exception to allow the side yard to 12’. Currently the smallest side yard in the GDP is


12’-9”.


iii. H – Rear yard requirement: 50’. The rear yard setbacks vary. We propose to base the


exception on the smallest rear yard currently shown as 8’-4” at the southernmost


building next to the storm water out-lot.  We would propose for the rear yard to be set


at 8 feet.


e. Maximum height 40’, currently the first building with its pitched roof and sloping site is 54’ tall.


(Sec.78-105(2)(h)76N)


f. Minimum number of off-street parking spaces required on the lot by the zoning code is 434.


This calculates to approximately 2.02 stalls per unit and .89 stalls per bedroom based on the


current mix of units in the GDP which has 484 bedrooms. (Sec. 78-105(2)(h)7b-P) Proposed


parking totals in the GDP for dwelling units is 372 stalls or 1.73 stalls per unit or .78 parking


stalls per bedroom. We propose an exception that reduces the required parking stalls for the


project to the following stalls as shown on the plans.


i. Lot 1 119 stalls 78 units   1.53 stalls/unit  .85 stalls/bedroom 


ii. Lot 2 189 stalls 98 units   1.93 stalls/unit  .78 stalls/bedroom 


iii. Lot 3 64 stalls 39 units   1.64 stalls/unit  .69 stalls/bedroom 


iv. Total 379 stalls 215 units  1.73 stalls/unit  .77 stalls/bedroom 


g. Landscape Surface Ratio requirement is 50% (Sec. 78-105(2)(h)7a). We propose an exemption


to reduce the required Landscape Surface Ratio on each lot.  The LSR is lower on each







8 


 


individual lot but the out-lots for the project increase the Landscape Area to approximately meet 


the requirements. The LSR for each lot:  


i. Lot 1 LSR .30 


ii. Lot 2 LSR .35 


iii. Lot 3 LSR .44 


iv. Outlot LSR .90 


 


b. Meeting / Exceeding 


a. Meets the allowable uses within the zoning district. Multiplex or Apartment (Sec. 78-


105(2)(h)2a) 


b. Meets and exceed the 50’ building setback from high-water mark of Yahara River. (Sec. 32-


34(a)(1)) 


c. This proposal maintains and improves the 35’ vegetative buffer zone along the River. (Sec. 32-


41(1-3)) 


 


3) Landscape Exemptions 


The Riverfront Redevelopment PD is seeking exemptions from some of the current City of Stoughton 


landscaping and buffer yard regulations. A summary of current codes that apply to this project outlined in this 


section. Those codes that the project intends to fully comply with are indicated. If the project is requesting a 


code exemption, a description of the current code, requested exemption, and rationale for the variance request 


is provided. For the purposes of quantifying landscape points, the City has directed the design team to follow 


the most comparable zoning district; therefore, the MR-24 (multi-family residential) zoning requirements are 


assumed to be the zoning type most closely matching the proposed PD development and are used in the 


baseline calculations and description of current codes below. 


 


a. Section 10-2(d) Terrace Trees 


Description of current code:  The City requires terrace trees for projects that include new buildings on 


previously undeveloped lots or parcels and/or where a development does not have terrace trees conforming 


to the requirements of this Section. 


No Exception Taken:  While there is no exception taken to this standard, the project’s boundary along Fourth 


Street and South Street and including the extension of 7th Street and creation of a new, public street 


(currently named “River Street” in plan drawings) will require between 70 – 80 new City terrace trees. 


Based on the required deposit of $300 per right-of-way tree, this represents an investment of $21,000 - 


$24,000 by the project in new street trees. 


 


b. Section 78-604(1) Landscaping Requirements for Regular Development:  Building Foundations 


Description of current code:  For each 100 linear feet of building foundation, 60 points of landscape 


plantings are required. The dripline of those plants must be within 10’ of the building foundation. Climax 


and tall trees cannot be used to meet this requirement. 


Requested Exemption:  The project is requesting a reduction in points by 25%, resulting in a reduction from 


60 points per 100 linear feet of building foundation to 45 points. 


Rationale for Exemption Request:  The PD Landscape Plan exhibit indicates a building design for Building 1 


and Building 2 (both Phase 1 buildings) that provides direct access from ground-floor units to adjacent 


public sidewalks. Providing these ‘front door’ access points helps to articulate the historic aesthetic of the 







9 


 


building and enlivens the social space between the building and the public sidewalks; however, it also 


reduces the amount of foundation available for placing plants and landscape materials.  


 


In addition, the design team would like to craft a planting plan that blends evergreen and deciduous shrub 


materials and small-statured ornamental trees as the structure of the planting design but also includes 


accents of ornamental grasses and perennials to provide a layered, textured and seasonally changing overall 


planting design. Flowering perennials and ornamental grasses are considered non-contributory plants from 


a points calculation basis and do not provide any point value. 


 


The 25% requested reduction takes into consideration the reduced lineal foot of foundation available for 


planting and the desire to include appropriately scaled non-contributory planting material to support the 


overall aesthetic of the project and to blend in with the adjacent Yahara River landscape and proposed 


Riverwalk area. 


 


c. Section 78-604(2)  Landscaping Requirements for Regular Development:  Street Frontages 


Description of current code:  For each 100 linear feet of street frontage, 60 points of landscape plantings are 


required. The trees must be placed within 10’ of the public right-of-way. A minimum of 50% of points shall 


be devoted to climax/tall trees and 30% to medium trees; shrubs are not allowed. 


Requested Exemption:  The project is requesting to eliminate this requirement where buildings are placed 


adjacent to existing or proposed public streets. 


Rationale for Exemption Request:  The PD Overall Site Plan illustrates building setbacks of as little as 8’-6” 


to as much as 15’-1”. These setbacks facilitate an appropriate building-sidewalk-terrace-roadway 


relationship that results in higher density development and supports an active, vibrant, and pedestrian-


oriented overall development; however, the setbacks do not allow for the physical placement of street 


frontage trees in addition to building foundation plantings and new street terrace tree plantings. 


 


The GDP Landscape Plan represents a significant investment in The Community Commons, a linear open 


space that connects the riverfront and future bridge crossing to the downtown; there is no code requirement 


for plantings within this space and the development team sees this as an opportunity to re-allocate street 


frontage requirements to this significant open space feature and a highlight of the plan. 


 


d. Section 78-604(3) Landscaping Requirements for Regular Development:  Paved Areas 


Description of current code:  For each 20 parking stalls or 10,000 square feet of parking lot paving 


(whichever is greater), 100 points of landscape plantings are required. A minimum of 30% of points shall 


be devoted to climax/tall trees and 40% to shrubs. 


No Exemption Taken:  The PD landscape plan illustrates the placement of climax/tall trees and shrub 


plantings in parking lot islands that comply with this code. 


 


e. Section 78-604(3)  Landscaping Requirements for Regular Development:  Developed Lots 


Description of current code:  For each 1,000 square feet of building footprint, 25 points of landscape 


plantings are required. Plantings shall be located away from other areas that meet other landscape 


requirements (i.e., away from building foundations, street frontages, parking lots, and/or bufferyards). All 


planting categories can be used. 







10 


 


No Exemption Taken:  The PD landscape plan illustrates the placement of additional trees and planting areas 


within the large pedestrian-oriented open space that connects the Riverwalk to South Street and also within 


the open space around the stormwater ponds and north of the Riverwalk. 


 


f. Section 78-610  Landscaping Requirements for Buffer yards 


Description of current code:  Bufferyards are required along the outer perimeter of (but within) lots that abut 


parcels with a different zoning designation. Adjacent single family home lots are zoned MR24 so the 


bufferyard is not required. But we plan to keep a fence to screen the development from the single-family 


homes.  


No exemption proposed 


The fence will be constructed in phases based on phasing of parking lots and buildings, and fences may be 


terminated just beyond the point at which building walls do not contain doors or other non-emergency 


egress openings or may be continued to align with the front yard (South Street) face of Buildings 1 and 3.  


The proposed location of the fence is indicated in the PD Landscape Plan. Utilizing a 6-foot solid fence 


provides a high level of visual screening to adjacent properties. A landscaped buffer or “green fence” can 


be provided in lieu of the wood fence if the neighbors prefer.  


 


4) Site Area, Impervious Surface, Landscape Surface, Parking and Density Calculations 


                           


 
 


Site Area Information and Calculations


Building 


Footprints 


(SF)


Asphalt 


(SF)


Sidewalk 


(SF)


Total 


Impervious 


Area


Total Lot Area 


(SF)


Impervious 


Ratio


Landscape 


Surface 


Ratio(LSR)


Lot 1 34,016         15,994     3,649          53,659            76,874          0.70 0.30


Lot 2 48,055         29,419     10,674        88,148            134,861        0.65 0.35


Lot 3 28,595         15,469     3,076          47,140            83,821          0.56 0.44


Outlot 1 -                -            9,357          9,357              98,017          0.10 0.90


Roadway -                36,447     9,845          46,292            61,796          0.75 0.25


Total without 


Roadway 110,666       60,882     26,756        198,304          393,573        0.50 0.50







11 


Legal Description of Lots 


Lot 1 of the future CSM more particularly described as follows: 


Beginning at the northwest corner of Block 35 Original Plat of the City of Stoughton thence S89°21’14”E along the 


south right of way line of South Street to the northwest corner of Lot 13, of the Original Plat of the City of Stoughton, 


thence along the west thence along the west line of said Lot 13, S00°40'09”W, 132.00 feet; thence S89°21'14”E, 


231.00 feet; thence N47°28'00”E, 28.81 feet; thence S00°40'09”W, 10.50 feet; thence S28°38'36”E, 65.98 feet; 


thence S67°57'32”W, 48.15 feet; thence S14°26'33”E, 81.36 feet; thence S79°54'29”W, 30.83 feet to a point of 


curvature; thence along a curve to the right with a chord which bears S85° 22' 06"W, and a chord length of 12.75 feet, 


and a radius of 67.00 feet to a point of tangency; thence N89° 10' 16"W, 350.11 feet to the west right of way line of 


Fourth Street; thence along said right of way line N00° 40' 09"E, 283.24 feet to the point of beginning.    


This parcel contains 76,874 sq.ft. – 1.76 acres more or less.  


Lot 2 of the future CSM more particularly described as follows: 


Commencing at the northwest corner of Block 35 Original Plat of the City of Stoughton thence S89°21’14”E along the 


south right of way line of South Street to the northwest corner of Lot 13, of the Original Plat of the City of Stoughton, 


thence along the west thence along the west line of said Lot 13, S00°40'09”W, 132.00 feet; thence S89°21'14”E, 


231.00 feet; thence N47°28'00”E, 28.81 feet; thence S00°40'09”W, 10.50 feet to the point of beginning; thence 


S28°38'36”E, 65.98 feet; thence S67°57'32”W, 48.15 feet; thence S14°26'33”E, 81.36 feet; thence N79°54'29”E, 


87.29 feet to a point of curvature; thence along a curve to the right with a chord which bears N85° 22' 06"E, and a chord 


length of 25.31 feet, and a radius of 113.00 feet to a point of tangency; thence N89° 10' 16"W, 419.31 feet to the west 


right of way line of Seventh Street; thence along said right of way line N00° 49' 44"E, 297.29 feet to the south right of 


way line of South Street thence along said right of way line N89°21'14”W, 484.58 feet; thence S00°40' 09"W 65.04 


feet; thence S44°31' 43"W 80.10 feet to the point of beginning. 


This parcel contains 134,861 sq.ft. – 3.10 acres more or less.  


Lot 3 of the future CSM more particularly described as follows: 


Site Density Calculations Parking Summary


Number of 


Units 


Lot 


Acreage


Units per 


Acre


Lot Area 


per 


Unit(SF)


Parking 


Stalls 


Provided


Parking 


Required 


by Zoning


short
Stalls/Unit 


provided


Stalls/Unit 


Required


Lot 1 78 1.76        44.20      986         119 132         13           1.53        1.69        


Lot 2 98 3.10        31.65      1,376      189 221         18           2.07        2.26        


Lot 3 39 1.92        20.27      2,149      64 81           17           1.64        2.08        


Outlot 1 0 2.25        -          


Total 215 9.04 23.80      1,831      372 434         62           1.73        2.02        


Stalls per Bedroom 0.77 0.88        







12 


 


Commencing at the northwest corner of Block 35 Original Plat of the City of Stoughton thence S89°21’14”E along the 


south right of way line of South Street to the northwest corner of Lot 13, of the Original Plat of the City of Stoughton, 


thence along the west thence along the west line of said Lot 13, S00°40'09”W, 132.00 feet; thence S89°21'14”E, 


231.00 feet; thence N47°28'00”E, 28.81 feet; thence S00°40'09”W, 10.50 feet; thence S28°38'36”E, 65.98 feet; 


thence S67°57'32”W, 48.15 feet; thence S14°26'33”E, 81.36 feet; thence N79°54'29”E, 87.29 feet to a point of 


curvature; thence along a curve to the right with a chord which bears N85° 22' 06"E, and a chord length of 25.31 feet, 


and a radius of 113.00 feet to a point of tangency; thence N89° 10' 16"W, 419.31 feet to the west right of way line of 


Seventh Street; thence along said right of way line S00° 49' 44"W, 37.90 feet; thence S89°16'17”E, 25.16 feet; thence 


S00°49'44”W, 28.14 feet to the point of beginning; thence continuing S00°49'44”W, 193.00 feet; N89°10' 16"W 


245.394 feet; thence N67°21' 44"W 182.04 feet; thence N57°50' 16"W 122.56 feet; thence N10°05' 31"W 47.60 feet; 


thence N79°54' 29"E 72.25 feet to a point of curvature; thence along a curve to the right with a chord which bears 


N85°22' 06"E, and a distance of 12.75 feet, and a radius of 67.00 feet to a point of tangency; thence S89°10' 16"E 


444.47 feet to the point of beginning. 


This parcel contains 83,821 sq.ft. – 1.92 acres more or less.  


 


Outlot 1 of the future CSM more particularly described as follows: 


Commencing at the northwest corner of Block 35 Original Plat of the City of Stoughton thence S89°21’14”E along the 


south right of way line of South Street to the northwest corner of Lot 13, of the Original Plat of the City of Stoughton, 


thence along the west thence along the west line of said Lot 13, S00°40'09”W, 132.00 feet; thence S89°21'14”E, 


231.00 feet; thence N47°28'00”E, 28.81 feet; thence S00°40'09”W, 10.50 feet; thence S28°38'36”E, 65.98 feet; 


thence S67°57'32”W, 48.15 feet; thence S14°26'33”E, 81.36 feet; thence N79°54'29”E, 87.29 feet to a point of 


curvature; thence along a curve to the right with a chord which bears N85° 22' 06"E, and a chord length of 25.31 feet, 


and a radius of 113.00 feet to a point of tangency; thence N89° 10' 16"W, 419.31 feet to the west right of way line of 


Seventh Street; thence along said right of way line S00° 49' 44"W, 37.90 feet; thence S89°16'17”E, 25.16 feet; thence 


S00°49'44”W, 221.14 feet to the point of beginning; thence continuing S00°49'44”W, 128.20 feet to the meander line 


of the Yahara River; thence along said meander line, S88°21'14”W, 116.46 feet; thence continuing along said meander 


line, N78°45'47”W, 277.05 feet; thence continuing along said meander line, N52°12'38”W, 221.29 feet; thence 


continuing along said meander line, N67°50'23”W, 166.25 feet; thence continuing along said meander line 


N89°27'50”W, 176.96 feet; thence continuing along said meander line N79°13'17"W 52.59 feet to the East side of 


Fourth Street; thence along said East side, N00°40'09”E, 48.47 feet; thence S89°10' 16"E, 349.93 feet to a point of 


curvature; thence chord which bears N85° 22' 06"E, and a chord length of 25.31 feet, and a radius of 113.00 feet to a 


point of tangency; thence N79°54' 29"E 45.87 feet; thence S10°05' 31"E 47.60 feet; thence S57°50' 16"E 122.56 feet; 


thence S67°21' 44"E 182.04 feet; thence  S89°10' 16"E 245.39 feet to the point of beginning. 


This parcel contains 98,017 sq.ft. – 2.25 acres more or less.  


 


 


 







1


2


3 4


5 6


COMMONS


7 8


POWER 


HOUSE


SOUTH STREET


F
O


U
R


T
H


 S
T


R
E


E
T


RIVER STREET


7
T


H
 S


T
R


E
E


T


2
6


'-
0


"


2
6
'-0


"


2
6


'-
0


"


24'-0" 24'-0"


26'-0"


2
4


'-
0


"


26'-0"


2
6


'-
0


"


1
2


'-
0


"1
2


'-
0


"


2
6


'-
0


"


24'-0"


24'-0"


26'-0"


2
4


'-
0


"


2
4


'-
0


"60'-0"26'-0"60'-0"


PHASE 1


PHASE 1


P
H


A
S


E
 1


YAHARA RIVER


STO
RM


 W
ATER RENTENTION


STORM WATER RENTENTION


32,530 SF


59,570 SF


44,960 SF


30,790 SF


52,200 SF


52,200 SF


32,580 SF 39,470 SF


4,000 SF


1
5


'-
1


"


13'-3"


8
'-
4


"2
6
'-
5
"


DIMENSIONS ARE TO FACE OF BUILDING


BALCONIES AND PORCHES TO EXTEND 


APPROXIMATELY 5'-0" FROM FACE OF 


BUILDING


9
'-
1
0


"12'-10"


12'-9"


14'-1"


9
'-
0


"


9
'-
0


"


9
'-
0


"


1
4


'-
0


"


35'-0"


1
7


'-4
"


12'-9"


1
6


'-8
" 10'-0"


10'-0"


30'-0"


3
5


'-
0


"


7
7


'-1
0


"


20'-0"


84'-0"


84'-0"


75'-2"


4'-5"


4'-5"


24'-0"


N


C:\Users\terrancem\Documents\2019.22.00_Stoughton Riverfront Apartments_Site_Connected -
Central_terrancem6E6CE.rvt


Stoughton Riverfront Redevelopment - 2019.22.00


November 5th, 2021


Overall Site Plan


0' 35' 70' 140'







General Development Plan Site Landscape
Stoughton Riverfront Apartment Site - 2019.22
November 1, 2021


landscape plan not to scale







Project Name - 20XX.XX.XX
January 01, 2020
Stoughton Riverfront Apartment Site - 2019.22
November 1, 2021


General Development Plan Site Signage & Lighting


Legend


Signage 
1  Development ground sign
2   Building identification sign 


and address on building or 
ground mounted 


a  “The Blacksmith” 
b  “The Sawmill”


3  Street sign 


Site Lighting
SL: Street Light
PL: Pedestrian Light
AL: Pool Deck Lighting


SL SL SL SL


SL
SLSL SL


SL


SL


SL


SL


SL


SL


SL SL
SL


SL SL


SL
SL


SL


SL


PL


PL


PLPL


PL


PL


AL
AL


AL


Lighting of trail by others


AL


PL


PL


PL


PL


PL


PL


SL


SL SL


SLSL


SL


SL
SL


SL


1


1 3


3


3
3


2a


2b


SL


SL


SL PL


SL











SOUTH STREET


FO
U


R
TH


 S
TR


EE
T


YAHARA RIVER


FI
FT


H
 S


T


SI
XT


H
 S


T


SE
VE


N
TH


 S
T


OUTLOT 1
98017 sq. ft.
2.25 acres


LOT 2
134861 sq. ft.


3.10 acres


LOT 3
83821 sq. ft.
1.92 acres


LOT 1
76874 sq. ft.
1.76 acres SE


VE
N


TH
 S


T


FUTURE RIVER ROAD
61,796 sq. ft. - 1.42 acres


1


2


3 4


5 6


7 8


COMMONS


Proposed Land Divisions
Stoughton Riverfront Redevelopment - 2019.22.00
May 27, 2021 50'0' 100'


N



AutoCAD SHX Text

13



AutoCAD SHX Text

BLOCK 35



AutoCAD SHX Text

12



AutoCAD SHX Text

11



AutoCAD SHX Text

10



AutoCAD SHX Text

9



AutoCAD SHX Text

BLOCK 36



AutoCAD SHX Text

BLOCK 42



AutoCAD SHX Text

BLOCK 43



AutoCAD SHX Text

PETERSON'S ADDITION



AutoCAD SHX Text

LANDS



AutoCAD SHX Text

BLOCK 34



AutoCAD SHX Text

PHASE 1



AutoCAD SHX Text

PHASE 1



AutoCAD SHX Text

PHASE 1



AutoCAD SHX Text

PHASE 2



AutoCAD SHX Text

PHASE 1



AutoCAD SHX Text

NOTES: ALL BEARINGS ARE REFERENCED TO GRID NORTH OF THE WISCONSIN COUNTY COORDINATE SYSTEM - DANE ZONE, NAD83(2011). THE NORTH LINE OF THE NE   BEARS 14 BEARS N89°50'42"W.



zacht

Image







PARKING


50 STALLS


64' - 0" 34' - 8"


1
9


' 
- 


0
"


2
4


' 
- 


0
"


1
9


' 
- 


8
"


6
4


' 
- 


4
"


3
5


' 
- 


8
"


1
5


8
' 
- 


4
"


6
4


' 
- 


4
"


S
L
O


P
E
D


 F
L
O


O
R


90' - 0"


85' - 6"


308' - 0"


1
2


2
' 
- 


8
"


STORAGE


STORAGE


STORAGE


STORAGE


STORAGE


ENTRY & EXIT


DRIVE


244' - 4"


PARKING


37 STALLS


85' - 6"


N


0' 15' 30'


C:\Users\brianr\Documents\2019.22.00 Stoughton Riverfront Apartments_Arch Bldg 1_brianr@potterlawson.rvt


Stoughton Riverfront Apartments


11/01/2021


Buildings 1 & 2 - Parking Plans
Phase 1







ELEV.


LOBBY


VEST


PARCEL


ROOM


MAIL


64' - 0"


8
7


' 
- 


4
"


6
2


' 
- 


8
"


8
' 
- 


8
"


3BD UNIT


3BD UNIT 2BD UNIT


ELEV.


LOBBY


MAIL & 


PARCEL


1BD UNIT


VEST


VEST


CORRIDOR


MEP


1BD UNIT 1BD UNIT


2BD UNIT 1BD UNIT


3BD UNIT


3BD UNIT2BD UNIT


1BD UNIT1BD UNIT1BD UNIT


2BD UNIT1BD UNIT


2BD UNIT


2BD UNIT


1BD UNIT


2BD UNIT


1BD UNIT


1BD UNIT


1BD UNIT


3BD UNIT


2BD UNIT


2BD UNIT


6
4


' 
- 


8
"


3
5


' 
- 


2
"


1
5


8
' 
- 


8
"


34' - 8"64' - 0"


146' - 4" 15' - 8" 146' - 4"


308' - 4"


OUTDOOR TERRACE


6
4


' 
- 


8
"


N


0' 15' 30'


C:\Users\brianr\Documents\2019.22.00 Stoughton Riverfront Apartments_Arch Bldg 1_brianr@potterlawson.rvt


Stoughton Riverfront Apartments


11/01/2021


Buildings 1 & 2 - First Floor Plans
Phase 1







LOBBY


MEP


3BD UNIT


3BD UNIT 2BD UNIT


ELEV.


LOBBY


1BD UNIT


CORRIDOR


MEP


1BD UNIT 1BD UNIT


2BD UNIT 1BD UNIT


3BD UNIT


3BD UNIT2BD UNIT


1BD UNIT1BD UNIT1BD UNIT


2BD UNIT1BD UNIT


2BD UNIT


2BD UNIT


1BD UNIT


2BD UNIT


1BD UNIT


1BD UNIT


1BD UNIT


3BD UNIT


2BD UNIT


2BD UNIT


CORRIDOR


64' - 0"


8
7


' 
- 


4
"


6
2


' 
- 


8
"


8
' 
- 


8
"


6
4


' 
- 


8
"


3
5


' 
- 


2
"


1
5


8
' 
- 


8
"


34' - 8"64' - 0"


146' - 4" 15' - 8" 146' - 4"


308' - 4"


6
4


' 
- 


8
"


N


0' 15' 30'


C:\Users\brianr\Documents\2019.22.00 Stoughton Riverfront Apartments_Arch Bldg 1_brianr@potterlawson.rvt


Stoughton Riverfront Apartments


11/01/2021


Buildings 1 & 2 - Second Floor Plans
Phase 1







MEP


3BD UNIT


3BD UNIT 2BD UNIT


ELEV.


LOBBY


1BD UNIT


CORRIDOR


MEP


1BD UNIT 1BD UNIT


2BD UNIT 1BD UNIT


3BD UNIT


3BD UNIT2BD UNIT


1BD UNIT1BD UNIT1BD UNIT


2BD UNIT1BD UNIT


2BD UNIT


2BD UNIT


1BD UNIT


3BD UNIT


(MAIN FLOOR)


2BD UNIT


(MAIN FLOOR)


3BD UNIT


(MAIN FLOOR)


2BD UNIT


(MAIN FLOOR)


3BD UNIT


(MAIN FLOOR)


2BD UNIT


2BD UNIT


64' - 0"


8
7


' 
- 


4
"


6
2


' 
- 


8
"


8
' 
- 


8
"


6
4


' 
- 


8
".


3
5


' 
- 


2
".


1
5


8
' 
- 


8
"


34' - 8"64' - 0"


146' - 4" 15' - 8" 146' - 4".


308' - 4" .


6
4


' 
- 


8
".


N


0' 15' 30'


C:\Users\brianr\Documents\2019.22.00 Stoughton Riverfront Apartments_Arch Bldg 1_brianr@potterlawson.rvt


Stoughton Riverfront Apartments


11/01/2021


Buildings 1 & 2 - Third Floor Plans
Phase 1







ROOF


ROOF


ROOF


3BD UNIT


(SECOND FLR)


2BD UNIT


(SECOND FLR)


3BD UNIT


(SECOND FLR)


2BD UNIT


(SECOND FLR)


3BD UNIT


(SECOND FLR)


64' - 0"


8
7


' 
- 


0
"


6
2


' 
- 


8
"


8
' 
- 


9
"


6
4


' 
- 


8
"


3
5


' 
- 


2
".


1
5


8
' 
- 


1
0


"


35' - 0"63' - 8"


146' - 4" 15' - 8" 146' - 4"


308' - 4"


6
4


' 
- 


8
"


N


0' 15' 30'


C:\Users\brianr\Documents\2019.22.00 Stoughton Riverfront Apartments_Arch Bldg 1_brianr@potterlawson.rvt


Stoughton Riverfront Apartments


11/01/2021


Building 1 Fourth Floor Plan
Phase 1







C:\Users\brianr\Documents\2019.22.00 Stoughton Riverfront Apartments_Arch Bldg 1_brianr@potterlawson.rvt


Stoughton Riverfront Apartments


11/01/2021


Building 1 Entry Perspective - South Fourth & East South Streets







C:\Users\brianr\Documents\2019.22.00 Stoughton Riverfront Apartments_Arch Bldg 1_brianr@potterlawson.rvt


Stoughton Riverfront Apartments


11/01/2021


Building 1 Perspective - South Fourth Street







C:\Users\brianr\Documents\2019.22.00 Stoughton Riverfront Apartments_Arch Bldg 1_brianr@potterlawson.rvt


Stoughton Riverfront Apartments


11/01/2021


Building 2 Perspective - South Fourth & River Streets







C:\Users\brianr\Documents\2019.22.00 Stoughton Riverfront Apartments_Arch Bldg 1_brianr@potterlawson.rvt


Stoughton Riverfront Apartments


11/01/2021


Building 2 Entry Perspective - River Street







”
”


”
”


” ” ”
”


”
” ”


”
” ”


”
”


”
”


EXHIBIT   C



AutoCAD SHX Text

CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP



AutoCAD SHX Text

ONEIDA ENGINEERING SOLUTIONS  5100 EASTPARK BOULEVARD, SUITE 200 MADISON, WI 53718



AutoCAD SHX Text

THIS INSTRUMENT WAS DRAFTED BY JOHN THOUSAND



AutoCAD SHX Text

DATE NOVEMBER 18, 2021 JOB # 5019046 SHEET 1 OF 3



AutoCAD SHX Text

LAND SURVEYOR CERTIFICATE       I, John F. Thousand, registered land surveyor, hereby certify that in full compliance with the provisions of Chapter 236, Wisconsin Statutes and the subdivision regulations of the City of Stoughton and according to the instructions and descriptions furnished to me by the owners listed hereon, I have surveyed this property and that such Certified Survey Map correctly represents all exterior boundaries and subdivision of the land surveyed and is described as:   Lots 2 through 8, 14, 15 and part of Lots 1 and 9 though 13, Block 35, Original Plat of the City of Stoughton, Parcels A, B and part of C, Certified Survey Map No. 1645, all being part of the SE 1/4 and the SW 1/4 of the NE 1/4 of Section 8, T5N, R11E, in the City of Stoughton, Dane County, Wisconsin, to-wit:  Commencing at the Northwest corner of said NE 1/4; thence S00°02'22”W, 1344.24 feet; thence W, 1344.24 feet; thence S89°21'14”E, 751.39 feet to the Northwest corner of said Block 35 and the point of beginning;  E, 751.39 feet to the Northwest corner of said Block 35 and the point of beginning;  thence continuing along the North line of South Street, S89°21'14”E, 132.00 feet to the Northwest of E, 132.00 feet to the Northwest of Lot 13, said Block 35; thence along the west line of said Lot 13, S00°40'09”W, 132.00 feet; thence W, 132.00 feet; thence S89°21'14”E, 231.00 feet; thence N47°28'00”E, 28.81 feet; thence S00°40'09”W, 10.50 feet; thence E, 231.00 feet; thence N47°28'00”E, 28.81 feet; thence S00°40'09”W, 10.50 feet; thence E, 28.81 feet; thence S00°40'09”W, 10.50 feet; thence W, 10.50 feet; thence N44°31'26”E, 80.11 feet; thence NOO 40'09"E, 65.04 feet to the south line of South Street; thence E, 80.11 feet; thence NOO°40'09"E, 65.04 feet to the south line of South Street; thencealong said South line, S89°21'14”E, 484.58 feet to the Northeast corner of Lot 2 of said Block 35; E, 484.58 feet to the Northeast corner of Lot 2 of said Block 35; thence S00°49'44”W, 297.29 feet to a found survey nail; thence S89°16'17”E, 25.16 feet to a found 1" W, 297.29 feet to a found survey nail; thence S89°16'17”E, 25.16 feet to a found 1" E, 25.16 feet to a found 1" iron pipe; thence S00°49'44”W, 349.35 feet to a meander line along the Yahara River; thence along W, 349.35 feet to a meander line along the Yahara River; thence along said meander line, S88°21'14”W, 116.46 feet; thence continuing along said meander line, N78°45'47”W, W, 116.46 feet; thence continuing along said meander line, N78°45'47”W, W, 277.05 feet; thence continuing along said meander line, N52°12'38”W, 221.29 feet; thence continuing W, 221.29 feet; thence continuing along said meander line, N67°50'23”W, 166.25 feet; thence continuing along said meander line W, 166.25 feet; thence continuing along said meander line N89°27'50”W, 176.96 feet; thence continuing along said meander line N79 13'17"W 52.59 feet to the W, 176.96 feet; thence continuing along said meander line N79°13'17"W 52.59 feet to theEast side of Fourth Street; thence along said East side, N00°40'09”E, 397.71 feet to the point of E, 397.71 feet to the point of beginning. Together with all land between the meander line and the river.  This parcel contains 455370 sq. ft. 10.454 Acres to the meander line and 476000 sq. ft. 10.9 Acres to the river.   Dated this ________________ day of _______________, 2021. Madison, Wisconsin _____________________________________                        John F. Thousand                        Land Surveyor # S-2515



AutoCAD SHX Text

LOTS 2 THROUGH 8, 14, 15 AND PART OF LOTS 1 AND 9 THROUGH 13, BLOCK 25, ORIGINAL PLAT OF THE CITY OF STOUGHTON, PARCELS A, B AND PART OF C, CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 1645, ALL BEING PART OF THE SE 1/4 AND THE SW 1/4 OF THE NE 1/4 OF SECTION 8, T5N, R11E, IN THE CITY OF STOUGHTON, DANE COUNTY, WISCONSIN



AutoCAD SHX Text

"Received for recording this ________ day of _______________, 20___, at ____________ o'clock __.M., and recorded in Volume ____________ of Certified Surveys, pages _______ __________________________ Kristi Chlebowski, Register of Deeds



AutoCAD SHX Text

SURVEYED FOR: STOUGHTON RIVERFRONT DEVELOPMENT LLC. 701 E WASHINGTON AVE #103 MADISON, WI 53703



AutoCAD SHX Text

CITY OF STOUGHTON COMMON COUNCIL RESOLUTION "Resolved that this Certified Survey Map located in the City of Stoughton was hereby approved by resolution adopted on this _____ day of _____________, 20___ and that said resolution further provided for the acceptance of those lands and rights dedicated by said Certified Survey Map to the City of Stoughton for Public use.   Dated this _________ day of ___________, 20__". _____________________________________ Mayor, City of Stoughton







OUTLOT 1
95433.93 SF.


LOT 2
123972.19 SF.


LOT 1
81251.52 SF.


LOT 3
86405.18 SF.


LINE TABLE


LINE #


L1


L2


L3


L4


L5


L6


L7


L8


L9


L10


L11


L13


L14


L15


L16


DIRECTION


N79° 13' 17"W


S00° 40' 09"W


N47° 28' 00"E


S00° 40' 09"W


N44° 31' 26"E


N00° 40' 09"E


S57° 56' 49"E


S89° 10' 16"E


S12° 39' 20"E


N14° 10' 16"W


N66° 57' 39"E


S79° 54' 29"W


S79° 54' 29"W


S79° 54' 29"W


S79° 54' 29"W


LENGTH


52.59


48.47


28.81


10.50


80.11


65.04


49.08


71.64


83.59


77.60


68.01


92.01


26.11


34.91


83.21


CURVE TABLE


CURVE #


C4


C2


C1


C3


CHORD
BEARING


S85° 22' 06"W


S85° 22' 06"W


S85° 22' 06"W


S85° 22' 06"W


CHORD
DISTANCE


12.75


12.75


25.31


25.31


RADIUS


67.00


67.00


133.00


133.00


CURVE
LENGTH


12.77


12.77


25.35


25.35



AutoCAD SHX Text

13



AutoCAD SHX Text

BLOCK 35



AutoCAD SHX Text

12



AutoCAD SHX Text

11



AutoCAD SHX Text

10



AutoCAD SHX Text

9



AutoCAD SHX Text

BLOCK 36



AutoCAD SHX Text

BLOCK 42



AutoCAD SHX Text

BLOCK 43



AutoCAD SHX Text

PETERSON'S ADDITION



AutoCAD SHX Text

LANDS



AutoCAD SHX Text

BLOCK 34



AutoCAD SHX Text

66.00'



AutoCAD SHX Text

25.03'



AutoCAD SHX Text

28.15'



AutoCAD SHX Text

118.12'



AutoCAD SHX Text

118.12'



AutoCAD SHX Text

DEDICATED TO THE PUBLIC



AutoCAD SHX Text

DEDICATED TO THE PUBLIC



AutoCAD SHX Text

400'



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE 1" = 200'



AutoCAD SHX Text

0'



AutoCAD SHX Text

100'



AutoCAD SHX Text

200'



AutoCAD SHX Text

CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP



AutoCAD SHX Text

LOTS 2 THROUGH 8, 14, 15 AND PART OF LOTS 1 AND 9 THROUGH 13, BLOCK 25, ORIGINAL PLAT OF THE CITY OF STOUGHTON, PARCELS A, B AND PART OF C, CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 1645, ALL BEING PART OF THE SE 1/4 AND THE SW 1/4 OF THE NE 1/4 OF SECTION 8, T5N, R11E, IN THE CITY OF STOUGHTON, DANE COUNTY, WISCONSIN



AutoCAD SHX Text

SURVEYED FOR: STOUGHTON RIVERFRONT DEVELOPMENT LLC 701 E WASHINGTON AVE #103 MADISON, WI 53703



AutoCAD SHX Text

DATE NOVEMBER 18, 2021 JOB # 5019046  SHEET 2 OF 3



AutoCAD SHX Text

S00°02'22"W



AutoCAD SHX Text

2640.62'



AutoCAD SHX Text

1344.24'



AutoCAD SHX Text

N 1/4 CORNER SECTION 8, T5N, R11E



AutoCAD SHX Text

NE CORNER SECTION 8, T5N, R11E



AutoCAD SHX Text

N89°50'42"W 2685.96'



AutoCAD SHX Text

LEGEND BRASS CAP IN      CONCRETE FOUND IRON STAKE FOUND 1 1/4" X 30" REBAR  4.30 LBS/FT PLACED SURVEY NAIL FOUND     7/8" X 24" REBAR     2.04 LBS/FT PLACED  



AutoCAD SHX Text

(263.56')  RECORDED AS DATA  263.51'  MEASURED DATA          EXISTING BUILDING



AutoCAD SHX Text

NOTES: ALL BEARINGS ARE REFERENCED TO GRID NORTH OF THE WISCONSIN COUNTY COORDINATE SYSTEM - DANE ZONE, NAD83(2011). THE NORTH LINE OF THE NE   BEARS 14 BEARS N89°50'42"W.



AutoCAD SHX Text

CENTER OF SECTION 8, T5N, R11E N423,339.24' E865,011.29



AutoCAD SHX Text

N425,979.86' E865,013.11'



AutoCAD SHX Text

N425,972.59' E867,699.06'







AutoCAD SHX Text

CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP



AutoCAD SHX Text

THIS INSTRUMENT WAS DRAFTED BY JOHN THOUSAND



AutoCAD SHX Text

LOTS 2 THROUGH 8, 14, 15 AND PART OF LOTS 1 AND 9 THROUGH 13, BLOCK 25, ORIGINAL PLAT OF THE CITY OF STOUGHTON, PARCELS A, B AND PART OF C, CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 1645, ALL BEING PART OF THE SE 1/4 AND THE SW 1/4 OF THE NE 1/4 OF SECTION 8, T5N, R11E, IN THE CITY OF STOUGHTON, DANE COUNTY, WISCONSIN



AutoCAD SHX Text

SURVEYED FOR: STOUGHTON RIVERFRONT DEVELOPMENT LLC 701 E WASHINGTON AVE #103 MADISON, WI 53703



AutoCAD SHX Text

DATE NOVEMBER 18, 2021 JOB # 5019046 SHEET 3 OF 3



AutoCAD SHX Text

OWNERS CERTIFICATE    The City of Stoughton, as owner, does hereby certify that it caused the land described on this Certified Survey Map to be surveyed, divided, mapped and dedicated as represented hereon.   In Witness whereof, said City of Stoughton, has caused these presents to be signed by _____________________, its ______________, at Stoughton, Wisconsin, this ________ day of ________20___. ________________________  ___________________________ Authorizes Representative STATE OF WISCONSIN )                            )S.S. COUNTY OF DANE     )    Personally came before this ______ day of __________, 20___. the aboved named _________________ to me known to be the person who executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledge the same. My Commission Expires ________________________                    _________________________                    Notary Public







CITY OF STOUGHTON       RODNEY J. SCHEEL 
DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT        DIRECTOR 
207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI. 53589    (608) 873-6619 
www.cityofstoughton.com/planning          fax: (608) 873-5519 


       
 


November 15, 2021 
 
Potter Lawson, Inc.  
Doug Hursh  
749 University Row, Suite 300 
Madison WI, 53705 
 
 
Dear Mr. Hursch: 
 
I have completed a review of the proposed Stoughton Riverfront Redevelopment - Planned 
Development – General Development Plan (GDP) (Dated November 8, 2021).   A public hearing is 
scheduled for the December 13, 2021 Plan Commission meeting.  The proposed GDP ordinance 
will be considered by the City Common Council on January 11 and 25, 2022. 
 
1. Planned Development District Purpose.  


a)   The purpose of this section is to provide regulations which govern the procedure and 
requirements for the review and approval, or denial, of proposed planned developments, 
and to provide for the possible relaxation of certain development standards pertaining to 
the most comparable standard zoning district as determined by the zoning administrator.  
The most comparable zoning district is the MR-24 Multi-Family Residential District. 


b)   Planned developments are intended to provide more incentives for development and 
redevelopment in areas of the community which are experiencing a lack of significant 
investment. Furthermore, planned developments are designed to forward both the 
aesthetic and economic development objectives of the city by controlling the site design 
and the appearance, density or intensity of development in terms of more flexible 
requirements for land uses, density, intensity, bulk, landscaping, and parking 
requirements. In exchange for such flexibility, the Planned Development shall provide a 
much higher level of site design, architectural control and other aspects of aesthetic and 
functional excellence than normally required for other developments.  


c)       Planned developments have the potential to create undesirable impacts on nearby 
properties if allowed to develop simply under the general requirements of this chapter. In 
addition to such potential, planned developments also have the potential to create 
undesirable impacts on nearby properties which potentially cannot be determined except 
with a binding site plan, landscape plan and architectural plan, and on a case by case 
basis. In order to prevent this from occurring, all planned developments are required to 
meet certain procedural requirements applicable only to planned developments, in 
addition to the general requirements of this chapter. A public hearing process is required 
to review a request for a planned development. This process shall essentially combine the 
process for a zoning map amendment (for the general development plan (GDP) step) with 
that required for a conditional use (for the specific implementation plan (SIP) Step), with 
several additional requirements.  



http://www.cityofstoughton.com/planning





2. Provision of flexible development standards for planned developments.  
a)       Permitted location. Planned developments shall be permitted with the approval of a 


Planned Development Zoning District, specific to the approved planned development, 
within all zoning districts.  


b)   Flexible development standards. The following exemptions to the development 
standards of the most comparable zoning district may be provided with the approval of a 
planned development:  
1.  Land use requirements. All land uses listed as "Dwelling Unit Types", "Institutional", 


or "Commercial" in section 78-202 may be permitted within a planned development. 
Multi-Family dwelling units are proposed. 


2.  Density and intensity requirements. All requirements listed in sections 78-304 and 
78-305 for residential density and nonresidential intensity may be waived within a 
planned development. Exemptions requested.   


3.  Bulk requirements. All requirements listed in sections 78-403, 78-404, 78-405, 78-
406 and 78-407 may be waived within a planned development. Exemptions 
requested. 


4.  Landscaping requirements. All requirements listed in sections 78-604, 78-605, 78-
606, 78-607, 78-608, 78-609 and 78-610 may be waived within a planned 
development. Exemptions requested. 


5.  Parking and loading requirements. All requirements listed in sections 78-704 and 
78-705 may be waived within a planned development. Exemptions requested. 


c)  Requirements to depict all aspects of development. Only development which is explicitly 
depicted on the required site plan approved by the common council as part of the approved 
planned development, shall be permitted, even if such development (including all aspects 
of land use, density and intensity, bulk, landscaping, and parking and loading), is 
otherwise listed as permitted in sections 78-403 through 78-407.  Requested exemptions 
from these standards shall be made explicit by the applicant in the application, and shall be 
recommended by the plan commission and approved explicitly by the common council. If 
not so requested and approved, such exemptions shall not be permitted.  Exemptions 
listed in application. 


 
3. General Development Plan requirements per zoning code section 78-914(7) are as follows: 


a)    A location map of the subject property as depicted on the planned land use map shall be 
provided.  Provided  


b)    A map of subject property showing all lands within 300 feet of the boundaries of the 
subject property, together with the names and addresses of the owners of all lands on said 
map including indication of current zoning of subject property.  Done by staff  


c)    A general description of the general development plan including: 
1. General project themes and images; Provided 
2. The general mix of dwelling units and/or land uses; Provided 
3. Approximate residential densities and non-residential intensities as described 


by dwelling units per acre, floor area ratio and impervious surface area ratio; 
Provided 


4. General treatment of natural resources; Provided 
5. General relationship to nearby properties and streets; Provided 







6. The general relationship of the project to the comprehensive plan.  Provided 
7. A statement of rationale as to why the PD zoning is proposed which identifies 


barriers the applicant perceives in the form of requirements of standard zoning 
districts and opportunities for community betterment the applicant suggests are 
available through the proposed PD zoning; Provided 


8. A complete list of zoning standards which will not be met and which will be 
more than met by the proposed PD and the locations in which they apply and a 
complete list of zoning standards which will be more than met by the proposed 
PD and the location in which they apply shall be identified, as compared with 
the most comparable zoning district.  Essentially, the purpose of this listing 
shall be to provide the plan commission with information necessary to 
determine the relative merits of the project in regard to private benefit versus 
public benefit and in regard to the mitigation of potentially adverse impacts 
created by design flexibility. Provided 


9. A written description of potentially requested exemptions from the 
requirements of the most comparable zoning district, in the following order:  


A. Land use exemptions:  
B. Density and intensity exemptions:  
C. Bulk exemptions:  
D. Landscaping exceptions:  
E. Parking and loading requirements exceptions:  


Provided 
 


4. A general development plan drawing shall be provided with at least the following information 
in sufficient detail to make an evaluation against criteria for approval:  
a)    A conceptual site drawing of the general land use layout and the general location of major 


public streets and/or private drives;  Provided  
b)    Location of recreational and open spaces areas and facilities; Provided 
c)    Statistical data on minimum lot sizes in the development, the approximate area of all 


development lots and pads, density/intensity of various parts of the development, floor 
area ratio, impervious surface area ratio and landscape surface area ratio of various land 
uses, expected staging, and any other plans required by the plan commission or common 
council.      Provided 


5. A general conceptual landscaping plan for subject property, noting approximate locations of 
foundation, street, yard, paving and landscaping.   Provided 


6. A general signage plan for the project, including all project identification signs and concepts 
for public fixtures and signs, such as street light fixtures and/or poles or street sign faces 
and/or poles) which are proposed to vary from City standards or common practices. Signage 
shall be reviewed during SIP approval process.   


7. Written justification for the proposed planned development. The applicant shall use the 
requirements of the zoning map amendment procedure (subsections 78.903(4) (c) 1 through 
3) to develop said written justification.  Provided 
 
The process for review and approval of the GDP shall be identical to that for zoning map 
amendments per section 78-903 of this chapter and (if land is to be divided) to that for 
preliminary and final plats of subdivision per the Municipal Code.  
 



https://www.municode.com/library/wi/stoughton/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=MUCO_CH78ZO_ARTIXPRAD_S78-903AMOFZOMA





All portions of an approved PD/GDP not fully developed within five years of final common 
council approval shall expire, and no additional PD-based development shall be permitted. 
The common council may extend this five years period by up to five additional years via a 
majority vote following a public hearing. Completed portions of the PD/GDP shall retain the 
PD/GDP status.  


8. There is a new park impact fee ordinance being considered by the City Common Council on 
November 23 and December 14, 2022.  Park impacts will need to be addressed according to 
any newly adopted ordinance and will be part of the adopted GDP ordinance. 
 


The following is the list of exemptions being requested. 
1) Exemptions Requested from Zoning Standards: Based on Multi-family Residential-24 (MR-24) 


The following list outlines the proposed written exemptions the plan is proposing. Landscape Exemptions are covered 
in item 2. 
a. Exemptions Proposed: 


a. Maximum Gross Density exceeds the maximum 24 dwelling units per acre on lots 1 and 2. We 
propose an exception to allow 45 units per acre on lot 1 and 32 units per acre on 2. Lot 3 meets 
the requirements and has 20.3 units per acre.(Sec. 78-105(2)(h)1) 


b. Minimum Lot Area: the minimum lot area requirement is 1,815 square feet per dwelling unit. 
We propose an exception to allow the minimum lot area to be 980 square feet per dwelling unit on 
Lot 1 and 1,376 square feet on Lot 2, Lot 3 meets the requirements and has 2,149 square feet 
per dwelling unit. (Sec.78-105(2)(h)76A 


c. Exceeds the number of dwelling units allowed per building. 12 per Sec. 78-105(2)(h)2a. We 
propose an exception to allow up to 50 dwelling units per building. Currently the GDP shows a 
maximum of 48 dwelling units per building. 


d. Exceeds Minimum Setbacks (Sec. 78-105(2)(h)7b) 
i. D – Front yard requirement: 25’ The setbacks vary, we are proposing to base the 


exception on the smallest of the front yard setbacks which is 4’-10, this occurs at a    
balcony on building number 2 along River Road. 


ii. F – Side Lot line requirement to apartment building is 20’. We are proposing an 
exception to allow the side yard to 12’. Currently the smallest side yard in the GDP is 
12’-9”. 


iii. H – Rear yard requirement: 50’. The rear yard setbacks vary. We propose to base the 
exception on the smallest rear yard currently shown as 8’-4” at the southernmost 
building next to the storm water out-lot. We would propose for the rear yard to be set   
at 8 feet. 


e. Maximum height 40’, currently the first building with its pitched roof and sloping site is 54’ tall. 
(Sec.78-105(2)(h)76N) 


f. Minimum number of off-street parking spaces required on the lot by the zoning code is 434. 
This calculates to approximately 2.02 stalls per unit and .89 stalls per bedroom based on the 
current mix of units in the GDP which has 484 bedrooms. (Sec. 78-105(2)(h)7b-P) 
Proposed  parking totals in the GDP for dwelling units is 372 stalls or 1.73 stalls per unit or 
.78 parking stalls per bedroom. We propose an exception that reduces the required parking 
stalls for the project to the following stalls as shown on the plans. 


i. Lot 1 119 stalls 78 units 1.53 stalls/unit .85 stalls/bedroom 
ii. Lot 2 189 stalls 98 units 1.93 stalls/unit .78 stalls/bedroom 







iii. Lot 3 64 stalls 39 units 1.64 stalls/unit .69 stalls/bedroom 
iv. Total 379 stalls 215 units 1.73 stalls/unit .77 stalls/bedroom 


g. Landscape Surface Ratio requirement is 50% (Sec. 78-105(2)(h)7a). We propose an 
exemption to reduce the required Landscape Surface Ratio on each lot. The LSR is lower on 
each individual lot but the out-lots for the project increase the Landscape Area to approximately 
meet the requirements. The LSR for each lot: 


i. Lot 1 LSR .30 
ii. Lot 2 LSR .35 
iii. Lot 3 LSR .44 
iv. Outlot LSR .90 


b. Meeting / Exceeding 
a. Meets the allowable uses within the zoning district. Multiplex or Apartment (Sec. 


78- 105(2)(h)2a) 
b. Meets and exceed the 50’ building setback from high-water mark of Yahara River. (Sec. 


32- 34(a)(1)) 
c. This proposal maintains and improves the 35’ vegetative buffer zone along the River. (Sec. 


32- 41(1-3)) 
2) Landscape Exemptions 


The Riverfront Redevelopment PD is seeking exemptions from some of the current City of Stoughton landscaping and 
buffer yard regulations. A summary of current codes that apply to this project outlined in this section. Those codes 
that the project intends to fully comply with are indicated. If the project is requesting a code exemption, a description 
of the current code, requested exemption, and rationale for the variance request is provided. For the purposes of 
quantifying landscape points, the City has directed the design team to follow the most comparable zoning district; 
therefore, the MR-24 (multi-family residential) zoning requirements are assumed to be the zoning type most closely 
matching the proposed PD development and are used in the baseline calculations and description of current codes 
below. 


a. Section 10-2(d) Terrace Trees 
Description of current code: The City requires terrace trees for projects that include new buildings on 
previously undeveloped lots or parcels and/or where a development does not have terrace trees conforming to the 
requirements of this Section. 


No Exception Taken: While there is no exception taken to this standard, the project’s boundary along Fourth   
Street and South Street and including the extension of 7th Street and creation of a new, public street (currently named 
“River Street” in plan drawings) will require between 70 – 80 new City terrace trees. Based on the required deposit 
of $300 per right-of-way tree, this represents an investment of $21,000 - $24,000 by the project in new street trees. 
b. Section 78-604(1) Landscaping Requirements for Regular Development: Building Foundations 
Description of current code: For each 100 linear feet of building foundation, 60 points of landscape 
plantings are required. The dripline of those plants must be within 10’ of the building foundation. Climax 
and tall trees cannot be used to meet this requirement. 
Requested Exemption: The project is requesting a reduction in points by 25%, resulting in a reduction from 60 
points per 100 linear feet of building foundation to 45 points. 


Rationale for Exemption Request: The PD Landscape Plan exhibit indicates a building design for Building 
1 and Building 2 (both Phase 1 buildings) that provides direct access from ground-floor units to adjacent public 
sidewalks. Providing these ‘front door’ access points helps to articulate the historic aesthetic of the building and 







enlivens the social space between the building and the public sidewalks; however, it also reduces the amount of 
foundation available for placing plants and landscape materials. 


In addition, the design team would like to craft a planting plan that blends evergreen and deciduous shrub materials 
and small-statured ornamental trees as the structure of the planting design but also includes accents of ornamental 
grasses and perennials to provide a layered, textured and seasonally changing overall planting design. Flowering 
perennials and ornamental grasses are considered non-contributory plants from a points calculation basis and do 
not provide any point value. 


The 25% requested reduction takes into consideration the reduced lineal foot of foundation available for planting 
and the desire to include appropriately scaled non-contributory planting material to support the overall aesthetic of 
the project and to blend in with the adjacent Yahara River landscape and proposed Riverwalk area. 


c. Section 78-604(2) Landscaping Requirements for Regular Development: Street Frontages 
Description of current code: For each 100 linear feet of street frontage, 60 points of landscape 
plantings are required. The trees must be placed within 10’ of the public right-of-way. A minimum of 50% 
of points shall be devoted to climax/tall trees and 30% to medium trees; shrubs are not allowed. 
Requested Exemption: The project is requesting to eliminate this requirement where buildings are placed 
adjacent to existing or proposed public streets. 


Rationale for Exemption Request: The PD Overall Site Plan illustrates building setbacks of as little as 8’-
6” to as much as 15’-1”. These setbacks facilitate an appropriate building-sidewalk-terrace-roadway relationship 
that results in higher density development and supports an active, vibrant, and pedestrian- oriented overall 
development; however, the setbacks do not allow for the physical placement of street frontage trees in addition to 
building foundation plantings and new street terrace tree plantings. 


The GDP Landscape Plan represents a significant investment in The Community Commons, a linear open space 
that connects the riverfront and future bridge crossing to the downtown; there is no code requirement for plantings 
within this space and the development team sees this as an opportunity to re-allocate street frontage requirements to 
this significant open space feature and a highlight of the plan. 


d. Section 78-604(3) Landscaping Requirements for Regular Development: Paved Areas 
Description of current code: For each 20 parking stalls or 10,000 square feet of parking lot paving 
(whichever is greater), 100 points of landscape plantings are required. A minimum of 30% of points shall be 
devoted to climax/tall trees and 40% to shrubs. 


No Exemption Taken: The PD landscape plan illustrates the placement of climax/tall trees and shrub 
plantings in parking lot islands that comply with this code. 


e. Section 78-604(3) Landscaping Requirements for Regular Development: Developed Lots 
Description of current code: For each 1,000 square feet of building footprint, 25 points of 
landscape plantings are required. Plantings shall be located away from other areas that meet other 
landscape requirements (i.e., away from building foundations, street frontages, parking lots, and/or 
bufferyards). All  planting categories can be used. 







No Exemption Taken: The PD landscape plan illustrates the placement of additional trees and planting areas 
within the large pedestrian-oriented open space that connects the Riverwalk to South Street and also within the open 
space around the stormwater ponds and north of the Riverwalk. 


f. Section 78-610 Landscaping Requirements for Buffer yards 
Description of current code: Bufferyards are required along the outer perimeter of (but within) lots that abut 
parcels with a different zoning designation. Adjacent single family home lots are zoned MR24 so the bufferyard is 
not required. But we plan to keep a fence to screen the development from the single-family homes. 


No exemption proposed 
The fence will be constructed in phases based on phasing of parking lots and buildings, and fences may be 
terminated just beyond the point at which building walls do not contain doors or other non-emergency egress 
openings or may be continued to align with the front yard (South Street) face of Buildings 1 and 3. The proposed 
location of the fence is indicated in the PD Landscape Plan. Utilizing a 6-foot solid fence provides a high level of 
visual screening to adjacent properties. A landscaped buffer or “green fence” can be provided in lieu of the wood 
fence if the neighbors prefer. 


3) Site Area, Impervious Surface, Landscape Surface, Parking and Density Calculations 
 


Site Area Information and Calculations 
    


Building 
Footprints 


(SF) 


 
Asphalt 


(SF) 


 
Sidewalk 


(SF) 
Total 


Impervious 
Area 


 
Total Lot 


Area 
(SF) 


 
Impervious 


Ratio 
Landscape 
Surface 


Ratio(LSR) 


Lot 1 34,016 15,994 3,649 53,659 76,874 0.70 0.30 
Lot 2 48,055 29,419 10,674 88,148 134,86


1 
0.65 0.35 


Lot 3 28,595 15,469 3,076 47,140 83,821 0.56 0.44 
Outlot 1 - - 9,357 9,357 98,017 0.10 0.90 
Roadway - 36,447 9,845 46,292 61,796 0.75 0.25 
        


Total 
without 
Roadway 


 
110,666 


 
60,882 


  
  26,756 


 
198,304 


  
393,573 


 
0.50 


 
0.50 


 


 


 


 


 







S:\Planning\Developments\Riverfront Redevelopment Area\General Development Plan\Final GDP Application Materials\Riverfront GDP Review 11.15.21.doc 


 


Site Density Calculations 
   


Parking Summary 
  


  
Number of 


Units 


 
Lot 


Acreage 


 
Units per 


Acre 
Lot Area  


per 
Unit(SF) 


 
Parking 
Stalls 


Provided 


Parking 
Required 
by Zoning 


 
short 


 
Stalls/Unit   Stalls/Unit 
provided   Required 


Lot 1 78 1.76 44.20 986  119 132 13 1.53 1.69 
Lot 2 98 3.10 31.65 1,376  189 221 18 2.07 2.26 
Lot 3 39 1.92 20.27 2,149  64 81 17 1.64 2.08 
Outlot 1 0 2.25 -        
           
           
 


Total 
 


215 
 


9.04 
 


23.80 
 


1,831 
  


372 
 


434 
 


62 
 


1.73 
 


2.02 
           
   Stalls per Bedroom  0.77 0.88    


 
 
 
 
 


If you have any questions, please contact me at 608-646-0421 


 


    Sincerely, 
    City of Stoughton 
 
    Michael P. Stacey 
 
    Michael P. Stacey 


Zoning Administrator/Assistant Planner 
 
 
 





		Exhibit A - Narrative & Plan.pdf

		2021 11 08  GDP Stoughton Riverfront Redevelopment GDP narrative

		2021 11 05 - GDP Plan Submittal - optimized



		07  Stoughton Riverfront Redevelopment CSM.pdf

		Stoughton Riverfront CSM.pdf

		5019046SV1-CSM 1

		Sheets and Views

		5019046SV1-CSM 1





		5019046SV1-CSM 2

		Sheets and Views

		5019046SV1-CSM 2





		5019046SV1-CSM 3

		Sheets and Views

		5019046SV1-CSM 3









		Riverfront GDP Ordinance - Corrected Ord Number.pdf

		Exhibit A - Narrative & Plan.pdf

		2021 11 08  GDP Stoughton Riverfront Redevelopment GDP narrative

		2021 11 05 - GDP Plan Submittal - optimized



		07  Stoughton Riverfront Redevelopment CSM.pdf

		Stoughton Riverfront CSM.pdf

		5019046SV1-CSM 1

		Sheets and Views

		5019046SV1-CSM 1





		5019046SV1-CSM 2

		Sheets and Views

		5019046SV1-CSM 2





		5019046SV1-CSM 3

		Sheets and Views

		5019046SV1-CSM 3











		Riverfront GDP Exhibit A.pdf

		Exhibit A - Narrative & Plan.pdf

		2021 11 08  GDP Stoughton Riverfront Redevelopment GDP narrative

		2021 11 05 - GDP Plan Submittal - optimized



		07  Stoughton Riverfront Redevelopment CSM.pdf

		Stoughton Riverfront CSM.pdf

		5019046SV1-CSM 1

		Sheets and Views

		5019046SV1-CSM 1





		5019046SV1-CSM 2

		Sheets and Views

		5019046SV1-CSM 2





		5019046SV1-CSM 3

		Sheets and Views

		5019046SV1-CSM 3











		Riverfront GDP Exhibit B-solar corrected.pdf

		Exhibit A - Narrative & Plan.pdf

		2021 11 08  GDP Stoughton Riverfront Redevelopment GDP narrative

		2021 11 05 - GDP Plan Submittal - optimized



		07  Stoughton Riverfront Redevelopment CSM.pdf

		Stoughton Riverfront CSM.pdf

		5019046SV1-CSM 1

		Sheets and Views

		5019046SV1-CSM 1





		5019046SV1-CSM 2

		Sheets and Views

		5019046SV1-CSM 2





		5019046SV1-CSM 3

		Sheets and Views

		5019046SV1-CSM 3











		Riverfront GDP Exhibit C.pdf

		Exhibit A - Narrative & Plan.pdf

		2021 11 08  GDP Stoughton Riverfront Redevelopment GDP narrative

		2021 11 05 - GDP Plan Submittal - optimized



		07  Stoughton Riverfront Redevelopment CSM.pdf

		Stoughton Riverfront CSM.pdf

		5019046SV1-CSM 1

		Sheets and Views

		5019046SV1-CSM 1





		5019046SV1-CSM 2

		Sheets and Views

		5019046SV1-CSM 2





		5019046SV1-CSM 3

		Sheets and Views

		5019046SV1-CSM 3











		Riverfront GDP Ordinance - Corrected Ord Number.pdf

		Exhibit A - Narrative & Plan.pdf

		2021 11 08  GDP Stoughton Riverfront Redevelopment GDP narrative

		2021 11 05 - GDP Plan Submittal - optimized



		07  Stoughton Riverfront Redevelopment CSM.pdf

		Stoughton Riverfront CSM.pdf

		5019046SV1-CSM 1

		Sheets and Views

		5019046SV1-CSM 1





		5019046SV1-CSM 2

		Sheets and Views

		5019046SV1-CSM 2





		5019046SV1-CSM 3

		Sheets and Views

		5019046SV1-CSM 3




















 
City of Stoughton, 207 South Forrest Street, Stoughton WI  53589 


 
 


RESOLUTION FROM THE UTILTIES COMMITTEE TO THE  
STOUGHTON COMMON COUNCIL 


 
Authorizing and directing the proper City official(s) to approve the Stoughton Utilities 2022 Budget 
and Five-Year (2022-2026) Capital Improvement Plan (CIP). 


 
Committee Action: 


 
Utilities Committee recommended Common Council approval 6 - 0 


 
Fiscal Impact: Revenue Neutral 
 
File Number: 


 
R-179-2021 


 
Date Introduced: 


 
December 28, 2021 


WHEREAS, in 2021, City of Stoughton and Stoughton Utilities staff, along with their engineering and 
financial consultants, initiated the development of the proposed 2022 Stoughton Utilities Budget and five-
year (2022-2026) Capital Improvement Program; and 


WHEREAS, on December 20, 2021, the Stoughton Utilities Committee met to consider and approve the 
Stoughton Common Council to approve the proposed 2022 Stoughton Utilities Budget and five-year 
(2022-2026) Capital Improvement Plan, and recommended approval to the Stoughton Common Council; 
now therefore 


BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that the proper city official(s) 
approve and adopt the 2022 Stoughton Utilities Budget and five-year (2022-2026) Capital Improvement 
Plan.    


Council Action: ☐ Adopted ☐ Failed Vote:  


Mayoral Action: ☐ Accept ☐ Veto   


    
Mayor Timothy Swadley  Date  


Council Action:  ☐ Override Vote:  
 







DRAFT STOUGHTON UTILITIES COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, December 20, 2021 – 5:00 p.m. 
Stoughton, WI  
Page No.  2 


2. Stoughton Utilities August Payments Due List Report 


3. Stoughton Utilities July Financial Summary 


4. Stoughton Utilities July Statistical Report 


Discussion followed. 


Status Update:  Lead Service Line Replacement Program:  Stoughton Utilities staff presented and discussed 


recent efforts that have occurred as part of the ongoing 2021 citywide lead service line replacement project of 


public and privately-owned lead service lines.  Staff informed the committee that all construction efforts have 


been completed by the contractor, and that lead service lines were replaced at 703 parcels, including the 


replacement of 340 publicly owned and 653 privately owned lead service lines.  Following the completion of this 


project, there are now zero known lead service lines remaining in the City of Stoughton. 


Staff further informed the committee that all lawn, sidewalk, and asphalt restoration work has been completed, 


and SU staff continues to work with the contractor to process all pay requests for work completed and submit 


grant reimbursement requests to the Wisconsin DNR for 2021 funding.  At this time, the project is projected to 


be completed under budget and within the total grant amount awarded by the Wisconsin DNR.  Discussion 


followed. 


Stoughton Utilities Proposed 2022 Budget and Five Year (2022 – 2026) Capital Improvement Projects 


(CIP) Plan:  Stoughton Utilities staff presented and discussed the proposed 2022 Stoughton Utilities budget.  


Discussion followed.  Stoughton Utilities staff presented and discussed the proposed 2022 five-year (2022-2026) 


Capital Improvement Projects (CIP) Plan.  Discussion followed.   


Motion by Hirsch, the motion seconded by Kallas, to approve the Stoughton Utilities 2022 budget and the 


Stoughton Utilities 2022 five-year (2022-2026) Capital Improvement Projects (CIP) Plan and recommend 


approval to the Stoughton Common Council at their December 28, 2021 meeting.  The motion carried 


unanimously 6 to 0. 


Authorizing the Partial Release (From 12’ to 10’) of a Platted Public Utility Easement on Lot 157 of Nordic 


Ridge Plat, recorded as Document No. 4613105, Dane County Registry:  Stoughton Utilities staff presented 


and discussed a request received from the developer of Lot 157 of Nordic Ridge (1408 Nordland Drive) to 


partially release a platted public utility easement.  This partial release will consist of decreasing the existing 


recorded easement along the south property boundary by two feet, from a 12-foot width to a 10-foot width. 


Staff informed the committee that Stoughton Utilities has no existing utility infrastructure located within the platted 


easement, that the proposed partial release has been reviewed by Stoughton Utilities staff and has been 


determined to be acceptable to the utility, and that the proposed partial release has been reviewed by the 


Stoughton City Attorney and determined to be correct in form.  Discussion followed. 


Motion by Kallas, the motion seconded by Heili, to approve the partial release (from 12’ to 10’) of a platted public 


utility easement on Lot 157 of Nordic Ridge Plat, recorded as Document No. 4613105, Dane County Registry, 


and recommend approval of the amendment to the easement to the Stoughton Common Council.  The motion 


carried unanimously 6 to 0. 


2021 Public Power Week Community Outreach Event Summary:   Stoughton Utilities staff presented and 


discussed our recent Public Power Week scavenger hunt customer outreach program.  On Monday, Wednesday, 


and Friday during the week, SU published clues directing participants to a secret Stoughton location where 


customers could photograph themselves next to a SU face cutout board and submit the photos to SU.  On 



bhoops

Highlight







 
600 South Fourth Street 


P.O. Box 383 
Stoughton, WI  53589-0383 


Serving Electric, Water & Wastewater Since 1886 


 
Date:  December 8, 2021 


 


To:  Stoughton Utilities Committee 


 


From:  Shannon Statz 


  Stoughton Utilities Finance Manager 


 


Jill M. Weiss, P.E.  


Stoughton Utilities Director 


 


Subject: Stoughton Utilities Proposed 2022 Budget and Five Year (2022 – 2026) Capital 


Improvement Projects (CIP) Plan Budget Summary 


 


The 2022 electric, water and sewer budgets have been prepared using a forecast of 2021 expenses and 


revenues, as well as, knowledge we have today regarding future trends.  The COVID pandemic continues 


to have an impact on our costs and materials.  There are adjustments forecasted in 2022, where appropriate, 


reflecting what we know at this time.  In 2021, all three utilities budgeted for a wage realignment study 


and implementation.  This project is still in process and has been carried forward into 2022.  Effective 


January 1, 2022 a 3.1% increase for eligible staff has been reflected.  


Below is a summary of each utility’s expenses, capital projects and revenues. 


ELECTRIC 


OPERATING EXPENSES 


• Our largest expense is purchase power.  We have forecasted costs using WPPI’s projected 


2022 rates and applied those to each year after.  


• We anticipate that there will be one retirement in 2022.  We have budgeted for a replacement 


of this position as of 1/1/22.  There is expected to be an overlap of staffing for this position for 


a few months to account for training. 


• Most other expenses were forecasted using a prior three-year average. 


 


CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 


• The cost of transformers and electric meters are increasing.  We have budgeted for a 50% 


increase in the cost of transformers and 12% increase in electric meters.   


• Outside of our routine capital expenses, we have allotted funds for a light duty truck, a 


backyard machine and substation updates and/or additions. 







 


OPERATING REVENUES 


• We have forecasted a very minimal increase (.0018%) in electric usage across all categories.     


• Looking towards the future, we expect that we will implement a rate increase in 2024 of 2.5% 


 


WATER 


OPERATING EXPENSES 


• Notable expense increases in 2022 include $47,000 for water system studies and $25,000 for 


rehab at well #6.   


• Most other expenses were forecasted using a prior three-year average. 


 


CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 


• We have budgeted an additional $50,000 for water meters in 2022.  There are a large number 


of replacements that will need to occur within the coming years.  Our plan is to spread out the 


cost over a few years. 


• The watermain replacement on Academy Street is planned for 2022. 


• We have provided for engineering costs associated with the DOT projects in 2025, 2026 and 


2027. 


• Our 2022 capital projects will be paid for with cash on hand.  No bond issuance is expected in 


2022. 


 


OPERATING REVENUES 


• We have forecasted flat usage for 2022 thru 2026 in all rate classes.     


• In 2022, our rate case will wrap up with an anticipated 8% increase.  (This increase amount 


was discussed at the August 16, 2021 Utilities Committee meeting).  Our budget reflects this 


increase beginning 4/1/22.  Future budgets reflect a simplified rate case in 2024 of 3%, 


followed by a full rate case in 2025 with a projected 4% increase. 


 


SEWER 


OPERATING EXPENSES 


• Most expenses were forecasted using the three-year average.  Adjustments were made where 


appropriate.  We do have some additional expenses allotted for cleaning of our digestor. 


 


CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 


• The sewer main replacement on Academy Street is planned for 2022. 


• We have provided for engineering costs associated with the DOT projects in 2025, 2026 and 


2027. 







• In addition to our routine capital expenses, we have funds designated for televising equipment 


and software and a generator at one of our lift stations. 


• Our 2022 capital projects will be paid for with cash on hand.  No bond issuance is expected in 


2022. 


 


OPERATING REVENUES 


• We have forecasted flat usage for 2022 thru 2026 in all rate classes.     


• It is projected that we will need to adjust rates every two years starting in 2022.  At this time, 


those adjustments are thought to be 6% each. 


 


The Stoughton Utilities Proposed 2022 Budget and Five-Year CIP is provided for approval and 


recommendation to the City of Stoughton Common Council.    It is scheduled for Common Council 


adoption on December 14, 2021. 


Enclosure 


 







FOR THE FISCAL YEAR
JANUARY 1, 2022  THROUGH


DECEMBER 31, 2022


STOUGHTON UTILITIES
Proposed Annual Budget for the Year


2022







Stoughton Utilities 
2022 Proposed Budget Summary


accounting shared/budget/


Electric Water Wastewater Total


OPERATING REVENUES 15,430,692$      2,514,663$       2,354,800$        20,300,155$      


OPERATING EXPENSES
  Operation & Maintenance Expense 13,335,662$      1,170,398$       1,237,284$        15,743,344$      
  Taxes (PILOT) 432,368$           429,456$          -$                       861,824$           
  Depreciation 1,106,604$        395,507$          914,504$           2,416,615$        
    Total Operating Expenses 14,874,634$      1,995,361$       2,151,788$        19,021,783$      


    OPERATING INCOME 556,058$           519,302$          203,012$           1,278,372$        
    RATE OF RETURN (ROR) 3.55% 4.00%







STOUGHTON ELECTRIC UTILITY 12/9/2021 9:51


OPERATING REVENUES AND EXPENSES 
FORECASTED FOR THE YEAR 2022


OPERATING REVENUES Proposed % Change Estimated Actual Actual Actual
  Sales 2022 2022/2021 2021 2020 2019 2018
   Residential 8,056,061$          1.3% 7,956,093$        7,657,876$       7,292,072$       7,661,302$     
   General Service 1,890,181$          3.0% 1,835,150$        1,818,926$       1,857,094$       1,836,320$     
   Small Power  CP1 Customers 1,650,940$          0.8% 1,637,996$        1,565,734$       1,581,750$       1,650,121$     
   Large Power  CP2 Customers 1,113,116$          1.5% 1,096,489$        1,018,097$       963,312$          1,072,894$     
   Industrial Power CP3 Customers 2,495,957$          1.6% 2,456,352$        2,335,370$       2,668,331$       2,661,544$     
   Street Lighting 79,437$               -16.3% 94,913$             86,019$            106,614$          113,848$        
            Total Sales 15,285,692$        1.4% 15,076,993$      14,482,022$     14,469,173$     14,996,029$   


  Other Operating Revenues
    Forfeited Discounts (Penalties, NSF, Reconnect) 26,639$               1.4% 26,275$             25,238$            30,642$            32,444$          
    Other (Permits, ATC Common Facilities, etc.) 118,361$             -0.3% 118,725$           132,624$          124,757$          107,557$        
             Total Other Operating Revenues 145,000$             145,000$           155,439$          155,399$          140,001$        
                  Total Operating Revenues 15,430,692$        15,221,993$      14,637,461$     14,624,572$     15,136,030$   


OPERATING EXPENSES
  Power Production Expenses (WPPI-Wholesale Power) 11,443,347$        3.2% 11,083,681$      10,596,835$     10,832,755$     11,288,599$   
  Transmission/Distribution (Substations, Poles, Lines, etc.) 787,768$             2.3% 769,694$           699,648$          720,214$          614,409$        
  Customer Accounting and Collection 314,357$             2.1% 307,894$           307,580$          284,840$          274,725$        
  Administrative and General  (Salaries, Benefits, Insurance) 790,190$             5.3% 750,281$           751,052$          834,880$          861,890$        
  2021 Add'l Pay Adjustments/Strategic Planning
  Depreciation 1,106,604$          2.5% 1,079,476$        1,050,394$       1,044,044$       964,067$        
  PILOT 432,368$             -1.3% 438,046$           445,995$          452,940$          432,589$        
            Total Operating Expenses 14,874,634$        14,429,072$      13,851,504$     14,169,673$     14,436,279$   
                   REGULATORY OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 556,058$             792,921$           785,957$          454,899$          699,751$        


                    ROR 3.55% 5.02% 5.16% 2.87% 4.99%







O&M
$ Change from 


Prior Year
% Change from 


Prior Year
2009 1,361,451$      
2010 1,372,746$      11,295$            0.83%
2011 1,399,875$      27,129$            1.98%
2012 1,279,340$      (120,535)$        -8.61%
2013 1,429,003$      149,663$          11.70%
2014 1,478,092$      49,089$            3.44%
2015 1,441,526$      (36,566)$          -2.47%
2016 1,513,462$      71,936$            4.99%
2017 1,513,434$      (28)$                 0.00%
2018 1,574,655$      61,221$            4.05%
2019 1,668,241$      93,586$            5.94%
2020 1,603,633$      (64,608)$          -3.87%
2021 1,836,450$      232,817$          14.52% $175K Tree Trimming, $63K tech ops exp
2022 1,893,315$      56,865$            3.10%
2023 1,844,624$      (48,691)$          -2.57%
2024 1,894,170$      49,546$            2.69%
2025 1,990,980$      96,810$            5.11% $25K system study, $34K Substation work
2026 2,015,720$      24,740$            1.24%


 Capital 
Expenditures  PILOT 


2016 822,127$         2016 376,785$        
2017 2,924,828$      2017 394,626$        
2018 2,455,183$      2018 432,589$        
2019 1,086,868$      2019 452,940$        
2020 348,062$         2020 445,995$        
2021 819,071$         2021 438,046$        
2022 1,274,787$      2022 432,368$        
2023 1,871,142$      2023 445,291$        
2024 1,824,365$      2024 472,296$        
2025 789,376$         2025 494,552$        
2026 1,193,291$      2026 500,602$        


 Sales in kWh  Sales in $ 
2016 140,856,210    2016 14,980,937$   
2017 139,053,623    2017 15,106,586$   
2018 144,838,065    2018 14,996,029$   
2019 143,198,603    2019 14,469,173$   
2020 138,613,410    2020 14,479,589$   
2021 141,010,962    2021 15,076,993$   
2022 141,013,500    2022 15,285,692$   
2023 141,016,038    2023 15,290,466$   
2024 141,018,577    2024 15,266,848$   
2025 141,021,115    2025 15,437,195$   
2026 141,023,653    2026 15,579,344$   


Through 04/30/21 -1.98%


 Avg Plant Bal. Dep Exp.
Composite Dep. 


Rate
Cash Flow 
(Sales - PP)


2016 24,611,779$    869,843$          3.53% 2016 3,392,798$     
2017 25,356,009$    881,531$          3.48% 2016 3,604,819$     
2018 27,556,378$    963,967$          3.50% 2017 3,707,430$     
2019 29,652,774$    1,044,044$       3.52% 2018 3,636,418$     
2020 30,296,568$    1,050,394$       3.47% 2019 3,882,754$     
2021 30,934,619$    1,079,473$       3.49% 2020 3,993,312$     
2022 31,700,502$    1,107,319$       3.49% 2021 4,005,733$     
2023 33,045,380$    1,156,213$       3.50% 2022 4,010,488$     
2024 34,625,468$    1,214,733$       3.51% 2023 4,399,003$     
2025 35,603,784$    1,254,442$       3.52% 2024 4,397,682$     
2026 36,403,112$    1,284,840$       3.53% 2025 4,390,971$     F


O
R


E
C


A
S


T
E


D


A
C


T
U


A
L


A
C


T
U


A
L


F
O


R
E


C
A


S
T


E
D


F
O


R
E


C
A


S
T


E
D


UTILITY FINANCED PLANT


A
C


T
U


A
L


ELECTRIC


A
C


T
U


A
L


F
O


R
E


C
A


S
T


E
D


A
C


T
U


A
L


A
C


T
U


A
L


F
O


R
E


C
A


S
T


E
D


F
O


R
E


C
A


S
T


E
D


0


250000


500000


750000


1000000


1250000


1500000


1750000


2000000


2250000


2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


0


500000


1000000


1500000


2000000


2500000


3000000


3500000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
0


100000


200000


300000


400000


500000


600000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


135000000
136000000
137000000
138000000
139000000
140000000
141000000
142000000
143000000
144000000
145000000
146000000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


Sales in kWh


 $13,800,000


 $14,000,000


 $14,200,000


 $14,400,000


 $14,600,000


 $14,800,000


 $15,000,000


 $15,200,000


 $15,400,000


 $15,600,000


 $15,800,000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


Sales in $


 $2,500,000


 $2,700,000


 $2,900,000


 $3,100,000


 $3,300,000


 $3,500,000


 $3,700,000


 $3,900,000


 $4,100,000


 $4,300,000


 $4,500,000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025


Cash Flow (Sales - Purchased Power)


0


5000000


10000000


15000000


20000000


25000000


30000000


35000000


40000000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


Avg Plant Bal.


0


200000


400000


600000


800000


1000000


1200000


1400000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


Dep Exp.


0


250000


500000


750000


1000000


1250000


1500000


1750000


2000000


2250000


2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


0


500000


1000000


1500000


2000000


2500000


3000000


3500000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
0


100000


200000


300000


400000


500000


600000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


135000000
136000000
137000000
138000000
139000000
140000000
141000000
142000000
143000000
144000000
145000000
146000000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


Sales in kWh


 $13,800,000


 $14,000,000


 $14,200,000


 $14,400,000


 $14,600,000


 $14,800,000


 $15,000,000


 $15,200,000


 $15,400,000


 $15,600,000


 $15,800,000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


Sales in $


 $2,500,000


 $2,700,000


 $2,900,000


 $3,100,000


 $3,300,000


 $3,500,000


 $3,700,000


 $3,900,000


 $4,100,000


 $4,300,000


 $4,500,000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025


Cash Flow (Sales - Purchased Power)


0


5000000


10000000


15000000


20000000


25000000


30000000


35000000


40000000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


Avg Plant Bal.


0


200000


400000


600000


800000


1000000


1200000


1400000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


Dep Exp.







2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
OPERATING REVENUES


Sales of electricity 15,106,586$    14,996,029$    14,469,173$    14,479,589$    15,076,993$    15,285,692$    15,290,466$    15,266,848$    15,437,195$    15,579,344$    
Other 143,037           140,001           155,399           157,872           145,000           145,000           145,000           145,000           145,000           145,000           


Total Operating Revenues 15,249,623$    15,136,030$    14,624,572$    14,637,461$    15,221,993$    15,430,692$    15,435,466$    15,411,848$    15,582,195$    15,724,344$    
4.13% 1.38% 0.03% -0.15% 1.12% 0.92%


OPERATING EXPENSES
Purchased power 11,501,767$    11,288,599$    10,832,755$    10,596,835$    11,083,681$    11,279,960$    11,279,978$    10,867,845$    11,039,513$    11,188,373$    
Operation and maintenance 1,513,433        1,574,655        1,668,241        1,603,633        1,670,131        1,893,315        1,844,624        1,894,170        1,990,980        2,015,720        
Taxes 173,217           176,369           171,693           154,647           157,740           161,671           164,904           168,202           171,566           174,998           
Depreciation (Utility Financed) 881,531           964,067           1,044,044        1,050,394        1,079,473        1,107,319        1,156,213        1,214,733        1,254,442        1,284,840        
PILOT 394,626           432,589           452,940           445,995           438,046           432,368           445,291           472,296           494,552           500,602           


Total Operating Expenses 14,464,574$    14,436,279$    14,169,673$    13,851,504$    14,429,072$    14,874,633$    14,891,009$    14,617,247$    14,951,054$    15,164,532$    
-2.82% -5.15% 2.02% 3.29% -0.37% -2.76% 2.10% 1.33%


SALES TO PURCHASED POWER MARGIN - W/ INCREASE 31.34% 32.84% 33.57% 36.64% 36.03% 35.51% 35.55% 40.48% 39.84% 39.25%


REGULATORY OPERATING INCOME 785,049$         699,751$         454,899$         785,957$         792,921$         556,060$         544,457$         794,602$         631,142$         559,812$         


AVERAGE NET RATE BASE 12,158,175$    14,014,445$    15,854,822$    15,237,074$    15,782,222$    15,661,648$    16,010,246$    16,558,765$    16,488,981$    15,844,010$    
RATE OF RETURN (Allowed - 4.90%) 6.46% 4.99% 2.87% 5.16% 5.02% 3.55% 3.40% 4.80% 3.83% 3.53%


OPERATING CASH FLOWS 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
Sales of Electricity 15,265,754$    15,222,634$    14,697,605$    14,497,303$    15,076,993$    15,285,692$    15,290,466$    15,266,848$    15,437,195$    15,579,344$    
Routine operating expenditures (13,114,417)    (12,961,804)    (12,496,691)    (11,696,696)    (12,753,812)    (13,173,275)    (13,124,602)    (12,762,015)    (13,030,493)    (13,204,093)    
Taxes (Including PILOT) (550,002)          (570,995)          (604,282)          (607,587)          (603,735)          (599,717)          (597,272)          (613,493)          (643,862)          (669,550)          
Miscellaneous income (12,698)            (27,975)            (27,902)            -                   145,000           145,000           145,000           145,000           145,000           145,000           


Total Operating Cash Flows 1,588,637$      1,661,860$      1,568,730$      2,193,020$      1,864,446$      1,657,700$      1,713,592$      2,036,340$      1,907,840$      1,850,701$      


CAPITAL AND FINANCING CASH FLOWS
Acquisition of capital assets (2,924,828)$    (2,455,183)$    (1,086,868)$    (348,062)$       (819,071)$       (1,274,787)$    (1,871,142)$    (1,824,365)$    (789,376)$       (1,193,291)$    
Principal paid (610,000)          (610,000)          (620,000)          (660,000)          (670,000)          (685,000)          (690,000)          (110,000)          (115,000)          (115,000)          
Interest paid (166,122)          (122,707)          (110,153)          (99,083)            (82,813)            (68,438)            (53,856)            (45,450)            (43,200)            (40,900)            
Debt proceeds -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
Advance to municipality 50,490             51,499             52,529             53,580             54,652             55,745             56,860             48,988             6,109               -                   


(3,650,460)$    (3,136,391)$    (1,764,492)$    (1,053,565)$    (1,517,232)$    (1,972,480)$    (2,558,138)$    (1,930,827)$    (941,467)$       (1,349,191)$    
INVESTING ACTIVITIES CASH FLOWS


Investment income 339,760$         255,199$         962,166$         729,287$         8,670$             8,735$             8,184$             7,843$             8,409$             9,174$             


Net Change in Cash (1,722,063)$    (1,219,332)$    766,404$         1,868,742$      355,884$         (306,045)$       (836,362)$       113,356$         974,782$         510,684$         


ENDING CASH BALANCE 8,651,335$      7,248,376$      7,211,414$      8,457,354$      8,813,238$      8,507,193$      7,670,832$      7,784,188$      8,758,969$      9,269,653$      


UNRESTRICTED CASH BALANCE 7,297,390$      6,131,838$      6,057,312$      7,295,376$      7,794,839$      7,488,681$      7,391,219$      7,501,375$      8,476,732$      8,984,241$      


UNRESTRICTED MONTHS ON HAND 5.80                 4.91                 5.02                 6.05                 6.20                 5.88                 5.80                 5.90                 6.59                 6.92                 
(Target is 5 Months O&M and PILOT)


RATE INCREASE NEEDED 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 2.50% 0.00% 0.00%
DEBT ISSUE NEEDED -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 


DEBT COVERAGE 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
Operating revenues 15,221,993$    15,430,692$    15,435,466$    15,411,848$    15,582,195$    15,724,344$    
Investment Income 8,670$             8,735$             8,184$             7,843$             8,409$             9,174$             
PILOT (438,046)          (432,368)          (445,291)          (472,296)          (494,552)          (500,602)          
O & M expenses (12,911,552)    (13,334,946)    (13,289,506)    (12,930,217)    (13,202,060)    (13,379,090)    


Net defined earnings 1,881,065$      1,672,114$      1,708,854$      2,017,178$      1,893,992$      1,853,826$      


Highest annual debt service 753,438$         743,856$         160,475$         160,475$         160,475$         160,475$         
Coverage factor 1.30                 1.30                 1.30                 1.30                 1.30                 1.30                 


Minimum required earnings 979,469$         967,013$         208,618$         208,618$         208,618$         208,618$         


ACTUAL DEBT COVERAGE 2.50                 2.25                 10.65               12.57               11.80               11.55               


ELECTRIC







STOUGHTON WATER UTILITY                      12/9/2021 9:51


OPERATING REVENUES AND EXPENSES
FORECASTED FOR THE YEAR 2022


OPERATING REVENUES Proposed % Change Estimated Actual Actual Actual
  Sales 2022 2022/2021 2021 2020 2019 2018
    Residential 1,186,743$     5.0% 1,129,765$    1,095,267$     1,048,932$      932,753$         
    Multi-family Residential 120,098$        2.0% 117,712$       114,650$        111,132$         83,239$           
    Commercial 163,002$        1.7% 160,319$       161,283$        165,042$         176,296$         
    Industrial 308,176$        5.4% 292,416$       284,054$        318,340$         283,369$         
    Public Authority (City Buildings) 19,389$          -5.6% 20,530$         19,641$          25,510$           21,093$           
    Private Fire Protection 60,267$          6.1% 56,796$         58,097$          55,087$           46,711$           
    Public Fire Protection 611,988$        6.5% 574,612$       555,823$        551,749$         530,529$         
        Total Sales 2,469,663$     2,352,150$    2,288,815$     2,275,792$      2,073,990$      


  Other Operating Revenues
    Forfeited Discounts (Penalties, NSF, Reconnect) 6,637$            5.0% 6,321$           6,151$            6,922$             6,597$             
    Other (Joint Metering Allocation, Permits) 38,363$          -0.8% 38,679$         46,112$          33,803$           40,514$           
        Total Other Operating Revenues 45,000$          45,000$         52,263$          40,725$           47,111$           
             Total Operating Revenues 2,514,663$     2,397,150$    2,341,078$     2,316,517$      2,121,101$      


OPERATING EXPENSES
    Source of Supply (Maintenance of Wells) 90$                 0.0% -$                   125$               133$                138$                
    Pumping (Well Pumps and Fuel) 162,138$        21.2% 133,757$       133,023$        127,359$         171,522$         
    Water Treatment (Chemicals) 92,736$          13.8% 81,464$         82,982$          88,293$           90,237$           
    Transmission/Distribution (Mains,Towers,Services,Hydrants) 294,060$        6.4% 276,245$       299,071$        271,429$         238,718$         
    Customer Accounting and Collection 105,729$        -5.2% 111,526$       117,526$        105,765$         104,041$         
    Administrative and General  (Salaries, Benefits, Insurance) 515,645$        23.7% 416,877$       433,920$        413,163$         361,165$         
    2021 Add'l Pay Adjustments/Strategic Planning
    Taxes 27,009$          26,291$         25,062$          26,697$           22,232$           
    Depreciation 395,507$        4.5% 378,342$       335,344$        351,993$         330,652$         
    PILOT 429,456$        4.2% 412,040$       437,266$        431,034$         423,351$         
      Total Operating Expenses 2,022,370$     1,836,542$    1,864,319$     1,815,866$      1,719,824$      


                   REGULATORY OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 492,293$        560,608$       476,759$        500,651$         401,277$         


                    ROR 4.00% 4.73% 4.20% 4.65% 3.91%







O&M
$ Change 
from Prior 


Year


% Change 
from Prior 


Year


2009 694,227$              
2010 710,376$              16,149$            2.33%
2011 772,586$              62,210$            8.76%
2012 731,538$              (41,048)$           -5.31%
2013 765,381$              33,843$            4.63%
2014 903,595$              138,214$          18.06%
2015 869,159$              (34,436)$           -3.81%
2016 969,933$              100,774$          11.59%
2017 992,653$              22,720$            2.34%
2018 943,589$              (49,064)$           -4.94%
2019 1,006,142$           62,553$            6.63%
2020 1,058,199$           52,057$            5.17%
2021 1,019,869$           (38,330)$           -3.62%


2022 1,170,398$           150,528$          14.76% Wage Adjustments; $47K Water Studies; $25K Well 
#6 Rehab


2023 1,140,782$           (29,616)$           -2.53%
2024 1,159,115$           18,333$            1.61%
2025 1,194,392$           35,277$            3.04%
2026 1,233,774$           39,382$            3.30%


Annual % inflation from 2016 to 2021 0.70%
Annual % inflation from 2011 to 2021 1.99%
Estimated annual inflation from 2021 to 2026 1.49%


 Capital 
Expenditures  PILOT 


2016 911,032$              2016 387,855$         
2017 774,325$              2017 420,305$         
2018 498,588$              2018 423,351$         
2019 844,708$              2019 431,034$         
2020 621,403$              2020 437,266$         
2021 1,057,546$           2021 412,040$         
2022 637,813$              2022 429,456$         
2023 504,581$              2023 441,327$         
2024 524,000$              2024 451,252$         
2025 515,200$              2025 461,415$         
2026 553,500$              2026 483,960$         


 Sales in 
Gallons 


2016 470,982,000          Sales in $ 
2017 463,406,000         2016 1,953,826$      
2018 445,868,000         2017 2,029,711$      
2019 443,695,000         2018 2,073,990$      
2020 435,537,000         2019 2,272,390$      
2021 435,537,000         2020 2,280,367$      
2022 435,537,000         2021 2,352,150$      
2023 435,537,000         2022 2,469,663$      
2024 435,537,000         2023 2,473,128$      
2025 435,537,000         2024 2,551,012$      
2026 435,537,000         2025 2,657,509$      


2026 2,661,219$      


 Avg. Plant 
Bal. 


Dep Exp.
Composite 
Dep. Rate


2015 13,054,336$  296,895$              2.27%
2016 14,076,870$  302,956$              2.15%
2017 14,982,697$  315,908$              2.11%
2018 15,556,237$  330,652$              2.13%
2019 16,209,867$  351,993$              2.17%
2020 16,963,661$  335,344$              1.98%
2021 17,762,556$  378,342$              2.13%
2022 18,568,414$  395,507$              2.13%
2023 19,108,084$  407,002$              2.13%
2024 19,598,558$  417,449$              2.13%
2025 20,080,846$  427,722$              2.13%
2026 20,578,266$  438,317$              2.13%


A
C


T
U


A
L


A
C


T
U


A
L


F
O


R
E


C
A


S
T


E
D


F
O


R
E


C
A


S
T


E
D


UTILITY FINANCED PLANT


WATER


A
C


T
U


A
L


F
O


R
E


C
A


S
T


E
D


A
C


T
U


A
L


A
C


T
U


A
L


F
O


R
E


C
A


S
T


E
D


F
O


R
E


C
A


S
T


E
D


0


200000


400000


600000


800000


1000000


1200000


1400000


2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


0


200000


400000


600000


800000


1000000


1200000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


0


100000


200000


300000


400000


500000


600000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


410000000


420000000


430000000


440000000


450000000


460000000


470000000


480000000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
 $-


 $500,000


 $1,000,000


 $1,500,000


 $2,000,000


 $2,500,000


 $3,000,000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


Sales in $


0


5000000


10000000


15000000


20000000


25000000


2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


Avg. Plant Bal.


0


50000


100000


150000


200000


250000


300000


350000


400000


450000


500000


2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


Dep Exp.


0


200000


400000


600000


800000


1000000


1200000


1400000


2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


0


200000


400000


600000


800000


1000000


1200000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


0


100000


200000


300000


400000


500000


600000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


410000000


420000000


430000000


440000000


450000000


460000000


470000000


480000000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
 $-


 $500,000


 $1,000,000


 $1,500,000


 $2,000,000


 $2,500,000


 $3,000,000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


Sales in $


0


5000000


10000000


15000000


20000000


25000000


2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


Avg. Plant Bal.


0


50000


100000


150000


200000


250000


300000


350000


400000


450000


500000


2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


Dep Exp.







2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
OPERATING REVENUES


Sales of water 1,465,315$    1,496,750$     1,665,554$          1,666,447$     1,720,742$       1,797,408$          1,799,230$        1,855,150$     1,932,181$     1,934,131$     
Public Fire Protection 520,495         530,529          551,749              555,823          574,612           611,988              613,631             633,786          660,773          662,533          
Private Fire Protection 43,901           46,711            55,087                58,097           56,796             60,267                60,267               62,075           64,555           64,555           
Other 41,518           47,111            44,127                52,263           45,000             45,000                45,000               45,000           45,000           45,000           


Total Operating Revenues 2,071,229$    2,121,101$     2,316,517$          2,332,630$     2,397,150$       2,514,663$          2,518,128$        2,596,012$     2,702,509$     2,706,219$     
3.15% 5.00% 0.14% 3.15% 4.17% 0.14%


OPERATING EXPENSES
Operation and maintenance 992,653$       943,589$        1,006,142$          1,058,199$     1,019,869$       1,170,398$          1,140,782$        1,159,115$     1,194,392$     1,233,774$     
Taxes 22,204           22,232            26,697                25,062           26,291             27,009                27,159               27,611           28,079           28,560           
Depreciation (Utility Financed) 315,908         330,652          351,993              335,344          378,342           395,507              407,002             417,449          427,722          438,317          
PILOT 420,305         423,351          431,034              437,266          412,040           429,456              441,327             451,252          461,415          483,960          


Total Operating Expenses 1,751,070$    1,719,824$     1,815,866$          1,855,871$     1,836,542$       2,022,370$          2,016,270$        2,055,428$     2,111,609$     2,184,611$     
#DIV/0! -4.94% 6.63% 5.17% -3.62% 14.76% -2.53% 1.61% 3.04% 3.30%


REGULATORY OPERATING INCOME 320,159$       401,277$        500,651$             476,759$        560,608$          492,293$             501,858$           540,584$        590,901$        521,608$        


AVERAGE NET RATE BASE 9,904,869$    10,271,417$   10,772,825$        11,357,464$   11,855,374$     12,312,033$        12,475,947$      12,552,804$   12,606,152$   12,662,955$   
RATE OF RETURN (Allowed - 4.90%) 3.23% 3.91% 4.65% 4.20% 4.73% 4.00% 4.02% 4.31% 4.69% 4.12%


OPERATING CASH FLOWS 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
Sales of water 2,036,464$    2,083,445$     2,293,667$          2,298,385$     2,352,150$       2,469,663$          2,473,128$        2,551,012$     2,657,509$     2,661,219$     
Routine operating expenditures (1,031,439)     (1,030,058)      (990,609)             (1,105,555)     (1,019,869)       (1,170,398)          (1,140,782)         (1,159,115)     (1,194,392)     (1,233,774)     
Transfers and taxes (391,598)        (426,565)         (423,351)             (431,034)        (463,557)          (439,049)             (456,616)            (468,938)        (479,331)        (489,976)        
Miscellaneous income 41,518           47,111            44,127                52,263           45,000             45,000                45,000               45,000           45,000           45,000           


Total Operating Cash Flows 654,945$       673,933$        923,834$             814,059$        913,724$          905,217$             920,731$           967,958$        1,028,786$     982,470$        


CAPITAL AND FINANCING CASH FLOWS
Acquisition of capital assets (774,325)$      (498,588)$       (844,708)$           (621,403)$      (1,057,546)$     (637,813)$           (504,581)$          (524,000)$      (515,200)$      (553,500)$      
Principal paid (373,677)        (369,415)         (365,174)             (490,951)        (486,751)          (520,040)             (546,673)            (373,342)        (383,051)        (337,801)        
Interest paid (56,726)         (52,040)           (47,010)               (86,571)          (88,803)            (88,616)               (77,873)              (67,939)          (58,588)          (48,883)          
Debt proceeds -                -                 1,818,218            -                 959,000           -                      -                     -                 -                 -                 
Special assessments 65,134           236,757          38,314                29,026           35,992             34,831                33,670               32,509           31,348           -                 


(1,139,594)$   (683,286)$       599,640$             (1,169,899)$    (638,108)$        (1,211,639)$        (1,095,457)$       (932,772)$      (925,491)$      (940,184)$      
INVESTING ACTIVITIES CASH FLOWS


Investment income 38,866$         29,319$          38,880$              250,370$        2,437$             2,442$                2,241$               2,165$           2,234$           2,336$           


Net Change in Cash (445,783)$      19,966$          1,562,354$          (105,470)$      278,053$          (303,980)$           (172,485)$          37,352$          105,528$        44,621$          


PRELIMINARY ENDING CASH BALANCE 1,110,284$    1,110,651$     2,664,194$          2,327,177$     2,605,230$       2,301,250$          2,128,765$        2,166,117$     2,271,646$     2,316,267$     


RECOMMENDED REDUCTION -$                 -$                    -$                   -$               -$               -$               


ENDING CASH BALANCE 1,110,284$    1,110,651$     2,664,194$          2,327,177$     2,605,230$       2,301,250$          2,128,765$        2,166,117$     2,271,646$     2,316,267$     


RESTRICTED CASH BALANCE 631,311$       572,417$        1,472,684$          882,570$        846,365$          852,728$             738,129$           744,092$        753,215$        665,700$        


UNRESTRICTED CASH BALANCE 478,973$       538,234$        1,191,510$          1,444,607$     1,758,865$       1,448,522$          1,390,637$        1,422,025$     1,518,431$     1,650,567$     


UNRESTRICTED MONTHS ON HAND 2.83              3.11                6.29                    7.60               8.97                 7.04                    6.75                   6.69               6.86               7.44               


RATE INCREASE NEEDED 3.00% 8.00% 0.00% 3.00% 4.00% 0.00%
DEBT ISSUE NEEDED -$                 -$                    -$                   -$               -$               -$               


DEBT COVERAGE 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
Operating revenues 2,397,150$       2,514,663$          2,518,128$        2,596,012$     2,702,509$     2,706,219$     
O & M expenses (1,046,160)       (1,197,407)          (1,167,941)         (1,186,726)     (1,222,471)     (1,262,334)     


Net defined earnings 1,350,990$       1,317,257$          1,350,187$        1,409,285$     1,480,038$     1,443,885$     


Annual debt service 567,576$          567,576$             386,684$           386,684$        386,684$        247,873$        
Coverage factor 1.30                 1.30                    1.30                   1.30               1.30               1.30               


Minimum required earnings 737,848$          737,848$             502,689$           502,689$        502,689$        322,235$        


ACTUAL DEBT COVERAGE 2.38                 2.32                    3.49                   3.64               3.83               5.83               


WATER - 2022







STOUGHTON WASTEWATER UTILITY
OPERATING REVENUES AND EXPENSES 12/9/2021 9:51


FORECASTED FOR THE YEAR 2022


OPERATING REVENUES Proposed % Change Estimated Actual Actual Actual
  Sales 2022 2022/2021 2021 2020 2019 2018
    Residential 1,606,016$         6.00% 1,515,109$       1,493,914$       1,365,623$       1,374,695$     
    Commercial 440,016$            6.00% 415,109$         412,573$         430,271$         452,154$        
    Industrial 213,176$            6.00% 201,109$         200,540$         168,612$         116,712$        
    Public Authority (City Buildings) 24,494$              6.00% 23,108$           19,821$           26,836$           27,534$          
        Total Sales 2,283,701$         0$                  2,154,435$       2,126,848$       1,991,342$       1,971,095$     
  Other Operating Revenues
    Forfeited Discounts (Penalties, NSF, Reconnect) 4,787$                6.00% 4,516$             4,458$             4,008$             4,375$            
    Other  (BOD/Suspended Solids Surcharge) 66,312$              1.26% 65,484$           69,152$           133,075$         80,406$          
             Total Operating Revenues 2,354,800$         2,224,435$       2,200,458$       2,128,425$       2,055,876$     


OPERATING EXPENSES
  Plant (General WWTP Plant Maintenance) 549,403$            5.8% 519,227$         498,584$         477,461$         424,317$        
  Customer Accounting and Collection 153,924$            6.9% 143,956$         174,322$         143,046$         136,056$        
  Administrative and General  (Salaries, Benefits, Insurance) 502,109$            14.9% 436,814$         424,440$         413,657$         400,081$        
  Taxes 31,848$              31,223$           30,611$           29,610$           29,473$          
  Depreciation 914,504$            2.0% 896,343$         808,765$         856,914$         820,778$        
      Total Operating Expenses 2,151,788$         2,027,563$       1,936,722$       1,920,688$       1,810,705$     


                OPERATING INCOME 203,012$            196,872$         263,736$         207,737$         245,171$        







O&M
$ Change from 


Prior Year


% Change 
from Prior 


Year
2008 841,128$        
2009 895,052$        53,924$            6.41%
2010 877,416$        (17,636)$          -1.97%
2011 881,409$        3,993$              0.46%
2012 853,923$        (27,486)$          -3.12%
2013 852,874$        (1,049)$            -0.12%
2014 920,411$        67,537$            7.92%
2015 1,017,847$     97,436$            10.59%
2016 968,836$        (49,011)$          -4.82%
2017 947,317$        (21,519)$          -2.22%
2018 930,981$        (16,336)$          -1.72%
2019 953,146$        22,165$            2.38%
2020 1,023,895$     70,749$            7.42%


2021 1,099,997$     76,102$            7.43%
$12,000 Plant Digester Cleaning/Inspection; $5,000 
Sludge Transfer Pump Rebuild;


2022 1,205,436$     105,439$          9.59%
Wage Realignments; $12K Digester, $7K Permit 
reissance; $20K Plant Facilities Study


2023 1,215,250$     9,814$              0.81% $15,000 Digester Cover
2024 1,171,793$     (43,457)$          -3.58%


2025 1,243,798$     72,005$            6.14%
$35,000 System Study; $45,000 Facilities Study; 
$75,000 WWTP Parking Lot, 10,000 Seal coat drivway


2026 1,177,715$     (66,083)$          -5.31%


Annual % inflation from 2016 to 2020 -1.04%
Annual % inflation from 2011 to 2020 0.66%
Estimated annual inflation from 2021 to 2026 2.63%


 Capital 
Expenditures 


2016 467,678$        
2017 463,430$        
2018 498,397$        
2019 1,231,517$     
2020 920,301$        
2021 534,463$        
2022 913,377$        
2023 566,974$        
2024 815,961$        
2025 780,671$        
2026 431,596$        


 Sales in 
Gallons  Sales in $ 


2016 311,726,000   2016 1,998,543$      
2017 307,018,000   2017 1,972,408$      
2018 305,530,000   2018 1,971,095$      
2019 308,908,000   2019 1,991,343$      
2020 323,397,500   2020 2,127,249$      
2021 320,667,000   2021 2,154,435$      
2022 320,667,000   2022 2,284,100$      
2023 320,667,000   2023 2,285,621$      
2024 320,667,000   2024 2,422,925$      
2025 320,667,000   2025 2,424,544$      
2026 320,667,000   2026 2,571,105$      


Through 4/30/21 -5.56%


Composite 
Dep. Rate


2015 2.86%
2016 2.82%
2017 2.78%
2018 2.74%
2019 2.77%
2020 2.53%
2021 2.75%
2022 2.75%
2023 2.75%
2024 2.75%
2025 2.75%
2026 2.75%


F
O


R
E


C
A


S
T


E
D


F
O


R
E


C
A


S
T


E
D


WASTEWATER


A
C


T
U


A
L


F
O


R
E


C
A


S
T


E
D


A
C


T
U


A
L


F
O


R
E


C
A


S
T


E
D


A
C


T
U


A
L


A
C


T
U


A
L


0


200000


400000


600000


800000


1000000


1200000


1400000


2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


0


200000


400000


600000


800000


1000000


1200000


1400000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


295000000


300000000


305000000


310000000


315000000


320000000


325000000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
 $-


 $500,000


 $1,000,000


 $1,500,000


 $2,000,000


 $2,500,000


 $3,000,000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


0


200000


400000


600000


800000


1000000


1200000


2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


Depreciation


0


5000000


10000000


15000000


20000000


25000000


30000000


35000000


40000000


2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


Avg. Plant


0


200000


400000


600000


800000


1000000


1200000


1400000


2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


0


200000


400000


600000


800000


1000000


1200000


1400000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


295000000


300000000


305000000


310000000


315000000


320000000


325000000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
 $-


 $500,000


 $1,000,000


 $1,500,000


 $2,000,000


 $2,500,000


 $3,000,000


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


0


200000


400000


600000


800000


1000000


1200000


2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


Depreciation


0


5000000


10000000


15000000


20000000


25000000


30000000


35000000


40000000


2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026


Avg. Plant







2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
OPERATING REVENUES


Treatment charges 1,972,408$     1,971,095$     1,991,342$      2,127,249$     2,154,435$     2,284,100$     2,285,621$     2,422,925$     2,424,544$     2,571,105$     
Other 78,905            84,781            137,083           73,209            70,000            70,700            71,400            72,100            72,800            73,500            


Total Operating Revenues 2,051,313$     2,055,876$     2,128,425$      2,200,458$     2,224,435$     2,354,800$     2,357,021$     2,495,025$     2,497,344$     2,644,605$     
1.28% 6.02% 0.07% 6.01% 0.07% 6.04%


OPERATING EXPENSES
Operation and maintenance 947,317$        960,454$        1,034,162$      1,097,346$     1,099,997$     1,205,436$     1,215,250$     1,171,793$     1,243,798$     1,177,715$     
Taxes 29,675            29,473            29,610             30,611            31,223            31,848            32,485            33,134            33,797            34,473            
Depreciation 811,239          820,778          856,914           808,765          896,343          914,504          934,266          952,771          974,365          990,674          


Total Operating Expenses 1,788,231$     1,810,705$     1,920,686$      1,936,722$     2,027,563$     2,151,788$     2,182,000$     2,157,698$     2,251,960$     2,202,862$     
1.39% 7.67% 6.11% 6.37% 9.59% 0.81% -3.58% 6.14% -5.31%


OPERATING INCOME 263,082$        245,171$        207,739$         263,736$        196,872$        203,012$        175,021$        337,327$        245,384$        441,743$        


OPERATING CASH FLOWS 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
Treatment charges 1,962,194$     1,972,206$     1,978,732$      2,109,648$     2,154,435$     2,284,100$     2,285,621$     2,422,925$     2,424,544$     2,571,105$     
Routine operating expenditures (989,095)         (960,633)         (1,005,804)       (999,299)         (1,099,997)      (1,205,436)      (1,215,250)      (1,171,793)      (1,243,798)      (1,177,715)      
Taxes (29,675)           (29,473)           (29,610)            (30,611)           (31,223)           (31,848)           (32,485)           (33,134)           (33,797)           (34,473)           
Miscellaneous income 78,905            84,781            137,083           73,209            70,000            70,700            71,400            72,100            72,800            73,500            


Total Operating Cash Flows 1,022,329$     1,066,881$     1,080,401$      1,152,947$     1,093,215$     1,117,516$     1,109,286$     1,290,098$     1,219,749$     1,432,418$     


CAPITAL AND FINANCING CASH FLOWS
Acquisition of capital assets (463,430)$       (498,397)$       (1,231,517)$     (920,301)$       (534,463)$       (913,377)$       (566,974)$       (815,961)$       (780,671)$       (431,596)$       
Principal paid (447,396)         (458,702)         (470,323)          (439,677)         (374,971)         (385,930)         (395,126)         (293,975)         (302,602)         (271,399)         
Interest paid (137,032)         (124,889)         (112,429)          (100,296)         (89,652)           (79,875)           (69,838)           (61,064)           (53,542)           (46,229)           
Debt proceeds -                  -                  -                   -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  
Special assessments 44,666            162,362          26,275             19,905            24,682            23,886            23,090            22,294            21,498            20,701            


(1,003,192)$    (919,626)$       (1,787,994)$     (1,440,369)$    (974,404)$       (1,355,296)$    (1,008,848)$    (1,148,706)$    (1,115,317)$    (728,523)$       
INVESTING ACTIVITIES CASH FLOWS


Investment income 52,538$          52,657$          55,868$           299,012$        2,434$            2,501$            2,534$            2,591$            2,630$            2,692$            


Net Change in Cash 71,675$          199,912$        (651,725)$        11,590$          121,245$        (235,279)$       102,972$        143,983$        107,062$        706,586$        


PRELIMINARY ENDING CASH BALANCE 2,987,712$     3,156,294$     2,500,667$      2,245,478$     2,482,833$     2,247,554$     2,350,526$     2,494,509$     2,601,570$     3,308,157$     


ENDING ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE/PAYABLE 171,110$        -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                


REMAINING CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT (55,000)$         -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                


RECOMMENDED REDUCTION -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                


ENDING CASH BALANCE 2,987,712$     3,156,294$     2,500,667$      2,361,588$     2,482,833$     2,247,554$     2,350,526$     2,494,509$     2,601,570$     3,308,157$     


RESTRICTED CASH BALANCE 1,625,760$     1,586,641$     1,583,880$      1,552,854$     1,564,902$     1,589,538$     1,535,567$     1,598,013$     1,632,591$     1,645,306$     


UNRESTRICTED CASH BALANCE 1,361,952$     1,569,653$     916,787$         808,734$        917,931$        658,015$        814,959$        896,496$        968,979$        1,662,851$     


UNRESTRICTED MONTHS ON HAND 8.29                9.56                5.52                 4.56                5.11                3.46                4.28                4.44                4.80                7.76                


RATE INCREASE NEEDED 0.00% 6.00% 0.00% 6.00% 0.00% 6.00%
DEBT ISSUE NEEDED -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                


DEBT COVERAGE 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
Operating revenues 2,051,313$     2,055,876$     2,128,425$      2,200,459$     2,224,435$     2,354,800$     2,357,021$     2,495,025$     2,497,344$     2,644,605$     
Investment income 33,367            29,344            61,695             25,007            2,434              2,501              2,534              2,591              2,630              2,692              
O & M expenses (1,012,657)      (959,399)         (1,025,314)       (1,046,544)      (1,131,220)      (1,237,284)      (1,247,735)      (1,204,927)      (1,277,595)      (1,212,188)      


Net defined earnings 1,072,023$     1,125,821$     1,164,806$      1,178,922$     1,095,649$     1,120,017$     1,111,820$     1,292,689$     1,222,379$     1,435,109$     


Highest annual debt service 544,152$        543,992$        501,892$         427,223$        427,105$        426,984$        317,801$        317,716$        317,628$        317,539$        
Coverage factor 1.10                1.10                1.10                 1.10                1.10                1.10                1.10                1.10                1.10                1.10                


Minimum required earnings 598,567$        598,391$        552,081$         469,945$        469,816$        469,682$        349,581$        349,488$        349,391$        349,293$        


ACTUAL DEBT COVERAGE 1.97                2.07                2.32                 2.76                2.57                2.62                3.50                4.07                3.85                4.52                


WASTEWATER

























		08  R-179-2021 Stoughton Utilities Proposed 2022 Budget and Five Year (2022 – 2026) Capital Improvement Projects (CIP) Plan

		08a  Utilities - Budget CIP






 
City of Stoughton, 207 S Forrest Street, Stoughton WI  53589 


 
 


RESOLUTION FROM THE UTILTIES COMMITTEE TO THE  
STOUGHTON COMMON COUNCIL 


 
Authorizing the Partial Release (From 12’ to 10’) of a Platted Public Utility Easement on Lot 157 of 
Nordic Ridge Plat, recorded as Document No. 4613105, Dane County Registry. 


 
Committee Action: 


 
Utilities Committee recommended Common Council approval 6 - 0 


 
Fiscal Impact: None 
 
File Number: 


 
R-180-2021 


 
Date Introduced: 


 
December 28, 2021 


The City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, Common Council does proclaim as follows: 


WHEREAS, Stoughton Utilities and the City of Stoughton has received a request from the owner of Lot 
157 of Nordic Ridge Plat, recorded as Document No. 4613105, Dane County Registry, to reduce the size 
of the existing platted public utility easement from 12’ to 10’; and 


WHEREAS, the proposed partial release of 2’ of the public utility easement has been reviewed by 
Stoughton Utilities staff and has been determined to be acceptable to the utility; and   


WHEREAS, on December 20, 2021, the Stoughton Utilities Committee met to consider and approve the 
partial release (from 12’ to 10’) of the platted utility easement on Lot 157 of Nordic Ridge Plat, recorded 
as Document No. 4613105, Dane County Registry, and recommend approval to the Stoughton Common 
Council; now therefore  


BE IT RESOLVED by the City of Stoughton Common Council that that the Stoughton Utilities Director 
be hereby directed to agree to the recording of a Partial Release (From 12’ to 10’) of a Platted Utility 
Easement on Lot 157 of Nordic Ridge Plat, recorded as Document No. 4613105, Dane County Registry. 


Council Action: ☐ Adopted ☐ Failed Vote:  


Mayoral Action: ☐ Accept ☐ Veto   


    
Mayor Tim Swadley  Date  


Council Action:  ☐ Override Vote:  
 







DRAFT STOUGHTON UTILITIES COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, December 20, 2021 – 5:00 p.m. 
Stoughton, WI  
Page No.  2 


2. Stoughton Utilities August Payments Due List Report 


3. Stoughton Utilities July Financial Summary 


4. Stoughton Utilities July Statistical Report 


Discussion followed. 


Status Update:  Lead Service Line Replacement Program:  Stoughton Utilities staff presented and discussed 


recent efforts that have occurred as part of the ongoing 2021 citywide lead service line replacement project of 


public and privately-owned lead service lines.  Staff informed the committee that all construction efforts have 


been completed by the contractor, and that lead service lines were replaced at 703 parcels, including the 


replacement of 340 publicly owned and 653 privately owned lead service lines.  Following the completion of this 


project, there are now zero known lead service lines remaining in the City of Stoughton. 


Staff further informed the committee that all lawn, sidewalk, and asphalt restoration work has been completed, 


and SU staff continues to work with the contractor to process all pay requests for work completed and submit 


grant reimbursement requests to the Wisconsin DNR for 2021 funding.  At this time, the project is projected to 


be completed under budget and within the total grant amount awarded by the Wisconsin DNR.  Discussion 


followed. 


Stoughton Utilities Proposed 2022 Budget and Five Year (2022 – 2026) Capital Improvement Projects 


(CIP) Plan:  Stoughton Utilities staff presented and discussed the proposed 2022 Stoughton Utilities budget.  


Discussion followed.  Stoughton Utilities staff presented and discussed the proposed 2022 five-year (2022-2026) 


Capital Improvement Projects (CIP) Plan.  Discussion followed.   


Motion by Hirsch, the motion seconded by Kallas, to approve the Stoughton Utilities 2022 budget and the 


Stoughton Utilities 2022 five-year (2022-2026) Capital Improvement Projects (CIP) Plan and recommend 


approval to the Stoughton Common Council at their December 28, 2021 meeting.  The motion carried 


unanimously 6 to 0. 


Authorizing the Partial Release (From 12’ to 10’) of a Platted Public Utility Easement on Lot 157 of Nordic 


Ridge Plat, recorded as Document No. 4613105, Dane County Registry:  Stoughton Utilities staff presented 


and discussed a request received from the developer of Lot 157 of Nordic Ridge (1408 Nordland Drive) to 


partially release a platted public utility easement.  This partial release will consist of decreasing the existing 


recorded easement along the south property boundary by two feet, from a 12-foot width to a 10-foot width. 


Staff informed the committee that Stoughton Utilities has no existing utility infrastructure located within the platted 


easement, that the proposed partial release has been reviewed by Stoughton Utilities staff and has been 


determined to be acceptable to the utility, and that the proposed partial release has been reviewed by the 


Stoughton City Attorney and determined to be correct in form.  Discussion followed. 


Motion by Kallas, the motion seconded by Heili, to approve the partial release (from 12’ to 10’) of a platted public 


utility easement on Lot 157 of Nordic Ridge Plat, recorded as Document No. 4613105, Dane County Registry, 


and recommend approval of the amendment to the easement to the Stoughton Common Council.  The motion 


carried unanimously 6 to 0. 


2021 Public Power Week Community Outreach Event Summary:   Stoughton Utilities staff presented and 


discussed our recent Public Power Week scavenger hunt customer outreach program.  On Monday, Wednesday, 


and Friday during the week, SU published clues directing participants to a secret Stoughton location where 


customers could photograph themselves next to a SU face cutout board and submit the photos to SU.  On 



bhoops

Highlight







 
600 South Fourth Street P.O. Box 383 


Stoughton, WI  53589-0383 


Serving Electric, Water & Wastewater Since 1886 


  


Date:   
  


December 9, 2021 


To:    
  


Stoughton Utilities Committee  


From:   Jill M. Weiss, P.E. 


Stoughton Utilities Director 


Subject:  Authorizing the Partial Release (From 12’ to 10’) of a Platted Public Utility Easement on 


Lot 157 of Nordic Ridge Plat, recorded as Document No. 4613105, Dane County Registry 


Stoughton Utilities has received a request from the developer of Lot 157 of Nordic Ridge (1408 Nordland 


Drive) to partially release a platted public utility easement.  This partial release will consist of decreasing 


the existing recorded easement along the south property boundary by two feet, from a 12-foot width to a 


10-foot width.  


Stoughton Utilities has no existing utility infrastructure located within the platted easement. The proposed 


partial release of the public utility easement has been reviewed by Stoughton Utilities staff and has been 


determined to be acceptable to the utility.  It has also been reviewed by the Stoughton City Attorney and 


determined to be correct in form. 


We are requesting that the Stoughton Utilities Committee review and authorize the partial release (from 


12’ to 10’) of a platted public utility easement on Lot 157 of Nordic Ridge Plat, recorded as Document 


No. 4613105, Dane County Registry, and recommend approval of the partial release of the easement to 


the Stoughton Common Council at their December 14, 2021 meeting. 







PARTIAL RELEASE OF PLATTED
PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT


The undersigned, City of Stoughton, has an interest in the real estate
legally described as Lot 157, Nordic Ridge Plat, recorded in Volume
59-074B of plats on sheets 340-342 as Document No. 4613105, Dane
County Registry, in the City of Stoughton, Dane County, Wisconsin
(hereinafter referred to as Lot 157) by virtue of a platted public utility
easement in its favor over the subject real estate.


Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 236.293, the City of Stoughton hereby releases
all rights, title, and interest which it may have in the North two (2) feet
of the South twelve (12) feet of Lot 157, as particularly described and
depicted on Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein.


Authorized by Resolution Number ________________, adopted by the City of Stoughton Common Council on
_____________________, 2021.


Dated this ________ day of _________, 2021.


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, acting through Stoughton Utilities


By: __________________________________
Name:    Jill Weiss, Utilities Director


I,                                              ,  a Notary Public in and for said County in the state aforesaid, DO HEREBY
CERTIFY THAT                                                acting as an authorized agent for Stoughton Utilities, has signed and
delivered the said instrument as the free and voluntary act of said Company, under the authority of general
administrative practices approved by the Company.


Given under my hand and notarial seal this,              day of                                            , 2021.


My Commission
Notary Public, Dane County, Wisconsin.


This instrument drafted by D’Onofrio, Kottke & Associates
FN 20-05-180


      Return To: D’Onofrio, Kottke and Associates
7530 Westward Way
Madison, WI 53717


Parcel Identification Number(s)
051107341572









		09  R-180-2021 Authorizing the Partial Release (From 12’ to 10’) of a Platted Public Utility Easement on Lot 157 of Nordic Ridge Plat, recorded as Document No. 4613105, Dane County Registry

		09a  Utilities - Easement Amendment

		4.2- Easement Amendment - Exhibit.PDF

		3SH6348.pdf

		3SH6347.PDF














 
 


CITY OF STOUGHTON 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 


207 S Forrest, Stoughton, WI 53589 
 


(608) 873-6677     www.ci.stoughton.wi.us 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date:  December 10, 2021 
 
To:  Finance Committee  
 
From:  Jamin Friedl 
   
Subject: Revised 51 West Request for TIF Assistance 
 
On October 26, 2021 the City Council directed City staff to continue with the TID creation process 
and begin drafting the project plan to include the workforce housing request for TIF assistance, 
Developer request for TIF Assistance and USH 51 Corridor improvements. In addition, the City 
Council directed City staff to begin developer agreement discussion with RHD Properties, LLC for the 
non-workforce housing portion of the proposed development. 
 
Subsequent to those decisions being made, additional information has been made available that impacts 
the original assumptions that were presented at the October 26, 2021 City Council meeting. The following 
sections summarize the additional information and the impacts it has on the original assumptions presented 
at that time. 
 


1. Final 2021 mil rate has been determined 
a. The financial analysis conducted by Ehlers was created using the 2020 mil rate, 


which was the most up to date information at that point in time. The analysis itself 
assumed the 2020 mil rate over the life of the proposed TIF to arrive at the 
forecasted tax increment that will be generated by this development. The Finance 
Department has now finalized the 2021 mil rate, which is approximately 7% lower 
than the 2020 mil rate used in the original forecast.  


2. The project scope has been revised to include the Greenbriar Drive construction in the 
project (projected capital cost $400,000), and wider pavement on Oak Opening Drive 
(projected cost $27,000). These estimates do not include the cost of financing these 
projects. 


3. Over the same period, the development team has been learning more about soil conditions 
to determine how much material needs to be trucked in and out of the site to make the 
infiltration ponds function as designed.  They have also been revisiting projections for 
when land sales may occur, which affects the rate of payback and projected interest on the 



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/





project’s own borrowing. The bottom line is that with adjustments to all these variables, 
the total capital cost+borrowing cost gap rises to $8.6M.  


The overall impact of these new developments is as follows: 
a. The repayment term on the MRO will need to be extended two additional years 


from 2039 to 2041 
b. The total payout over the life of the MRO has increased by $649,000 
c. The total cumulative fund balance over the life of the TIF has decreased by 


$1,584,000 when compared to the original analysis 
d. The annual cumulative fund balance change between the past and present analysis 


is shown in table below 


 
 
The overall conclusion of City staff is that the TID will be able to cover the request and we are 
comfortable proceeding, inclusive of the changes and terms described above. With that said, it is 
also City staff’s recommendation to structure the TID agreement such that the City’s debt for 
projects funded by this TID will be limited to what can be supported by 25% of the projected 
increment based on this revised forecast, but also that the City’s debt obligations will be paid 
before the developer’s MRO.  If increment falls short of expectations, the City will still be able to 
make its payments from the TID but the developer’s payments will be reduced/delay as a result. 
 







FINANCE COMMITTEE MINUTES 
Tuesday, December 14, 2021 @ 6:00 p.m.  
GoToMeeting 


Present:  
Schumacher, Reeves, Engelberger (arrived at 6:26 pm), Doom, Mayor Swadley, Hirsch 


Absent Excused: 
Neigum 


Also Present:  
Finance Director Friedl, Planning Director Scheel, Attorney Dregne 


Call to Order:  
Schumacher called the meeting to order at 6:03 p.m.  


Communications: 


None.  


Reports: 


• None


Approval of the November 23, 2021 Finance Committee Minutes  
Motion by Reeves, second by Hirsch to approve the November 23, 2021 minutes. Motion carried 
5-0.


Discussion and possible action regarding revisions to the application by RHD properties, 
LLC for Tax Incremental Financing (“TIF”) for the project known as 51 West 


Friedl provided a summary of the changes that have occurred since the decision made by 
Council on October 26th to move forward with creation of the TID and begin deliberations on 
the Developer’s Agreement.  


Mayor Swadley and Director Scheel provided some additional information as it relates to 
DOT’s proposed changes along the 51 corridor.  


Motion by Reeves to go into closed session at 6:19 pm, second by Doom. Motion carried on 
roll call vote 5-0.  


Motion by Engelberger to go into open session at 6:58 pm, second by Reeves. Motion carried 
on roll call vote 6-0.  


Motion by Engelberger to advance the TIF application with the proposed changes to City 
Council for approval and direct City staff to continue developer agreement negotiations under 
the parameters discussed in closed session, second by Hirsch. Motion carried 6-0. 


DRAFT



jfriedl

Highlight







Discussion and possible action regarding City Council pay changes 
This item was not discussed and will be brought back to the next Finance meeting. 
 
 
Adjournment:  
Motion by Engelberger, second by Doom to adjourn at 7:00 p.m. Motion carried 6-0. 


Respectfully Submitted,  


Jamin Friedl, Finance Director  


 


DRAFT





		05.0-51 West Memo V2

		12-14-21 Finance Committee Minutes







